P ERERSBRAE
China Isotope & Radiation Corporation
(AHREARLMBEZEMA RO ERAAE)

(A joint stock company incorporated in the
People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

B2 191858 Stock Code : 1763

2024 ==

W
>

ANNUAL REPORT







[
CONTENTS

AFEN

Corporate Profile

NAIEF

Corporate Information

B

Definitions

FERE

Chairman’s Statement

ZE— 5

Highlights of the Year

BRI RERIBR

Development Status of the Nuclear Technology
Application Industry

B RE

Financial Highlights

I ER B &R

Management Discussion and Analysis

PEEAWmE

Corporate Governance Report

EE EENAREBEABBEAE

Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management

BEIRE

Directors’ Report

EEeRE

Supervisors’ Report

BN B RS

Independent Auditor’s Report

aHERRE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

aFEakEMEEmIRARK

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

BT BRI R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RN E S B

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EHIRERER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BT BERRMTE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

hEFERE

Five Year Summary

14

18

26

29

30

r’

111

123

173

178

185

186

187

189

191




CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION  H [ [Fl &l 5 & BR 2 &)

REE

CORPORATE PROFILE

FEREROBERAR (RMHNRE :
1763 - B[ FBERE])KZIN1983
FRYBERUVEREREAESNER
% RAIETI3,367 A (B E2024F12
A31H8) > 201847 A6 HEH LR
Fhe-FERAERFEZIEEEGRA
A (ERI+PZEEDERTFRF - BA
BRI TR M EETE]EEF
o T ZERERAREGEERE
EMENMEEZBEKRE LR
;Eo

hEREERRMERITRR42F
EBERRE  AE  HEERBR &
Mz ERBEEREDE - LREMFAME
RESGMESNIRENERREE
EXRERTENSHRMEE - PERRFE
EBRBELBREEMEREAMAESR
TR BOARRREBEBBAERTR
PUE B B8 R OR 77 2R DA I 9B 5T B HE /R R
A BETURER %% ZBERE
RESERBERATRE  HORKEEM &
REMSZOREBRZ O 6+N]EXM

BERARET I EER - RETRABES KO
HAERER  BRPREEA » mESEHIK
BREMEER  RTPEME ——FRER
PRUGEN - RE - 8BS HUR - REEW
RERBREMERE - PRRBEES2K=X
BUBEEERER 2 —HEBRZRFEE1E#
A= U R AR - BERRHEET E A
B RS HRET INELF i i 28 A 1= ik U
HERS|E - HE - RKRBAIF - BB
BEAFE - KA E2BEERNER
b &4 -60 % BN 3E 57 3R 37 88 5F (A ST /R &
ZE(mSEI) - PERBERE2ER—A
BIR R0 AlIxEBENEREAS
EXHMCE EEXEREERNE=-

2 Annual Report 2024 FE#R%52024

Founded in 1983, China Isotope & Radiation Corporation (stock
code: 1763, “CIRC”) is a leading enterprise in isotope and
irradiation application in the PRC with 3,367 employees (as of 31
December 2024), and was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 6 July 2018. As a controlling subsidiary of China
National Nuclear Corporation (“CNNC”), CIRC is tasked with the
dual mission of building a “strong nuclear power nation” and a
“healthy China”. It is the main force of CNNC'’s scientific and
technological advancement for people’s life and health and the
main channel for the transformation of advanced nuclear scientific
and technological achievements.

With 42 years of experience in the nuclear technology application
industry, CIRC is the leading nuclear technology application
enterprise in China, integrating research and development,
production, sales and services, and is also a high-tech
enterprise with the most abundant products and the most
complete industrial chain in the field of isotope and its products
and irradiation processing in the world. Focusing on the two
major industrial directions of nuclear healthcare and irradiation
application, CIRC is committed to providing integrated solutions
for nuclear medicine and radiotherapy, as well as radiation
technology promotion and application, forming a “6+N” industrial
layout with six major businesses as the core, including nuclides,
nuclear medicines, nuclear medical equipment, integrated
solution for nuclear medicine, radioactive source and application,
and irradiation application. CIRC is the largest manufacturer of
imaging diagnostic and therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals, Urea
Breath Test (UBT) kits and analyzers in China; the largest and
most complete manufacturer of radioactive sources in China;
and the only service provider in China that covers the entire
process of site selection, design, construction, source supply
and decommissioning of irradiation stations. CIRC has entered
the field of high-end radiotherapy equipment in cooperation with
one of the world’s top three radiotherapy equipment suppliers,
U.S. Accuray, focusing on the introduction, digestion, absorption
and re-innovation of high-end radiotherapy equipment, such
as spiral tomography system and radiosurgery robots. Through
independent innovation, it has successfully developed a new fully
domesticated intelligent Cobalt-60 Gamma Beam Stereotactic
Radiotherapy System (Gamma Khnife). CIRC is the only enterprise
in China with a complete industrial chain of “source, equipment,
station and application” for irradiation application, with the third
largest industrial scale in China.
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As of 31 December 2024, the Company has formed a network of
37 medical centres, with 7 R&D and production bases, serving
more than 18,000 medical institutions, serving more than 60
million people annually, and supplying more than 40,000 sets of
ancillary radioactive source equipment. In recent years, CIRC has
accounted for nearly 70% of the large-scale Class A radiotherapy
equipment approved and configured by the National Health
Commission, making it the No. 1 brand of Class A radiotherapy
equipment. In 2023, Tomo C, a new type of first domestic double
helix tomotherapy product in China’s high-end healthcare field,
was independently produced in large quantities.

Looking forward, CIRC will focus on strengthening its core
functions and enhancing its core competitiveness, focusing
on playing the “three roles” and striving to be the “three
front-runners”, making continuous improvements, pursuing
excellence, and comprehensively promoting the “6+N” industrial
layout of nuclides, nuclear medicines, nuclear medical equipment,
integrated solution for nuclear medicine, radioactive source and
application, and irradiation application, with a view to building
CIRC into a world-class isotope and irradiation technology
application product and service provider.
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LEGAL NAME OF THE COMPANY
B [A) 98 3% 17 B BR 72 B (Abbreviation: /2 [E)#5)

ENGLISH NAME OF THE COMPANY

China Isotope & Radiation Corporation*

REGISTERED OFFICE

Room 418, South 4th Floor

Building 1, No. 66 Changwa Middle Street
Haidian District

Beijing, the PRC

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

No.66 Changwa Middle Street
Haidian District
Beijing, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG

KONG

Room 1928, 19th Floor, Lee Garden One
No.33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Han Yongjiang (Chairman of the Board)
(appointed on 25 September 2024)

Mr. Zhang Junqi (resigned as Chairman of the Board on
25 September 2024 due to change in work arrangement and
continued to serve as an Executive Director)

Ms. Huo Yingying (appointed on 30 December 2024)

Mr. Xu Hongchao (resigned on 14 June 2024
due to change in work arrangement)

Mr. Wang Yao (appointed on 14 June 2024, but passed away
on 29 June 2024 due to a sudden iliness)

Mr. Fan Guomin (resigned on 21 November 2024
due to change in work arrangement)
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ding Jianmin

Ms. Chang Jinyu

Mr. Chen Zan (appointed on 14 June 2024)

Mr. Chen Shoulei (resigned on 14 June 2024
due to change in work arrangement)

Ms. Liu Xiuhong (resigned on 28 March 2025
due to change in work arrangement)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok

Ms. Chen Jingshan

Mr. Lu Chuang

Mr. An Rui (appointed on 25 September 2024)

Mr. Tian Jiahe (passed away on 21 July 2024 due to iliness)

THE COMMITTEES UNDER THE BOARD

Audit and Risk Management Committee

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman)

Mr. Lu Chuang

Mr. Chen Zan (appointed on 14 June 2024)

Mr. Chen Shoulei (resigned on 14 June 2024
due to change in work arrangement)

Nomination Committee

Ms. Chen Jingshan (Chairman)
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok
Mr. Lu Chuang

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

Mr. Lu Chuang (Chairman)

Ms. Chen Jingshan

Ms. Liu Xiuhong (resigned on 28 March 2025
due to change in work arrangement)

FERE2024 Annual Report 2024
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Strategy Committee

Mr. Han Yongjiang (Chairman)
(appointed on 25 September 2024)

Mr. Zhang Junqi

Mr. Ding Jianmin

Mr. An Rui (appointed on 25 September 2024)

Mr. Chen Zan (appointed on 14 June 2024)

Mr. Chen Shoulei (resigned on 14 June 2024
due to change in work arrangement)

Mr. Xu Hongchao (resigned on 14 June 2024
due to change in work arrangement)

Mr. Wang Yao (appointed on 14 June 2024,
but passed away on 29 June 2024 due to a sudden illness)

Mr. Tian Jiahe (passed away on 21 July 2024 due to illness)

Legal Affairs Committee

Mr. Han Yongjiang (Chairman)
(appointed on 25 September 2024)

Ms. Chen Jingshan

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok

Mr. Chen Zan (appointed on 14 June 2024)

Mr. Chen Shoulei (resigned on 14 June 2024
due to change in work arrangement)

Mr. Zhang Jungi (resigned on 25 September 2024
due to change in work arrangement)

Ms. Liu Xiuhong (resigned on 28 March 2025
due to change in work arrangement)
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B eFFEEE Science and Technology Innovation Committee

BEVKIL A (FE) (FR2024 5 Mr. Han Yongjiang (Chairman)
9OH25HEZRT) (appointed on 25 September 2024)

REEEE Mr. Zhang Jungi

EREEE Mr. Lu Chuang

LA (FR202459 A25 HEE(T) Mr. An Rui (appointed on 25 September 2024)

BEESLA (AITIEEEN2024F Mr. Fan Guomin (resigned on 21 November 2024
11 A21 HEHE) due to change in work arrangement)

HAEARELE (R2024F7H218 Mr. Tian Jiahe
B =) (passed away on 21 July 2024 due to illness)

AEEERKA LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

BRI AAE Mr. Han Yongjiang

RERR AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

FrRZL Ms. Wang Cangren

SR Ms. Kwan Sau In

E= SUPERVISORS

BRI E (FFE) Mr. Liu Zhonglin (Chairman)

R Mr. Zhao Nanfei

REIF A Mr. Zhang Guoping

JilAST 387 5 Mr. Ma Fuxin

EREL T Ms. Peng Qihui

BEATMWE JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

FRRZL Ms. Wang Cangren

e R Ms. Kwan Sau In

B BEm AUDITOR

XK (BB A EBFIBERA R SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

FERE2024 Annual Report 2024 7
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LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong Law
Haiwen & Partners LLP
Suites 1101-1104

11/F, One Exchange Square
8 Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong

China

As to PRC Law

Longan Law Firm Shanghai Branch
11th Floor, Office Tower 1

Grand Gateway 66

No. 1 Honggiao Road

Xuhui District, Shanghai

PRC

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Chang’an Branch

No.Yi 6, Xuannei Street
Xicheng District

Beijing

PRC

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong
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B3 X 3R STOCK CODE

1763 1763

BREEEH INVESTORS’ ENQUIRIES
B EEL 86 10 68516810 Investors’ hotline: 86 10 68516810
£H : 86 10 68512374 Fax: 86 10 68512374

Ay www.circ.com.cn Website: www.circ.com.cn

F 3 : ir@circ.com.cn E-mail: ir@circ.com.cn

EHm A LISTING DATE

201847 A6H 6 July 2018

FERE2024 Annual Report 2024 9



CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION  H [ [Fl &l 5 & BR 2 &)

e
DEFINITIONS

[RAEIER] 5 RARKERAA

“Articles of Association” the Articles of Association of the Company
[FEREE ] 5 RRARFEERRE

“‘“AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company
[ERRFAR R S | 5 KARGERES

“EGM” the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
- ¥ ZAYNGIF =8

“Board” or the Board of Directors of the Company

“Board of Directors”

[ErtHEREREEZE® ] 5 EEgETEHAREEZES®

“Audit and Risk Management audit and risk management committee of the Board
Committee”

[REEEg ] & EESREEEY

“Nomination Committee” nomination committee of the Board

[HEEZEZEES & EEgFMEEXZEZES

“Remuneration and remuneration and appraisal committee of the Board

Appraisal Committee”

[BEEES | ¥ EERHREEY

“Strategy Committee” strategy committee of the Board

[EeEES ] 5 EE2GEREEY

“Legal Affairs Committee” legal affairs committee of the Board

(R EEE S B BEEeMRAIFERES

“Science and Technology science and technology innovation committee of the Board

Innovation Committee”

[BEEE 5 RAPIESSE

“Board of Supervisors” the Board of Supervisors of the Company
[R5 5 NNV SVES TSN

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s) of the Company
=3 & RRAIES

“Directors” the directors of the Company

[FPiz&E | | PEZIXEEFR AR

“CNNC” China National Nuclear Corporation

10 Annual Report 2024 FE#RE2024
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[ FRT8ERx |
“CIAE”

[#28) 1Bx |
“NPIC”

[FZEX]
“CNNC Capital”

[FEER]

“China Baoyuan”

[R5 %5 ]
“CNNCFC”

[zt E
“CNNC Financial Leasing”

[ O]
“CNNC 404"

[FEES ]
“CNNC Fund”

[P ErRRE ]

“CNNC Hainan Nuclear Power”

[Pz EFE
“Zhonghe Headway”

[RTF=%]
“HTA

[P
“CNGT”

[hxm=eE ]
“CNNCHE”

[Fiz=E
“CNNC Qinshan Isotope”

AN
“CNNC Tongxing”

B RFEERI 2T
China Institute of Atomic Energy

B E) H A R R B

Nuclear Power Institute of China

PEZIREBREAZERERAT
CNNC Capital Holdings Limited

FEERKREBR AR

China Baoyuan Investment Co., Ltd.

FRRMBEREE AR
CNNC Finance Company Limited

PREREHERRAR
CNNC Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.

FZIMOMEBRA R
CNNC 404 Company Limited

IR REEREES (ARER)
Beijing CNNC Industry Investment Fund (LLP)

P EEZEEER AR
CNNC Hainan Nuclear Power Co.. Ltd.

YT S S R REAR AT
Shenzhen Zhonghe Headway Bio-Sci & Tech Co., Ltd.

RFEBRNBRAR
HTA Co., Ltd.

PE R SRR 2R AR A A
Chengdu Gaotong Isotope Co., Ltd. (CNNC)

=R (RK2) KEBEBERAT
CNNC High Energy Equipment (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.

PRRIIRIMLEZER AR
CNNC Qinshan Isotope Co., Ltd.

iR E () ZRM AR A A
CNNC Tongxing (Beijing) Nuclear Technology Co., Ltd.

FERE2024 Annual Report 2024
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[z 2 R
“CNNC Accuray”

[ Az
“CNNC Chengying”

[FERE] - [RF]] -
RN A R4Sl

“CIRC”, “Company”,
“our Company”,
“‘we” or “us”

[REDE]

“Company Law”

[EPC]
“EPC”

[ e [AREH ]

“Group” or “our Group”

[HA

“H Share(s)”

[T
“HK$” or “HK dollars”

[ 5% ]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[ S EFRA 1T H 5

“Latest Practicable Date”

=N
“Listing Date”

12  Annual Report 2024 FE#RE2024

iz R (RR) BRERIRAREELRR
CNNC Accuray (Tianjin) Medical Technology Co., Ltd.

hizEs (AR) BERXBER AR
CNNC Chengying (Xi’An) Medical Equipment Co., Ltd.

FEIRwRNABRAR  —REFBEEMKZARNDBR AR

China Isotope & Radiation Corporation, a joint stock company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability

hE ARERMBARDE
the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China

Ti2  REMER

engineering, procurement and construction

ARFRETEZ HBAT

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

RATERRARGREMBARE1.00THEIN ETINER - IRH
NETRBREE  ZERMEEHAEEBIF LT RESE
Overseas listed foreign shares in the ordinary share capital of the
Company with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which are to be
subscribed for and traded in HK dollars and have been approved
for the granting of listing, and permission to deal, on the Stock
Exchange

ERATEE BT LA
Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

HEIEBSRIITRE
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

20254 A15H
15 April 2025

201857 A6H - HIRA BT Lz B
6 July 2018, being the date on which the H Shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange
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DEFINITIONS (conTiNUED)

[ ET#RAD] 5
“Listing Rules”
[1E4E=<F Al | &
“Model Code”
[ HA ] &

“Reporting Period”

(AR ¥
“RMB”

[49% ¥
“Rounding”

[ &% KBS 15601 ¥
“SFO”

[ B8 22 P ¥

“Stock Exchange”

[%] B
soy”

(BEBMERSMARARZES EmAAD
the Rules Governing the L|st|ng of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited

(ETBETAESETERXHNFETAD
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers

HZE2024F 12 A1 HIEWB B FE

the financial year ended 31 December 2024

TEUEEEEARE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

RAR|ENA ﬁuéﬁﬂ»&ﬁ T B AEXRERBELEY - BHH
E—E e —E%&—ﬁ“Z%{(ﬁl SMGE ) B9 B A E
RERZE - ? B AENE UBESLEIZE  EETE
/RTEN’U EHRERNTHUKA N o EMTIRKER AT 4EEE
ERH AP PSIIE B @B RN A ERER - EHEROEME
In this report, where information is presented in hundreds,
thousands, ten thousands, millions or hundred millions, certain
amounts of less than one hundred, one thousand, ten thousand, one
million or hundred million, as the case may be, have been rounded
to the nearest hundred, thousand, ten thousand, million or hundred
million, respectively. Amounts presented as percentages have, in
certain cases, been rounded to the nearest tenth or hundredth of a
percent. Any discrepancies in any table or chart between totals and
sums of amounts listed therein are due to rounding

EREMNEET1 BE(E S MAEGERD) (B IRKER
7B

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from

T AR A

time to time

ERBMERZMBER AT
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Bt

per cent

FE{RE2024 Annual Report 2024 13
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present you with the
annual report of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The year 2024 marked the 75th anniversary of the founding
of the People’s Republic of China, the 60th anniversary of the
successful explosion of China’s first atomic bomb, and a crucial
year for CIRC to implement the 14th Five-Year Plan. As a leader
in the industry, in the past year, with “the significant affairs of the
nation” in mind, we implemented the “Healthy China” strategy,
focused on enhancing core functions and core competitiveness,
focused on nuclear healthcare and irradiation technology
application, stabilized growth, strengthened innovation and
promoted reform, and the Company’s efficiency has reached
a new peak. We achieved an operating income of RMB7.575
billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 14.2%. The
total profit was RMB1.045 billion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 13.3%. Net profit was RMB880 million, representing
a year-on-year increase of 13.3%. The total assets amounted to
RMB14.767 billion, the net assets totaled RMB7.745 billion, and
the gearing ratio was 47.56% as of 31 December.

In 2024, we strengthened strategic leadership and
accelerated the cultivation and development of new quality
productivity. We fully grasped the characteristics and laws of the
“multi-track” development of the nuclear technology application
industry, and comprehensively optimized the formation of a “6+N”
industrial layout with six major businesses as the core, including
nuclides, nuclear medicines, nuclear medical equipment, nuclear
medicine integrated solutions, radioactive sources and application
and irradiation application. The annual goals of the key projects
such as three major isotope production bases, high-abundance
8CO gas project, and a number of new nuclear medicines
research and development have been achieved with high quality.
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In 2024, we increased investment in research and
development, and the leading role of scientific and
technological innovation was highlighted. In the field of
nuclide preparation, China’s first production line with an annual
output of 10,000 curies-level carrier-free lutetium-177 and an
annual production capacity of thousands of germanium-gallium
generators has been fully completed and put into operation,
marking that China officially has the large-scale commercial
production and supply capacity of the two nuclides. In the field
of new drug research and development, China’s first PET
bone imaging agent, sodium fluorine injection, was approved
for marketing, filling the market gap of PET diagnostic imaging
agent in the field of bone imaging in China. The clinical trials and
preclinical studies were conducted in Fluorine betazine injection
for the evaluation of Alzheimer patients, as well as a number
of other radiopharmaceuticals. The 13C UBT kit with small
specification for the detection of helicobacter pylori was approved
for clinical trials. In the field of high-end nuclear medical
equipment, a new generation of domestic gamma knife and
localized Tomo C were approved for marketing. In 2024, we were
granted 224 new patent authorizations, including 65 invention
patent authorizations. A total of 4 new national and industry
standards were issued throughout the year. The annual R&D
investment reached RMB660 million with a year-on-year increase
of 3.3%, and the investment intensity reached 8.6%.

In 2024, we had the courage to explore the market, and
industrial expansion gained new results. 3 domestic gamma
knives were sold on the market, achieving a breakthrough in
the market. Tomo C achieved local production, with 22 units
sold during the year, increasing its market share significantly.
We signed strategic cooperation agreements with IPEN (&2
Pt RE ELBEJR A ITAT) and others, effectively supporting the
|mp|ementat|on of strategic cooperation in the field of nuclear
technology application between China and Brazil. We won the
bid for the million-curie gamma irradiation station project in
Bangladesh, achieving the first breakthrough in CIRC’s EPC
project for overseas government agencies. We strived to promote
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the coordinated development of the upstream and downstream
of the nuclear technology application industry chain, and hosted
high-quality Nuclear Technology Application Industry Chain Co-
chain Action Conference ((Z#EITEAEXEELEITEIRNE). We
have successfully hosted high-level conferences such as the IAEA
Ministerial Conference on Nuclear Technology and the China-
themed supporting meeting (FEE@i2=), and promoted the
“China Solution” for nuclear medicine and irradiation application
to the world, which has been disseminated 170 million times by
the global media. We have frequently spoken out on international
platforms such as the Asia-Pacific Nuclear Agreement Conference
(B AZHBTEE:E), the BRICS Forum on Nuclear Medicine in
Russia (RZHEEFRZEE%IE) and the African Conference
on the Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Technology (FEM A1 ) R 42 47
@), helping to enhance both international visibility and industry
influence.

In 2024, we accelerated the promotion of key projects and
achieved new progress in industrial layout. The construction
of key special projects was implemented with high standards, and
the North China pharmaceutical production base of molecular
targeted diagnosis and treatment medicines obtained a radiation
safety license and entered the installation and commissioning
stage of the production line. Qinshan isotope production base
obtained a radiation safety license, and the cobalt-60 radioactive
source production line delivered products with 2 million curies.
The installation of equipment was completed in the first phase
of the Jiajiang radioactive source base, and the roofing of main
structure was completed in the second phase. The construction
of the Yulin irradiation project in Guangxi was fully started. The
national network layout of the pharmaceutical centers continued
to expand, adding Lanzhou positron drugs production line with
a total of 28 production lines put into production, and Fuzhou
technetium drugs production line with a total of 27 production
lines put into production.
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In 2024, we comprehensively deepened reform and
stimulated the vitality of endogenous power of the
enterprise. We further optimized the Company’s management
structure, promoted the professional operation of subsidiaries,
and formed a control and governance model integrating party
building and guidance, “strategic + financial” control, and safe
and confidential penetrating management. We continued to
cultivate “Specialized, Refined, Differential and Innovative” (SRDI)
enterprises in a gradient way, adding 12 “innovative” enterprises,
7 “SRDI” enterprises, 2 national-level “little giants” SRDI
enterprises, 1 provincial individual champion and 1 enterprise
technology center, and 4 national high-tech enterprises. The
“Science and Technology Reform” jumped to the “benchmark”
in the assessment of the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council, and its ranking
rose by 23 places. CIRC’s ESG practice experience case won
the “2024 Excellent Case of ESG Sustainable Development of
Chinese Enterprises” (2024 F /R B> ¥ESGRHEZEEFERM).

2025 marks the 70th anniversary of the founding of nuclear
industry in China, is the final year of the “14th Five-Year Plan” and
a crucial year for the development of the “15th Five-Year Plan”.
CIRC will continue to strengthen scientific and technological
innovation, improve the modern industrial system, accelerate
the cultivation and development of new quality productivity,
continuously enhance core functions and core competitiveness,
aim at the goal, work hard, pursue excellence and move
forward bravely, go all out to win the decisive battle and win the
successful conclusion of the “14th Five-Year Plan” of CIRC to lay
a solid foundation for the good start of the “15th Five-Year Plan”
and speed up the construction of an internationally renowned
isotope and radiation technology application product and service

supply group.

Mr. Han Yongjiang
Executive Director and Chairman

28 March 2025
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PROGRESS OF KEY PROJECTS

On 22 April 2024, CNGT'’s first domestic production line with an
annual output of 10,000 curies-level carrier-free lutetium-177 and
the production line with an annual production capacity of 1,000
germanium-gallium [68Ge-68Ga] generators were fully completed
and put into operation, marking that China officially has the
production and supply capacity of two medical nuclides such as
10,000 curies-level lutetium-177 and gallium-68, and realizes the
domestic large-scale commercial supply.

On 25 June 2024, the world’s first spiral tomotherapy system,
Tomo C, was officially completed and delivered from CNNC
Accuray’s Tianjin plant.

On 8 August 2024, a new type of domestic Gamma Beam
Stereotactic Radiotherapy System of CNNC Chengying was
officially launched in Xi’an, marking that CIRC is able to provide
a completely independent “source-equipment” synergistic model
solution, which will enable more Chinese oncology patients to
have access to good radiotherapy equipment.

On 29 August 2024, HTA’s newly built R&D Centre at Nanjing
HTA Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (BREFoREZEHFR QG
successfully obtained the radiation safety license.

On 30 August 2024, CNNC Qinshan Isotope successfully
passed the project construction project completion acceptance,
marking that it has fully entered the project debugging and pilot
production stage.

On 18 September 2024, Ningbo Junan Pharmaceutical
Technology Co., Ltd. (BEELZEEREBRAF]) successfully
obtained the registration certificates of “Radioactive Seed
Implantation Protection Gun” (MUETIERLAFE AP #48) and
“Radioactive Seed Protection Cabin” (JRST ERLFTBHERE), as well
as the production license of medical devices.
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On 22 September 2024, the radiotherapy department of primary
hospital, a pilot project built by CNNCHE in cooperation with
Anhui Yingshang City East Hospital (Z#5E R k), was

officially put into operation.

On 26 September 2024, the demonstration base for nuclear
medicine diagnosis and treatment at Changle County People’s
Hospital in Shandong Province, a collaboration between CIRC and
the Nuclear Medicine Branch of the Chinese Medical Association,
was officially launched.

On 25 October 2024, CIRC successfully issued the first tranche of
RMB500 million three-year term technology innovation corporate
bonds with a coupon rate of 2.25%.

On 12 November 2024, CNNC Accuray ‘s spiral tomotherapy
device was selected into Tianjin First (Set) Major Technical
Equipment Promotion and Application Guidance Catalog (Version
2024) (K REMEHEA(B)EARKMEHFEHERAIEEA ) (2024
hi)).

On 14 November 2024, the production base of molecular
targeted diagnosis and treatment medicines of North China
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (EEJLEZEHE R A A]) obtained the Grade
A radiation safety license. The base is equipped with production
lines for molybdenum generators, iodine-131 series products
and iodine-125 sealed seed sources, etc. In the future, the
base will carry out research on nuclides such as ®Cu, 8Zr, 2%,
%Ge and °Pd and related medicines, so as to accelerate the
formation of a production capacity to meet the various aspects of
commercialization.

On 22 November 2024, CNNC Qinshan Isotope successfully
obtained Grade A radiation safety license, formally possessed
the qualification to start the business of producing, researching,
developing and selling radioisotopes and radioactive sources,
and produced qualified cobalt sources smoothly on 28 November
2024.
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IMPORTANT SCIENTIFIC BREAKTHROUGHS

On 18 January 2024, the brand new product “High Detection
Rate “C Helicobacter pylori Tester” (fm#8I% “C HAPTIZAE BRI,
{%) developed by Zhonghe Headway was awarded the registration
certificate of Class Il medical device by the Guangdong Medical
Products Administration.

On 26 January 2024, the brand new product “Overseas '*C
Helicobacter pylori Breath Tester” (84N '°C H4PIIRIZ B W &A% 8
{%) developed by Zhonghe Headway was awarded the registration
certificate of Class Il medical device by the Guangdong Medical
Products Administration.

On 1 March 2024, a new type of urea ['3C] breath test kit
developed by Zhonghe Headway obtained the Approval for Drug
Clinical Trial by the National Medical Products Administration.

In April 2024, CNNCHE’s research and development project,
“Development of a National Dual Probe Variable Angle Diagnostic
Grade SPECT/CT Prototype” (BEIEZRENE A2EA SPECT/
CT L), passed the acceptance test and was awarded
“Excellent”. This important achievement not only demonstrates
the scientific research and innovation strength of CIRC in the field
of nuclear medical equipment, but also signifies that the domestic
high-end nuclear medical equipment industry has reached a
brand new stage.

On 5 June 2024, CNNC Accuray’s treatment planning system
(Precision), which complements to the domestic high-end spiral
tomotherapy system (Tomo C), was awarded successfully the
registration certificate of medical device by the National Medical
Products Administration. The approved Precision treatment
planning system adopts a new enhanced hardware platform
and new software algorithms to provide an integrated and
comprehensive treatment planning solution.
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On 8 July 2024, the Gamma Beam Stereotactic Radiotherapy
System (“Gamma Knife”) independently developed by CNNC
Chengying was awarded successfully the registration certificate of
medical device by the National Medical Products Administration.

On 18 July 2024, Zhonghe Headway’'s new technology for
helicobacter pylori diagnosis — scintillation sampling bottles (B9
R 1%5) was approved successfully by Guangdong Medical
Products Administration and formally obtained the qualification for
market access, which marks another milestone achievement of
Zhonghe Headway in the field of breath test sampling technology.

On 9 September 2024, HTA’s new product sodium fluorine-18
injection for cancer bone metastasis detection was officially
approved by the National Medical Products Administration. As the
first PET imaging agent approved in this field, it fills the market
gap of PET diagnostic imaging agent in bone imaging in China.

On 24 December 2024, the Class | innovative drug fluoropylamide
['8F] injection (& ['SFIMLEEAZ X5 %) developed by HTA
successfully passed the review and was officially awarded the
Approval for Drug Clinical Trial issued by the National Medical
Products Administration.

On 26 December 2024, the first batch of cobalt source of more
than one million curies organized and implemented by CNNC
Tongxing and produced by CNNC Qinshan Isotope was shipped
smoothly, marking the successful completion of the industrial
cobalt source production line transfer project of CIRC.

IMPORTANT MARKET DEVELOPMENT AND
COOPERATION

On 2 February 2024, HTA and GE Healthcare signed an
agreement on cooperation in the field of nuclear medicine
diagnostic drugs, joining hands to promote the high-quality
development of the nuclear medicines industry for the world.
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On 20 May 2024, CIRC and the Brazilian Instituto de Pesquisas
Energéticas e Nucleares (IPEN) signed a Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) to establish strategic cooperation in the
production of nuclides and nuclear medicines, as well as in the
irradiation application.

On 1 July 2024, CIRC put the “Belt and Road” Initiative into
practice, and signed a project for the overall supply of nuclear
medical equipment with the Feide Oncology and Rehabilitation
Centre (FEfEIERE 2 FE1E 7 1) in Nigeria, which provides a “China
Solution” for African countries to enhance their nuclear medicine
diagnostic and treatment capabilities.

On 10 July 2024, Zhonghe Headway 13C breath test products
were awarded the market access qualification in Russia.

On 20 July 2024, Zhonghe Headway 14C breath test products
were awarded the market access qualification in Malaysia.

On 27 August 2024, the emerging therapeutic nuclide
terbium-161, imported by CIRC, successfully landed at China
Institute for Radiation Protection and started experiments. This is
the first time that terbium-161, a promising therapeutic nuclide,
has been imported into China from overseas.

On 17 October 2024, CIRC and the Health Commission of
Leshan City signed a strategic cooperation agreement, taking the
lead in setting up the first regional nuclear medicine specialist
alliance in Sichuan Province, with the goal of realizing “one
county, one department” and actively promoting the construction
and implementation of “one centre, four disciplines and seven
outpatient departments” in Leshan City.

On 6 November 2024, the Joint Laboratory of Medical Isotope
Production and Equipment R&D, which was built by CNGT in
cooperation with Jiejiang County Government of Leshan City,
Sichuan and Chengdu Polytechnic University, was officially
inaugurated.
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On 14 November 2024, CIRC attended the signing ceremony
of the Memorandum of Understanding between the Chinese
and Brazilian governments on strategic cooperation in the field
of nuclear technology applications. CIRC will actively promote
scientific and technological exchanges and industrial cooperation
between the two countries in the fields of radiopharmaceutical
research and development, radioactive waste disposal,
radioisotope production and other nuclear technology

applications.

On 20 November 2024, the first batch of cold cartridges exported
to Thailand by HTA arrived in Bangkok smoothly and were
delivered to the local hospitals in Thailand. This marks that HTA’s
radiopharmaceutical products have formally entered the Thai
market, which strengthens the internationalization strategy of
radiopharmaceuticals in the ASEAN market.

ATTENDANCE AT IMPORTANT MEETINGS

On 11 May 2024, CIRC was invited to participate in the 2024
China Corporate ESG Sustainability Summit, where it introduced
the Company’s concepts and practices of focusing on the
high-quality development of the nuclear technology application
industry, realizing the concept of green development, and
assisting in the development of recycling through low-carbon
technologies.

From 17 to 19 May 2024, the CIRC “Source-Equipment”
Collaboration Model was presented for the first time at the 4th
National Gamma Knife Symposium held in Chengdu, China.

From 15 to 18 August 2024, a delegation from CIRC visited
Thailand to participate in the China-ASEAN Seminar on Peaceful
Uses of Nuclear Technology hosted by the National Atomic
Energy Agency (NAEA) and co-sponsored by CNNC, with a view
to vigorously promoting pragmatic cooperation and development
of nuclear technology-related industries in ASEAN countries.
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On 6 November 2024, CNNC initiated and hosted the first
Nuclear Technology Application Industry Chain Co-chain Action
Conference (BREMTEMEXEHIEITEAE) in Chengdu,
Sichuan Province. The conference was hosted by CIRC and
attended by hundreds of industry leaders and guests, including
government departments, academic associations, leading
enterprises, top universities and research institutes, and financial
institutions in the nuclear technology application industry.

On 26 November 2024, during the IAEA’s Ministerial Conference
on Nuclear Technology Cooperation and Scientific Applications,
CIRC hosted the China supporting meeting with the theme
of “Nuclear Beauty” (%% &), and formally announced the
“China Solution” on nuclear technology applications, mainly on
the integrated solution for nuclear medicine and the integrated
solution for irradiation. The “China Solution” demonstrated to the
world China’s experience and achievements in the application
of nuclear technology in the fields of nuclear medicine,
irradiation application, medical isotopes and radiopharmaceutical
production.

IMPORTANT AWARDS AND TITLES

On 8 February 2024, CNNC Accuray was awarded the title of
“SRDI SME” in Tianjin.

From 15 to 17 March 2024, Zhonghe Headway was awarded the
2023 China Medical Equipment “National Brand Gold Award” and
“Excellent National Brand Award”.

On 25 July 2024, Zhonghe Headway was awarded the title of
“Guangdong Provincial Manufacturing Industry Single Champion
Enterprise”.
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On 6 September 2024, two enterprises, Zhonghe Headway and
CNGT, successfully passed the assessment of the sixth batch
of SRDI “Little Giant” enterprises by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology.

On 10 September 2024, CNGT was accredited by Sichuan
Provincial Enterprise Technology Centre (Medical and Healthcare
Category).

On 31 October 2024, CNNC Accuray was awarded the title of the
seventh batch of leading enterprises in science and technology in
2024 in Tianjin

On 9 December 2024, CNNCHE was selected as one of the
“2024 Star Enterprises of Innovative Development in Tianjin
Service Industry”.

On 9 December 2024, CNNC Accuray was selected as one of the
“2024 Backbone Enterprises of Innovative Development in Tianjin
Service Industry*.

On 21 December 2024, China Enterprise Reform and
Development Society and China Comment Magazine (3 A #5#

FeAL) jointly organized the 2024 Corporate ESG Sustainability
Conference successfully, and CIRC’s “Focusing on Nuclear
Technology Application Industry and Constructing a New Green
and High-Quality Development Pattern” (2% fA% 5l fE R 518
BRESE8REFIKE)) “ESG case was awarded the “2024
Chinese Corporate ESG Outstanding Case®.

FE{RE2024 Annual Report 2024 25



CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION A1 B [E 48 A% 7 A R A &

BT ERAITRERENR
DEVELOPMENT STATUS OF NUCLEAR TECHNOLOGY APPLICATION INDUSTRY

EXRRZIEREESEER

BRMEREXZEEAREPR  EXBF
CERRE - TR - BHERRE - A
TREHBSERE  PREEMETL
¥ BE -BE2 RR QH/HLEELZE
THREMEZREER - 28R4
EX EFEEESNBERE - FEFA
EIXBRERERENRREAMAEE LR
WEAEXMEZRR - EMN -+ XKEH
MREERIEREE - ESEEE M FEE
XRASHEBER  2EHEERRETR &
ERERRE —RIERERE  c B
TE=FE2EER[R2AHLHIEERT
EAENEHHS ] - 20245108 -
KRR TREMIB S5 1+ — SPPIEN 3 (i e
REXSEERRE=FT8H R (2024 -
20264 )) ' IR 7KR1TE - 2078 A EEF
% 2EEEXBRRNEE  HED -

26  Annual Report 2024 FE#R%52024

THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE INDUSTRY IS
HIGHLY VALUED AT THE NATIONAL LEVEL

The development of nuclear technology application industry is
highly compatible with the strategies of Healthy China, Beautiful
China, Safe China, Digital China, Science and Technology
Strengthening and Talent Strengthening, and involves the
extensive integration and application of nuclear technology
in various industries, such as industry, agriculture, medicine,
environmental protection and public security, etc. It is a
strategic emerging industry, and is a typical representative
of the new quality productivity. CRIC’s nuclear medical and
healthcare industry and irradiation application industry are
important directions of nuclear technology application industry.
The 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China
(CPC) put forward a series of strategic measures to accelerate
the construction of a new development pattern, promote the
integration and cluster development of strategic emerging
industries, and comprehensively promote the construction of a
healthy China and a strong manufacturing country. The Third
Plenary Session of the 20th National Congress of CPC called for
“improving the system and mechanism for the development of
new quality productivity in accordance with local conditions”, and
in October 2024, the National Atomic Energy Agency and other
twelve departments published the “Three-Year Action Plan for
the High-Quality Development of Nuclear Technology Application
Industry (2024-2026)", which puts forward seven major actions
and 20 specific tasks, making an all-out effort to foster new
driving forces and new advantages for industry development.
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INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT TO MEET THE
NEEDS OF “HEALTHY CHINA”.

In recent years, the Party Central Committee and the State
Council have attached great importance to people’s health, and
issued the Outline of the “Healthy China 2030” Plan (“#EE
E2030"EEIMME)) to promote the construction of a healthy
China. Eight ministries and commissions of China jointly issued
the “Medium and Long-term Development Plan for Medical
Isotopes (2021-2035)" (& AR\ &+ KT EF2(2021-2035
), proposing to comprehensively promote the construction
of nuclear medicine departments, and realize the goal of “one
county, one department” by 2035, and continue to increase
industrial support policies. In March 2024, the State Council
issued the Action Plan for Promoting Large-scale Equipment
Renewal and Consumer Goods Replacement (&) A#RIE
REBEMMEERAERIITETE)), encouraging medical
institutions to accelerate the renewal and reconstruction of
medical equipment for medical imaging and radiotherapy, etc.
In September 2024, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology published the First (Set) Major Technical Equipment
Promotion and Application Guidance Catalog (Version 2024)
(BARE)EABRMEHHEERAEZB #2024 K))), which
included medical imaging equipment and radiotherapy equipment.
In December 2024, the State Council issued the Opinions on
Comprehensively Deepening the Reform of Drug and Medical
Device Supervision and Promoting High-Quality Development
of the Pharmaceutical Industry (B85 2 mF(L % 5 5 & 23
EENFREBEEXSmEERNHER)), which included
radiopharmaceuticals and radiotherapy equipment in the scope
of priority assessment and approval. With 42 years of experience
in the nuclear medical field, CIRC has been involved in the fields
of radiopharmaceuticals, nuclear medical equipment, radiological
immunization and respiratory diagnostics, providing users with a
full range of product solutions, and the industry is highly relevant
to the construction of “Healthy China”.
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HUGE MARKET POTENTIAL FOR INDUSTRY
DEVELOPMENT

Compared with developed countries in Europe and the United
States, China’s nuclear technology application industry is still in
the early stage of large-scale development, and there is huge
room for development. According to information, by 2023,
its direct economic output value was about RMB240 billion,
involving an industry scale of about RMB540 billion, with a growth
rate of 15% to 20% for many years in a row. The Three-Year
Action Plan for the High-Quality Development of Nuclear
Technology Application Industry (2024-2026) proposes that by
2026, the annual direct economic output value of the nuclear
technology application industry will reach RMB400 billion, further
demonstrating the industry’s good development prospects. With
the continuous maturation of technology and the expansion of
application scenarios, its growth potential will be further released.

RAPID DEVELOPMENT OF SEGMENTS

In the field of nuclear medicine, the discovery of new nuclides,
new targets, and new ligands will promote a number of accurate
and efficient new radiopharmaceuticals; and the advancement
of cutting-edge accelerator and detector technologies will also
have the power to promote the performance of nuclear medical
equipment. In the field of irradiation applications, with the
continuous breakthroughs in materials science and the deepening
of the research on the mechanism of the action of radioactivity
and matter, a number of new irradiation materials with excellent
performance will come into being. A new generation of
information technology represented by artificial intelligence (Al),
5@G, big data and cloud computing is accelerating the integration
and development of nuclear technology applications, giving rise
to new products, new modes and new business models. The
CIRC focuses on nuclides, nuclear medicine, nuclear medical
equipment, radioactive sources and applications, and irradiation
applications, with each segment showing a rapid development
trend.
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HZE2024F HE20234F
12H31H 12 A31H
LFE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
(AR®F ) 31 December 31 December
(RMB’000) 2024 2023
Wz Revenue 7,574,756 6,634,992
EH Gross profit 3,682,832 3,482,239
K PTISH A Profit from operations 1,086,382 941,598
BR 25 A AR Profit before taxation 1,045,224 922,437
RN B 7 s SR ) Profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 406,645 370,967
BRER #ERFN (AR¥EIT) Basic/diluted earnings per share
(RMB) 1.27 1.16
R =Y Profitability
ESTES Gross profit margin 48.6% 52.5%
LR Operating profit margin 14.3% 14.2%
FREE Net profit margin 11.6% 1.7%
B ZE2024% B ZE2023F
12A31H 12 A31H
LEFEE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BmEE Total assets 14,767,361 13,191,710
RN Total liabilities 7,022,766 6,052,382
FEE Net assets 7,744,595 7,139,328
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Focusing on the two major industrial directions of nuclear
healthcare and irradiation application, the Group is committed
to providing integrated solutions for nuclear medicine and
radiotherapy, as well as radiation technology promotion and
application, forming a “6+N” industrial layout with six major
businesses as the core, including nuclides, nuclear medicines,
nuclear medical equipment, integrated solution for nuclear
medicine, radioactive source and application, and irradiation
application. The Group is primarily engaged in the research,
development, manufacturing and sale of nuclides, diagnostic and
therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals and radioactive source products
for medical and industrial applications, the provision of irradiation
service for sterilization purpose, material modification and
engineering, procurement and construction (“EPC”) service for
the design, manufacturing and installation of irradiation facilities
and the provision of nuclear medical equipment and construction
service of nuclear medicine department to hospitals and other
medical institutions.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, we operated five
business segments, namely nuclear medicines (formerly known
as pharmaceuticals), radioactive source products, irradiation,
nuclear medical equipment and related services (formerly
known as radiation therapy equipment and related services)
and other businesses. In 2024, we continued to intensify our
market development efforts and achieved continued growth in
economic efficiency. For the year of 2024, we recorded revenue
of RMB7,574.8 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
14.2%, realised net profit of RMB879.5 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of 13.3%, with net profit attributable to the
parent company achieving RMB406.6 million, representing a year-
on-year increase of 9.6%.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS

1.

Nuclear medicines

The Group is a leading manufacturer of diagnostic and
therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals in China, primarily
engaged in the research, development, manufacturing and
sale of a wide range of imaging diagnostic and therapeutic
radiopharmaceuticals, Urea Breath Test (UBT) kits and
analyzers in the domestic market.

During the Reporting Period, the Group adhered to the
strategic development plan of each business segment.
In respect of nuclear medicines segment, it provided a
stable supply of radiopharmaceuticals to domestic medical
institutions and continuously promoted development in
existing industries and businesses, while accelerating
the research, development and launch of new products.
In September 2024, it obtained the drug registration
certificate for sodium fluorine-18 injection, which is the
first PET imaging agent approved for bone imaging in
China, filling the market gap of PET diagnostic imaging
agent in the field of bone imaging in China. This year,
the negotiated price of national medical insurance
was officially implemented for the therapeutic sodium
iodine-131 capsule, meeting the clinical needs of more
patients. The Group continued to carry out marketing
of respiratory disease testing products and promote
academic brand building, and participated in a total of 59
important academic conferences in the industry during the
Reporting Period, which enhanced its brand influence and
market penetration. In addition, the Company continued
to empower public welfare, and carried out more than
700 public welfare activities during the Reporting Period,
demonstrating the responsibility and commitment of
central enterprise with a high sense of responsibility.
Its subsidiary, Zhonghe Headway, won the 2023 China
Medical Equipment “National Brand Gold Award” (&
f# 4 #%) and “Excellent National Brand Award” (185 K & &
hE 7).
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During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded
RMB4,167.6 million in revenue from sales of nuclear
medicines, representing a year-on-year increase of
0.9%, recorded RMB1,751.5 million in revenue from
imaging diagnostic and therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals,
representing a year-on-year increase of 4.1%, and the
layout of the pharmaceutical center began to take effect,
and the revenue of technetium marked drugs increased
by 8.7% year-on-year. In terms of breath test, it continued
to maintain a stable high market share, and recorded
RMB2,349.5 million in revenue, representing a year-on-
year increase of 1.1%.

Radioactive source products

The Group is a major manufacturer of medical and
industrial radioactive source products in China and also a
radioactive source producer with a most complete range
of radioactive source product offerings in China, primarily
engaged in the research, development, manufacturing and
sale of various medical and industrial radioactive sources
products as well as provision of related technical services.

During the Reporting Period, gamma knife source and
non-destructive testing radioactive source continued to
maintain a stable and high market share. CNNC Qinshan
Isotope successfully obtained the Class A radiation
safety license, and the cobalt-60 radioactive source
production line delivered 2 million curies. The installation of
equipment was completed in the first phase of the Jiajiang
radioactive source base, and the roofing of main structure
was completed in the second phase. The supporting
radioactive sources developed for the “Shenzhou XVII”
manned spacecraft contributed to its successful return,
thus guaranteeing the success of China’s manned
spacecraft mission.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded
RMB716.1 million in revenue from radioactive source
products, representing a year-on-year increase of 22.2%,
mainly due to the significant growth of industrial sources,
of which the revenue of radiation sources was RMB234.3
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 69.3%; the
revenue of the startup neutron sources was RMB121.9
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 65.6%.

Irradiation

In the field of irradiation processing, the Group mainly
aimed at providing the manufacturers of medical devices,
food, traditional Chinese medicine and cosmetics for
sterilization in China, meanwhile, EPC services related to
the design, manufacturing and installation of irradiation
facilities were also accessible.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made efforts
deeply in the traditional irradiation market and actively
explored the market for new irradiation products. BINE
High-Tech Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, undertook
the construction of CIRC’s BINA irradiation center project
in Bangladesh located in Dhaka, Bangladesh, which was
the first major international project of CIRC in the field of
irradiation application of nuclear technology in Bangladesh.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded

RMB185.1 million in revenue from irradiation-related
business, representing a year-on-year increase of 8.4%.
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Nuclear medical equipment and related services

During the Reporting Period, the Group accelerated
domestic manufacturing process of high-end radiotherapy
equipment. The new generation of Precision radiation
therapy planning system was successfully approved for
medical device registration certificate. In July 2024, the
world’s first spiral tomotherapy system, Tomo C, was
delivered to Shandong Cancer Hospital (IR 4 &R
B) for installation, and Tomo C was successfully selected
into the 2024 high-end medical equipment promotion and
application project of two ministries and commissions
(Ministry of Industry and Information Technology/National
Health Commission) and Tianjin First (Set) Major Technical
Equipment Promotion and Application Guidance Catalog
(Version 2024) K REME A (BE)EARMEEHEERES
B 802024 hR)), with sales during the year leading in the
domestic market. The “R&D of Spiral Tomography System
Beam Subsystem” was completed with the key task ahead
of schedule and successfully passed the acceptance of
technical indicators.

In addition, the project “Development of Smart Cobalt-60-
based Cone Beam Focused Stereotactic Therapy System”
obtained the medical device registration certificate, with
3 units sold during the year, realizing fully independent
“resource and equipment” synergies.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded
RMB1,223.0 million in revenue from nuclear medical
equipment and related services, representing a year-on-
year increase of 31.0%.
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Other businesses

In order to provide users with a full range of services, the
Group also provides trade and other services in relation
to nuclear technology industry applications and medical
product applications. We primarily provide users with
trade services in relation to imported radioactive source,
medical nuclides, imported radiopharmaceuticals, nuclear
instruments and devices, medical equipment and other
products. The Group is promoting the cooperation with
international pharmaceutical companies to introduce
advanced radiopharmaceuticals, intensive management
services for hospital consumables, and import agency
sales of medical devices. During the Reporting Period,
new products such as the scarce medical isotope Tb-161
were introduced, filling the gaps in many domestic markets
and providing a strong guarantee for the research and
development of new radiopharmaceuticals in China.

During the Reporting Period, revenue from trade services
and other businesses of the Group was RMB1,283.0
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 57.3%.

The table below sets forth our revenue by business
segment in 2024 and 2023:

HZE 20234
12A31BILEE
Year ended 31

HZE2024F
12831 B ILFE
Year ended 31

December 2024 December 2023

(AREEEIT - BALERIN &8 % TH %
(RMB in million, except for percentage) Amount % Amount %
Tz Nuclear medicines 4,167.6 55.0 4,128.6 62.2
AR E @ Radioactive source products 716.1 9.5 586.2 8.8
wER Irradiation 185.1 2.4 170.8 2.6
ZEERER Nuclear medical equipment

AERA AR5 and related services 1,223.0 16.1 933.7 14.1
HAt R Other businesses 1,283.0 17.0 815.7 12.3
st Total 7,574.8 100.0 6,635.0 100.0
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Marketing

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to promote
brand building and marketing. In November 2024, the Group,
as the main organizer, released five innovative transformation
results at the “Nuclear Technology Application Industry Chain
Co-chain Action Conference” (#ifiifEREXEELBEITEA
&) held in Chengdu, Sichuan. During the Reporting Period,
the Group participated in the annual academic meeting of the
Nuclear Medicine Branch of the Chinese Medical Association
and held a seminar on the new quality productivity of nuclear
medicine; participated in the International Nuclear Industry
Exhibition, Medical Equipment Expo and other exhibitions, to fully
demonstrate the industry status of CIRC as the industry driver of
the nuclear technology application.

The Group continued to promote the reform of its sales model
and promote the synergistic, high-quality and safe development
of breath testing products, radioactive drugs, radioactive
sources and radiotherapy equipment. In order to promote the
implementation of the “Healthy China Strategy”, the Group and
the Nuclear Medicine Branch of the Chinese Medical Association
jointly launched a demonstration project for the promotion of
nuclear medicine diagnosis and treatment, and a total of 11
nuclear medicine demonstration projects in primary hospitals were
completed during the Reporting Period, helping the development
of nuclear medicine at the grassroots level.

International Business

During the Reporting Period, the Group robustly explored
the international market and exported breath test Kits,
radiopharmaceuticals, radioactive source, medical equipment
and devices as well as other products to dozens of countries
and regions such as Brazil, Peru, Nigeria, Colombia, Ecuador,
Indonesia, Vietnam, Bangladesh, Singapore and Thailand,
realizing a total export revenue of RMB626.5 million. International
business revenue from regular medical products maintained
significant growth in 2024.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group made breakthroughs
in a number of international businesses. Among them, the
irradiation station project of Bangladesh Nuclear Agricultural
Research Institute was successfully signed in 2024, realizing the
first irradiation station of overseas government agency and the
first overseas EPC project; the overall supply project of nuclear
medical equipment in Nigeria was successfully signed, realizing
the successful implementation of the Group’s overall nuclear
medical equipment supply project for the first time; the layout
of the ASEAN market was improved, with the successful export
of the cold medicine (/% %%) supporting radiopharmaceuticals
to Thailand; and the Group actively explored markets in Latin
America, Central Asia, Southeast Asia and other markets, seized
opportunities, fulfiled smoothly, completed product shipments,
expanded new markets and achieved new growth in export
revenue. The Group signed strategic cooperation agreements
with a number of Brazilian entities to support the signing of
strategic cooperation memorandums of understanding between
the National Atomic Energy Agency and Brazil in the field of
nuclear technology applications. Negotiations on new projects
in Uzbekistan, Russia, Algeria, Malaysia and other countries
were progressing in an orderly manner. The Group participated
in a number of world-class industry exhibitions and academic
conferences, such as the IAEA Ministerial Conference on
Nuclear Technology Cooperation and Scientific Applications
and the China-ASEAN Seminar on the Peaceful Uses of Nuclear
Technology, and released globally three integrated solutions for
nuclear technology application at the IAEA, so as to enhance
brand awareness and influence in overseas markets. In addition,
the Group actively expanded international channels, improved the
export risk management mechanism, and promoted the overseas
registration of self-produced products to ensure the steady
improvement of the level of international operation.
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Scientific Research and Innovation

The Group has always actively conducted research and
development work on various types of imaging diagnosis and
therapeutic pharmaceuticals to fill gaps in various fields of
medical treatment and meet the medical needs of China. On
3 September 2024, sodium fluorine-18 injection obtained the
drug registration certificate from the National Medical Products
Administration and was approved for marketing, filling the market
gap of PET diagnostic imaging agent in the field of bone imaging
in China. On 24 December 2024, fluoropylamide ['®F] injection
(R[eF) M ERPZ % 51 R) passed the review of the National Medical
Products Administration and was approved for the clinical
trial. As of 31 December 2024, we had a number of imaging
diagnosis and therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals under research
and development. Among them, fluorine-18 betazine injection
has completed Phase | clinical trials, iodine-131-MIBG injection,
technetium-99m sulfide colloidal injection, %8Ga-Dotatate injection,
fluorine-18 stamine injection and lutetium-177 oxyoctreotide
injection were in Phase Il clinical trial, fluorine-18-L dopa injection
was approved for the clinical trial, and a variety of imaging
diagnosis and therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals were in preclinical
research and development stage. In addition, the Group actively
carried out the layout of isotope and nuclear medicine equipment.

Patents and awards

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved remarkable
results in intellectual property, with a total of 274 patent
applications and 224 patent authorizations. As of 31 December
2024, the Group had 969 valid patents, including 196 invention
patents, and its scientific and technological strength has been
continuously enhanced. During the Reporting Period, there were
6 registered trademarks, 17 registered copyrights, 4 national
defense industry standards, 9 group standards, 3 national
standards and 1 agricultural standard being compiled.
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In terms of scientific and technological awards and honors, the
Preparation Technology of Key Nuclide %Cu for the Integration of
Diagnosis and Treatment and Research on Related Drugs (#Z &
—EeRgEixE “Cu BRI RIEREBEEYITE)) jointly declared
by CIRC and HTA Co., Ltd. (RF&BHRHBERAE, “HTA”) won
the second prize of CNNC Science and Technology Award, and
the Key Technology and Application of Nuclide Diagnosis and
Treatment for Thyroid Diseases (FARIRERIZED BRI
N FEA)) won the third prize of Sichuan Medical Science and
Technology Award.

Diagnostic drugs
Diagnostic drugs for tumors

1. Bone imaging drug: sodium fluorine-18 is a PET bone
imaging drug used to diagnose lesions with altered bone
activity, including bone metastases, incipient fracture,
ostalgia, joint hyperplasia, etc. The Group’s product under
development, sodium fluorine-18 injection, was completed
with clinical trials, obtained the drug registration certificate
of the National Medical Products Administration on 3
September 2024 and was approved for marketing, filling
the market gap of PET diagnostic imaging agent in the
field of bone imaging in China.

2. Pheochromocytoma diagnostic drug: iodine-131-MIBG
injection can be used for the diagnosis of neuroendocrine
tumors such as pheochromocytoma and neuroblastoma.
The Group’s product under development, iodine-131-
MIBG injection, has completed the enrollment of patients
in phase lll clinical trial, and will provide a new diagnostic
method for patients with such rare diseases after its
marketing, and early and accurate diagnosis will enable
patients to obtain better treatment opportunities.
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Prostate cancer diagnostic drug: PMSA is an ideal tumor
marker for prostate cancer. The development of radioactive
targeted PMSA diagnostic (therapeutic) drugs is currently
a hot spot of interest that the domestic and foreign
radiopharmaceutical companies are concerned about and
compete for. The combination of ['®F]Florastamin and
PMSA has a higher specificity and a higher safety profile.
The Group has signed a joint development agreement
with FutureChem in Korea to obtain the exclusive rights
to develop, manufacture and market ['®F]Florastamin
injection in PRC. At present, the Group’s product under
development, ['®F] Florastamin injection, is in Phase llI
clinical trial. It will fill the gap of radiodiagnostic drugs
for prostate cancer in China after its marketing, realize
independence and controllability, and improve the
accessibility of drugs for patients in China.

Breast cancer sentinel lymph nodes imaging drug:
technetium-99m sulfide colloid is the first technetium
marked radiocolloid for lymph imaging, which is used for
the location and tracing of breast cancer sentinel lymph
nodes. The Group’s products under development, sulfide
colloid kit and technetium-99m sulfide colloidal injection,
are in Phase Il clinical trial, which will benefit breast
cancer patients and improve the prognosis of the patients
in combination with the corresponding treatment.

High melanoma diagnostic drug: fluoropylamide [¢F]
injection (E['®F)WL B EET&) is a positron emission
tomography (PET) imaging agent, which can quickly
combine with melanoma in vivo, with good specificity
and high sensitivity, significantly improve the accuracy of
melanoma diagnosis and staging, and provide an accurate
basis for clinical treatment decisions. Clinical trial was
approved on 24 December 2024 and the drug is a Class
I innovative drug, which will provide a new solution for the
accurate diagnosis of melanoma after its marketing.
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Diagnostic drugs for neurodegenerative diseases

1.

Alzheimer (AD) diagnostic drug: B-Amyloid (AB) is
an important target for early diagnosis of AD. The
development of positron emission tomography (PET)
imaging agents with high affinity and selectivity with
AB protein can realize early non-invasive diagnosis of
such disease. ['®F]Florbetazine injection is an AB PET
imaging agent jointly developed by the Group and
the Key Laboratory of the Ministry of Education for
Radiopharmaceuticals of Beijing Normal University, which
has independent intellectual property rights and good
imaging properties, and is a domestic Class | innovative
drug. The Group’s product under development, ['®F]
Florbetazine injection, is completed with Phase | clinical
trial. In the general environment of an aging society, the
drug will produce good social benefits and economic value
after its marketing.

Parkinsonism diagnostic drug: 6-fluorine-18-L dopa
injection is used clinically for the diagnosis of nervous
system diseases such as parkinsonism, schizophrenia and
AD, and has clinical value for early diagnosis of disease,
assessment of disease severity and cell transplantation
detection. The Group’s product under development,
6-fluorine-18-L dopa injection, is in the preparation for
Phase Il clinical trial, and will fill the gap of domestic PET
Parkinson’s drugs after its marketing.

Integrated drug for diagnosis and treatment

Integrated drug for diagnosis and treatment for neuroendocrine
tumor. Internationally, the use of %Ga-DOTATATE for PET/CT of
neuroendocrine tumor has become the gold standard in imaging.
%8Ga-DOTATATE can also be used to evaluate the treatment

effect of patients with neuroendocrine tumor. ""Lu-DOTATATE is

an effective drug in the treatment of neuroendocrine tumor. The

Group’s products under development, %Ga-DOTATATE injection

and kits and lutetium-177 oxyoctreotide injection, are in Phase Il

clinical trial, which will greatly improve the efficiency of diagnosis

and treatment of patients with neuroendocrine tumor after their

marketing.
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Therapeutic drug for tumor

Palladium-103 sealed source is an in vivo implant for
brachytherapy, suitable for the permanent implantation of
solid tumors with low to neutral sensitivity to radiation, both
for superficial, intra-thoracic and intra-abdominal solid tumors
such as prostate cancer, pancreatic cancer, lung cancer, head
and neck cancer, as well as for residual diseases and recurrent
tumors after external radiation therapy. The Group’s product
under development, palladium-103 sealed source, has completed
various pre-clinical studies.

Nuclides

The Group introduced ITM Group’s carrier-free lutetium-177
nuclide production technology, built the first domestic production
line with an annual output of carrier-free lutetium-177 chloride
solution in ten thousand curies, and officially supplied products to
the market. The product indicators met the requirements of the
European Pharmacopoeia, and more than 30 domestic customers
gave good feedback on the trial, providing domestic raw material
guarantee for the development of lutetium-177 therapeutic drugs
in China.

Nuclear medical equipment

The Gamma-ray Stereotactic Radiotherapy System (Gamma Knife)
developed by the Group is a radiosurgery product integrating IGS
image guidance technology and radiotherapy technology, which
is suitable for the radiotherapy of head and body solid tumors.
The product is equipped with functions such as CBCT image
guidance, six-dimensional bed auto-correction, large dose rate,
and target area Al auto-sketch. It has the advantages of more
accurate positioning, smarter treatment planning and treatment
process, and shorter single treatment time. The Group’s gamma
knife products were successfully approved with a medical device
registration certificate on 5 July 2024, providing solutions to the
clinical needs of more cancer patients.



EEBHRRAH @

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (conTinuep)

WRLE
HEBEE

IAEATRST 14 2247 2 RS R 193 £ =0 /0

B R R F RE B AR R
(PRt IESE TI2E L) fEE PO

Rz B RET £ B TR AT ZT O
BREMSERRFCEY TR
PR B L
BERAEBE R RERTERMHTH O
AR T 8K R i 2= e A AR BB E P L
ZREMERERMEEAR QAT O
BTN RIS S5 3(T SRV

&R T (b AT O

P9I 7 AT e

R 2= TR H T A7 95 A /0 [R1 88 20 AR
)11 iaT I R AL = TAR R A 5T P 0

W PEE 7 F AR M MR b
EE (L TR

FEE Ly Il L Log e
HEEHERE

BB FRERS TRRMF O

R 22 S A0 FE AR BT &
TREHFH L

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT PLATFORM

External platforms

IAEA Radiopharmaceuticals and Radioactive
Sources Collaboration Center

National Atomic Energy Agency Research and
Development Center for Nuclear Technology
(Radiopharmaceutical Engineering Transformation)

CNNC Radiopharmaceuticals Engineering and
Technology Research Center

Guangdong Radioactive Isotope-labeled Drugs Engineering
Technology Research Center

Guangdong Stable Isotope Application Engineering Technology
Research Center

Shenzhen Carbon Isotope Application Engineering Technology
Research Center

Technology Center of Anhui Young-Hearty Medical Appliance &
Equipment Co., Ltd.

Beijing Enterprise Technology Center

Chengdu Enterprise Technology Center

Sichuan Enterprise Technology Center

CIRC Branch of Isotope Engineering and Technology
Research Center

Sichuan Radioisotope Engineering and Technology
Research Center

Shanxi Molecular Imaging Technology and
Equipment Research and Development and
Transformation Engineering Research Center

Key Laboratory of Radiopharmaceuticals Quality
Control and Evaluation of Guangdong Medical
Products Administration

Shanghai Molecular Imaging Probe Engineering
Technology Center

Zhejiang Engineering Research Center for Isotope
Preparation and Application Technology
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Internal platforms

Radiopharmaceuticals R&D Center

Stable Isotope and Breath Test Technology R&D Center
Radioactive Sources and Application R&D Center
Irradiation Application Technology R&D Center

In terms of industry-academia-research cooperation, the Group
has formed active research cooperation with industry-advantaged
research institutes, universities and hospitals such as National
Institute of Metrology, Shanghai Institute of Materia Medica
of Chinese Academy of Sciences, China Institute of Atomic
Energy, China Institute for Radiation Protection, Harbin Institute
of Technology, Sichuan University, Beijing Normal University,
Peking Union Medical College Hospital and 301 Hospital, and
strengthened academic exchanges and research talent cultivation
through the establishment of joint laboratories, research and
development centers, collaborative innovation centers and
innovation unions for purpose of achieving comprehensive
cooperation in technological innovation.

The Group has a long-standing commitment to building a system
of high-level talents, with 1 top foreign talent, 9 national-level
talents, 11 provincial and ministerial level talents, 2 chief experts,
10 technology leaders, and a scientific research team of 507
research and development personnel focusing on extensive
researching and optimizing production technologies, developing
new products and upgrading safety and efficacy existing
products to jointly promote technological innovation in various
industrial fields of the Group. In addition, the Group has set
up a post-doctoral research workstation of MOHRSS, a post-
doctoral innovation practice base in Shenzhen, a post-graduate
workstation for radiopharmaceuticals in Jiangsu Province and a
post-graduate workstation for irradiation application in Suzhou
University with an aim of actively developing post-doctoral
and post-graduate training and continuously strengthening the
construction of talent team.
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Digital transformation

The Group carried out the “Key Leaders Talk about Digital
mLFE A B (LAY, formulated an industrial

software map, compiled analysis report on the status and needs

Transformation” (

of digital standards, and issued three-year action plan for cyber
security and informatization, so as to steer and implement
the digital transformation. The Group completed the Nuclear
Intellectual Hub ERP (%18 ERP) special training, the publicity
and implementation of business processes and data standards,
completed the implementation and launch of all member units of
the ERP human resource and salary related modules, completed
the acceptance and launch of the second phase of Good Supply
Practice (GSP) system, and promoted 5 affiliated units. 6 units
including HTA successfully passed the inspection of the local
Food and Drug Administration, further improving the GSP level of
radiopharmaceuticals. The Group promoted the construction of
the pilot project of Zhonghe Headway intelligent factory, and held
a series of lectures on digital factory construction to realize real-
time data collection, analysis and utilization of key equipment,
and continuously optimize the early warning model. The Group
built a factory supply chain system to realize the data connection
of the whole production and manufacturing process from order to
production and delivery. It promoted the large-scale application
of Beidou, HTA and Chengdu Gaotong Isotope Co., Ltd. (CNNC)
(REFPZEBRMEZRMD AR AR, “CNGT”) completed the single
Beidou application (81t FER) of existing transport vehicle
positioning terminals, and CNGT completed the promotion of
60% of the intelligent monitoring terminals of Class Il testing
radioactive source transport source changers (—fBiF {5 RE A
JR25), further improving the level of safety control.
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BEREZE Capital Operation
WwEEAR $‘i B LB TAKE During the Reporting Period, the Group newly established a total
CIRIRE /N1 of 4 subsidiaries and 1 associate.
F¥ LRER g REIR RRES  HIAS iftEx  TEEH
Shareholding  Date of Registered  Principal
SN Company name Nature Investor percentage  establishment capital  businesses
(\R®ET)
(RMB10,000)
1 i (L&) BRRITAR AT HEAR TERERAERAT 100%  2024-00-27 20000 ERARRE
CNNC (Jiangsu) Irradliation Subsidiary China Isotope & Irradiiation service for
Technology Co., Ltd. Radiation Corporation sterilisation
(PRI BREGERAR)
2 hi (E4) BRERAA HEAA HERERERAT 51%  2024-05-15 5000 EBRAZRHE
CGNNC (Yulin) Irradiation Subsidiary China Isotope & Radiation Irradiation service for
Co., Ltd, (R (EA) &R Corporation sterilisation
ERAR)
3 hRRE (KR ARENERAR  WEAA hEFRERNERAT 35%  2024-04-07 6,000 ERARRE
Zhongtong Yinlong (Tianjin) Subsidiary China Isotope & Radiation Irradiation service for
Sterilisation Technology Corporation sterlisation
Co,, Ltd. (PRRE(XE)
REBKAERAR)
4 i () AR AR AR HEAR hERERHERAT 67%  2024-04-22 5800 ERHMLHEL
CNNC (Jilin) New Material Subsidiary China Isotope & Radiation e EE- &
Co., Lid. (RHE(FE) Corporation Research,
HMEERAR) development,
production and
sales of imadiation
modified materials
5 HRARRNERAA 5 KB BRLERD 10%  2024-12-18 9500 HAERIEEE
Gansu Hongye Nuclear Associate BRAT HE
Technology Co., Ltd. Chengdu Gaotong Isotope Production and sales
(HELFHRITERAR) Co., Lid. (CNNC) of radioactive
isotope
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As of 31 December 2024, the Company’s actual amount paid to
Beijing Tongfu Innovation Industrial Investment Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (“Tongfu Fund”) was RMB410 million
(including recovery of principal), accounting for 45.08% of the
total actual amount paid to Tongfu Fund, which was RMB910
million. After evaluation, as of 31 December 2024, the net asset
of Tongfu Fund measured at fair value was RMB1,007.17 million,
and the value of the Company’s share of Tongfu Fund’s net asset
was RMB432.80 million, accounting for 2.93% of the Group’s
total assets. In 2024, the Company’s investment income in
Tongfu Fund was RMB1.24 million, and the Company received
dividend of RMB4.80 million.

As the main body of the development of the nuclear technology
application industry of CNNC, CIRC is responsible for the
development of China’s nuclear technology application industry.
Upholding the strategic objective of “Becoming Larger, Stronger
and Better”, the Company firmly follows the development
concept of “Assetization and Globalization” to transform itself
into a topnotch international organization and provider of nuclear
technology application products and services. The Company
closely focuses on the established strategy and implements the
M&A strategy of investment control source, strengthening the
core, and expanding applications. The acquisition work and
direction focus on the fields such as nuclear medicines, nuclear
medical equipment, irradiation applications, and mergers and
acquisitions have been carried out in combination with strategic
or market investment considerations of different targets. In order
to promote the implementation of the Company’s strategy, open
up new economic growth points, and enhance the Company’s
economic scale and efficiency, Tongfu Fund completed the
second round of fundraising at the end of 2020, and introduced
the National Military Civilian Integration Industry Investment Fund
Co., Ltd. (BAIRERMAEEXRERESHBREMEAF]) and Beijing
Daxing Development Guidance Fund (Limited Partnership) (3t
RAAHEERS|EEL(BERAE)), which further enhanced the
financial advantages of Tongfu Fund. Tongfu Fund mainly invests
in nuclear technology applications such as nuclide manufacturing,
radioactive sources, other diagnostic and therapeutic drugs
in the field of nuclear medicines application, medical devices,
in vitro diagnostics, medical services and industrial irradiation
applications.
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Production Capacity and Base Construction

In order to meet the people’s growing demand for
radiopharmaceuticals, in 2024, we accelerated the national layout
of pharmaceutical centers, promoted the construction of bases,
and enhanced the Company’s production capacity in the fields
of radiopharmaceuticals, breath diagnostic products, radioactive
sources, and irradiation services.

During the Reporting Period, the national network layout
of pharmaceutical centers continued to expand. Fuzhou
Pharmaceutical Center was completed and put into operation,
as a result of which, the cumulative number of centers in
operation reached 27. Lanzhou positron drugs production line
was completed and put into operation, as a result of which, the
cumulative number of companies that can supply positron drugs
amounted to 23. 5 pharmaceutical centers have entered the
production certification stage, 3 were under construction and 6
were in the pre-project phase, and the network layout of national
pharmaceutical centers was becoming more and more perfect.
In recent years, the newly planned North China, East China and
South China medical base projects have been constructed in an
orderly manner, and the North China and East China medical
base projects have been completed and passed the completion
acceptance, and the South China medical base project has
completed land acquisition and geological exploration and
entered the feasibility study stage.
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The Group continued to strengthen the construction of bases
in the fields of nuclear healthcare and irradiation technology
application. The high-abundance ™CO gas enrichment
construction project (phase |) passed the completion acceptance
of the project, making China the second country in the world
with a high-abundance '*CO gas production capacity of more
than 100 kilograms and filling the domestic gap. The first phase
of the Jiajiang radioactive source R&D and production base
project completed the installation of process equipment, and
the second phase completed the roofing of main structure.
CNGT’s first domestic production line with an annual output of
10,000 curies-level carrier-free lutetium-177 and the production
line with an annual production capacity of 1,000 germanium-
gallium [*8Ge-%*Ga] generators were fully completed and put into
operation, marking that China officially has the production and
supply capacity of two medical nuclides such as 10,000 curies-
level lutetium-177 and gallium-68, and realizes the domestic
large-scale commercial supply. Qinshan isotope production base
project completed the installation of process equipment, passed
the completion acceptance and obtained the radiation safety
license. The cobalt-60 radioactive source production line delivered
products with 2 million curies. Tianjin irradiation project obtained
construction permit, and after the completion of the project, the
Company will further improve the layout of the irradiation industry
in the Bohai Rim region, and enhance the Company’s market
share and technological innovation capabilities in the field of
irradiation sterilization.
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Implementing the “Healthy China” Strategy and Facilitating the
Construction of “One County, One Department”

The Group adheres to the market-oriented, continuously
improving its core competitiveness, implementing the “Healthy
China” strategy, seizing the historical development opportunities,
and taking advantage of the momentum to provide hospital users
with integrated solutions for nuclear medicine and radiotherapy.
In order to facilitate the implementation of the “Medium and
Long-term Development Plan for Medical Isotopes (2021-2035)"
(KEBRARAMEHRAZEHRE(2021-2035%F ) and the national
development strategy of “One County, One Department”,
the Group has established a nuclear medicine development
center in a timely manner. Starting from national and provincial
demonstration centers and gradually expanding to municipal
and county demonstration bases, the Company promotes
standardized, regulated, and intelligent department construction
solutions across the country, providing six full-cycle intelligent
services covering intelligent department planning and design,
intelligent site protection construction, intelligent equipment
support, nuclear medicines supply and intelligent management,
full-process intelligent department management, and expert think-
tanks and talent cultivation, thereby contributing to hierarchical
diagnosis and treatment, realizing “early screening”, “early
diagnosis”, and “early treatment” of severe diseases (tumors) and
improving the level of precision medicine in China.
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Intelligent leadership, demonstration and promotion, and
creating a new benchmark for intelligent nuclear medicine
demonstration

In 2024, the Group deepened its cooperation with Peking
Union Medical College Hospital to promote the transformation
of “industry, academia, research and medicine” achievements.
Based on the clinical needs of the department, the team carried
out R&D and innovation, overcame difficulties and had the
courage to innovate, completing the development and launch
of the industry’s first, independent and innovative “Irradiation
Intelligence 1.0” (88%51.0) intelligent nuclear medicine system
in just one year, and taking the lead in establishing the world’s
first national smart nuclear medicine demonstration center in
Peking Union Medical College Hospital. The completion of the
pilot deployment of the 1.0 system in three hospitals marked
a pioneering breakthrough in the construction and operation
management of the normalization, systematization, visualization
and standardization of nuclear medicine in China, setting a new
benchmark for the intelligent and high-quality development of
nuclear medicine in China.

Based on the Internet of Things (loT) architecture, the “Irradiation
Intelligence 1.0” (¥8%51.0) intelligent nuclear medicine system is
an intelligent [oT system that integrates intelligent loT equipment,
whole-process management of patient visits, clinical diagnosis
and treatment process and radiopharmaceuticals quality control
process management, protection and environmental monitoring
management and department management visualization control
platform. Its innovative functions have reached the industry-
leading level, which can bring more convenient medical services
to patients, provide effective monitoring and quality control
methods for the safety of nuclear medicine clinical applications,
help departments improve their daily radiation safety management
capabilities that meet the requirements of national environmental
protection and health supervision standards, help departments
reduce costs and increase efficiency, and provide a strong
guarantee for precision medical quality control and accurate
quantitative diagnosis and treatment.
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By the end of 2024, strategic cooperation agreements have
been signed with the first batch of 8 demonstration hospitals
in China in respect with the “Irradiation Intelligence 1.0” (E8%
1.0) intelligent nuclear medicine overall solution. In terms of
independent intellectual property rights, by the end of 2024, 4
invention patents, 1 utility model patent and 7 software copyrights
have been intended to apply for the innovation achievements
related to the “Irradiation Intelligence 1.0” (¥8%51.0) intelligent
nuclear medicine system, of which 1 invention patent and 1 utility
model patent have been accepted, and 3 software copyrights

have been authorized.

The Group continued to promote the strategic cooperation with
the Nuclear Medicine Branch of the Chinese Medical Association
to jointly promote the construction of a demonstration base for
the advancement of nuclear medicine diagnostic and treatment
work in the country, and to help primary hospitals to realize
high-quality development through free expert diagnosis, clinical
seminars and departmental assistance. By the end of 2024, we
started a total of 80 demonstration bases construction projects
and had 32 demonstration bases passed the acceptance test
and established.

Jointly build a nuclear medicine development ecosystem
through overall coordination and cooperation alliance

In February 2024, the Group assisted the Health Commission
of Panzhihua City, Sichuan Province to establish the Panxi
Nuclear Medicine Specialist Alliance (278 [& 1% 58 £ S Rl H B8)
that was led by Panzhihua Central Hospital, signed cooperation
agreements of Nuclear Medicine Specialist Alliance with seven
city-level and county-level tertiary hospitals in Panzhihua, and held
the “Training Project for the Construction of Nuclear Medicine
Departments in Southwest Sichuan and Northwest Yunnan”
at the same time to promote the training of nuclear medicine
professionals and promote the high-quality and coordinated
development of nuclear medicine in surrounding hospitals.
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In March 2024, the Group, together with the Guangdong
Provincial Development and Reform Commission, the Department
of Science and Technology, the Health Commission and
other relevant departments, held the “Expert Seminar on the
Preparation of the Guangdong Nuclear Medical R&D and
Application Alliance” (ER&ZBHEMEERGBESH IR
@) in Guangzhou, where expert representatives from 8 leading
hospitals and production and R&D enterprises in Guangdong
Province gathered together to discuss the alliance construction
plan, promote the establishment of an industry academic
exchange and achievement transformation platform integrating
government, industry, academia, research, medicine and
application, and promote the implementation of “one county, one
department” of nuclear medicine innovative R&D and application

and intelligent nuclear medicine in Guangdong Province.

In December 2024, the Group, together with 9 tertiary general
hospitals in Hainan Province, established the “Hainan Nuclear
Medicine Specialist Alliance” (B8R AZEEERIEE) in Hainan,
established the first provincial intelligent nuclear medicine
demonstration center in Hainan Hospital of the PLA General
Hospital (E#NE 4588 E6T), and held a training course on
the construction of the nuclear medicine department in Hainan
Free Trade Port at the same time, so as to help the cultivation
and improvement of nuclear medicine talents and departments
in Hainan, and accelerate the high-quality development and
promotion of the intelligent nuclear medicine department.
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Quality and Safety

In 2024, the Group closely adhered to the theme of “overall
coordination to accumulate strength, excellent performance
to promote strong nuclear” (MR A N FHERIREZ),
was committed to the quality policy of “quality first, customer
satisfaction, continuous improvement, pursuit of excellence” (&
EF—, BEmME, HEME, BXKEH) and the quality concept
of “brand cornerstone, get it right once” (FHEEER « — XM,
and promoted quality in an all-round and multi-dimensional way.
The Group deepened the construction of the quality management
system. The digital transformation of quality has taken a solid
step to build a penetrating quality information system throughout
the whole Group to empower management. The Group actively
promoted the priority of excellent performance management
model, and completed the publicity and training of excellent
performance evaluation standards throughout the Group. The
Group promoted a number of Lean Six Sigma (f&z57<704%35)
Green Belt and Black Belt projects, and some projects have
achieved annual cost savings of more than RMB1 million. Mass
quality activities have achieved fruitful results, winning several
national awards of QC group and quality trustworthy team. With
the help of effective management theory, the quality of products
and quality management level have been comprehensively
improved, and projects such as post-market changes and drug
storage at room temperature have been completed, and quality
risk has been effectively controlled in the process of quality and
efficiency improvement and high-quality development.
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In 2024, the Group comprehensively coordinated safety and
development, and made concerted progress, and there were
no production safety accidents and environmental pollution
incidents throughout the year. 18 member units of the Company
have successfully passed the on-site review of safety production
standardization, and the normalization and standardization level
of enterprise safety production management has been effectively
improved. We have carried out a three-year special action to
tackle the root causes of production safety, built a radiation
safety management system of “full scope, whole process and
full cycle”, and realized a significant change in radiation safety
management “from the surface to the center”. Through innovative
measures such as the reuse of waste radioactive sources, both
the number and activity of temporarily stored radioactive sources
have decreased year-on-year, which has effectively promoted the
reduction and recycling of radioactive waste. The first “Radiation
Safety Cup”(#8% &) safety competition was held to promote
learning through competition, focusing on improving radiation
monitoring, radiation emergency response and compliance
awareness, and effectively enhancing employees’ safety skills
and emergency response capabilities. We continued to carry
out “pairing” activities, actively explore feasible ways to apply
advanced safety management tools to nuclear technology
application enterprises, integrate the safety concept of “pursuit of
excellence” into all aspects of the Company’s management, inject
new vitality into safety management, and promote the safety
management level to a new level.
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Future Development

2025 will mark the 70th anniversary of the founding of nuclear
industry in China, and is the final year for realization of the
objectives of the “14th Five-Year Plan”. Looking back at the past
40 years of hard work, CIRC has grown from scratch, from small
to large, step by step to become the industry leader, and made
positive contributions to the nuclear industry’s strong foundation,
leapfrog development, overall improvement of system capability,
and accelerating catch-up from big to strong. Looking ahead,
CIRC will adhere to the principle of “helping people’s livelihood
and benefiting society”, give full play to the unique advantages
of nuclear medicine in the diagnosis and treatment of major
diseases such as neurodegenerative diseases, cardiovascular
and cerebrovascular diseases and malignant tumors, and provide
quality products, services and integrated solutions to better
protect people’s lives and health and facilitate the construction of
“Healthy China”.

In 2025, the Company will closely focus on the goals and tasks
of the “14th Five-Year Plan”, keep a firm understanding of the
profound connotation of “Chinese-style modernization is the
greatest politics, and high-quality development is the absolute
principle in the new era”, focus on the “needs of the country” and
the improvement of “five values”, and promote stable growth,
strong innovation and reform with the “eight efforts”, strengthen
technological innovation consistently, improve the modern
industrial system, accelerate the cultivation and development of
new quality productivity, and continuously strengthen our core
functions and enhance our core competitiveness, aim at the goal,
work hard, pursue excellence and move forward bravely, go all
out to win the decisive battle and win the successful conclusion
of the “14th Five-Year Plan” of CIRC to lay a solid foundation for
the good start of the “15th Five-Year Plan”.
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Firstly, connect up and down, and focus on strengthening
strategic leadership. The Company will deeply analyze the new
stage characteristics of the “15th Five-Year Plan” period, solidly
carry out the summary and assessment of the “14th Five-Year
Plan” and the research on and preparation for the “15th Five-
Year Plan”, and scientifically determine the development goals.
In addition, we will plan major strategic tasks and projects. The
Company will make greater efforts to lay out strategic emerging
industries and future industries, and strive to develop new
quality productivity. The Company will make efforts to promote
professional operation operation, further plan and subdivide
the key responsibilities of the segments, further rationalize
the production and management relations, and accelerate the
cultivation of market entities with combat effectiveness.

Secondly, forward-looking layout, focusing on promoting
scientific and technological innovation. The Company will
establish a market-oriented scientific and technological innovation
system, promote the high-level operation of platforms such as
the IAEA Collaborative Center for Radiopharmaceuticals and
Radioactive Sources (IAEARET M ZEY) KRB IEFR L) and
the Nuclear Technology (Radiopharmaceutical) Engineering
Transformation Center of the National Atomic Energy Agency
(B R R F e M i AZ 000 (PR ST M B2 9)) T2 88 (LA 1)), optimize the
“14+N” operation mode of the CIRC Research Institute (# B[F#&
#ft3EPx), reconstruct the irradiation technology R&D center, and
prepare to build a nuclear medical equipment R&D center. We
will accelerate the layout of a number of forward-looking scientific
research projects, innovate the introduction mode of drug
pipelines, and promote capital operation in the field of nuclear
medicines. The Company will solidly carry out the planning and
application of centralized R&D and basic R&D projects such as
Al+ radiopharmaceuticals R&D data model. The Company will
accelerate the clinical trials of 68Ga-DOTATATE injection and
other medicines.
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Thirdly, seek progress while maintaining stability, and
focus on deeply making efforts in existing business. We will
continue to strengthen the construction of a customer-oriented
service system and an efficient and collaborative marketing
system, and comprehensively improve market coverage and
penetration. We will go all out to achieve stable growth in extra-
group market for key products in the fields of isotopes and
and highlight the
market development and scale improvement of key products

products, nuclear medical equipment, etc.,

such as Cyberknife and Tomo C. We will continue to strengthen
the reform of the sales model and further reduce the sales rate.
We will expand the application of results of high-abundance
carbon monoxide gas projects, realizing the localization of raw
materials, greatly reducing the production cost of carbon-13
breath diagnostic reagents, reducing costs and increasing profits.

Fourthly, strive to work hard and strive to speed up the
“going out”. We will insist on paying equal attention to “going
out” and “bringing in”, and build core competitiveness around
services, channels and teams. The Company will continue to
carry out scientific and technological exchanges and industrial
cooperation with Brazil in the field of nuclear technology
application, and further promote the implementation of the
memorandum of understanding on strategic cooperation between
China and Brazil in the field of nuclear technology application.
The Company will focus on South America, Southeast Asia,
the Middle East, North Africa and countries along “the Belt and
Road”, promote the large-scale export of core products such as
radiopharmaceuticals and nuclear medical equipment with overall
solutions, and strive to build a new world.
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Fifthly, cooperate and focus on strengthening the
construction of production capacity. Qinshan isotope base
has been put into full operation. The first phase of the Jiajiang
radioactive source base has been put into operation, and the
second phase has obtained the radiation safety license. The
first phase of the North China Medical Base has obtained the
production license and started pilot production. Two production
lines of technetium drugs in Xinjiang and Guiyang have been
put into operation, and three production lines of positron drugs
in Fuzhou, Guiyang and Xinjiang have been put into operation.
We have scientifically demonstrated and actively and steadily
promoted the preliminary work of the second phase of the high-
abundance carbon monoxide gas project, the South China base
project, the nuclear medicine center project and the irradiation
station project to ensure that Yulin Irradiation is fully put into
production. We will step up the demonstration construction
and product development of intelligent nuclear medicine, and
strengthen the capacity building from project design to project
implementation, especially to industrial empowerment. No less
than 3 new intelligent nuclear medicine projects have been
launched and implemented. We are deeply engaged in key
regions such as Sichuan and Chongging, Xinjiang, Guangdong,
Jiangsu and Zhejiang, further promote the nuclear medicine
specialist alliance, and enhance the business development of “one
county, one department” through multiple channels.

Sixthly, promote stability through progress and focus on
the implementation of capital operation. We will coordinate
technological advancement, market growth and economic
feasibility, focus on nuclear medicines, nuclear medical
equipment, irradiation applications and other fields, focus
on strengthening core technologies, making up for industrial
shortcomings, enhancing market competitiveness, expanding
market share, appropriately extending the industrial chain,
expanding industrial scale, and promoting investment and
mergers and acquisitions. We will supplement the funds needed
for the development of projects such as CNGT through capital
increases. We will strengthen the exit of ineffective investments
and accelerate the revitalization of assets. We will improve the
ESG indicator system, form a complete working mechanism,
establish and improve the investor relations management
mechanism, and carry out roadshows, investor research and
interviews on a regular basis.
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Seventhly, be upright and innovative, and strive to improve
governance efficiency. We will keep the bottom line of zero
accidents of safety, environmental protection and quality, and
zero leakage of confidentiality. We have promoted 25 subsidiaries
to pass the on-site review of safety production standardization,
continued to carry out the investigation and management of
major accident hidden dangers, strengthened the control of high-
risk operations, and strengthened the monitoring and control
of environmental emissions. The Company steadily promotes
the construction of pharmaceutical centers and irradiation
stations and the standardization of operation and management.
The Company promotes the quality management system as
“constructed as much as possible”. The Company implements
the requirements of refined project management, optimizes and
upgrades the project management system, and improves project
management capabilities. We have fully implemented 100%
coverage of substantive secondary centralized procurement.
We comprehensively plan for digital transformation and solidly
promote the construction of “digital CIRC”. We promote artificial
intelligence projects, and CNGT has completed 100% promotion
and application of Beidou intelligent monitoring terminals for key
radioactive source containers. We further improve the efficiency
of capital use and reduce financing costs.

Eighthly, establish the new before abolishing the old, and
strive to deepen reform in an all-round way. We continue to
improve the corporate governance system based on the Articles
of Association. We highlight and strengthen the reform of the
market-oriented mechanism, solidly promote the new operation
and management responsibility system, and continue to promote
the competition for management personnel. We improve the
market-oriented employment mechanism and the talent flow
mechanism. We improve a more accurate, flexible, standardized
and efficient income distribution mechanism, explore excess profit
sharing incentives, and make good use of medium and long-term
incentive tools such as project dividends, post dividends, project
co-investment and equity incentives. We promote the deepening
of reform, and strive to become a model of reform of science and
technology enterprises and a pioneer of independent innovation.
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The “14th Five-Year Plan” is a strategic opportunity period for
the development of the nuclear technology application industry.
We will closely focus on the objectives of the “14th Five-Year
Plan”, unify our ideology and understanding, maintain our
strategic determination, practice the “CIRC speed”, make every
effort to achieve the successful conclusion of the key tasks of
the “14th Five-Year Plan”,
an internationally renowned isotope and radiation technology

and accelerate the establishment of

application products and services supply group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s
businesses. To the best of knowledge and belief of the Directors,
the Directors consider that the following are the principal risks
and uncertainties identified by the Group as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or
failed internal processes, people and systems or from external
events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically
rests with every function at divisional and departmental levels.
Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The
management will identify and assess key operational exposures
regularly so that appropriate risk response can be taken.

Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence
of losses relative to the expected return on any particular
investment. Key concern of investment framework will be
balancing risk and return across different investments, and thus
risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment decision
process. Proper authorization system has been set up and
detailed analysis will be made before approving investments.
Regular updates on the progress of the investments of the Group

would be submitted to the Board.
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Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects
ability to meet business objectives arising from the market
competition. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure that appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Interest Rate Risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, the Group
analyses the interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when
appropriate, through variety of means.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that the Group will be unable to meet
its obligations when they fall due because of an inability to obtain
adequate funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk,
the Group monitors cash flows and maintains an adequate level
of cash and cash equivalent to ensure the ability to finance the
Group’s operations and reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash
flows.

Economic Environment

Most of the Group’s facilities, operations are located in and
its revenue derived from mainland China. The Group’s results
of operations and financial condition therefore depend on the
economy of mainland China. Mainland China’s economy may
experience negative economic developments, and other regional
economies may also deteriorate.

The Group also has significant business across the PRC and
one of its growth strategies is to expand into new regions.
These regions have also been adversely affected by the global
economic slowdown and any continued slowdown may have an
adverse effect on the Group’s existing operations in, and planned
expansion into, these regions.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

We derived our revenue mainly from five major business
segments: (1) nuclear medicine; (2) radioactive source products;
(3) irradiation; (4) nuclear medical equipment and related services;
and (5) other businesses.

Qur revenue increased by 14.2% from RMB6,635.0 million in
2023 to RMB7,574.8 million in 2024, which was mainly due
to an increase in revenue from our nuclear medical equipment
and related services, radioactive source and other businesses
segments.

Cost of Sales, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Our cost of sales increased by 23.4% from RMB3,152.8 million
in 2023 to RMB3,891.9 million in 2024, which was mainly due
to a corresponding increase in cost of sales of nuclear medical
equipment and related services and other businesses, resulting
from the increase in revenue.

Our gross profit increased by 5.8% from RMB3,482.2 million
in 2023 to RMB3,682.8 million in 2024 and our gross margin
decreased from 52.5% to 48.6%. The increase in gross profit
and the decrease in gross margin were primarily due to the
relatively significant increase in the revenue of the nuclear medical
equipment and related services and other businesses, which had
a lower gross margin, pulling down the overall gross margin.

Other Income, Gains and Losses

Our other income decreased by 67.8% from RMB240.9 million
in 2023 to RMB77.5 million in 2024, mainly because in the same
period last year, the Company obtained investment income from
the disposal of Beijing North Institute of Biotechnology Co., Ltd.
(bR T £ RITICT AR A ")), a former subsidiary of the
Company, and there were no related matters during the year.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses decreased by 8.2% from
RMB1,768.4 million in 2023 to RMB1,623.6 million in 2024,
mainly due to the decrease in sales service fees as a result of
the changes in the Company’s nuclear medicines sales policies
during the year.

The percentage of our selling and distribution expenses to
revenue decreased from 26.7% in 2023 to 21.4% in 2024.

Administrative Expenses, Research and Development Costs
and Credit Impairment Losses

Our administrative expenses, research and development
costs and credit impairment losses increased by 3.7% from
RMB1,013.2 million in 2023 to RMB1,050.3 million in 2024,
mainly due to (i) the increase in employee compensation, and (ii)

the increase in assets impairment loss during this year.

The percentage of our administrative expenses, research and
development costs and credit impairment losses to revenue
decreased from 15.3% in 2023 to 13.9% in 2024.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased 34.0% from RMB36.1 million in 2023
to RMB48.4 million in 2024, mainly due to the increase in external
borrowing for funding needs.

Share of Losses of Associates and Share of Profits of Joint
Ventures

Our share of losses of associates decreased by 1.5% from
RMB14.3 million in 2023 to RMB14.1 million in 2024, mainly due
to the decrease in losses of associates during the year.

Our share of profits of joint ventures decreased by 31.7% from
RMB31.3 million in 2023 to RMB21.4 million in 2024, mainly due
to the decrease in profits of the joint ventures of the Company.
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Profit before Tax

As a result of the foregoing, our profit before tax increased by
13.3% from RMB922.4 million in 2023 to RMB1,045.2 million in
2024.

Income Tax Expense

Our income tax expense increased by 13.2% from RMB146.3
million in 2023 to RMB165.7 million in 2024. Our effective tax
rates were both 15.9% in 2023 and 2024.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year increased by
13.3% from RMB776.1 million in 2023 to RMB879.5 million in
2024.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Overview

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total assets of the
Group have increased. The total assets, the total liabilities and
the total equity were RMB14,767.4 million, RMB7,022.8 million
and RMB7,744.6 million, respectively.
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MENEEFE
THREIHBFPNLRET R BENREEE The table below sets forth our current assets, current liabilities

Net Current Assets

BBEELERHEEFRE and net current assets as at the dates indicated:
AEBHE T RMB in million

2024 F 20234
12A31H 12 A31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
FE Inventories 787.2 814.2
EREE Contract assets 58.8 19.9
Z 5 EWRIE R R R Trade and bill receivables 4,922.1 3,876.3
e RHE A EWEIR Deposits and other receivables 294.7 254.6
B OB Prepayments 206.2 337.9
RITARFER S Cash at bank and on hand 2,649.3 2,891.6
MEEERTE Total Current Assets 8,918.3 8,194.5
IRITER Bank loans 940.7 196.3
B SN IE Trade payables 791.5 626.7
JEETE A R HE MR RIE Accruals and other payables 3,097.5 3,256.0
HEAE Lease liabilities 26.0 20.9
B Provisions 92.1 86.6
FERTPTIS Income tax payable 75.6 67.5
ik E=NEF Total Current Liabilities 5,023.4 4,254.0
RBEEFEE Net Current Assets 3,894.9 3,940.5

BN RBEEFEREZE2023F 128
S1TEMARK3,94058 BT NE1.2%E
HE2024%12 31 HMARES,894.9
BEL TEEHARARFRITRFER
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Our net current assets decreased by 1.2% from RMB3,940.5
million as of 31 December 2023 to RMB3,894.9 million as of 31
December 2024, which was mainly due to the decrease in the
Company’s cash at bank and on hand and the increase in bank
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Adjusted Net Gearing Ratio and Quick Ratio

Our adjusted net gearing ratios (adjusted net debt (interest-
bearing debt plus unaccrued proposed dividends) divided by
adjusted equity (total equity of the Company less unaccrued
proposed dividends)) were 25.5% and 34.9% as of 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2024, respectively.

Our quick ratios (total current assets, excluding inventories,
divided by total current liabilities as of the same date) were 1.7
times and 1.6 times as of 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2024, respectively.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at amortized cost using
the effective interest method less allowance for credit losses. As
of 31 December 2024, our trade and other receivables (net of bad
debt allowance of RMB261.7 million) were RMB5,216.8 million.

Trade and Other Payables

Our trade and other payables mainly consist of trade payables
and accruals and other payables, which include receipts in
advance, other taxes payables, deposits from promoters,
payables to promoters, payables for staff related costs, dividends
payables and other accruals and payables. As of 31 December
2024, our trade and other payables were RMB3,889.0 million.

Issuance of Bonds

On 25 October 2024, the Company issued RMB500 million
corporate bonds with coupon rate of 2.25% due in 2027
(China Isotope &Radiation Corporation’s 2024 Public Offering
of Technology Innovation Corporate Bonds to Professional
Investors (Phase 1)). For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 22 October 2024, 23 October 2024 and
25 October 2024.
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Bank Loans and Pledge of Assets

As of 31 December 2023 and as of 31 December 2024, the
Group’s total bank loans amounted to RMB1,570.37 million and
RMB1,682.43 million, respectively, and the Group’s total loans
from CNNC Finance Company Limited amounted to RMB60.03
million and RMB297.01 million, respectively.

As the pledge of assets arising from the borrowings was
RMB109.84 million (2023: RMB83.00 million), details of which are
set out in Note 24(a)(b).

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures mainly comprise additions to plant
and equipment and intangible assets. In 2024, our capital
expenditures were RMB1,044.0 million.

Contingent Liabilities

As of 31 December 2024, we did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Foreign Exchange and Exchange Rate Risk

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue
was mainly denominated in RMB, and it was exposed to currency
risk through bank deposits denominated in foreign currency,
which were primarily Hong Kong dollars. The Group monitors
foreign exchange movements and determines exchange when
necessary. The Group currently has no foreign exchange hedging

policy.

Credit Risk

In order to minimize the credit risk, we have policies in place
to monitor the exposures to these credit risks on an ongoing
basis. Before accepting any new customer requiring credit
over a certain credit amount, we carry out research into their
creditability and assess their credit quality and define credit limits
for that customer. Our individual credit evaluations focus on the
customer’s historical payment records, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer operates.
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We normally do not require collateral from customers. Therefore,
our exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather than the industry in which
the customer operates. The significant concentration of credit risk
primarily arises when we rely heavily on individual customers. We
will, however, perform periodic credit evaluation on our customers
and monitor the compliance of credit terms by them. We believe
we do not have any significant concentration of credit risk as the
trade and bill receivables involve a large number of customers
across diverse industries and geographical areas.

Liquidity Risk

Our policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that we maintain sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate commitment funds from major financial
institutions to meet both short-term and long-term liquidity
requirements. Our Directors believe that there is no significant
liquidity risk, as we have sufficient monetary capital to fund our
operations.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company is summarized as below:

In distributing the profit after tax of the current year, the Company
shall allocate 10% of its profit into its statutory reserve fund.
When the aggregate amount of the statutory reserve fund of
Company is more than 50% of its registered capital, further
appropriations are not required. Where the statutory reserve
fund of the Company is insufficient to make up for the losses
of the previous year, the profits of the current year shall be
used to make up for such losses before making allocation to its
statutory reserve fund in accordance with the aforementioned.
After allocation of its profits after tax to its statutory reserve fund,
the Company may, subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company at the shareholders’ general meeting allocate
its profits after tax to its discretionary reserve fund. After making
up for the losses and making allocations to the reserve fund, any
remaining profits after tax shall be distributed by the Company
to the shareholders of the Company in proportion to their
respective shareholdings according to the resolution adopted
at the shareholders’ general meeting of the Company. If the
shareholders’ general meeting of the Company has, in violation
of the provision of the aforementioned, distributed profits to the
shareholders of the Company before the Company has made up
for its losses and made allocations to its statutory reserve fund,
the shareholders of the Company shall return to the Company
the profit distributed in violation of the provision. The Company’s
shares held by the Company are not entitled to any profit
distribution.
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The Company may distribute dividends in the form of cash or
shares.

Dividends are declared and paid in RMB to holders of domestic
shares of the Company, whereas dividends payable to holders
of H shares will be declared in RMB and payable in Hong Kong
dollars. Exchange rate between RMB and Hong Kong dollar will
be the arithmetic mean of the median of the exchange rates
of Hong Kong dollars against RMB as quoted by the People’s
Bank of China for the five business days preceding the date
of the dividend payment (inclusive). The Company’s specific
profit distribution proposal will be formulated by the Board in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations and the
Company’s operating conditions, based on the opinions of the
Company’s independent Directors, and will be considered and
decided by general meeting of the Company. In the event that
a profit distribution proposal is approved at the general meeting
of the Company, the Company will implement the specific plan
within two months after the conclusion of the relevant general
meeting.

When the Board recommends the declaration of cash dividends
to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) at a
general meeting, the decision to declare any dividends and the
amount of dividends will depend on, among other things:

° our results of operations and cash flows;

o our financial position;

° overall performance;

° our future prospects;

° statutory, regulatory and contractual restrictions on the

payment of dividends by us; and

other factors that the Board deems relevant.

FERE2024 Annual Report 2024 71



CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION A1 B [E 48 A% 7 A R A &

BTN DA @

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (conTiNueD)

BEATNEE

BECOHR  HE2024F12A318 - &
19 B9 B 765 Ko A8 48 A S B8 Al S A B KT A

BEHREE

BXARBREMEREAR

201847 A6 H » NAAHR AR FT
FERET (ROARIE - 1763) - REEES
BERHR21.60BTHE - L1TEHH
FREEMAREEME (1000%) - MBR 2K E AR
EEAE REMETRXE  TNEEK
M ERBEEMERIBFELOA16.9E
BT c FR2024F 12 A31H * RBEEY
AR¥E2681EBITEEA  ROARK
536. 1 BB TTRARNBREENE -

REEDIZBAAR A AE2018F6 22
ARBREERARAF BEA2019F3 A
29H K 201949 A20 B A HHE R ##
ERBRELEARIREEMGERIBFE -
BE(EBBERZMBERARESR LM
A (TKEMRADN]) Hi8xD2 2 5E11(8)
BHMER  FISREALREN - UEH
024 FEEHRARABEMSEHERAR (K
FEREZHDAFACEOERRRE) -
YT

72  Annual Report 2024 fFE#R#E2024

NO MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE

The Directors have confirmed that there was no material adverse
change in our financial and trading position or prospects as of 31
December 2024.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant subsequent
events to be disclosed after the Reporting Period to the Latest
Practicable Date.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL PUBLIC
OFFERING

On 6 July 2018, H shares of the Company became listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1763).
Based on the offer price of HKD21.60 per H share and upon the
partial exercise of the over-allotment option (100 shares), the
net proceeds that the Group received from the Global Offering
were approximately HKD1,690.0 million after deduction of the
underwriting commissions and other estimated expenses in
relation to the Global Offering. As at 31 December 2024, current
assets of approximately RMB268.1 million were used and
approximately RMB536.1 million was used in selective mergers
and acquisitions.

The Group has utilised the net proceeds from the Global Offering
in accordance with the intended use disclosed in the prospectus
of the Company dated 22 June 2018 and the announcements of
the Company dated 29 March 2019 and 20 September 2019. In
accordance with the requirements of paragraph 11(8) of Appendix
D2 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the use of
proceeds will be updated to provide the use of proceeds from the
initial public offering for 2024 (including the expected timeline of
full utilisation of the balance), which is set out below:
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Use proceeds  proceeds 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2024 of balance

REBEVERABE  Ivestment in imaging
HEEREER diagnostc and therapeutic
e radiophamaceticals
manufacturing and research
and development bases 597.3 4600 0.0 295 2000 215 210 4593 4600 0.0
BUAERIHIELT  Establihment of production
and dlstribution subsidleries 673 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00
Rt ER Etabishment of
new production facilties 845 500 00 500 500 50.0 500 50.0 50.0 00
REMRSEEEIER  Investment in the research
REEMEEER . and development of
HETEERMBNH - various imaging diagnostic
BEMGIBANER  and therapeuti
REMTZBERR  radophamaceuticass,
R raw materials of racioactive
source products, medical
radioisotopes, and

UBT products and related ABE

raw materials 2636 1183 00 76 1012 105.4 106.5 106.5 1065 128 o2
RE/EEE(SE)UE Ivesiments/sdlctive

(mergers) acquisitions 2865 536.1 514 5299 53.1 536.1 536.1 536.1 536.1 00

SEELR-ROFEE Working capte and
general corporate purposes 1433 268.1 nr 2325 268.1 268.1 268.1 268.1 268.1 0.0

aif Totd 14325 14325 1231 9185 1194 f2m1 13867 14100 14107 128

5. FEARXEEATREATFREESAHTEE Note: The investment in the research and development in the use

MR IEE FESE T - BEWFRSE of proceeds is under preparation due to certain research and
B B S (e AR R RS B Y8 HA 4 PR A RS T AR 1R development projects to be newly launched. There may be
EER BB S8 B 58 (5 B LA differences between the actual and expected timeline for utilising
EEEREABE AL  AATSRE the proceeds for investment in research and development. The
BEHER HBREBRETETHESK - specific timeline of utilisation of the proceeds for the investment

in the research and development is subject to the actual timeline
of utilisation of the projects. The Company will fulfill the disclosure
obligations in accordance with the relevant requirements
according to the progress of the projects.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group had a total of 3,367 (as at 31 December 2023: 3,105)
employees as at 31 December 2024. During the year ended 31
December 2024, our staff costs were approximately RMB886.0
million (for the year ended 31 December 2023: RMB867.4 million).
The remuneration policy of the Group is to motivate and retain
excellent staff so as to realize the long-term enterprise goals and
objectives of the Group. The employee remuneration policy of the
Group is determined after taking into account the overall salary
level in the industry, employees’ performance and other factors.
The management regularly reviews the employee remuneration
policy and arrangement of the Group.

We provide our employees with salaries and bonuses, as well
as employee benefits, including employee retirement benefit
schemes, medical and vocational injury insurance schemes and
housing provident fund schemes. Our employees located in China
are covered by the mandatory social security schemes defined
by PRC local practice and regulations, which are essentially
defined contribution schemes. The Group contributes to the basic
pension insurance schemes based on the applicable benchmarks
and rates prescribed by government departments, pursuant to
which such entities are required to contribute to the schemes
at the rate of 16% of the employee’s basic salary. Employees of
these entities are entitled to retirement benefits calculated as a
percentage of the average wage level in China from the above-
mentioned retirement plan at the time of their normal retirement.
The Group shall not use any forfeited contributions to reduce
the level of existing contributions. Details of the Company’s fixed
contribution plan are set out in note 28(b) to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. In addition to the
government’s mandatory basic pension and medical schemes,
the Group also provides fixed retirement benefits to retired
citizens, current retirees and certain eligible active employees (the
“Plan”), which has covered 25.74% of the Group’s employees as
at 31 December 2024. The Plan is managed by the Group and
funded by the Group’s working capital. Under the Plan, eligible
retirees and/or employees are entitled to fixed supplemental
post-retirement pension benefits, defined death benefits and
supplemental post-retirement medical benefits. There are no
Plan assets and therefore no information on the market value,
contribution level or material surplus or shortfall of the Plan assets
can be disclosed. Details of the Company’s defined benefit plan
are set out in note 28(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
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We provide training to all of our employees to have them
equipped with the necessary skills to perform their jobs
competently and to give them the opportunities to realize their
personal career goals and aspirations. We are also committed to
providing individuals with management and leadership training
that will improve our capability to achieve our vision, mission
and growth objectives. We realize the importance of developing
individual career paths that will help employees develop their full
potential. Development opportunities are provided as a result of
on-the-job training and formal training programs.

We adhere to the market-oriented employment mechanism, and
in 2024, we organized the open selection of middle managers
at the headquarters and subsidiaries, with the adjustment ratio
exceeding 50%, effectively activating the vitality of the cadre
team. The annual performance-based salary of the heads of the
subsidiaries were rigidly redeemed, and the salary difference
between the heads reached 2.4 times in 2023. For the two units
that failed the tenure assessment from 2021 to 2023, the annual
performance-based salary of the heads during their tenure was
zero, and the performance orientation was strengthened.

HEDGING ACTIVITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had
not entered into any hedging transaction in relation to foreign
exchange risks or interest rate risks.
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MAJOR ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

On 3 April 2024, the Company and CNNC Hainan Nuclear
Power Co.. Ltd. (“*CNNC Hainan Nuclear Power”) jointly invested
in the establishment of CNNC (Yulin) Irradiation Co., Ltd.,
with a registered capital of RMB50 million, of which 51% was
contributed by the Company and 49% was contributed by CNNC
Hainan Nuclear Power. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 3 April 2024.

On 16 December 2024, CNGT, CNNC 404 Company Limited,
Gansu Runyuan Environmental Resources Technology Co.,
Ltd. (HREHBEREZEZEREEABMRAA]), Jiuguan Economic
Development and Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. (B 5475 2%
REEE)AREMTAT]), Jinta Jinxin Industrial Investment and
Development Group Co., Ltd. (£ SZeSTERERREEEGR
A 7]) and Jiayuguan Urban Development Group Co., Ltd. (34
BT B AR ST AR) jointly invested in the establishment
of Gansu Hongye Nuclear Technology Co., Ltd. (H&E5A%#%
RMTERAR]) (“Gansu Hongye”), with a registered capital of
RMB95 million, of which 10% was contributed by CNGT. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 16
December 2024 and 23 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have any major
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
during the Reporting Period.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group will actively explore investment opportunities in and
outside the PRC to diversify its source of income, which may
or may not include any acquisition or disposal of assets and/
or business by the Group. Any such plans will comply with
the applicable requirements under the Listing Rules (where
appropriate).

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had no specific
future plans to make material investments or acquire capital
assets.
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The Board is pleased to report to the shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This reflects
its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term objectives, it is
imperative to act with probity, transparency and accountability.
By so acting, the Company believes that Shareholder wealth will
be maximised in the long term and that its employees, those with
whom it does business and the communities in which it operates
will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board
instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs with
a view to ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is
committed to maintaining and developing robust corporate
governance practices that are intended to ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers; and

S that high standards of ethics are maintained.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining high
corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard the
interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency
and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules as the basis of the Company’s
corporate governance practices.

The Company has in place a corporate governance framework
and has established a set of policies and procedures based
on the CG Code. Such policies and procedures provide the
infrastructure for enhancing the Board’s ability to implement
governance and exercise proper oversight on business conduct
and affairs of the Company.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company has complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for code provision
C.2.1 as described in the section “Corporate Governance Report —
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” of this annual report.

The Company has also put in place certain recommended best
practices as set out in the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a set of code with the standard no less
favorable than that of the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 of the
Listing Rules (the “Customised Code”) as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transaction by all Directors, Supervisors and
the relevant employees of the Company.

Having made specific enquiry by the Directors and Supervisors,
all Directors and Supervisors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standards as set out in the Customised Code
during the Reporting Period. No incident of non-compliance with
the Customised Code by such employees was noted by the
Company.
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THE BOARD

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and takes collective
responsibility for promoting the Company’s success by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors make decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly reviews the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them that are commensurate with their role and the Board
responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced composition of
executive Directors and non-executive Directors so that there is a
strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgement.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises 10 Directors, consisting of three
executive Directors, namely Mr. Han Yongjiang, Mr. Zhang Jungi
and Ms. Huo Yingying; three non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Chen Zan, Mr. Ding Jianmin and Ms. Chang Jinyu; four
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Chiu
Kwok, Ms. Chen Jingshan, Mr. Lu Chuang and Mr. An Rui. The
biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” on pages 111 to 118 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of Directors set out in the
section “Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report, none of the Directors had
any personal relationships (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships) with any other Directors,
Supervisors or senior management members.
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EENEEZEERENLEER Attendance Records of Directors and Board Committee
Members

REBZHE2024F12 A31 HIFFEERET The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board

MANFTEELDE EELE99% committee meetings and the general meeting of the Company
FEEEHHERDT - held during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:
YA VA
Attendance/Number of Meetings
BT RER #ma REAIER
Bze EEZEE REZEE  ZHZEe HEKZEE thZse Z8e HERRE  ENRRE
Audit Remuneration Science and
and Risk and Legal Technology Annual  Extraordinary
Management ~ Nomination Appraisal Strategy Affairs  Innovation General General
ESi? Directors Board  Committee Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
FEHETED  Mr. Zhang Jung! 88 33 " 10 20
BTEED M, Han Yongjang? 202 1
FHLRBSES  Mr. Xu Hongohao® 202 202 1
TEREY Mr Wang Yao® s
SEEREES  Mr. Fan Guomin® n 11 1 22
EZBELLO  Ms. Huo Yingying® -
REEEED  Mr. Chen Shoulei” 44 212 11 1
RELZ®  Mr. Chen Zan® 4/4 44 22 22
TERKE  Mr. Ding Jianmin 8/8 313 i 212
BEBLT  Ms. Chang Jinyu 8/8 1 202
B4+ Ms. Liu Xiuhong® 8/8 4/ il il 2/
ARELE  Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok 8/8 6/6 5/5 111 1 22
BEEZL  Ms. Chen Jingshan 8/8 5/5 4/4 1 1 20
BELE M LuChuang 8/8 6/6 5/5 4/ il il 20
RELED M. AnRu 212 11
EEAREET M. Tian Jiahe! 44 11 11 il
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Mr. Zhang Jungi stepped down from the positions as the chairman
of the Board, the chairman of the Strategy Committee, the
chairman of the Legal Affairs Committee and the chairman of the
Science and Technology Innovation Committee on 25 September
2024. He is currently the executive Director, a member of the
Strategy Committee and a member of Science and Technology
Innovation Committee.

Mr. Han Yongjiang was appointed as the chairman of the Board,
executive Director, the chairman of the Strategy Committee, the
chairman of the Legal Affairs Committee and the chairman of the
Science and Technology Innovation Committee on 25 September
2024. Mr. Han has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on Hong Kong law as regards the
requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to him
as a director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of
making a false declaration or giving false information to the Stock
Exchange on 24 September 2024, and he has confirmed he
understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Mr. Xu Hongchao resigned as an executive Director, a member
of the Strategy Committee and a member of the Science and
Technology Innovation Committee on 14 June 2024 due to
adjustment in work and position.

Mr. Wang Yao was appointed as an executive Director, a
member of the Strategy Committee and a member of the
Science and Technology Innovation Committee on 14 June 2024.
Unfortunately, Mr. Wang Yao passed away on 29 June 2024 due
to sudden iliness and ineffective treatment.

Mr. Fan Guomin resigned as an executive Director and a member
of the Science and Technology Innovation Committee on 21
November 2024 due to work adjustment.

Ms. Huo Yingying was appointed as executive Director of the
Company on 30 December 2024. Ms. Huo has obtained the legal
advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on Hong
Kong law as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules
that are applicable to her as a director of a listed issuer and the
possible consequences of making a false declaration or giving
false information to the Stock Exchange on 27 December 2024,
and she has confirmed she understood her obligations as a
director of a listed issuer.
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10.

11.

Mr. Chen Shoulei resigned as a non-executive Director, a member
of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, a member of the
Strategy Committee and a member of the Legal Affairs Committee
on 14 June 2024 due to adjustment in work and position.

Mr. Chen Zan was appointed as a non-executive Director,
a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, a
member of the Strategy Committee and a member of the Legal
Affairs Committee on 14 June 2024. Mr. Chen has obtained the
legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on Hong
Kong law as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules
that are applicable to him as a director of a listed issuer and the
possible consequences of making a false declaration or giving
false information to the Stock Exchange on 13 June 2024, and
he has confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of a
listed issuer.

Ms. Liu Xiuhong resigned as a non-executive Director, a member
of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, and a member of
the Legal Affairs Committee on 28 March 2025 due to change of
work arrangement.

Mr. An Rui was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, a member of the Strategy Committee and a member of
Science and Technology Innovation Committee on 25 September
2024. Mr. An has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on Hong Kong law as regards the
requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to him
as a director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of
making a false declaration or giving false information to the Stock
Exchange on 24 September 2024, and he has confirmed he
understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Mr. Tian Jiahe, an independent non-executive Director, a member
of the Strategy Committee and a member of Science and
Technology Innovation Committee, unfortunately passed away on
21 July 2024 due to illness.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a

meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the

presence of other directors on 2 December 2024. All the relevant

Directors attended this meeting.



TEERRE @

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (ConTINUED)

FERITHER

BECEERTUKRXEC2.1E =&
HITHARNACEE R » W TEHR—
AFBRFAE -

TEEE (BRERNTESRELE)EE
?TTL'#ZD4¢6HZQHT#%ﬁﬁ‘K
7ﬂ%ﬁkmLﬁR HEMR20244F8 A
CREEEE (BRTESR)WETAE
ﬁ@%@% o FR2024FQ A25H » REMELA
BHIESREBY  BEETBLE 8K
LAEERGREEES K -

RRBEEIARRTRERNAR - EF
RABEEQVREEETSANEENRE
B ITHAEHE /EZIS AIBEEBERIA
KAREERE

BYIHITES

REZE2024F12 A1 HILFEHME - &
Eg—HET(ETRADBEBAZEERZD
—ERBUFBTEFNHRTE (HBEEFEA
FWM=pz—) HP—EZHBFEENZF
FERN ST HREMEEIREZEME -

RARBWEIZBIIFFATESTRIEC(L
MR 313 R E B 85I L E
SYEFERNFEEHMER - ARARR -
PABBIIFITESRYBBILAL -

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same person at the same time.

Mr. Wang Yao (then executive Director and general manager)
passed away on 29 June 2024 due to a sudden illness and the
position of general manager of the Company was left vacant
until 2 August 2024 when Mr. Zhang Jungi (then chairman of the
Board) was appointed as the general manager. On 25 September
2024, Mr. Zhang Jungi resigned as chairman and continued to
serve as the general manager, and Mr. Han Yongjiang began to
serve as the chairman of the Board.

The general manager assumes the role of the chief executive
officer of the Company. The chairman of the Board provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and
leadership of the Board. The chief executive officer focuses on
the Company’s business development and daily management and
operations generally.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors, representing one-third of the Board, with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.
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Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the year which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the
Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent
judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that
need improvement or further development. The evaluation
process also clarifies what actions of the Company need to
be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance, for
instance, addressing individual training and development needs of
each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors
has completed the independence evaluation in the form of
a questionnaire individually and supplemented by individual
interviews. The Board Independence Evaluation Report was
presented to the Board and the evaluation results were
satisfactory.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall
be elected at the general meetings with a term of office of
three years, renewable upon re-election. The Company has
implemented a set of effective procedures for appointment of new
Directors. Nomination of new Directors shall be first considered
by the Nomination Committee whose recommendations will
then be put forward to the Board for consideration. All newly
nominated Directors are subject to election and approval at
general meetings.

The Company has entered into service contracts with each
of the Directors (including non-executive Directors). Such
service contracts are for a term commencing from the date of
appointment to the expiry of the current session of the Board.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company'’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensures
that sound internal control and risk management systems are in
place. The Board of the Company has discharged its duties in
relation to corporate governance in accordance with Rule A.2.1
of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules: (1) to develop and review
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices
and make recommendations to the Board; (2) to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management; (3) to review and monitor
the Company’s policies and practices in relation to compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (4) to develop, review
and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
for employees and Directors; and (5) to review the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board of the Company reviewed
and amended a series of corporate governance systems
related to the work of the Board, internal control and budget
management, organized Directors and senior management to
participate in various training that facilitated their continuous
professional development, reviewed the Company’s compliance
management, reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and approved disclosure in the “Corporate Governance and
Corporate Governance Report” of this report.

All' Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The
independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other posts
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant regulatory requirements. Such induction shall be
supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites and
meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skKills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would
be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate.

The Company will organize relevant training courses for all
Directors in due course at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
organized training sessions conducted by the legal advisers for all
Directors. The training sessions covered a wide range of relevant
topics including directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate
governance and regulatory updates. In addition, relevant reading
materials including compliance manual/legal and regulatory
updates/seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors
for their reference and studying.
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The training records of the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2024 are summarized as follows:

BEE b2 bl
Type of
Directors Training"\°®
BITES Executive Directors
REEEE Mr. Zhang Jungi A-B
FFATRBIE A (R2024F6 B14 BEHT) Mr. Xu Hongchao (resigned on 14 June 2024) A B
A A (FR2024%F6 14 BEZRT Mr. Wang Yao (appointed on 14 June
R Ze 3 i TN ERN 2024 F6 A29 BBt ) 2024, but passed away on 29 June
2024 due to sudden illness)
BEOL S (702024 F9 A25 HEZ(E)  Mr. Han Yongjiang A-B
(appointed on 25 September 2024)
BEREA (R2024F11 A21 BEHT) Mr. Fan Guomin A-B
(resigned on 21 November 2024)
EAELT (P2024F12 B30 BEE(E)  Ms. Huo Yingying A B
(appointed on 30 December 2024)
FHITESE Non-executive Directors
PR E A (202456 A14BHEHE) Mr. Chen Shoulei (resigned on 14 June 2024) A-B
BRE AL (R2024F6 A14HERT) Mr. Chen Zan (appointed on 14 June 2024) A B
TER%E Mr. Ding Jianmin
BERZt Ms. Chang Jinyu A B
RUSHT 204 Ms. Liu Xiuhong (resigned on 28 March 2025 A B
(EIEE 20253 A28 B ELE) due to change in work arrangement) A B
BUFBITEE Independent
Non-executive Directors
ERE A Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok A-B
PREEXT Ms. Chen Jingshan A-B
EREE Mr. Lu Chuang A-B
HEREE Mr. Tian Jiahe (passed away on A B
(BfRR2024% 7 A21 B T =git) 21 July 2024 due to illness)
T oA (R20245F9 25 HEZ(T) Mr. An Rui (appointed on 25 September 2024)
Mz - Note:
EEIgER Type of Training
A 2R - BEETRERENE - A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
Wale  eZRAEBH seminars, conferences and workshops
B: BEAEMAEIER  |E - BT - #it B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines

N K88 H AR )
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and relevant publications
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established six committees, namely, the Audit
and Risk Management Committee, Nomination Committee,
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, Strategy Committee,
Legal Affairs Committee and Science and Technology Innovation
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
and Risk Management Committee, Nomination Committee,
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, Strategy Committee,
Legal Affairs Committee and Science and Technology Innovation
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and/or the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee
is set out under “Corporate Information” on pages 4 to 7.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors
and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok
(Chairman), Mr. Lu Chuang and Mr. Chen Zan.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the
CG Code. The main duties of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial
information and reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope
of audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements
to enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters of the Company.

FE{RE2024 Annual Report 2024 89



CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION  H [ [Fl &l 5 & BR 2 &)

TEERRE @

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (conTINUED)

HZE2024F12A31BILFE @ FBiHER
B EELZEGCRITANREE - UEHE
F£2023F 12 A31 HILFE M B HEE MR
& B ZE2024%6 A308 1L/ E AR HE
MIEEBERRE MBRENERNES -

EERAHREE RREERAIIEHR
FAR A EZBEE 2 BB - INEBIZEK
MeZREERARTFHESERETEUR
FEERBETETARLSRMMNLHE -

B EAREREES RN L EER
RESOEEEREEEBEMAMILSE

2 | —ff -

REZEE

R2024F12A31H ' IRBRELEEEH=F
BYIEMITESAK RSt (=
%) ERLAERERBEILE -

REZEGRERE BRI LEERESR
SRIFEERR - RRREBE T ERE
BRERNESSNAENX  FIERBTERS
MRREESZZHBEERF  IEFRERE
ErrEIMESSFhER RS - UL
B FRITESF 2BIUE -

R ESS 2 EKE  REEEEEE
BARREZTEZTLBRMEZZER
EUNEREEEZ L CRE - REZ
BelaErBRamILiHEATEEN BT
NEREEFEXEZ T YRAEFSR
HERIASERA -

90 Annual Report 2024 FE#R%52024

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee held six meetings to review the
important issues such as the financial results and report for the
year ended 31 December 2023, the interim financial results and
report for the six months ended 30 June 2024, significant issues
on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls,
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and internal audit function, appointment of external
auditors and relevant scope of works, as well as arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The attendance of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
meetings is set out under “Attendance Records of Directors and
Board Committee Members” on page 80.

Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee consists
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chen
Jingshan (Chairman), Mr. Lu Chuang and Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and succession planning of Directors, and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
relevant criteria as set out in the Director Nomination Policy
that are necessary to complement the corporate strategy and
achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held five meetings to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and to consider and
recommend to the Board on the appointment of executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee are set out
under “Attendance Records of Directors and Board Committee
Members” on page 80.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.
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Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will review annually the structure, size and composition of the
Board and where appropriate, make recommendations on
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains a balanced
diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the
Board composition, the Nomination Committee is committed
to achieving diversity at all levels and will consider a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and term of service. The above factors are
all the consideration factors of measurable objectives. In
addition, the consideration factors of measurable objectives
also include the rich experience in different business areas of
a Director with technical, legal, financial, managerial and audit
background. Meanwhile, the Company will consider the above
factors according to its own business model and specific needs
and finally determine a candidate by combination of his or her
specialties, value and the contribution that can be made to the
Board.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business
growth and is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and
selection practices at all levels (from the Board downwards) are
appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are
considered.

The Board has set measurable objectives to implement the Board
Diversity Policy and will review such objectives from time to time
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.
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For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,

the following measurable objectives were adopted:

A)

B)

)

at least one of members of the Board shall be female;

at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
non-executive Directors or independent non-executive
Directors;

at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

at least two of the members of the Board shall have more
than five years of experience in the industry he/she is
specialised in;

at least one of the members of the Board shall have China-
related work experience.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the
Board is sufficiently diverse and confirmed that the measurable

objectives have been achieved.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy,

as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in
the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior

AVIE management as at 31 December 2024:
7 B4
Female Male
BEEg Board 36.36% (4) 63.64% (7)
BREEE Senior Management 16.67% (1) 83.33% (5)
HigB Other employees 30.76% (1,035) 69.24% (2,330)

EEgNEEAERARELAMEEED
1518% (2%) - WHEBREEE(H16% (1
L) RLMEER20% (6734) AR E
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The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least
18% (two) of female Directors, 16% (one) of female senior
management and 20% (673) of female employees of the
Group and considers that the above current gender diversity is
satisfactory.

The Board is committed to improving the gender diversity among
the senior management as and when suitable candidates are
identified for the appointment of senior management.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant
data can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which
sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.
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The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing
the suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a
proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

Character and integrity;

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;

Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the
Board and independence of the proposed independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for
the selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election
of Directors at general meetings. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Nomination Committee recommended to
the Board the appointment of two executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wang Yao and Mr. Han Yongjiang; a non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Chen Zan; and an independent non-executive
Director, namely Mr. An Rui, respectively. The Nomination
Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

FE{RE2024 Annual Report 2024 95



CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION  FRE E#EAZ (5 A IR A &l

TEERRE @

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (conTINUED)

FMRERESS

MR2024F12 A31H » HFWEEZREZEE
HMEBYIENITESE R —BIERTES
B BEREE (ER) BREERERk
BB L+ -

IR EZ L B SRR E 2 RN b
XERTAIMSRERR - FMEEZEZE
ST ERECEEHENESENSRE
BEZHWNGE 2REELRSRERE
ZEHMHER LB A R AESSFELE
B - RREREFLASIE S B 5
BRI G - MRS EEEREER
HEALRISHEBTEERG ZFHM -

BHLE2024E12 A1 HILEE « HFmE
REESFADRTNNEE  UEHE

FREAEEENFHFNBOR RFMEL
BUtAEFE SRR -

ZEEENHREHOEFHFBEIRNEZE
2024F 12 A31 H I FE 2 & BZ Y15
E UL

RFEHSREREAE (EEHIN 0F
EESE 0T

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors
and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Lu Chuang
(Chairman), Ms. Chen Jingshan and Ms. Liu Xiuhong.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out
in the CG Code. The primary functions of the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee include reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual Directors and senior management, the remuneration
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management;
and establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or
any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee held four meetings during the year to review
and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management.

Details of the emoluments of Directors for the Reporting Period
are set out in note 9 in the Notes to the Audited Financial
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The emoluments of senior management (exclusive of Directors)
for the Reporting Period are within the following bands:

2024 % 20234

2024 2023

AE AE

Number of Number of

HiNEE (AR¥T) Emoluments Band (RMB) Individuals Individuals
500,000 A Less than 500,000 = =
500,000-800,000 500,000 - 800,000 = =
800,000 A More than 800,000 3 3
=5 Total 3 3
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The Remuneration Committee also made recommendations to the
Board on the terms of service contracts or letters of appointment
of the new Directors appointed during the year.

The attendance records of the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee are set out under “Attendance Records of Directors
and Board Committee Members” on page 80.

Strategy Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Strategy Committee consists of
two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and one
independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Han Yongjiang
(Chiarman), Mr. Zhang Jungi, Mr. Chen Zan, Mr. Ding Jianmin
and Mr. An Rui.

The principal duties of the Strategy Committee include
considering various special development strategies and plans of
the Company and to make recommendations to the Board and
assisting with other matters specified by laws, administrative
rules, regulations and the rules of the securities supervision and
administration authority of the place where the shares of the
Company are listed and authorized by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Strategy
Committee held three meetings.

Legal Affairs Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Legal Affairs Committee consists
of one executive Director, two non-executive Directors and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Han Yongjiang
(Chiarman), Mr. Chen Zan, Ms. Liu Xiuhong, Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok
and Ms. Chen Jingshan.
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The principal duties of the Legal Affairs Committee include
performing the duties and responsibilities of promoting the
law-based and law-compliant construction, researching and
formulating the plan for implementing the law-based and
law-compliant construction and reporting it to the Board for
consideration and approval, considering the overall objectives
for the law-based and law-compliant construction and the basic
system of the Company, and to advise thereon, considering the
system of the law-based and law-compliant construction, the
setup of authorities and their duties and responsibilities and to
advise thereon, supervising and evaluate the law-based and
law-compliant construction of the Company, and to check the
implementation by the Company in the compliance with laws and
regulatory requirements and assisting other matters specified by
the Articles of Association and authorized by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Legal Affairs
Committee held one meeting.

Science and Technology Innovation Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Science and Technology Innovation
Committee consists of two executive Directors and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Han Yongjiang
(Chairman), Mr. Zhang Junqi, Mr. Lu Chuang and Mr. An Rui.

The principal duties of the Science and Technology Innovation
Committee include conducting research on the direction of the
Company’s scientific and technological development, major new
products research and development and innovation programs,
providing advice and recommendations to the Board, and
advising and supporting the Board in major decisions relating to
science and technology and innovation.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Science and
Technology Innovation Committee held one meeting.
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BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

The Board of Supervisors is responsible for supervising the
legality of the performance of duties by the Directors and senior
management members of the Company, thus to protect the
overall benefits of the Company and shareholders.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board of Supervisors comprised
5 Supervisors, namely Mr. Liu Zhonglin, Mr. Zhao Nanfei,
Mr. Zhang Guoping, Mr. Ma Fuxin and Ms. Peng Qihui. The
biographical details of the Supervisors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” on pages 118 to 120 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of Supervisors set out in the
section “Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report, none of the Supervisors had
any personal relationships (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships) with any other Directors,
Supervisors or senior management members.

The Board of Supervisors held 6 meetings during the year
to consider and approve the interim and annual results
announcement, the interim and annual report and other
resolutions.

The attendance records of the members of the Board of
Supervisors are as follows:

HESERE

Number of

meetings

BEx Supervisors attended
R BMEE Mr. Liu Zhonglin 6/6
HEREE Mr. Zhao Nanfei 6/6
RE A Mr. Zhang Guoping 6/6
il A=F 36 52 A2 Mr. Ma Fuxin 6/6
TREZ T Ms. Peng Qihui 6/6
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The Board has the
overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit and Risk Management Committee assists the
Board in leading the management and overseeing their design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority for
implementation by key business processes and office functions,
including project management, sales and leasing, financial
reporting, human resources and information technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes:

The principles of the overall risk management work of CIRC:
the strategy-oriented principle, the principle of significance and
importance, the principle of participation by all, the internal
control principle, the principle of comprehensiveness, the principle
of significance and the principle of objectiveness.

All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly
to identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group
and various aspects including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information security.
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Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that
control policies are properly complied with by each department.

The management, in coordination with department heads,
assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provided treatment
plans, and monitored the risk management progress, and
reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit and
Risk Management Committee on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2024.

The Board, as supported by the Audit and Risk Management
Committee as well as the management report and the internal
audit findings, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, during the year ended 31 December 2024, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The
annual review also covered the financial reporting and internal
audit function and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant
resources.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, Supervisors, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure
that unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited. The Company has adopted a management system
for the management of inside information and the registration of
persons with knowledge of inside information, which includes
the requirements of the registration of persons privy to inside
information, the disclosure of inside information and the
confidentiality of inside information. Pursuant to such system,
the Board is responsible for managing inside information of the
Company and verifying the truthfulness and accuracy of the
information of the persons with possessing inside information. The
chairman of the Board is primarily responsible for the registration
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and management of the persons privy to the inside information,
the secretary to the Board/the joint company secretary takes
charge of the specific work involved in managing inside
information and the office of the Board bears the responsibility for
the day-to-day management, registration, disclosure and filing of
the inside information of the Company. The Board of Supervisors
shall supervise the implementation of the management system
for registration of persons with access to inside information. The
chairman of the Board and the secretary of the Board shall sign
a written confirmation affirming the truthfulness, accuracy and
completeness of the files of the persons possessing knowledge
of the inside information. The Company shall disclose any inside
information as soon as reasonably practicable after becoming
aware of it. If the Company is unable to take effective measures
to protect the confidentiality of such inside information, or if
such inside information has been leaked, the Company shall
immediately issue an announcement to disclose the details of
such inside information, the contents of such announcement
shall be accurate and complete and shall not be misleading or
deceptive and shall not contain any material omissions. If the
Company is unable to disclose details of such inside information
in a timely manner, it should publish a clarification announcement
outlining the pertinent events as detailed as possible and stating
the reasons for not providing further details. If the Company
is unable to make an announcement in relation to inside
information, it should immediately apply to the Stock Exchange
for a suspension of trading or a temporary suspension of trading
until it is able to disclose the information. The Company strictly
enforces the aforesaid system to ensure that the management
and disclosure of inside information are in compliance with
relevant laws, regulations and the Listing Rules.
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The Company has an internal audit function to carry out
independent reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of its risk
management. The risk management and internal controls are self-
assessed by the management and reviewed by the Board on an
on-going basis.

The Company has in place the whistleblowing policy and has
made channels of communication available to receive and deal
with reports in accordance with the prescribed procedures, and
allows employees of the Company and those who deal with
the Group to raise concerns with the Department of Discipline
Inspection and Supervision about possible improprieties in any
matters related to the Company.

The Group has also in place the anti-corruption policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Group. The
Group has an internal reporting channel that is open and available
for employees of the Group to report any suspected corruption
and bribery. Employees can also make reports to the Department
of Discipline Inspection and Supervision, which is responsible
for investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate
measures. The Group continues to carry out anti-corruption and
anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of integrity, and actively
organizes anti-corruption training and inspections to ensure the
effectiveness of anti-corruption and anti-bribery.

The Group has extensively carried out daily supervision and
launched business inspections on organization and personnel,
remuneration management, compliance management and safety
management. A new South China Regional Supervision Center
was set up in 2024, and so far, 33 subsidiaries have been
included in the Southwest and South China Regional Supervision
Network to carry out daily supervision in the region.

In 2024, the Group organized integrity culture activities for
all employees, established a number of integrity culture
demonstration bases, and compiled and published the “Integrity
Practice Electronic Handbook” for all employees, which provided
clear guidelines for all employees to standardize their behavior
and practice integrity.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 182 to 184.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration payable to the Company’s external auditors
in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB1.99 million, and
RMB1.20 million is outstanding. The details of the remuneration
paid to the external auditors of the Company, SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited, in respect of audit services and non-audit services
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out below:

ENEA

Fees Paid

ARME

RisER Service Category RMB
BZRE Audit Services 750,000
IEEZIRTE (HE) Non-audit Services (note) 43,000
st Total 750,000

Mis - AEEFAREBERBEN

&
Rt
S

104 Annual Report 2024 FE#RE2024

Note: Other transactions related to the business development of the
Group’s subsidiaries.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Wang Cangren and Ms. Kwan Sau In have been appointed
as the Company’s joint company secretaries. Ms. Kwan Sau In
is a manager of Company Secretarial Services of Tricor Services
Limited, a global professional services provider specializing in
integrated business, corporate and investor services. She is an
associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
joint company secretaries on corporate governance and
board practices and matters. Ms. Wang Cangren, the chief
accountant and joint company secretary of the Company, has
been designated as the primary contact person at the Company
who would work and communicate with Ms. Kwan Sau In on
the Company’s corporate governance and secretarial and
administrative matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Wang Cangren and
Ms. Kwan Sau In have undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training respectively in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

GENERAL MEETING

In 2024, the Company convened three general meetings.

On 14 June 2024, the 2024 annual general meeting was
convened on-site and Shareholders holding an aggregate of
263,844,900 Shares, representing 82.483777% of the Company’s
total issued shares, attended the meeting.

On 25 September 2024, an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company was held on-site and Shareholders holding an
aggregate of 246,679,900 Shares, representing 77.1% of the
Company'’s total issued shares, attended the meeting.
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On 13 November 2024, an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company was held on-site and Shareholders holding an
aggregate of 241,507,285 Shares, representing 75.5% of the
Company'’s total issued shares, attended the meeting.

The convening, notifying, holding and voting procedures of the
general meetings are in compliance with the relevant provisions of
the Company Law and the Articles of Association.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels.

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting.

Convening a General Meeting

According to the Articles of Association, to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, the shareholders shall follow the
following procedures:

(1) If the Board is unable to perform or fails to perform its duty
to convene a shareholders’ general meeting, the Board of
Supervisors shall convene and preside over the meeting
in a timely manner; if the Board of Supervisors fails to
convene and preside over the meeting, the shareholders
who have held above ten percent of the Company’s
shares, either individually or collectively, for a period of
above ninety consecutive days may convene and preside
over the meeting on their own.

In the event that shareholders who individually or
collectively hold above ten percent of the shares of the
Company request the convening of an extraordinary
general meeting, the Board or the Board of Supervisors
shall make a decision as to whether or not to convene an
extraordinary general meeting within ten (10) days from
the date of receipt of such request and shall reply to the
shareholders in writing.
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(1 In the event that the Board agrees to convene the
extraordinary general meeting, a notice on the convocation
of such meeting shall be given within five (5) days after
the resolution being made by the Board. Changes made
to the original proposal in the notice shall be approved by
relevant shareholders.

(1) In the event that the Board refuses to convene the
extraordinary general meeting, or gives no feedback within
ten (10) days after receiving the proposal, the proposing
shareholders shall have the right to propose, in written
form, the convocation of an extraordinary general meeting
to the Board of Supervisors.

All reasonable expenses incurred for such meeting convened by
the shareholders as a result of the failure of the Board to convene
a meeting at the above requests shall be borne by the Company
and deducted from the amount owned by the Company to the
delinquent Directors.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

According to the Articles of Association, to convene the general
meeting, the shareholders individually or jointly holding more
than 3% of the total voting shares shall be entitled to propose
new resolutions in writing to the Company. The Company shall
incorporate the matters falling within the scope of duties of
the general meeting into the agenda of such meeting for the
consideration.

The contents of the aforesaid proposal shall be in conformity
with relevant laws, administrative regulations and the Articles,
within the scope of duties of the general meeting and with a clear
agenda and specific resolutions.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 418, South 4th Floor, Building 1, No. 66
Changwa Middle Street, Haidian District,
Beijing, China
(For the attention of the Joint Company Secretary)
Fax: +86 10 68512374
Email: ir@circ.com.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. In 2024, the Company carried out investor relations
management in the following aspects. Firstly, the Company
attached great importance to information disclosure, and ensured
the pertinency and effectiveness of information disclosure in
accordance with the principle of combining mandatory disclosure
and voluntary disclosure. In 2024, the Company completed a
total of 100 disclosure announcements, including 88 mandatory
announcements and 12 voluntary announcements, enabling
investors to keep abreast of the situation of production and
operation in a timely manner, and to provide support for
investment decision-making. Secondly, the Company maintained
timely, in-depth and extensive communication with investors
through various channels and forms such as 2023 Annual Results
Conference, Shenzhen reverse roadshow, investor exchanges and
on-site surveys by investors, and actively responded to investors’
concerns. Thirdly, the Company maintained continuous dialogue
with shareholders at annual and extraordinary general meetings.
Fourthly, after the completion of the distribution of 2023
dividends, the Company also distributed 2024 interim dividends,
taking into account various factors such as strategic development
objectives, business plan, profitability, cash flow position and
external financing environment, fully demonstrating the image
of a “superior” listed company that “repays the community, is
investor-oriented and allows investors to fully share the fruits of
the Company’s development”, and taking practical actions to
increase investor returns.

The Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns
to the Company by phone, via email or by fax and such other
means, and the relevant contact details are set out in the sections
headed “Investors’ Enquiries”, “Putting Forward Enquiries to
the Board” and “Contact Details” in this annual report and the
Company’s website.
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AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION

In 2024, the Company amended its Articles of Association. Details
of the amendments are set out in the circular dated 14 May 2024
to shareholders. The latest version of the Company’s Articles of
Association is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Policies Related to Shareholders

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and the results were
satisfactory.

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of
dividends. The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio. Depending on the financial conditions of
the Company and the Group and the conditions and factors as
set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/
or declared by the Board during a financial year and any final
dividend for a financial year will be subject to the Shareholders’
approval. Such details have been disclosed in the section
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Dividend Policy” of the
annual report of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Han Yongjiang (#3k’I), aged 56, is currently an executive
Director, the secretary of the party committee and chairman of
the Company. From September 2017 to May 2022, Mr. Han
served as the chairman and secretary of the party committee of
Shanghai National Nuclear Puyuan Corp.( /&R EHERARA
a]), the chairman (concurrently) of CNNC (Shanghai) Enterprise
Development Limited (F#% (L&) TEBERBRAF]) and the
director (concurrently) of the Shanghai market development
division of CNNC (Shanghai) Enterprise Development Limited.
From May 2022 to September 2022, he served as the secretary
of the party committee of Tongfang Co., Ltd.(RIJ7RHD AR
AA]). From September 2022 to June 2023, he served as the
secretary of the party committee and chairman of Tongfang Co.,
Ltd. From June 2023 to July 2024, he served as the secretary of
the party committee and chairman of China Baoyuan Investment
Co., Ltd. (FEIEFREKEEBR A F]), and the secretary of the party
committee and chairman of Tongfang Co., Ltd. From July 2024
to September 2024, he served as the secretary of the party
committee and chairman of Tongfang Co., Ltd., and the secretary
of the party committee of China Isotope & Radiation Corporation.
Since September 2024, he has been serving as the secretary of
the party committee and chairman of Tongfang Co., Ltd., and
the secretary of the party committee and chairman of China
Isotope & Radiation Corporation. Since March 2024, he has been
serving as the deputy chief economist of China National Nuclear
Corporation. Since February 2023, he has been a member of
the 14th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and a member of the Social and Legal
Affairs Committee. Mr. Han obtained a bachelor’s degree in
physical chemistry from Chengdu University of Science and
Technology in July 1991. Mr. Han is a researcher-level senior
engineer.
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Mr. Zhang Jungi (|RE}E), aged 53, is currently an executive
Director, the general manager and deputy secretary of the party
committee of the Company. Before joining the Company, Mr.
Zhang worked at Xi'an CNNC Nuclear Instrument Co., Ltd. (FA%
HiZiZ &8 AR A A]) from November 2017 to October 2021, and
served as an executive director, secretary of the party committee
and general manager from November 2017 to December 2020,
served as the chairman, secretary of the party committee and
general manager from April 2020 to December 2020, and served
as the chairman and secretary of the party committee from
December 2020 to October 2021. From October 2021 to August
2023, he served as the chairman and secretary of the party
committee of Xi’an CNNC Nuclear Instrument Co., Ltd. (FAZ %
ZERAR D BBRARF]). From August 2023 to December 2023, he
served as the secretary of the party committee of the Company,
and from December 2023 to July 2024, he served as the
secretary of the party committee and chairman of the Company.
From July 2024 to September 2024, he served as the chairman,
general manager and deputy secretary of the party committee of
the Company; and since September 2024, he has been serving
as the executive Director, general manager and deputy secretary
of the party committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang obtained a
bachelor’s degree in engineering, majoring in industrial analysis
from the Department of Chemistry of Yan’an University in July
1995 and a master’s degree in software engineering from Xidian
University in June 2006. Mr. Zhang is a professorate senior
engineer.
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Ms. Huo Yingying (E# ), aged 42, is currently the executive
Director, deputy secretary of the party committee and the
president of the labour union of the Company. Before joining
the Company, from August 2018 to June 2020, Ms. Huo served
as the director of Talent Division in the Human Resources
Department of China National Nuclear Corporation. From June
2020 to October 2023, she served as the deputy secretary of
the party committee of China Nuclear Industry Fifth Construction
Company Limited. From October 2023 to October 2024, she
served as the deputy general manager of China Baoyuan
Investment Co., Ltd. From October 2024 to December 2024,
she served as the deputy secretary of the party committee of
the Company; since December 2024, she has been serving as
an executive Director, deputy secretary of the party committee
and chairman of the labour union of the Company. In July
2003, Ms. Huo obtained a bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
engineering automation from Beijing Institute of Technology, and
a master’s degree in law from University of International Business
and Economics in July 2010. Ms. Huo is a professorate senior
engineer.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Zan (FR#), aged 56, is currently a non-executive
Director and vice chairman of the Company. Before joining the
Company, from October 2016 to July 2019, Mr. Chen served
as the chief accountant of CNNC Fourth Research and Design
Engineering Corporation (Fi#%EMNiHFE&t TI2BER A 7]). From
July 2019 to October 2023, he served as the chief accountant of
China Nuclear Mining Science and Technology Corporation (&
BREERIEEBARAR]), and concurrently served as the chief
accountant of CNNC Fourth Research and Design Engineering
Corporation (FiZEEMAER TEERAFR) and the chief
accountant of Beijing Research Institute of Chemical Engineering
and Metallurgy (% T #4t =L )A€ fi5ekt). Since October 2023,
he has been the chief accountant of China Institute of Atomic
Energy (FEIRTHERIZMFEPT). Since December 2023, he has
been the general manager of China Nuclear Atomic Energy
Institute Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (F#Z R FEEREHA
fR A 7R]). Since June 2024, Mr. Chen has been a non-executive
Director and vice chairman of the Company. Mr. Chen obtained a
bachelor’s degree in accounting from Henan University of Finance
and Economics in July 1995. Mr. Chen is a senior accountant.
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Mr. Ding Jianmin (T #[K), aged 52, is currently a non-executive
Director and vice chairman of the Company. Before joining the
Company, from July 2014 to November 2020, he served as the
chief accountant of Sichuan Honghua Industry Limited (P9)I]
TEEEARAT]). From December 2020 to December 2022,
he served as the chief accountant of Southwestern Institute
of Physics (1% TP IEH7EkT). Since December 2022, he
has been serving as the chief accountant of Nuclear Power
Institute of China (1 EI#%®8) 5T R ETET). Mr. Ding has been a
non-executive Director and the vice chairman of the Company
since June 2023. Mr. Ding obtained a bachelor’s degree in
accounting from Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics in December 2008. Mr. Ding is a senior accountant.

Ms. Chang Jinyu (E&I4), aged 52, is a non-executive Director
of the Company. Before joining the Company, from March 2014
to August 2019, she was the executive deputy general manager
of Shanghai Road and Bridge Development Co., Ltd. (\E/&#4E
ZERAMRAR]). From August 2019 to March 2021, she served
as the deputy general manager of Shanghai Galaxy Digital
Investment Co., Ltd. (E82/MEIFIREFRAF]). From March
2021 to June 2023, she served as the director and general
manager of Shanghai Huning Expressway (Shanghai Section)
Development Co., Ltd. (E/8EESRAK(LER)ZERER A A).
Since June 2023, she has been the general manager of Shanghai
Cultural Industry Development Investment Fund Management Co.,
Ltd. (EEXEEXEERIEEEZSEEAMRAF]). Ms. Chang has
been a non-executive Director of the Company since December
2019. In July 1994, Ms. Chang obtained a bachelor’s degree in
mechanical engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong University and
in June 2000, she obtained a master’s degree in money and
banking from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics.
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Ms. Liu Xiuhong (2I{£4L), aged 57, served as a non-executive
Director of the Company from December 2020 to March
2025. Since November 2019, she has been serving as a full-
time director of China National Nuclear Corporation. She has
been serving as a director of China Nuclear Energy Industry
Corporation (FBIRFaETEBRAF]) since November 2022.
Since December 2023, she has been a director of CNNC Capital
Holdings Limited (FEI#ZTEEEERIZERERAR]). Ms. Liu
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in infrastructure finance and credit
from the Department of Investment Economics of Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics in July 1989 and a master’s
degree in business administration for senior management from
the School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua University
in June 2011. Ms. Liu is a senior accountant and a national
accounting leader.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (EME), aged 62, is currently an
independent non-executive Director of the Company and an
executive director, vice president and company secretary of
Huabao International Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 336). Before joining the Company,
Mr. Poon served as an independent non-executive director of
Changan Minsheng APLL Logistics Co., Ltd. (listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1292) from 2011 to June 2023 and an
independent non-executive director of Yuanda China Holdings
Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2789) from
2011 to September 2023. From 2017 to June 2023, he served
as an independent non-executive director of Yankuang Energy
Group Company Limited (formerly known as Yanzhou Coal
Mining Company Limited, listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1171). Currently, Mr. Poon also serves as an independent
non-executive director of the following public companies listed
on Stock Exchange: Sunac China Holdings Limited (listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1918), Sany Heavy Equipment
International Holdings Company Limited (listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 631), AUX International Holdings Limited
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2080), Greentown
Service Group Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 2869) and Jinchuan Group International Resources
Co. Ltd (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2362).
Mr. Poon has been serving as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company since June 2023. Mr. Poon is a fellow
member of CPA Australia Ltd., a fellow member of The Chartered
Governance Institute and a fellow member and instructor of
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (a member
of its Mainland China Technical Consultation Panel, and the
deputy chairman of the Board of Directors and a member of
the Hong Kong Technical Consultation Panel), and a fellow
member of Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.
Mr. Poon obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business studies
from City University of Hong Kong in December 1994 and a
master’s degree in international accounting in November 1997
respectively. He also obtained a bachelor’s degree in laws from
University of Wolverhampton in the United Kingdom in 2004 and
a postgraduate diploma in laws from University of London in
2010.
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Mr. An Rui (Z#i), aged 64, is currently an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. Before joining the
Company, Mr. An has been the professor and chief physician
(re-employed) of Union Hospital affiliated to Tongji Medical
College of Huazhong University of Science and Technology since
July 2019. Mr. An has been the independent non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2024. Mr. An obtained
a bachelor’s degree in medicine from Wuhan Medical College
in December 1982, a master’s degree in nuclear medicine from
Tongji Medical University in July 1988 and a doctor’s degree from
the School of Medicine of the University of Bonn, Germany in
January 2002. Mr. An is the level-2 professor and chief physician
of Huazhong University of Science and Technology.

Ms. Chen Jingshan (BR&%), aged 55, is currently an
independent non-executive Director of the Company. Before
joining the Company, Ms. Chen has been acting as a professor
and doctoral supervisor in China University of Political Science
and Law since September 2014. Ms. Chen has been an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since
February 2021. Ms. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in law
profession from Law School of China University of Political
Science and Law in July 1992, a master’s degree in law
profession in Law School of Waseda University in Japan in April
2002, and a PhD in law profession in Law School of Waseda
University in Japan in November 2007.
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Mr. Lu Chuang (E®), aged 45, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company. Before joining the Company, Mr.
Lu has been acting as a professor and doctoral supervisor of
the School of Accounting, Central University of Finance and
Economics since November 2015. Mr. Lu currently also serves
as an independent non-executive director of the following listed
companies: Ourpalm Co., Ltd. (Jt REBREL DB A R)) (isted
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300315), Beijing
Bashi Media Co., Ltd. Jt RE - E#H KD AR AF]) (isted on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600386) and Meihua
Holdings Group Co., Ltd. ({EAEYEHE L BRR (D BR A ) (isted
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600873). Mr. Lu
has been an independent non-executive Director of the Company
since February 2021. In June 2001, Mr. Lu obtained a bachelor’s
degree in specialisation of certified public accountants from
the School of Accounting of Beijing Technology and Business
University, a master’s degree in accounting from the Department
of Accounting of Business College of Renmin University of China
in June 2004 and a PhD in financial management from the
Department of Finance of Business College of Renmin University
of China in June 2007.

SUPERVISORS

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors

Mr. Liu Zhonglin (%18 %), aged 55, is currently a Supervisor
and the chairman of the Board of Supervisors of the Company.
From July 2015 to May 2021, Mr. Liu served as the chief
accountant of China Institute of Atomic Energy (/1 Bl /& 7 AE Rl £24f
72f%). From May 2021 to January 2024, he served as a full-time
director and supervisor of China National Nuclear Corporation (&
FZTE#E£B AR AR]). Since January 2024, he has been the
chief accountant of CNNC No.7 Research and Design Institute
Co., Ltd. (FZEEHEZFPFEBER2AR]). Mr. Liu served as a
Supervisor of the Company from February 2017 to February
2021, a non-executive Director of the Company from February
2021 to July 2022 and a Supervisor and the chairman of the
Board of Supervisors of the Company since September 2022.
Mr. Liu received a bachelor’s degree in financial accounting from
Shenyang Institute of Technology in July 1990. Mr. Liu is a senior
accountant.
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Supervisors

Mr. Zhao Nanfei (E®7), aged 46, is currently a Supervisor
of the Company. From 2009 to 2018, Mr. Zhao acted as chief
officer of Project Section of Industrial Development Division in
China Institute of Atomic Energy. From 2018 to April 2021, he
served as deputy chief officer of Industrial Development Division
in China Institute of Atomic Energy. Since April 2021, he has been
serving as the director of the Industrial Development Department
in China Institute of Atomic Energy. Since February 2021, Mr.
Zhao has been a Supervisor of the Company. Mr. Zhao obtained
a bachelor’s degree in materials physics profession from Beijing
University of Science and Technology in 2001. Mr. Zhao is a
professorate senior engineer.

Mr. Zhang Guoping (5RE ), aged 53, is currently a Supervisor
of the Company. From October 2017 to November 2020, Mr.
Zhang served as the deputy director of the asset operation and
management office of Nuclear Power Institute of China (FE#%
) HHIFTRE1PR). He has been the deputy director of Business
Development Division of Nuclear Power Institute of China since
November 2020. Mr. Zhang has been the Supervisor of the
Company since June 2019. Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s
degree in thermal power engineering (ERREEES) ) TF2) from
Zhejiang University in July 1992. Mr. Zhang is a senior engineer.

Ms. Peng Qihui (2F(Z), aged 32, is currently an employee
representative Supervisor and deputy general manager of
business management department of the Company. Ms.
Peng served as the head of the strategic planning department
(corporate management department) of the Company from June
2018 to March 2023. Ms. Peng served as the senior director of
the corporate operation department (procurement management
department) of the Company from March 2023 to April 2024. Ms.
Peng has been the employee representative Supervisor of the
Company since August 2022 and the deputy general manager
of business management department of the Company since
April 2024. Ms. Peng graduated from the University of Science
and Technology Beijing with a bachelor’s degree in engineering
in June 2013, majoring in information security, and obtained a
master’s degree in science of engineering enterprise management
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
November 2014. Ms. Peng is a senior engineer.
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Mr. Ma Fuxin (Fif¥#7), aged 34, is currently an employee
representative Supervisor and deputy general manager of audit
and legal department (legal compliance office) of the Company.
Mr. Ma served as an employee of the Company’s legal affairs
department from October 2017 to October 2019, served as the
head of the Company’s legal affairs department from October
2019 to January 2021, served as the senior director of the
Company’s legal affairs department from January 2021 to July
2022, and served as the senior director of audit department (legal
compliance department) of the Company from July 2022 to March
2024. He has been the employee representative Supervisor
since August 2022 and the deputy general manager of audit
department (legal compliance department) of the Company from
April 2024 to November 2024. He has been the deputy general
manager of audit and legal department (legal compliance office) of
the Company since November 2024. Mr. Ma obtained a bachelor
of arts degree in English (English-dapanese) from Nanchang
University in July 2014 and a master of laws (non legal) degree in
Laws from China University of Political Science and Law in June
2017.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Jungi (|RE}E), aged 53, is currently an executive
Director, general manager and deputy secretary of the party
committee of the Company. Please refer to the section above
headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management — Executive Directors” for details of his biography.

Mr. Fan Guomin (GEEIR), aged 54, is currently the deputy
general manager of the Company. Mr. Fan has been serving
as the deputy general manager of the Company since May
2016, and served as the executive Director of the Company
from November 2023 to November 2024. Mr. Fan received a
bachelor’s degree in science (radiochemistry) from College of
Chemistry of Sichuan University (formerly known as Sichuan
United University) in July 1995. Mr. Fan is a senior engineer.
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Ms. Wang Cangren (E&R), aged 48, is currently the chief
accountant, general legal counsel, secretary of the Board, joint
company secretary and chief legal officer of the Company. Prior
to joining the Company, from August 2018 to February 2021, Ms.
Wang served as the director of treasury division of the finance
and capital operation department of China National Nuclear
Corporation. From February 2021 to July 2024, she served as
the chief accountant of CNNC Medical Industry Management
Limited (FIZBEEXEEAFRAF). Since August 2024, she
has been serving as the chief accountant, general legal counsel,
secretary of the Board, joint company secretary and chief legal
officer of the Company. Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree
in technological economic from College of Management of Tianjin
University in June 2000 and a master's degree in technical
economic and management from College of Management
of Tianjin University in February 2005. Ms. Wang is a senior
accountant, certified public accountant and asset evaluator.

Mr. Huang Li (¥3I), aged 46, is currently the deputy general
manager of the Company. Before joining the Company, Mr.
Huang was the director of the Human Resources Division of
China Institute of Atomic Energy from August 2017 to March
2019. From March 2019 to July 2020, Mr. Huang served as the
deputy head (deputy bureau level) the Party Committee Inspection
Team (Z#B¥(E4H) of CNNC. From July 2020 to June 2022, he
served as the secretary of the Discipline Inspection Committee
of China Nuclear Industry Maintenance Co., Ltd. (F&&REAER
73A]). Mr. Huang has been the deputy general manager of the
Company since July 2022. Mr. Huang obtained a bachelor’s
degree in applied chemistry from School of Water Resources and
Hydropower Engineering in June 2000 and a master’s degree in
software engineering from Sichuan University in June 2015. Mr.
Huang is a senior engineer.
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Mr. Cao Aiwei (B &), aged 39, is currently the deputy general
manager of the Company. Before joining the Company, Mr. Cao
served as the director of the human resources department of
China National Nuclear Corporation Overseas Ltd. (9B R
SNTIEBRAR) from July 2019 to May 2021 and the deputy
general manager of Sichuan Honghua Industry Limited (79)1] 4T %=
FEAR AT from May 2021 to September 2024. Mr. Cao has
been the deputy general manager of the Company since October
2024. Mr. Cao obtained a bachelor’s degree in labour and
social security from China Youth University of Political Studies in
July 2008 and a master’s degree in public administration from
Renmin University of China in January 2015. Mr. Cao is a senior
economist.

Mr. Liu Yuntao (2% #5), aged 53, is currently the deputy general
manager and chief engineer of the Company. Before joining the
Company, Mr. Liu served as the director of the metrology and
testing department of the China Institute of Atomic Energy from
May 2017 to April 2021, the temporary person-in-charge of the
administrative work of the Comprehensive Research Institute
of Nuclear Technology of China Institute of Atomic Energy from
April 2021 to May 2021 and the director and deputy secretary
of the party committee of the Comprehensive Research Institute
of Nuclear Technology of China Institute of Atomic Energy from
May 2021 to April 2024. Mr. Liu has been serving as the deputy
general manager and chief engineer of the Company since May
2024. Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in nuclear physics
from the Department of Physics of Jilin University in July 1995
and a doctor’s degree in condensed matter physics from
Technische Universitat Berlin in Germany in June 2004. Mr. Liu
has professional qualifications as a researcher.
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PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

Focusing on the two major industrial directions of nuclear
healthcare and irradiation application, the Group is
committed to providing integrated solutions for nuclear
medicine and radiotherapy, as well as radiation technology
promotion and application, forming a “6+N” industrial
layout with six major businesses as the core, including
nuclides, nuclear medicines, nuclear medical equipment,
integrated solution for nuclear medicine, radioactive
source and application, and irradiation application. The
Group is primarily engaged in the research, development,
manufacturing and sale of nuclides, diagnostic and
therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals and radioactive source
products for medical and industrial applications, the
provision of irradiation service for sterilization purpose,
material modification and engineering, procurement and
construction (“EPC”) service for the design, manufacturing
and installation of irradiation facilities and the provision
of nuclear medical equipment and construction service
of nuclear medicine department to hospitals and other
medical institutions.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The subsequent events of the Group are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The profits for the year ended 31 December 2024 of
the Company and the financial position of the Company
then ended are set out in the “Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income” and
the “Consolidated Statement of Financial Position” in this
annual report, respectively.
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5.

MAJOR RISKS AND OUTLOOK

The operation of the Group is subject to certain risks and
uncertainties, some of which are beyond the control of
the Group. These risks and uncertainties include domestic
and foreign economic trends, the PRC credit policy and
foreign exchange policy, movements in relevant laws,
rules and law enforcement policies, etc., together with
some uncertainties that are unknown and immaterial but
will be proved to be material in the future. The discussion
and analysis as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including
a fair review of the business of the Group, a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, and
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Notes to
the Financial Statements” sections of this annual report
respectively. The above sections form part of this report.

DIVIDEND

The Board resolved to declare a final cash dividend
of RMBO0.3090 per Share (inclusive of tax) for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “2024 Final Dividend”)
to Shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on Thursday, 12 June
2025, with a total cash dividend to be distributed of
RMB98,841,344.10 (inclusive of tax). The 2024 Final
Dividend is expected to be declared and paid in RMB
to holders of Domestic Shares and, whereas dividends
payable to holders of H shares will be declared in RMB
and payable in Hong Kong dollars before 2 August 2025.
Exchange rate between RMB and Hong Kong dollar will
be the arithmetic mean of the median of the exchange
rates of Hong Kong dollars against RMB as quoted by
the People’s Bank of China for the five business days
preceding the date of the AGM (inclusive). The above
dividend distribution proposal is subject to the review
and approval by Shareholders at the AGM. Details of the
dividend distribution will be published after the AGM.
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The Company declared and distributed an interim cash
dividend of RMBO0.0724 per share (inclusive of tax) for the
six months ended 30 June 2024 in mid-2024, with a total
cash dividend of RMB23,158,942.75 (inclusive of tax),
which was paid in November 2024.The Company declared
a total cash dividend of RMB0.3814 per share (inclusive of
tax) in 2024, with a total of RMB122,000,286.85.

The Company will hold the AGM on Tuesday, 3 June
2025. The register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 28 May 2025 to Tuesday, 3 June
2025 (both dates inclusive) and from Monday, 9 June
2025 to Thursday, 12 June 2025 (both dates inclusive).
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Tuesday, 3 June 2025 will
be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM. Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Thursday, 12 June 2025 will be entitled to
receive the 2024 Final Dividend. For the purpose of being
qualified as Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM,
Shareholders must lodge all transfers documents with
the Company’s H Share Registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong (for holders of H Shares) or the Company’s
registered office on No. 66 Changwa Middle Street,
Haidian District, Beijing, China (for holders of Domestic
Shares) for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 27 May 2025. For the purpose of being qualified
as Shareholders to receive the 2024 Final Dividend
(subject to the approval by Shareholders at the AGM),
Shareholders must lodge all transfers documents with the
Company’s H Share Registrar (see the address above) (for
holders of H Shares) or the Company’s registered office
(see the address above) (for holders of Domestic Shares)
for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6 June
2025.
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According to the “Enterprise Income Tax Law of the
People’s Republic of China” and its implementing rules,
which came into effect on 1 January 2008, and other
relevant rules, the Company is required to withhold 10%
enterprise income tax before distributing the proposed
Final Dividend to non-resident enterprise Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company. Any H Shares registered in the name of
non-individual registered Shareholders, including but not
limited to HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees,
trustees or other groups and organizations, will be treated
as being held by non-resident enterprise Shareholders and
therefore will be subject to the withholding of enterprise
income tax.

According to the letter titled the “Tax arrangements on
dividends paid to Hong Kong residents by mainland
companies” issued by the Stock Exchange to the issuers
on 4 July 2011 and a circular (Guo Shui Han [2011] No.
348) issued by the State Administration of Taxation on 28
June 2011, and relevant laws and regulations, if individual
holders of H Shares are residents of Hong Kong or Macau
or countries which have entered into a tax treaty with the
PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate of 10%, the Company
will withhold and pay individual income tax at the rate of
10% on behalf of such Shareholders. If individual holders
of H Shares are residents of countries which have entered
into a tax treaty with the PRC stipulating a dividend tax
rate of less than 10%, the Company will nonetheless
withhold and pay individual income tax at the rate of 10%
on behalf of such Shareholders. In such a case, if the
relevant Shareholders would like a refund of the additional
amount withheld, the Company will apply for the agreed
preferential tax treatment provided that information
required by the applicable tax treaty notice(s) is submitted
to the Company’s H Share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited. If
individual holders of H Shares are residents of countries
which have entered into a tax treaty with the PRC
stipulating a dividend tax rate of more than 10% but less
than 20%, the Company will withhold and pay individual
income tax at the actual tax rate stipulated in the relevant
tax treaty. If individual holders of H Shares are residents
of countries which have entered into a tax treaty with the



RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

EEEHRE ™
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (coNTiuED)

ZERRRARBEAMRER - K
X B S AT 780 B R RE HE S AR A
15 5 10 SR8 S RESL NPT 3
B2 HARESE B TEI 2 A
FEMAAREFEE B2
TXE - BEBRRAKRERE
EHBRAPHE - BB REMHE
FEFANSORER

M - BERRE

ARSI [ B 5 ek J P RE12 -

EEIS

HEREHER - AQERMDEEK
£319,874,9000%  Efh : &
§%239,906,1004% © {H37TA D &Y
75.00% : HA%79,968,8004% - 14
BTN #925.00% °

R2018F7 A6H » ARRIBAH
RARBENAR - LEKR21.6
BLTHERRABBREGINEES
BROTERABEARK1.00TZ
79,968,700 H% - 201848
ASH ' AARER M BEEA IR
B DITHE o« NAF) 1T KA
A H100 i FR%21.6/ B TTHIHAR ©
REBEITREZRZERGE A
AMEMREFHTEARENE
319,874,900/ °

(A

ARABEFEANFEBEEBIBE RN
RAFRISHEZEEHRIA -

PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate of 20%, or countries
which have not entered into any tax treaty with the PRC,
or under any other circumstances, the Company will
withhold and pay individual income tax at the rate of 20%
on behalf of such Shareholders. The Company assumes
no responsibility and will not entertain any claim arising
from any delay in, or inaccurate determination of, the tax
status or tax treatment of Shareholders or any dispute
over tax(es) withheld. Shareholders are recommended to
consult their tax advisers regarding the PRC, Hong Kong
and other tax effects involved in their holding and disposal
of H Shares.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the changes in the property, plant and
equipment of the Company are set out in Note 12 to the
“Financial Statements” in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

At the end of the Reporting Period, the total number
of Shares of the Company was 319,874,900 Shares,
comprising 239,906,100 domestic Shares, representing
75.00% of the issued Shares, and 79,968,800 H Shares,
representing 25.00% of the issued Shares.

On 6 July 2018, the Company issued 79,968,700 H
Shares with par value of RMB1.00 per share at a price
of HK$21.6 per share by way of initial public offering to
Hong Kong and overseas investors. On 3 August 2018,
the over-allotment option granted by the Company was
partially exercised. The Company issued and allotted an
aggregate of 100 H Shares at HK$21.6 each. After the
issuance and allotment of these Shares, the registered
and issued ordinary Shares of the Company increased to
319,874,900 Shares.

RESERVES

Details of the changes in the reserves of the Company
during the year are set out in the “Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity” in this annual report.
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10.

11.

12.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2024, we had RMB2,255.9 million in
retained profits, as determined under IFRS, available for
distribution.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING

Details of the use of proceeds from the initial public
offering of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining
good relationship with its employees, customers and
suppliers so as to meet its current or long-term business
goals. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there
were no material and substantive disputes between the
Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from
our sales to the five largest customers of the Company
accounted for approximately 2.1%, 2.0%, 1.6%, 1.5% and
1.1% of the total revenue of the Company, respectively,
totally representing 8.3% of the total revenue of the
Company. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
purchase amount from the five largest suppliers of the
Company accounted for approximately 12.0%, 8.3%,
8.0%, 7.0% and 6.3% of the aggregate amount of goods
procurement and subcontracting purchase and other costs
of the Company, respectively, totally representing 41.6% of
the total cost of the Company. None of the Shareholders
(other than CNNC), which, to the best knowledge of the
Company, own more than 5% of the share capital of the
Company, the Directors or their close associates has any
interest in the above five largest customers or five largest
suppliers. The Company does not constitute a dependence
on minority customers and suppliers.
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RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES

Details of the major subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in Notes 14, 16 and 15 to the
“Financial Statements” in this annual report, respectively.

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Han Yongjiang (Chairman of the Board)
(appointed on 25 September 2024)

Mr. Zhang Jungi (Chairman of the Board) (resigned as
Chairman of the Board on 25 September 2024
due to change in work arrangement and continued to
serve as an Executive Director)

Mr. Xu Hongchao (resigned on 14 June 2024
due to change in work arrangement)

Ms. Huo Yingying (appointed on 30 December 2024)

Mr. Wang Yao (appointed on 14 June 2024, but passed
away on 29 June 2024 due to a sudden illness)

Mr. Fan Guomin (resigned on 21 November 2024
due to change in work arrangement)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ding Jianmin

Ms. Chang Jinyu

Ms. Liu Xiuhong (resigned on 28 March 2025 due
to change in work arrangement)

Mr. Chen Zan (appointed on 14 June 2024)

Mr. Chen Shoulei (resigned on 14 June 2024
due to change in work arrangement)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok

Ms. Chen Jingshan

Mr. Lu Chuang

Mr. An Rui (appointed on 25 September 2024)

Mr. Tian Jiahe (passed away on 21 July 2024
due to illness)

The Supervisors during the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Mr. Liu Zhonglin (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Guoping

Mr. Zhao Nanfei

Mr. Ma Fuxin

Ms. Peng Qihui

The biographical details of the current Directors,
Supervisors and senior management of the Company
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” in this
annual report.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT IN
CONTRACTS

Save as the service contracts, no Directors, Supervisors
and senior management or entities connected with
Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the
Company have material interests, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the Company to which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries or its holding
company is a party during the Reporting Period based on
the information available to the Company.
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RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

REMUNERATIONS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

In 2024, the total amount of fees, salaries, allowances,
discretionary bonuses, retirement scheme contributions
and other benefits in kind (if applicable) paid to Directors
by the Company was RMB4.806 million.

In 2024, the total amount of fees, salaries, allowances,
discretionary bonuses, retirement scheme contributions
and other benefits in kind (if applicable) paid to Supervisors
by the Company was RMB1.179 million.

In 2024, the total amount of fees, salaries, allowances,
discretionary bonuses, retirement scheme contributions
and other benefits in kind (if applicable) paid to senior
management by the Company was RMB4.405 million.

In 2024, the total amount of fees, salaries, allowances,
discretionary bonuses, retirement scheme contributions
and other benefits in kind (if applicable) received by five
highest-paid individuals was RMB10.853 million.

During the Reporting Period, no incentive payment
for joining or having joined the Company was paid or
payable to any Directors, Supervisors or the five highest
paid individuals by the Company. During the Reporting
Period, no remuneration was paid or payable by the
Company to any Directors, former Directors, Supervisors,
former Supervisors or the five highest paid individuals
as compensation for termination of their management
positions in any subsidiaries of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or
Supervisors gave up or agreed to give up any remuneration
or benefits-in-kind. Save as disclosed above, during the
Reporting Period, no other amounts were paid or payable
to any Directors, Supervisors or the five highest paid
individuals by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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17.

18.

According to our remuneration policies, the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee will take into account various
factors in evaluating the remuneration amount payable
to Directors, Supervisors and the relevant employees,
including salaries paid by comparable companies, and
the term, commitment, duties and performance of the
Directors, Supervisors and senior management (as the
case may be). In accordance with the arrangements
currently in effect, the aggregate amounts of remuneration
(excluding any discretionary bonus) paid by the Company
to the Directors and Supervisors are approximately
RMB4.806 million and RMB1.179 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, respectively.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2024, none of the Company,
controlling Shareholders of the Company or the companies
under the same controlling Shareholders with the Company
was a party to any arrangement to entitle the Company’s
Directors, Supervisors and senior management or their
respective minor children to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Each of executive Director, non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Director has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a fixed term of
three years commencing from the date of the approval
for the relevant appointment at the general meeting of the
Company. These service contracts may be terminated
pursuant to their respective terms and may be renewed in
accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable
laws, rules and regulations.

Supervisors have entered into contracts with the Company
in respect of, among other things, compliance with
relevant laws and rules, the Articles of Association and the
arbitration provisions.
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20.

21.

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

None of the Directors and Supervisors has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2024, based on the information
available to the Company and to the best knowledge of
the Directors, none of the Directors, Supervisors and chief
executive of the Company had any interest and short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which will have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register of interests referred to therein
or which will be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

APPROVED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
had arranged Directors’, Supervisors’ and officers’
liability insurance for all Directors, Supervisors and senior
management. These insurances provided protection to the
liability incurred from related cost, fees, expense and legal
actions resulting from corporate activities. Except for such
insurances, the Company has no valid indemnity provisions
(as defined in Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation
(Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong) approved
during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and/or
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Reporting Period, except for the employment
contracts.
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22.

FERRRHEMATHEAER 22. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
BMERERDNER AR OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES
FEREAROREBRSOH Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions
EERAE in Shares and Underlying Shares
BIEARRBIFTA - EiE2024%F12 To the best knowledge of the Company, as of 31
A318 ' BRARREE EERK December 2024, the following persons (other than the
=TBABYN  THATRADA Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company)
B A% 19 Sk AB BE AR 1D R HE B AR I (RB had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
HERHIEED) EXVEE2 REID Shares of our Company which are required to be disclosed
BB RN T MR TR B AR to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
(FBEHNHE KM ) B 336 {54 A the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
AT E WS LA S Ay R 2 POK or interests or short positions which are required to be
B SEEXHEREALAEE entered in the register pursuant to Section 336 of SFO, or,
5% = A AR FERIIR AR - directly or indirectly, be interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of our share capital:
EHEER EXAR
R Fiik 2EREH
R Frik R
e RGER BEHE BERY BAt(%) BREDL(%)
Approximate Approximate
percentage of  percentage of
shareholding in  shareholding in
the relevant  the total share
Class of Number of class of Shares  capital of our
Shareholder Shares Nature of interest Shares held (%)  Company (%)
&R0 RER  REHERER 236,150,233(L) 98.43(L) 73.83
CNNC™ Domestic  Interest of controlled
Shares corporation
R¥aeko NER  BEaBAA 58,534,835(L) 24.40(L) 18.30
CIAE™ Domestic ~ Beneficial owner
Shares
Al nER  BREAA 46,994,835(L) 19.59(L) 14.69
NPIC Domestic ~ Beneficial owner
Shares
PEEED NER  BEaBAA 18,779,342(L) 7.83() 5.87
CNNC Fund Domestic ~ Beneficial owner
Shares
mEERO nER  BREAA 108,085,353(L) 45.05() 33.79
China Baoyuan'” Domestic ~ Beneficial owner
Shares

134 Annual Report 2024 FE#RE2024



RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

EEEHRE ™
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (coNTiuED)

EREER EXRT

ity EHRAS

REHEL Frit AR

/& RGER BEtE BERY BAt(%) BABDL(%)
Approximate Approximate

percentage of  percentage of

shareholding in  shareholding in

the relevant  the total share

Class of Number of class of Shares  capital of our
Shareholder Shares Nature of interest Shares held (%)  Company (%)
FRER (RB)BRAR ([ LEXE))? HiR Rt B R 8,906,400(L) 11.14() 2.78
Shanghai Industrial Investment (Holdings) H Shares  Interest of controlled
Company Limited (*SIIC”) corporation
Shanghai Industrial Investment Treasury HIR R EERR 8,906,400(L) 11.14(0) 2.78
Company Limited? H Shares  Interest of controlled
corporation
Shanghai Investment Holdings Limited® Hi R EERR 8,906,400(L) 11.14(0) 2.78
H Shares  Interest of controlled
corporation
PEBEERERAR ([ LRER))? HiR Rt B R 8,906,400() 11.14() 2.78
Shanghai Industrial Holdings Limited (‘SIHL"?  H Shares  Interest of controlled
corporation
S.. Infrastructure (Holdings) Limited® Hi R EERR 8,906,400(L) 11.14(0) 2.78
H Shares  Interest of controlled
corporation
BEERERAR ((BR]) HE& ERBEA 8,906,400() 11.14() 2.78
Sure Advance Holdings Limited H Shares  Beneficial owner
("Sure Advance’)?
Lianwen Ltd® HE& ERBEA 14,309,800(L) 17.89(L) 4.47
H Shares  Beneficial owner
FHRO HEk R B g 16,809,800(L) 21.02(1) 5.26
Li Hongbo® H Shares  Interest of controlled
corporation
Serenity Capital Management, Ltd. HiR RELR 4,801,600(L) 6.00(L) 1,50
H Shares  Investment manager
Serenity Investment Master Fund Limited® Hi EREEA 4,801,600(L) 6.00(L) 1,50
H Shares  Beneficial owner
UBS Group AG® HR Rt B 4,013,104(L) 5.02() 133

H Shares  Interest of controlled
corporation
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BEESRBPEEMN  LEE
B R AR EZERE R R
BEMFEMS8,906,400 A% H AR
THEEE LEEERE
Shanghai Industrial Investment
Treasury Company Limited
B 100% Rk # - M Shanghai
Industrial Investment Treasury
Company LimitedEE# 4
Shanghai Investment Holdings
Limited®100% &R # - m
Shanghai Investment Holdings
Limited 55 A _EEERAI55.13%
B -FrEZEREERESF
S.l. Infrastructure (Holdings)
Limited®100% & # - ™ S.1.
Infrastructure (Holdings) Limited
HEREBEN100%ME -

Lianwen Ltd}Lianwen Holding
Pte. LtdlZHIE100%EHl
BEESRAEEM - ZHK
R AR Lianwen Ltd FriEd
#914,309,800 & HAZ & Lianwen
Holding Pte. Ltdfi#FE X
2,500,000 % HR& R B #E %5 ©
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Notes:

Each of CIAE and NPIC is a public institute controlled
and managed by CNNC and holds 58,534,835 domestic
Shares and 46,994,835 domestic Shares, representing
approximately 24.40% and 19.59% of the domestic
share capital of our Company, respectively. CNNC Fund
is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC and holds
18,779,342 domestic Shares, representing approximately
7.83% of the domestic share capital of our Company.
Each of CNNC 404 and China Baoyuan is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CNNC and holds 3,755,868 domestic
Shares and 108,085,353 domestic Shares, respectively,
representing approximately 1.57% and 45.05% of the
domestic share capital of our Company, respectively. By
virtue of the SFO, CNNC is deemed to be interested in the
domestic Shares held by CIAE, NPIC, CNNC Fund, CNNC
404 and China Baoyuan, which in aggregate representing
approximately 98.43% of the domestic share capital of our
Company.

By virtue of the SFO, SIIC is deemed to be interested
in the 8,906,400 H Shares held by Sure Advance a
controlled subsidiary of SIIC. SIIC holds 100% equity
interest in Shanghai Industrial Investment Treasury
Company Limited, while Shanghai Industrial Investment
Treasury Company Limited directly holds 100% equity
interest in Shanghai Investment Holdings Limited, which
in turn holds approximately 55.13% equity interest in
SIHL. SIHL directly holds 100% equity interest in S.I.
Infrastructure (Holdings) Limited, which directly held 100%
equity interest in Sure Advance.

Lianwen Ltd and Lianwen Holding Pte. Ltd are 100%
controlled by Li Hongbo. By virtue of the SFO, Li Hongbo
is deemed to be interested in the 14,309,800 H shares
held by Lianwen Ltd and 2,500,000 H shares held by
Lianwen Holding Pte. Ltd.
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4. Serenity Investment Master
Fund LimitedSerenity Capital
Management, Ltd. 100%3% %]
RIEFHRBEED - Serenity
Capital Management, Ltd.#1%
A Serenity Investment Master
Fund Limited FT##4,801,600 %
HAR A s o

5. UBS Group AGHEEZEEAUBS
AGHI100% Rk HE - IRIBEEH K&
HE &Pl - UBS Group AGIIR
AREKBARUBS AGH#EX
4,013,104k HE R EA HE2s -

6. (IR - (S)EKE - (PIEAIH
fE H A BR D

Br EXXCFTIREREE SN - BLE20245F
12 A318 ' AABW N RBEM
Ht AL (BRARRES  BEER
BEITHRABIN BHBEREB(ESR
HAE B EBEXVERSE 2 R B3 B Y
RSB MAN R B R R PT#E BR SR
B(EHRBAEGG)EI6IKTE
VE MRS ERSRE - 3K
EESHEREAARIHEBES%K
VA E (SR RIAR AN ©

4. Serenity Investment Master Fund Limited is 100%
controlled by Serenity Capital Management, Ltd. By virtue
of the SFO, Serenity Capital Management, Ltd. is deemed
to be interested in the 4,801,600 H Shares held by
Serenity Investment Master Fund Limited.

58 UBS Group AG directly holds 100% equity interest in
UBS AG. By virtue of the SFO, UBS Group AG is deemed
to be interested in the 4,013,104 H shares held by its
subsidiary, UBS AG.

6. (L) represents long position, (S) represents short position
and (P) represents lending pool.

Save as disclosed herein, as of 31 December 2024, the
Company is not aware of any other person (other than the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company)
who has an interest or short position, which would be
required to be disclosed to our Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or interests or short positions registered on
the register pursuant to Section 336 of SFO, or, directly or
indirectly, be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value
of any class of our Company’s share capital.
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23.

24,

INTEREST OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors and their associates directly
or indirectly has any interest in the businesses which
constitute or may constitute competition with the business
of the Company.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

CNNC, the controlling Shareholder of the Group, (for the
purpose of the descriptions in this sub-section, excluding
the Group), is principally engaged in the scientific
research and development, construction and production
operations in nuclear power, nuclear power generation,
nuclear fuel, natural uranium, nuclear environmental
protection, non-nuclear civilian products, new energy
sources, etc. Although some of the retained businesses
of CNNC constitute competition with the Company, such

competition is limited.
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CNNC'’s Interests in Certain Excluded Entities

As of 31 December 2024, CNNC was entitled to exercise,
or control the exercise of, 10% or more of the voting

power at the general meeting of the following entities

carrying out business which competes, or is likely to

compete, directly or indirectly with our principal businesses

LA ERYRIAFE - (the “Excluded Entities”):
hREERERE
BALEER (BE2024%12R310) TEER BANER BRAMRE
Name of the Equity interest held by CNNC Reason
Excluded Entities (as of 31 December 2024) Principal business Excluded business  for exclusion
1 HERENNERE AER - ERATREERER ﬁ%%%\ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ£%‘mﬂ'%%%% BIEBRIELE
B (k) HNERMEEEN BERRBRE  RRAHE K HMEREE - B

China Institute Not applicable, CIRP is a public
for Radiation institute directly controlled and

Protection (“CIRP”) managed by CNNC

SUEBRMOBELRRER &
WA - RRRID - REFEER
it - £MFRR - BERDHE
WhsEENTAR  RERER
RN T A st E 3
B EHTE BT
Research, development and
application in aspects of radiation
protection, nuclear emergency
and safety, radiological
medicine and environmental
medicine, nuclear environmental
science, radioactive waste
management and nuclear facility
decommissioning, irradiation
technology, environmental
protection technology, nuclear
electronic information technology,
biological material technology,
diagnosis and treatment of
occupational disease and also
provides technical support to
national functional departments
with respect to radiation
protection and nuclear safety

[rradiation services
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The excluded
business involves
non-operating state-
owned assets, which
is impractical to be
isolated
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B BEALESEE
8 (BZ2024%12A318) TEER BRoAER BARE
Name of the Equity interest held by CNNC Reason
Excluded Entities (as of 31 December 2024) Principal business Excluded business  for exclusion
2 Rfdthk TER  RYehaTREERER RUERE RELEIERWAR MOIRRERRE  BOSHSRIELE
BHRERMEEEN it MAHMEEHE - REHER UMEEEE - B
GIRNCIVE-S R 725 3 I bl
% BHZRHME
CIAE Not applicable, CIAE is a public Nuclear physics research, Radioactive sources  The excluded
institute directly controlled and reactor engineering research and reactor irradiation  business involves
managed by CNNC and design, radiochemical Services non-operating state-
research, fast reactor research owned assets, which
and design, isotope research, is impractical to be
nuclear technology application and isolated
research, radiation safety research
3 B@hk TER BBNRATRERER RINIRRG WEAMERS PR EREHAR BOAEKSRIELE
BHRERMEEEN MERREHE  REEETNE HSIRESEXNEE HHEFEE B
% REEIRERHE % bl
MERITHAR - R REENZ
il PR e A
NPIC Not applicable, NPIC is a public Nuclear power engineering Isotope, reactor The excluded
institute directly controlled and design, integrated equipment irradiation services and  business involves
managed by CNNC supply of nuclear steam supply ~ sales of radioactive ~ non-operating state-
system, reactor operation source-based owned assets, which
and applied research, reactor instruments is impractical to be
engineering experimental isolated

research, nuclear fuel and
materials research, isotope
production and nuclear
technology services and
applications
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BadE R LESEE
8 (BZ2024%12A318) TEEHR BRER BARE
Name of the Equity interest held by CNNC Reason
Excluded Entities (as of 31 December 2024) Principal business Excluded business  for exclusion
4 PEEOM 100% GRIEE - B BRRER METRRMSIREME $HREONTERS
B BZRERRABGEEDRE MRS ETRMAEE - Mk
PNEBABRP BT
OmMEE¥HKESE
DA
CNNC 404 Nuclear research and production, Radioactive sources ~ CNNC 404 is mainly
uranium conversion, reprocessing - and recycling of engaged in the
of spent fuel, decommission of  radioactive sources  scientific research
nuclear facilities and radioactive and production in
waste treatment and disposal the military industry,
and the excluded
business is not the
principal business
of CNNC 404 and
is impractical to be
isolated
5 WERFHEIX  100% WER - CHERRE RER MOHRLE  BGE RTELFAATRE
BRRA IR ENELNES RRESEORERYE BRIREOELD
([RFEAT]) FaTa  MEMR
BAERRFaAR
ERE IR ]
3
China Nuclear Import and export trade of Import agency CNEIC is an
Energy Industry uranium products, nuclear services for radioactive integrated platform
Corporation fuel cycling equipment and isotopes, radioactive  for the import and
(‘CNEIC") nuclear power technologies and  therapeutic apparatus — export of nuclear
equipment power equipment of

CNNC, the excluded
business is not the
principal business
of CNEIC and is
impractical to be
isolated
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BobE BEALESEE
8 (HZ2024512/318)
Name of the Equity interest held by CNNC

Excluded Entities (as of 31 December 2024)

TERE

Principal business

BRINEH

Excluded business

BROMRR
Reason
for exclusion

6 ZnEx 47.89%
Yunke Pharm

7 HEER 100%
China Baoyuan
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HEMHERRITHE  ERRE
ERBE - B RAIRS

Technical research of

radiopharmaceuticals, product
development, production and
sales, technical consultancy and

technical services

BRBERB

Nuclide therapy services

15 B ERER
EETR

lodine-125 sealed
source and Yunke
injection

BERRNBRETNE
SRR - BREIRE
AREERERTH
SERIIER - B
BB RIERERRE -
B REERZRRE
AfERE
Independently
establishing hospitals
to provide nuclide
therapy services.
However, CIRC can
choose internal and
external hospitals

of CNNC according
to the situation,

with China Baoyuan
(as the controlling
shareholder) and
CIRC (as other
shareholder) operating
cooperatively

ERBRHERRE
R—ZBBALHNE
EH ETRT - i
SEmEEHERR
The controlling
shareholder of Yunke
Pharm is a listed
company which

is an Independent
Third Party. CNNC
has no control over
its decision-making
process

TERGTARER
BRERMENINE
R

CIRC does not have
the capacity or
resources to establish
hospitals by itself
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12H318 - BEEKMAERRR
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BR\ECEMAA)FE8. 10K
EASTHRBZEMEBRHEGE

&
s o

Production and Sale of the Raw Materials of Isotopes

Each of CIAE, NPIC and CNNC 404 is capable of
producing the raw materials of isotopes by using its
respective nuclear reactors and other facilities. However,
as of the Latest Practicable Date, none of CIAE, NPIC
and CNNC 404 produces or plans to produce isotope raw
materials. To avoid the potential competition between us
and CIAE, NPIC and CNNC 404, each of CIAE, NPIC and
CNNC 404 has undertaken to us that if it starts to produce
isotope raw materials, the Company will be the exclusive
sales agent for such isotope raw materials. The Company
will fully comply with the relevant requirements of the
Listing Rules (including but not limited to Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules) when it enters into transactions with
CIAE, NPIC and/or CNNC 404.

Save as disclosed above, neither our controlling
Shareholder nor any of our Directors was, as of 31
December 2024, interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly,
with the Group’s principal business and would otherwise
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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Non-competition Undertaking

To avoid the potential competition between CNNC and
the Group, CNNC issued a non-competition undertaking
(the “Non-competition Undertaking”) to the Company
on 16 June 2018, pursuant to which CNNC shall not,
and shall procure that its associates (excluding the
Group and Yunke Pharm) not to, engage in any business
which, directly or indirectly, competes with the business
of the Company, including nuclear medicine products
and application service, radioactive source products and
application service, irradiation and irradiation facilities
related services, independent clinical laboratory services,
etc. (the “Restricted Business”) within the period during
which (i) the H Shares of the Company are listed on the
Stock Exchange (including the circumstances under which
trading of our H Shares is suspended in accordance
with the Listing Rules), and (i) CNNC and its associates
(excluding the Group and Yunke Pharm) may, individually
or collectively, exercise or control the exercise of not
less than 30% of the voting rights or are deemed as the
controlling Shareholders of the Group.

The above Non-competition Undertaking does not apply in
the following circumstances:

(i) CNNC having interests in any member of the Group;
and

(if) CNNC having interests in a company other than the
Group, provided that:

(a) any business (or its related assets)
carried out or engaged by such company
accounts for less than 10% of the Group’s
consolidated income and consolidated
assets as shown in the most recent audited
accounts of the Group;
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(b) FEZREERHBEA (0) CNNC and its associates (excluding the
(REERRIN) EREF Group) have no right to appoint majority of
ZEZRRINRI D the directors of such company. In addition,
BE oI ZAT there must be at least one shareholder of
ELEE—RRERE such company holding more interest than
ERERZRPIZE the total interest held by CNNC and its
BRHEBEAMEAE associates, or the company is controlled by
R AENZRAR a third party; and

E=TTFEEH R

() Rz EE N EBE A (c)  CNNC and its associates (excluding the
(REBEBRIN) W AR Group) have not controlled the Board.
flEEg -

iy HEPEREBR SHHEEE (i)  To the extent that CNNC and/or its associates

A A | B 5 SR AT do not control Yunke Pharm, CNNC and/or its

™ hiZERK SR ERE associates directly or indirectly holding the equity

ANBEESEEEE T B interests of Yunke Pharm.

HI PR HE -

gboh - REERT - RFEERT - BN In addition, each of CIRP, CIAE, NPIC, CNNC 404,
BT« RO ~ RFEERR] ~ CNEIC and China Baoyuan entered into non-competition
BE R0 RIR20164F8 A12H - undertaking with the Company on 12 August 2016, 1
201648 H1H - 201648 A5H August 2016, 5 August 2016, 18 August 2016, 18 August
20168 H18H 201658 H18 2016 and 5 July 2016, respectively.

HA1201647 A5 HEKRRQ AT
PBFAGHH

RARVBMIFERITERTD IR T The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
FRANBTFTRHITER RBAEL have reviewed the compliance and execution of the
MABRFAE RSN (KRF] Non-competition Undertaking and consider that, other than
BrON) RIREBRNE BT Z BN the Company, the above all parties to the Non-competition
PR © Undertaking had complied with their respective

non-competing undertakings during the Reporting Period.
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25.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected Persons

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the following
entities with whom we have entered into certain
transactions in our ordinary and usual business are our
connected persons:

a. CNNC

CNNC indirectly through CIAE, NPIC, CNNC Fund,
CNNC 404 and China Baoyuan, holds 73.83%
equity interests of our total issued share capital.
Therefore, CNNC and its associates will constitute
our connected persons under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

b. CNNC Capital

CNNC Capital was established in July 2016 and is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC, with a registered
capital of RMB7.08 billion. As a specialised
management platform for the financial sector of
CNNC, CNNC Capital is positioned as a center of
industrial finance risk control, center of industrial
finance investment control, center of industrial
financial resource allocation and center of industrial
finance business collaboration of CNNC.
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CNNCFC

CNNCFC was established on 21 July 1997 by
CNNC and CNNC’s 25 member units, with a
registered capital of RMB8,771.64 million as of 31
December 2024. CNNCFC is a non-bank financial
institution which strengthens the centralised
management of fund within CNNC, improves
the fund utilisation efficiency and the financial
management services for CNNC’s member units.
The business scope includes: (i) providing financial
and financing consultancy, credit certification
and related consultancy and agency services to
members of CNNGC; (ii) assisting members of CNNC
in collection and payment of transaction funds; (iii)
providing guarantees to members of the Group; (iv)
providing entrusted loan and entrusted investment
services to members of CNNC; (v) providing bill
acceptance and discount services to members of
CNNGC; (vi) processing the settlement of internal
fund transfers among members of CNNC and
providing solution plans for relevant settlement
and clearing; (vii) taking deposits from members of
CNNGC; (viii) providing loan and finance leases to
members of CNNC; (ix) conducting inter-borrowings
among finance companies; (x) issuing corporate
bonds; (xi) underwriting the corporate bonds issued
by members of CNNC; (xii) equity investments
in financial institutions; and (xiii) investments in
negotiable securities.
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d.

CNNC Financial Leasing

CNNC Financial Leasing was established in Pilot
Free Trade Zone (Shanghai) on 22 December
2015. It is a sino-foreign leasing company, jointly
established by CNNC and other 10 companies,
including CNNC Shenzhen Xie He Kong Co. Ltd.
(Hong Kong), with registered capital of RMB1
billion. The business scope of CNNC Financial
Leasing includes: (i) financial leasing; (i) leasing;
(iii) purchase of leased property from domestic
and overseas sellers; (iv) treatment of residual
value of, and maintenance of, leased property; (v)
consultation and guarantee for leasing transactions;
and (vi) factoring business associated with principal
businesses.

Zhonghe Headway

The Company and CNNC hold 54.1% and 27.9%
equity interest in Zhonghe Headway, respectively.
CNNC is our controlling Shareholder and therefore,
Zhonghe Headway is a connected subsidiary of the
Company under Rule 14A.16(1) of the Listing Rules,
and Zhonghe Headway and its subsidiaries will
constitute our connected persons under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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CNNC Qinshan Isotope

CNNC Qinshan Isotope was established on 31
December 2021 with a registered capital of
RMB200 million. It is engaged in the research and
development of isotope production technology,
the transformation of scientific and technological
achievements, as well as the production and sale of
products. The business scope includes the scientific
research, production, sale and technical services of
radioisotopes, specialised equipment, experimental
and analytical equipment and the development and
technical services of related isotopes back-end
applications. CNNC Qinshan Isotope is owned as
to 47% by the Company, 45% by CNNC and 8%
by Haiyan County State-owned Capital Investment
Co., Ltd., respectively. CNNC is our controlling
Shareholder and therefore, CNNC Qinshan Isotope
is a connected subsidiary of the Company under
Rule 14A.16(1) of the Listing Rules, and CNNC
Qinshan Isotope and its subsidiaries will constitute
our connected persons under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

CNNC Tongxing

The Company and CNNC (through one of its
subsidiaries) hold 51% and 49% equity interests
in CNNC Tongxing, respectively. CNNC is our
controlling Shareholder. Therefore, CNNC Tongxing
and its associates will constitute our connected
subsidiary under Chapter 14A.16 of the Listing
Rules.
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CNNC Hainan Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.

CNNC Hainan Nuclear Power was established on
10 October 2019. Its business scope includes
the construction, operation and decommissioning
of nuclear power plants and sale of electricity;
technical consultancy and technical services;
logistics services, asset leasing, training, catering
and accommodation. CNNC Hainan Nuclear Power
is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC, which
is our controlling shareholder, and therefore, CNNC
Hainan Nuclear Power and its subsidiaries will
constitute our connected persons under Chapter
14A.16 of the Listing Rules.

China National Nuclear Corporation Dalian Institute
of Applied Technology

China National Nuclear Corporation Dalian Institute
of Applied Technology was established on 10
October 2019. Its business scope includes the
construction, operation and decommissioning
of nuclear power plants and sale of electricity;
technical consultancy and technical services;
logistics services, asset leasing, training, catering
and accommodation. China National Nuclear
Corporation Dalian Institute of Applied Technology is
owned by CNNC. Therefore, China National Nuclear
Corporation Dalian Institute of Applied Technology
will constitute our connected person under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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Tongchuang Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (“Tongchuang Investment’)

Tongchuang Investment was established by the
Company, Hynergy Industrial Funds and Tongxin
Investment Partnership (“Tongxin Investment”) on
31 October 2019. The total amount of contribution
paid by the partners was RMB42.5 million, of
which: Hynergy Industrial Funds contributed RMB25
million, accounting for 58.82%; the Company
contributed RMB7.5 million, accounting for 17.65%;
Tongxin Investment contributed RMB10 million,
accounting for 23.53%. CNNC holds a 100% equity
interest in CNNC Capital and CNNC Capital holds
a 35% equity interest in Hynergy Industrial Funds.
Therefore, CNNC Capital and Hynergy Industrial
Funds and Tongchuang Investment will constitute
our connected persons under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions in 2024

A.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
undertaken during the Reporting Period

The property, equipment leasing and related
services framework agreement with CNNC (2023
Leasing Agreement”) dated 31 October 2023,
the Products and Services Supply Framework
Agreement with CNNC (the “2023 Supply
Agreement”) dated 31 October 2023, the Products
and Services Purchase Framework Agreement
with CNNC (the “2023 Purchase Agreement’)
dated 31 October 2023, the Cobalt-60 Radioactive
Sources Supply and Related Services Framework
Agreement with CNNC Tongxing (the “2023
Cobalt-60 Supply Agreement”) dated 31 October
2023, the consulting services fee framework
agreement with CNNC Tongxing (the 2023
Consulting Agreement”) dated 31 October 2023,
the Carbon-14 Raw Materials Supply Framework
Agreement with Headway (the “2023 Carbon-14
Supply Agreement”) dated 31 October 2023,
the Financial Services Framework Agreement with
CNNC (the “2023 Financial Services Agreement”)
dated 10 April 2023 and the Engineering
Construction Services Framework Agreement with
CNNC (“2023 Engineering Construction Services
Agreement”) dated 31 October 2023 constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Group.
For details, please refer to the Company’s circulars
dated 15 May 2023 and 6 December 2023.
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The above-mentioned agreements were entered into
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group, the pricing policies of which are determined
through arm-length’s negotiation based on
production costs and current market prices, and the
specific terms are concluded on normal commercial
terms and fair and reasonable, and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
In addition, the Company has established (1) the
reporting, approval and, if necessary, selection &
verification procedures, to ensure that the agreed
prices and terms of the continuing connected
transactions are no less favourable than those that
may be granted by the relevant members of the
Group to independent third parties or be granted by
independent third parties to the relevant members
of the Group (if applicable), and are in compliance
with the pricing policies; and (2) the procedures
and policies for the purpose of identifying the
connected persons and monitoring the annual caps
of continuing connected transactions, and strictly
followed internal control measures to manage
connected transactions. The Company confirms that
the execution and implementation of the specific
agreements under the above continuing connected
transactions during the Reporting Period have
followed the pricing principles of such continuing
connected transactions.
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04 FERHBERERHFR The annual caps and actual amount of continuing
FREEREASRRNT ¢ connected transactions incurred in 2024 are as
follows:
BZE2024%F

BZ2024F 12A31HLN
12A31H1L FEER
NEELR RESHE
Annual caps Actual amount
for the year incurred for
ended the year ended

31 December 31 December

2024 2024
(AR®Tn) (AR%TR)
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
1 ¥ REAEREERS 1 Property & equipment leasing 80,000 41,606
and related services
7 A AR TS A e 2 Products and services supply 300,000 122,788
EmMREEE 3 Products and services purchase 250,000 194,906
-0 MUET IR L 18 K P BE AR % 4 Cobalt-60 radioactive sources 70,000 23,075
supply and related services
HAREE 5 Consulting services fee 25,000 24,826
fix-14REHELFE 6 Carbon-14 raw materials supply 30,000 18,598
7 eRREHE 7 Financial Services Agreement
e 7 %ﬁﬂﬁfy ¢ Deposit services
@) BEEEFEHE (a) Maximum daily 5,000,000 2,577,546
outstanding balance
b) FIBHA (b) Interest income 100,000 27,183
. ,?:i;: ZRENREM SRR o Settlement, entrusted loans
and other financial services
) AEEBBTRABREIE (8) Maximum daily 1,000,000 521,193
HOREERNERRRAF outstanding balance
ERE of entrusted loans
provided by our Group
through CNNCFC
b) #H  EXERREMERE (b) Service fees for 150 19
AR5 H AR TS B settlement, entrusted
loans and other financial
services
o RMEMERS e Finance leasing services 250,000 281
o RIBRRF o Factoring services 1,000,000 =
8 IRREHRRS 8 Engineering construction 790,000 296,673
services
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1. 2023 FHE W=
HESRE

Parties:

FEEF

Principal Terms:

1. 2023 Leasing Agreement

RAZEE (B F RRGIRMHT) KRR (FAHE7 RRBERT) -
CNNC (the lessor and service provider); and the Company (the lessee
and service recipient).

AAREPZEBEMR2023F10A31 BRI LB E W @ Bt - KM
mAPRERK,HHBEABRRANERE TYERRE  MHERER
K /S HBE NG mEBFREAEY ERREEBORERS KA MR
o MEVERREBEIERANAELLNER  SIEETER : ()it
R TR RRNE  (VEERE (EZRAREESF MTCIR D T4t
R BUCFREBNE R R I ZERIRE) ¢ (i) EERE R KR
BRI MRS R B A T E A B A E R (VEERE (EZRSEINER
) (ARRE K& (BENRE - KERMEREMBEME)  R(viH
BIHE  w24EE  BEABEENRE - HERZENHR 82024
F1A1EBRBEREN2025F 12 A31 BiEm @ Al KEHREEER -
The Company entered into a leasing agreement with CNNC on 31
October 2023, pursuant to which we will rent or use a number of
properties and equipment from CNNC and/or its associates, and CNNC
and/or its associates will provide us with supporting services relating
to the properties and equipment and other services. Such properties
and equipment are mainly used for our production, operation and
management, including but not limited to: (i) office buildings, land
and office facilities; (ii) production plants (mainly used to produce
technetium-m labeled injections, fluorine-"®-FDG injections and
iodine-'?* sealed source etc.); (iii) production facilities in relation to
waste liquid and gas emissions and treatment services and others; (iv)
production equipment (mainly high-power accelerator); (v) common
areas and facilities (including kindergarten, water and electricity
facilities and other facilities); and (vi) services associated with employee
education, safety production and research and development of
technologies. The term of the Leasing Agreement commenced on 1
January 2024 and will expire on 31 December 2025, subject to renewal
as may be agreed upon by both parties.
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2. 2023 Supply Agreement

RZER(ER)  RARF (HER) -
CNNC (the purchaser); and the Company (the supplier).

RAREPZEEN2023F10A31 BE] L HEHZE @ Bt - P&
B RHEBMEAGREAEEHRENTISRER  RERE®
ERFHRESRERRER AEETHRHEEREEZSTER BB
oAl - B - BBIE - FIR R E A B AR K ERAR 3 1A B A A T AR
%o HEREMER B2024F1 A1 BREBKN2025F 12 A31HJE
W A RIERER -

The Company entered into a supply agreement with CNNC on
31 October 2023, pursuant to which CNNC and/or its associates
would purchase the following products from the Group: radioactive
source products, radioactive instruments and pharmaceuticals.
The Group will also provide detection, recycling, transportation,
reloading and other ancillary services related to the sales of such
products and research and development services related to research
and development projects. The term of the Supply Agreement
commenced on the 1 January 2024 and will expire on 31 December
2025, subject to renewal as may be agreed upon by both parties.

BETFE LR : ARREF SN 202498 430 BRZEA§2023 FHfEH
HBETRBE2024F12 A31 B IEFEMEZR2025F 12 A1 B IEFE
BFE LRETTIER] - BB EEAARIN2024511 A13BBR.Z
FREF IR R g BRI EB

Revision of Annual Caps: The Board of the Company resolved on
30 August 2024 to amend the annual caps under the 2023 Supply
Agreement for the year ending 31 December 2024 and for the year
ending 31 December 2025, and such amendment was considered and
approved by the Company at its EGM held on 13 November 2024.
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3. 2023 Purchase Agreement

ARRI(ER) : kPzEE (HER) -
The Company (the purchaser); and CNNC (the supplier).

RAalEPZEER2023F10A31 BE] LB HE @ Bt - FixEE
K,/ S HBMEAGRAEERE : (\SRREME - FERBREM
Em o (i) E# A sy (BIEERRET MEERR) (i) B ofl IRFS ¢ (iv)
B -60 TRV ETE  INTARTS - LA K2 (v) BE = v B PR A 3240 A A0 AR AR
1% - BEREOIRE2024F1 A1 BREKKEN2025F12 A31AJE
W RIS RIERER -

The Company entered into a purchase agreement with CNNC on 31
October 2023, pursuant to which CNNC and/or its associates will
provide the Group: (i) various types of raw and auxiliary materials,
production equipment and other products; (i) transportation containers
(including related design and manufacturing services); (iii) technical
testing services; (iv) encapsulation and processing services of cobalt-60
radioactive sources; and (v) scientific research services related to high-
end irradiation research and development. The term of the Purchase
Agreement commenced on the 1 January 2024 and will expire on 31
December 2025, subject to renewal as may be agreed upon by both
parties.

RAREEGR2024F8 A0 A EK 2023 FBEHZE B TREZE
2024512 A1 BILFEMEE2025F 12 A1 BIEFENFE LRE
78] BRI CEARRARN2024F11 A13B BRAZKRERRESE
ERIAGEH G

The Board of the Company resolved on 30 August 2024 to amend the
annual caps under the 2023 Purchase Agreement for the year ending
31 December 2024 and for the year ending 31 December 2025, and
such amendment was considered and approved by the Company at its
EGM held on 13 November 2024.
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4.

2023 F ¢4 -60 12 FE 1 4. 2023 Cobalt-60 Supply Agreement

-

BEE RRARI(ER) : MPZRIE(HERH) -

Parties: The Company (the purchaser); and CNNC Tongxing (the supplier).
FEGK AAFEPZFER2023F10 A31 BET M #-60 B - &L &
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SEBRBERZEEE HHBE A BN -60 TR - PixEHE
5/ SRE B A SR BRI S 5 -60 AT IRAB R a0 iE B - Gl FMIBEAR
% o sh-60 B IHE A HAR 52024 F 1 A1 BB AR KR 2025% 12 A 31
HEW FILEHTRERER -

The Company entered into a cobalt-60 supply agreement with CNNC
Tongxing on 31 October 2023, pursuant to which the Group will
purchase cobalt-60 radioactive sources from CNNC Tongxing and/or
its associates, and CNNC Tongxing and/or its associates will provide
related services such as transportation and reloading in connection with
the sales of cobalt-60 radioactive sources. The term of the Cobalt-60
Supply Agreement commenced on the 1 January 2024 and will expire
on 31 December 2025, subject to renewal as may be agreed upon by
both parties.

5. 2023 Consulting Agreement

hizEE (RBERTT) - RARE (RBERET)
CNNC Tongxing (the service receiver); and the Company (the service
provider).

AR RIERZRIER2023F 10 A31 BRI LA A - Bt - A2
#h-60 AR D IHRE - RRFERRPZREK S HEBE ARHE
M SCFRF AN A AIRTS - M Az A B K sl ELRE B A 3t L S A~ 34 3R AR 765
B BmEMERA2024F1 A1 BRERKRKR2025F12 A31 BE
W RIS RIERER -

The Company entered into a consulting agreement with CNNC
Tongxing on 31 October 2023, pursuant to which the Company will
provide technical support and consulting services to CNNC Tongxing
and/or its associates relating to the distribution channels and customer
resources of cobalt-60 radioactive sources, and CNNC Tongxing and/
or its associates will pay us consultation service fees. The term of the
Consulting Agreement commenced on the 1 January 2024 and will
expire on 31 December 2025, subject to renewal as may be agreed
upon by both parties.
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2023 Fhx-14 L EH 6. 2023 Carbon-14 Supply Agreement

E

BEOVE BEE(ER)  RARR (HER) -

Parties: Headway (the purchaser); and the Company (the supplier).

FEER AEBEFEEMN2023F10 A31 Bl it-144EE W - Bt - A%

Principal Terms:

B raEE & HEBMEARER-14EREER-14TRARER
BRE - REETMREHEEER- 4RV BN BE  EREWER
% o Bk-14REHEE B R A BIR 82024 F 1 A1 BRRAERMKRIN2025F 12
AB1BEwm - AISEHRIEZRER -

The Group entered into a carbon-14 supply agreement with Headway
on 31 October 2023, pursuant to which the Group will provide Headway
and/or its associates with carbon-14 as the raw materials for production
of carbon-14 breath test kits. The Group will also provide ancillary
services such as packaging and transportation relating to provision of
the carbon-14 raw materials. The term of the Carbon-14 Raw Materials
Supply Agreement commenced on the 1 January 2024 and will expire
on 31 December 2025, subject to renewal as may be agreed upon by
both parties.

2023 F & B AR 1 = 7. 2023 Financial Services Agreement
BHERE AAR (RBEKR)  RPZER (RBREER) -

Parties: The Company (service recipient); and CNNC (service provider).
FEERK RAFHEPZEER2023F4 A10B B2 BRB 0% - Bk -

Principal Terms:

SBR HHEBMBEAKRAAERER (AP E) (i) FR @RS
(FERERB] : ((ERER £8 HNERAMRE ((EH  ExXE
BEREMERRE ) ULl AEBESS ME TEERMKR
ERERY ((MERERIK]) - 2023F & B RB1HEE2023F7 18
FRAR KR PA2025F 12 A31 BlEm « AIKE T RERER -

The Company renewed the Financial Services Agreement with CNNC
on 10 April 2023, pursuant to which CNNC and/or its associates will
provide the Group with, among other things, (i) deposits and related
services (the “Deposit Services”); (i) entrusted loan, settlement,
foreign exchange and other services (the “Settlement, Entrusted Loan
and Other Financial Services”); and (iii) financial leasing service (the
“Financial Leasing Service”) for certain assets used in the operation
of the Group. The 2023 Financial Services Agreement commenced on
1 July 2023, and expired on 31 December 2025, subject to renewal as
may be agreed upon by both parties.
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8. 2023 F TR ZE R R 8. 2023 Engineering Construction Services
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BEOVE PIZER (HER)  RARRI(BER) -
Parties: CNNC (the supplier); and the Company (the purchaser).
FEIRK AAREAPZERMN2023F10A31 HE TR RRBIERWGZ -
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Revised Annual
Cap:
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AR P RZEERBRRIEEZRRBERGENOTE - KE—R
Pé-ﬁ%ﬂ%fkmEPTZ;‘%I&/%ﬁHﬁ%%%AFﬂZKA CIPSE:4 == PN S NE]
RETEERRE - HPaE - RIIREAE RMETRT © (i)&iE
R RBRERRBLRE Hlﬁk WSZ i Ti2s%m - TIRE® - 112
512 MIERIGEIIRFBARE - 2023 F TRREEXRBHZHNHR S
2024F1 A1BRAEBKRR2025F 12 A31BER - IKEHRERE
5 -

The Group renewed the Engineering Construction Services Framework
Agreement with CNNC on 31 October 2023. The Company and CNNC
agreed that CNNC and/or its associates will provide engineering
construction services to the Company and its subsidiaries according to
the Engineering Construction Services Framework Agreement and on
normal commercial terms, including: (i) EPC services and construction
services; (i) equipment procurement, manufacturing and installation
services; and (iii) engineering consultation services such as engineering
consultation, management and supervision services and survey and
design services. The term of 2023 Engineering Construction Services
Agreement commenced on the 1 January 2024 and will expire on 31
December 2025, subject to renewal as may be agreed upon by both
parties.

RAFEFEN202458 A30 HIRZE 2023 TRERRGHEE X
B ZE2024F 12 A1 HILFEMBEE2025F12 A1 R ILFENFE L
FREFTIEE] - BRABIIEEARRREN2024F11 A13 B B2 BRRFARE
SEZIWBA -

The Board of the Company resolved on 30 August 2024 to amend
the annual caps under the 2023 Engineering Construction Services
Agreement for the year ending 31 December 2024 and for the year
ending 31 December 2025, and such amendment was considered and
approved by the Company at its EGM held on 13 November 2024.
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RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

B.

Non-exempt Discontinued Connected Transactions

1.

Establishment of CNNC (Yulin) Irradiation
Co., Ltd. with Connected Persons

On 3 April 2024, approved by the Board
of the Company, the Company and CNNC
Hainan Nuclear Power Co.. Ltd. ("“CNNC
Hainan Nuclear Power”) jointly invested in
the establishment of CNNC (Yulin) Irradiation
Co., Ltd., with a registered capital of RMB50
million, of which 51% was contributed by
the Company and 49% was contributed
by CNNC Hainan Nuclear Power. For
details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 3 April 2024.
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2.

Investment in and participation in the
construction of CNNC Xiong’an Science
and Technology Park

On 25 May 2024, in order to actively
respond to the call of the Party Central
Committee to build Xiong’an New District
and to facilitate the relocation of Beijing’s
non-capital functions, the Company, together
with CNNC Environmental Protection Co.,
Ltd., China Nuclear Energy Industry Corp.,
CNNP Rich Energy Co., Ltd., CNNC Capital
Holdings Limited, Zhonghe Real Estate
Development Company, CNNC Sichuan
Environmental Protection Engineering
Company Limited, China Institute for
Radiation Protection, CNNC Environmental
Protection Engineering Company Limited,
CNNC New Energy Investment Company
Limited and CNNC (Xiongan) Science and
Technology Park Development Company
Limited will invest in the construction of the
CNNC Xiongan Science and Technology
Park project in Xiongan New District, which
includes research and development offices
as well as ancillary residential facilities. For
details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 25 May 2024.
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REREED AR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

3.

Establishment of Gansu Hongye Nuclear
Technology Co., Ltd. with Connected
Persons

On 16 December 2024, CNGT, CNNC 404,
Gansu Runyuan Environmental Resources
Technology Co., Ltd. (HEERRHEEREHR
ABRA7]), Jiuguan Economic Development
and Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. (BERHL&
BREREEB)EREERAF), Jinta Jinxin
Industrial Investment and Development
Group Co., Ltd. (EHBEBESETEREE
E&EBAERAR) and Jiayuguan Urban
Development Group Co., Ltd. (IARE™
WEEEABREMEAF) entered into the
Investment Agreement, and jointly invested
in the establishment of Gansu Hongye,
with a registered capital of RMB95 million,
of which 10% was contributed by CNGT.
For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 16 December 2024
and 23 December 2024.

The related party transactions were disclosed in Note 37 of

the financial statements for the year 2024 prepared by the

Company under the IFRS. According to the Listing Rules,

all of the related party transactions disclosed in Note

37 constituted connected transactions under the Listing

Rules and were required to be disclosed in accordance

with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has

complied with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 14A

of the Listing Rules in respect of disclosure of the above

connected transactions.
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Annual Review of Continuing Connected Transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the aforesaid continuing connected transactions for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and confirmed that such
transactions were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

(if) on normal commercial terms or better and in the
interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a
whole; and

(iii) according to the proposed annual caps that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation from the Independent Auditor

Pursuant to Chapter 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the
Company’s auditor was engaged by the Board to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Based on
the work performed, the auditor of the Company confirmed
to the Board of the Company that the aforesaid continuing
connected transactions:

(1) have been approved by the Board of the Company;

2) involving the provision of goods and services by the
Group were priced in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group stipulated under the relevant
agreements governing such transactions;

3) have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions;
and

(4) have not exceeded the relevant annual cap as
disclosed in the Prospectus.
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29.

30.

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing
his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in pages
152 to 160 of this annual report in accordance with rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION
OF THE LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and as of
the Latest Practicable Date, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any
listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries hold any treasury shares.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Company and its
subsidiaries did not enter into any agreements in relation
to equity-linked products or participate in any arrangement
to purchase equity-linked financial products.

ARRANGEMENT FOR PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT
AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

According to the Articles of Association and relevant
laws of China, the Shareholders of the Company have
no pre-emptive right. During the Reporting Period, the
Company has no arrangement for pre-emptive right or
share option scheme.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of the bank borrowings of the Company are set
out in Note 24 to the “Financial Statements” in this annual
report.

REMUNERATION AND EQUITY-INCENTIVE
POLICY

The review of the Group’s employee and remuneration
policy is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.
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31.

32.

33.

34.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Details of the employee retirement benefits of the Company
are set out in Note 29 to the “Financial Statements” in this
annual report.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In the context of the popularization of the concept of global
sustainable development and the widespread practice and
promotion of ESG concept among global governments
and market players, CIRC has actively taken on the
role of promoting green and low-carbon, fulfilling social
responsibilities, strengthening corporate governance, etc.,
and has been brave in innovation, and has continuously
promoted the ESG concept into the important part of the
Company development. As the driving force of China’s
nuclear technology application industry, CIRC will build a
“nuclear industry power” and “healthy China” as its dual
mission, actively participate in the main battlefield of the
nuclear technology application industry, and become
the main force of CNNC to enter the field of people’s life
and health and the main channel for the transformation
of scientific and technological achievements. For details
of our social responsibility, please refer to the 2024
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of CIRC.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
during the Reporting Period. Details are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

As resolved at the first extraordinary general meeting
of 2022 of the Company held on 16 September 2022,
KPMG was not re-appointed as international auditor of
the Company and SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited was
appointed as its international auditor for 2022, to provide
relevant overseas audit and review services under IFRSs.
Save as disclosed above, the Company did not change
auditor in the last three years. The resolutions regarding
re-appointment of auditors of the Company for the 2025
financial report will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM
for consideration and approval.
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35.

T ERER N BR AR

CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS

After the listing on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
the Company is subject to the Company Law, the Listing
Rules, the SFO and other related laws and regulations
at home and abroad. The Company complies with the
following key regulatory requirements:

The State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council, the Supervisory Board
for Key Large State-Owned Enterprises and other Chinese
government departments (including but not limited to
Ministry of Finance, State Administration of Taxation,
National Audit Office of the PRC, State Administration for
Market Regulation of the PRC, PBOC, State Administration
of Foreign Exchange, Ministry of Human Resources and
Social Security of the PRC and subsidiary organs thereof)
have made inquiries and onsite inspection or off-site survey
to the Company’s compliance with Chinese laws and
regulations in terms of state-owned assets management,
financial condition and business operation, solvency status,
tax payment, foreign exchange management, labour and
social welfare, etc.

Compliance with the Listing Rules and the SFO, including
but not limited to fulfilling the followings: safe-keeping
the register of interests in shares and short positions and
the register of interests and short positions of Directors,
Supervisors and chief executives, disclosure of inside
information, etc. The Company has implemented internal
control to ensure its compliance with such laws and
regulations. To the best of our knowledge, there are not
any legal or regulatory procedures or issues that may, in
the opinion of the Directors, have material adverse effects
on the business, financial condition, business performance
or prospects of the Company as of the end of Reporting
Period.
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36.

37.

38.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental
protection and has adopted stringent measures
for environmental protection in order to ensure our
compliance to the prevailing environmental protection
laws and regulations. Adhering to the concept of green
environmental protection, the Group has also promoted
green operations and advocated the concept of green
office. Environmental protection, energy conservation and
emissions reduction and reasonable and efficient utilisation
of resources have been consistently implemented in the
daily operation activities of the Group. The Group has also
been working on reducing its energy use, consumption
and wastage by actively promoting recycling concept,
including using less paper and saving electric power and
use of water. Going forward, the Group will continue
to develop sustainable policies and designs to reduce
its environmental impact not only internally within its
offices but also externally in the regions it operates in.
Discussion on the environmental policies and performance
of the Group is set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” for 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE OFAC
UNDERTAKINGS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has requested
its subsidiaries to conduct overseas business in
accordance with the Detailed Rules on the Work of the
Overseas Risk Management Committee of China Isotope
& Radiation Corporation. The Company has kept the
relevant OFAC undertakings in the Reporting Period and
will continue doing so in the future daily operation.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Shares of the
Company held by the public accounted for 25% of the
total Shares of the Company, which complied with the
requirements of the Listing Rules as the capital structure
of the Company maintained sufficient public float.
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39.

40.

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

REVIEW OF ANNUAL REPORT

The Audit and Risk Management Committee of the

Company has reviewed the Company’s annual results of

2024, and the financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2024 prepared in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards.

INFORMATION ON TAX REDUCTION AND
EXEMPTION FOR HOLDERS OF H SHARES

40.1

Individual investors

According to the Notice on the Management of
Personal Income Tax Imposed after the Abolition
of Guo Shui Fa [1993] No. 045 Document issued
by the State Administration of Taxation (Guo Shui
Han [2011] No. 348) (BRI 45N BN %
(199310455 X RE IL 1R B BB E AT B HEVE FER
AN BT K [2011]3485%)), the dividend received
by foreign resident individual shareholders from
the issuance of shares in Hong Kong by domestic
non-foreign invested enterprises is subject to the
payment of individual income tax according to the
items of “interests, dividend and bonus income”,
which shall be withheld by the withholding agents
according to the relevant laws. The foreign resident
individual shareholders who hold the shares issued
by domestic non-foreign invested enterprises in
Hong Kong are entitled to the relevant preferential
tax treatment pursuant to the provisions in the tax
agreements signed between the countries where
they reside and China or the tax arrangements
between Mainland and Hong Kong (Macau). The tax
rate for dividends under the relevant tax agreements
and tax arrangements is generally 10%, and for the
purpose of simplifying tax administration, domestic
non-foreign invested enterprises issuing shares
in Hong Kong may, when distributing dividends,
generally withhold individual income tax at the rate
of 10%, and are not obligated to file an application.
If the tax rate for dividends is not equal to 10%, the
following provisions shall apply: (1) for citizens from
countries which have entered into tax agreements/
arrangements stipulating a tax rate of lower than
10%, the withholding agents will file applications
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on their behalf to seek entitlement of the relevant
agreed preferential treatments, and upon approval
by the tax authorities, the excess tax amounts
withheld will be refunded; (2) for citizens from
countries which have entered into tax agreements/
arrangements stipulating a tax rate of higher than
10% but lower than 20%, the withholding agents
will withhold the individual income tax at the
agreed-upon effective tax rate when distributing
dividends, and are not obligated to file an
application; (3) for citizens from countries without
tax agreements or are under other situations, the
withholding agents will withhold the individual
income tax at a tax rate of 20% when distributing
dividends.

According to the Arrangements for the Avoidance
of Double Taxation and Prevention of Tax Evasion
in Mainland China and Hong Kong (Guo Shui Han
[2006] No. 884) (AhF & 45 51T B = B 70
PTG 2 & AN A D) L a0 R B 80 %2 BE )(B 5 ek
[2006]88435%)) signed on 21 August 2006 in relation
to income tax, the Chinese government may impose
tax on dividends payable by the Chinese companies
to Hong Kong residents, but the tax should not
exceed 10% of the total dividend payable; if Hong
Kong residents directly hold at least 25% equity
interest in the Chinese company, the relevant tax
shall not exceed 5% of the total dividend payable
by the Chinese company.
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40.2 Enterprise

According to the Enterprise Income Tax law of the
People’s Republic of China A RLMBEI AT
1§®i7%)) and the Regulations on the Implementation
of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China K EARLMBEDEAE
FEEMIEH])) effective on 1 January 2008, if
non-resident enterprises establish no organisations
and sites within the territory of China, or though
they have established certain organisations and
sites but the dividends and bonuses received
have actually not correlated to the organisations
and sites established, such enterprises shall pay
the corporate income tax at the rate of 10% of its
income from the Chinese territory. Such withholding
tax may be relieved under the applicable tax
avoidance under the double taxation treaty.

According to the Notice on the Withholding
Corporate Income Tax on the Dividends Distributed
by the Chinese Resident Enterprise to Foreign H
Share Non-resident Enterprise Shareholders (Guo
Shui Han [2008] No. 897) KEARH EIERMHEME
S H BRIEEREERRIRERMNRMRBEEME
1t 75 8 2 3 AN (B B £ [2008]897 5%)) issued by
the State Administration of Taxation and effective
on 6 November 2008, when the Chinese resident
enterprises distribute dividends of 2008 and
subsequent years to foreign H share non-resident
enterprise shareholders, they shall pay the
withholding enterprise income tax at the unified rate
of 10%. Such withholding tax may be relieved under
the applicable tax avoidance under the double
taxation treaty.
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Pursuant to the provisions in the Notice on Tax
Policy Regarding Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock
Connect Pilot Programs (Cai Shui [2014] No. 81)
KEAREERETSXHEMEBRAIAMBEAT
W SR BB A ) (BF Bi[2014]181 5R)) issued by the
Ministry of Finance, the State Administration of
Taxation and CSRC, for the dividends obtained
by mainland individual investors from investing in
H-shares listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange
through Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect,
such H-share companies shall withhold individual
income tax at the tax rate of 20%. For the dividends
obtained by mainland securities investment funds
by investing in shares listed in Hong Kong Stock
Exchange through Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock
Connect, the individual income tax will be levied
pursuant to the provisions mentioned above. For
the dividends obtained by mainland enterprise
investors from investing in shares listed in Hong
Kong Stock Exchange through Shanghai-Hong
Kong Stock Connect, such H-share companies
shall not withhold and pay any income taxes on the
dividends, as the income taxes shall be reported
and paid by the investing enterprises on their own.
Meanwhile, for the dividends obtained by mainland
resident enterprises from holding relevant H shares
for consecutive 12 months, the corporate income
taxes shall be exempted according to laws.

Pursuant to the current practices of Inland Revenue
Department of Hong Kong, no taxes shall be levied
for the dividends distributed by the Company. The
Shareholders of the Company shall pay the relevant
taxes and/or be entitled to tax relieves pursuant to
the above provisions.

By order of the Board of Directors
Han Yongjiang

Chairman of the Board

28 March 2025
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BASIC COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

Basic information

As of 31 December 2024, the Board of Supervisors
consists of five members, namely Mr. Liu Zhonglin, Mr.
Zhao Nanfei, Mr. Zhang Guoping, Mr. Ma Fuxin and Ms.
Peng Qihui, among whom Mr. Liu Zhonglin is the chairman
of the Board of Supervisors, Mr. Ma Fuxi and Ms. Peng
Qihui are employee representative Supervisors. The term
of office of Supervisors is three years. Supervisors can
be re-appointed upon re-election after the term of office
expires.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

In 2024, the Board of Supervisors convened six meetings.
The convening, holding and voting procedures of the
meetings and the contents of the resolutions are in
compliance with the laws and regulations and the Articles
of Association. The details of the meetings are as follows:

1. The first meeting of the fourth session of the Board
of Supervisors for 2024 was held on 21 March
2024. Mr. Liu Zhonglin, the chairman of the Board
of Supervisors, served as the convener. Twelve
resolutions were considered and approved at
the meeting, which were the Resolution on the
Consideration on the Establishment of CNNC
(Yulin) Irradiation Co., Ltd. (tentative name), the
2023 Work Report of the Internal Control System of
CIRC, the 2024 Annual Report on Comprehensive
Risk Management of CIRC, the 2023 Work Report
of the Internal Audit of CIRC, the Resolution on
the Consideration of Fulfilment of the Conditions
for the Public Offering of Corporate Bonds to
Professional Investors by CIRC, the Resolution on
the Consideration of the Proposed Authorization
by the General Meeting of CIRC to the Board
and its Authorized Persons to Deal with Matters
Relating to the Issue of Corporate Bonds with Sole
Discretion, the Resolution on the Consideration
of 2023 Final Accounts of CIRC, the Resolution
on the Consideration of the Proposed Declaration
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and Distribution of Final Dividend for the Year
Ended 31 December 2023, the Resolution on the
Consideration of the 2024 Financial Budget Plan of
CIRC and the 2023 Work Report of the Board of
Supervisors of CIRC.

The second meeting of the fourth session of the
Board of Supervisors for 2024 was held on 16 May
2024. Mr. Liu Zhonglin, the chairman of the Board
of Supervisors, served as the convener. A resolution
was considered and approved at the meeting,
which was the Resolution on Consideration
of CIRC’s Investment and Participation in the
Co-establishment of CNNC (Xiong’an) Science and
Technology Park and Connected Transactions.

The third meeting of the fourth session of the Board
of Supervisors for 2024 was held on 1 August
2024. Mr. Liu Zhonglin, the chairman of the Board
of Supervisors, served as the convener. A resolution
was considered and approved at the meeting,
which was the Resolution on Consideration of the
2024 Investment Plan of CIRC.

The fourth meeting of the fourth session of the
Board of Supervisors for 2024 was held on 29
August 2024. Mr. Liu Zhonglin, the chairman of
the Board of Supervisors, served as the convener.
Seven resolutions were considered and approved
at the meeting, which were the Resolution on
Consideration of the Acquisition of Tongweixinda
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd., the Resolution on
Consideration of Adjustments to the Annual Caps of
the Engineering Construction Services Framework
Agreement, the Resolution on Consideration of
Adjustment to the Annual Caps of the Purchase
of Products and Services Framework Agreement,
the Resolution on Consideration of Adjustment
to the Annual Caps of the Products and Services
Supply Framework Agreement, the Resolution
on Consideration of 2024 Interim Results
Announcement and 2024 Interim Report of CIRC,
the Resolution on Consideration of 2024 Interim
dividend, etc.
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5 The fifth meeting of the fourth session of the Board
of Supervisors for 2024 was held on 16 October
2024. Mr. Liu Zhonglin, the chairman of the Board
of Supervisors, served as the convener. A resolution
was considered and approved at the meeting,
which was the Resolution on Consideration of
Appointment of Domestic Audit Organization for
2024.

6. The sixth meeting of the fourth session of the
Board of Supervisors for 2024 was held on 3
December 2024. Mr. Liu Zhonglin, the chairman of
the Board of Supervisors, served as the convener.
Three resolutions were considered and approved
at the meeting, which were the Resolution on
Consideration and Approval of CNGT’s equity
participation in the establishment of Gansu Hongye
Nuclear Technology Co., Ltd. (tentative name),
the Resolution on Consideration and Approval
of Sichuan Tongyuan’s Equity Financing in a
Non-publicly Agreed Manner, the Resolution on
Consideration and Approval of 2024 Internal Audit
Adjustment Plan of CIRC.

SUPERVISORS’ PRESENCE ON OTHER
MEETINGS

In 2024, the Supervisors of the Company attended eight
Board meetings, the 2023 AGM, the first and the second
of 2024 extraordinary general meeting.
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4.

BASIC EVALUATION OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS ON PERFORMANCE OF THE
BOARD AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the Reporting Period, with the supervision on the
Directors and senior management of the Company, the
Board of Supervisors was of the view that the Board
of the Company was able to duly perform its duties
in strict compliance with the requirements under the
Company Law, Securities Law, the Articles of Association
and the relevant laws and regulations, and to operate
in accordance with laws. The major business decision
making procedures of the Company were legitimate and
effective. The Directors and senior management of the
Company performed their duties in strict accordance with
national laws and regulations, the Articles of Association
and resolutions of the general meeting and the Board. The
Board of Supervisors was not aware of any irregularities
of Directors and senior management that are not in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders or have
violated laws and regulations.

INDEPENDENT OPINIONS OF THE BOARD
OF SUPERVISORS ON OPERATION OF THE
COMPANY

5.1 Independent opinions on the financial position of
the Company

The financial report of the year is prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards with sound internal control system on
financial and accounting aspects and no material
omission or false statement in the accounting, and
has been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited,
which reflected the financial position and operation
results of the Company in a true and objective
manner.
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5.3

5.4

Independent opinions on disclosure of information
by the Company

During the Reporting Period, the Board of
Supervisors attended the general meeting and the
Board meeting and listened to the report about
information disclosure. The Board of Supervisors
believed that the information disclosure procedures
were in compliance with the Administrative
Measures on Information Disclosure of CIRC (&
ElF#R{E S WBEEENE)) and complied with the
regulatory requirements of the Stock Exchange.

Independent opinions on the connected
transactions of the Company

During the Reporting Period, the Board of
Supervisors conducted supervision on the
connected transactions of the Company and was of
the view that the approval and disclosure procedure
of the connected transactions of the Company were
in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
such as the Listing Rules and requirements of the
Articles of Association, and the pricing of which was
fair and reasonable.

Independent opinions on the management and
use of proceeds of the Company

During the Reporting Period, the Board of
Supervisors conducted supervision on the
management and use of proceeds of the Company.
The Board of Supervisors believed that the
Company managed and used the proceeds in strict
compliance with the Listing Rules.

WORKING PLAN

In 2025, the Board of Supervisors will continue to fulfil its

supervisory duties as stipulated in the Company Law, the

Articles of Association and other laws and regulations to

safeguard shareholders’ interests.

By order of the Board of Supervisors
Liu Zhonglin

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors
28 March 2025
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,
311 Gloucester Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

BRPH(EB)GIEHABRAT
BHERBEE T BE311%
EZREREASKBI7HE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION
CORPORATION

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Isotope & Radiation Corporation (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 185 to 354, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Boards (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (conTINUED)

FRETER

REEFESNERAE - BREFFEARES
ERAMRANAHYBERRTIREZNSE
B BECREZAHBBRER R ES
EARREMNERE MESFITERUFF
REBERER -

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement,
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

in our professional
were of most significance in our audit of the

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

iy 25 72 B

Revenue recognition

A2 AT BRRM T4 LM E20 M S ETBER

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(x).

BRENEHE
The key audit matter

EENERPHNEEL R

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEETENSTRERER (AIBER) RRFREM
T HE  RERHEE  MBFREREENR
oS BRERTE  REBRBERE - KR
% HEBRSWMMHERBEES (ARG ER
1) -

The Group is principally engaged in research,
development, manufacturing and sale of a broad
range of nuclear medicines (formerly known as
pharmaceuticals) and radioactive source products,
and also design, manufacturing, construction
and installation of gamma ray irradiation facilities,
provision of irradiation service for sterilisation
purpose, technical services, sales of medical devices
and sale of nuclear medical equipment (formerly
known as radiation therapy equipment).

HE2024F 12 A3 HEFERREEERBNAAR
6,515 BETT  HARNKERNB86% ° HEERHKER

B BISE KT ATAGE B m e E I s iR -

The amount of sales of goods recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is approximately
RMB6,515 million and accounted for 86% of
total revenue. The revenue from sales of goods is
recognised when the customer obtains control of the
promised goods in the contract.

EERBRERRSHNEZEFBEAT
Our audit procedures to assess the timing of revenue
recognition included the following:

. T RR R AT TR T B W s e SRR B Y A B N AR AR
HIMRRET - B NEZ B

° obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating

effectiveness of management’s key internal

controls in relation to revenue recognition;

. BREEERSEENMETFPNHEAS RK
Ko W E R B RERU b AT S & s A R

NHEE R RBEERNEH ERBORY
WEERITEENZ R EEEERBHLA
BB R (B1E

° inspecting the terms of sales contracts with
customers from each segment, on a sample
basis, and evaluating the conditions of goods
acceptance as to whether control over the
goods has been passed and performance
obligation is satisfied when the Group
recognises the revenue, and assessing the
Group’s timing and value of recognition of
revenue with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;
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BREFTEE (#)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Wy 35 7R

Revenue recognition

F2HA MUK T4 RS FTEK -

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(x).

BREENER
The key audit matter

BEEREBERPNEED R

How the matter was addressed in our audit

\

BN ERETE RERETFR - W ER RS S
BERENBARERER 2 RESENEBRE TR
)

=

DE KEWHEZZKEARERF - Bt - WAER
FHRERHERERAE SRR -

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key
audit matter because the revenue is one of the key
performance indicators of the Group and the Group’s
business is diversified in different segments with
large volume of revenue transaction generated from a
number of customer. Therefore, there is inherent risk
of material misstatement in revenue recognition.

. BB EERESEMRXEE RN Ek - AR
RMBFERERBEZAIRZ BEHEONRRER S
R ERIFHE S FPTEA HE GRRE S B
T EAR TR

° inspecting goods delivery notes and logistics
records, on a sample basis, to assess whether
revenue transactions recorded just before and
after the financial year end date had been
recognised in the appropriate financial period
on the basis of the terms of sale as set out in
the sales contracts;

. BMEREESRRARZGRER ERXEERHE
b AR RA S (RNiE R ) ETTEL S -
° comparing revenue transactions, on a sample

basis, with invoices, goods delivery notes and
other relevant underlying documentation as
applicable.
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(WIS

B EREEZERRARESSENY
B @ig -

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Audit and Risk Management Committee is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors of Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purpose of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit and Risk Management
Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit and Risk Management Committee
with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lee Shun Ming.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Shun Ming

Practising Certificate Number: PO7068

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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SHEmE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HE202412 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
B5E AR®ET R ARETTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Wz Revenue 4 7,574,756 6,634,992
SHE R Cost of sales (3,891,924) (3,152,753)
EX Gross profit 3,682,832 3,482,239
Emug A - WS & EiE Other income, gains and losses 5 77,518 240,928
HE R HEAX Selling and distribution expenses (1,623,621) (1,768,368)
THHAX Administrative expenses (704,520) (635,914)
THEE B Research and development costs (300,286) (306,051)
H 5 N E A EBGRIEN Impairment losses on trade and
REEE other receivables 6(c) (45,541) (71,236)
REFTBFHE Profit from operations 1,086,382 941,598
B7%%E R Finance costs 6(a) (48,423) (36,142)
DAEE SRR )RR D Share of profits less losses of associates
hEE N FBE (14,088) (14,303)
DMEEEREFE Share of profits of joint ventures 21,353 31,284
R AT R E Profit before taxation 6 1,045,224 922,437
s X Income tax expense 7 (165,687) (146,307)
FRFE Profit for the year 879,537 776,130
TR AL : Attributable to:
KREIERARER Equity shareholders of the Company 406,645 370,967
SRR = Non-controlling interests 472,892 405,163
FRRE Profit for the year 879,537 776,130
BRER : Earnings per share: 8
EXAREE (AR Basic and diluted (RMB) 1.27 1.16

FA1AE3AE M BN ZE S HH B R The notes on pages 194 to 354 form part of these consolidated
RH—E5 - ENARRMERREREFFE  financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
BRI FE32(0) ° shareholders of the Company are set out in Note 32(b).
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SitiEm R M EEKRAR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 % 2023%F
2024 2023
B5E AR®T R ARETTT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FrrE Profit for the year 879,537 776,130
FREMZ2E (X)) KA Other comprehensive (expense)
(BARKEH>ERE) income for the year (after tax
and reclassification adjustments) 11
B reEF s EEERD ltems that will not be reclassified to
BH : profit or loss:
Bt EERENEETFE Remeasurement of net defined
benefit liability (14,645) 621)
BEAnBEFAEMD Equity investments at FVOCI-net
ZHBANRERE — movement in fair value reserve
MR RA S EEREES (non-recycling)
(RAT#E) 10,606 (5,185)
FREMZEMX Other comprehensive expense for
77777777777777777777777777777777777 theyear (4,039) (5,806)
FRAEZEBALEE Total comprehensive income for
the year 875,498 770,324
PPN 2 Attributable to:
RN ERE R AR R Equity shareholders of the Company 406,256 365,070
FEIE e R B Non-controlling interests 469,242 405,254
FREEBALLE Total comprehensive income for
the year 875,498 770,324
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SO MBEAR IR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MH2024F12A831H
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 % 20234
12H381H 12 A31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
B AR®BTR ARBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
kRBEE Non-current assets
Y - RE LR Property, plant and equipment 12 4,328,121 3,601,172
WEME Investment properties 13 49,566 46,053
BVAE Intangible assets 14 320,363 212,117
EES Goodwill 18 81,526 81,526
REEENR 2R Interests in associates 16 93,415 119,599
REERRINER Interests in joint ventures 17 477,453 503,514
R ARE Y GRIA Long-term receivables 31(c) 51,148 49,196
RN E Unquoted equity investments 19 162,545 156,394
RIETRIEE E Deferred tax assets 30(b) 284,922 220,431
HMIERBEE Other non-current assets = 7,239
5,849,059 4,997,241
REBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 20 787,185 814,165
ABHEE Contract assets 21(b) 58,787 19,862
B 5 EWGRIA R BN E R Trade and bill receivables 21(a) 4,922,128 3,876,341
R RHE MW RIA Deposits and other receivables 22(a) 204,677 254,569
TERT IR Prepayments 22(b) 206,171 337,908
RITERFERS Cash at bank and on hand 23 2,649,354 2,891,624
8,918,302 8,194,469
REBEE Current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 24(b) 940,725 196,310
2 SR HRIE Trade payables 26 791,481 626,668
FERTE K E b FE 5B Accruals and other payables 27(a) 3,097,491 3,255,920
HEAE Lease liabilities 28 26,023 20,879
s Provisions 31 92,084 86,612
AR Income tax payable 30(a) 75,577 67,532
hBREAE Total current liabilities 5,023,381 4,253,921
RBREFE 0 Net current assets 3,894,921 3,940,548
BEERABAERE Total assets less current liabilities 9,743,980 8,937,789
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SHMBERRER @
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (cowmweo)

H2024F12A831H
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 20234
12A31H 12A31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
B 5 AR® T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 24(a) 1,049,474 1,447,011
NEES Corporate bonds 25 499,287 =
EFEYA Deferred income 27(b) 123,322 59,779
HERE Lease liabilities 28 52,728 31,322
EFERARKRAE Defined benefit retirement obligation 29(a) 55,125 44,007
FEEFHIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 30(b) 7,625 8,876
Be i Provisions 31 153,800 139,728
H R EA N IR Other long-term payables 27(c) 58,024 67,738
FRBAMBAW  Total non-current liabilites 1,999,385 1,798,461
EEFE Net assets 7,744,595 7,139,328
EAXR#E Capital and reserves
f& A Share capital 32 319,875 319,875
(it Reserves 4,685,426 4,373,445
AATESRREGEEZMEE Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 5,005,301 4,693,320
FEIERRER Non-controlling interests 2,739,294 2,446,008
EREE Total equity 7,744,595 7,139,328

F185E34EMA M B HRERBAESEEHR  The consolidated financial statements on pages 185 to 354 were
20253 A28 A ERKEENE - AT approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

MALTREKREE 28 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
1357 92 FER Han Yongjiang Wang Cangren
EEER BFEgHE Chairman of the board Chief accountant
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RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

SHRERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE202412 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024F 2023%F
2024 2023
fiisk AR®F R ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
RETEH OPERATING ACTIVITIES
R 5% A M) Profit before taxation 1,045,224 922,437
TN TRIEAE Adjustments for:
WEREHE Depreciation and amortisation B(c) 244,879 264,351
BT #5 B Government grants 5 (50,592) (32,626)
FEHA Interest income 5 (29,617) (30,973)
HBER Finance costs 6(a) 48,423 36,142
FETRERENRERA Dividend income on unquoted
equity investment 5 (4,470) (5,593)
2 IRWRER KRR Impairment loss on trade and bill receivables
BEEE 21 29,541 67,099
BREEREESR Impairment loss on contract assets 21 2,363 1,317
H A W FIERERE Impairment loss on other receivables 22 16,000 4,137
HRFE Write-down of inventories 20(b) 29,473 1,560
HE—RHBLKE Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 34(a) = (158,435)
BIENE—KWBA M Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary 34(b) - (124)
HE—RBEARNER Loss on disposal of an associate 16 19,337 =
MREREENER Loss on write-off of intangible assets 3 =
HEME - BERREN Net loss on disposal of property,
BEFE plant and equipment 5 197 135
HTFEENRATEIEBNES  Expenses related to defined benefit
retirement plans 29(a) 919 819
RAIR RSN KR Gain on early termination of leases 5 (160) -
DMEEE R AIFER Share of profits less losses of associates
AIEHE D REE 14,088 14,308
DhEE D ANE Share of profits of joint ventures (21,353) (31,284)
LEESRPRLERENE Operating cash flows before movement in
working capital 1,344,255 1,053,265
BERL /(HEm) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 1,931 (157,259)
BH5RYGE - BEEE Increase in trade and bill receivables,
RAEREBELMN and contract assets (1,118,577) (527,099)
BRRE - ReREMER Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,
FIER D /(38 m) deposits and other receivables 95,539 (235,140)
B 5 IR FIAL Increase in trade payables 167,488 160,668
[EFTE A REMENTERD Decrease in accruals and other payables (131,194) (9,356)
TRENRKEERD Decrease in defined benefit retirement
obligation 29 (5,668) (1,457)
BEEM/CRD) Increase/(decrease) in provisions 13,694 (3,787)
RETHHMBHES Cash generated from operations 367,468 279,835
BFEH Income taxes paid 30(a) (224,987) (194,878)
RETHHERLRE NET CASH GENERATED FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 142,481 84,957
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CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION A1 B [E 48 A% 7 A R A &

EHRERER ®
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (conTiNueD)

HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

20244 20234
2024 2023
BiE AR®F R ARETFT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
REED INVESTING ACTIVITIES
RITHEFIEM Increase in deposits with banks 23 (253,538) (685,932)
RERITHER Withdrawal of deposits with banks 23 570,502 879,458
BEREME MEKRRZMETIE - Payments for purchase of investment property,
BENHehEVEE plant and equipment, lease prepayments
and intangible assets (1,032,196) (897,617)
WK BARETEREREFE  Net cash outflow from acquiring subsidiaries 33 - (71,251)
I F-RMBARRIRE Paid to a former shareholder of a subsidiary (11,560)
BEMENAERTE Payments for purchase of interests in associates 16 (9,500) (6,800)
FHREABRAINER Partial disposal of interest in joint ventures 17 18,228 15,205
HE—RMWBLRMSE Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary
ReRNFE 34(a) - 226,943
WEERIZER THAHER Acquisition of combined entities under
common control - (4,611)
RIEHE—KIMEL AR Net cash outflow on deemed disposal of a
BemibFE subsidiary - (1,769)
HE I EMRERBFERIR Proceeds from disposal of unquoted equity
investments 6,058 -
HEME BERREFEHE  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment 224 48
B E R RMER RS Dividends received from associates 16 2,259 =
BE&ER AW RE Dividends received from joint ventures 17 13,044 50,556
B Ik LR iER R AR S Dividends received from unquoted equity
investment 19 4,470 5,593
BB BD Government grants received 100,629 32,404
B S Interests received 26,568 27,892
REZHFTAREFR NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (564,812) (429,881)
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RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

SHEERER ®
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (conmuen)

HE202412 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024%F 2023%F
2024 2023
fiieE AR®F R AREFT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
RMEEH FINANCING ACTIVITIES
RAMB AR FEER RS Capital injections from non-controlling equity
BEANIE owners of subsidiaries 79,620 65,919
BOIREMERRERR Proceeds from bank and other loans 23(b) 1,019,480 909,870
BORAIERMGHIE Proceeds from issuing of corporate bonds 23(b) 499,241 =
HERTREMER Repayments of bank and other loans 23(b) (654,451) (86,887)
ENHEEHEEHERLH Capital elements of lease rentals paid 23(b) (24,003) (28,585)
ENEEES ORISR Interest elements of lease rentals paid 23(b) (2,650) (3,231)
ERNEMTEER Other finance costs paid 23(0) (80,043) (28,361)
AARMERER R ARE Dividends paid by the Company to equity
shareholders (123,312) (140,969)
B ARRIEERERES A Dividends paid by subsidiaries to
RS non-controlling equity owners (214,182) (203,391)
RETHFEREFR NET CASH GENERATED FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 499,700 484,365
RERASEEBYEMTER NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 77,369 139,441
RENHRERAESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,376,459 2,236,829
Exgmnye Effect of changes in exchange rate (2,675) 189
RERNRERALEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE END OF THE YEAR 23(a) 2,451,153 2,376,459
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SO R R M T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1. —REH
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GENERAL

China Isotope & Radiation Corporation (the “Company”)
was established on 4 December 2007 in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) as a state-owned enterprise
with limited liability. The Company was converted into a
joint stock company with limited liability on 6 December
2011 and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The immediate
holding company of the Company is China Baoyuan
Investment Company Limited (“China Baoyuan”) and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is China
National Nuclear Corporation (‘CNNC”). The address of
its Hong Kong office is 5/F., Manulife Place, 348 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The principal place of
business is located in the PRC, with the address of No.
66, Changwa Middle Street, Haidian District Beijing, the
PRC.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding.

The Company and its subsidiaries (hereafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are mainly engaged in (i)
research, development, manufacturing and sale of
diagnostic and therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals and
radioactive source products for medical and industrial
applications; (ii) provision of irradiation service for
sterilisation purpose and EPC service for the design,
manufacturing and installation of gamma ray irradiation
facilities; and (iii) provision of nuclear medical equipment
and other services to hospitals and other medical
institutions.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE202412 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2. EAEHBREHR

(@)

BREH

ZEAHMBMERTIRIER
BERBERYBRSER
(TEEREFBHREEL]) &
2 BRMBHREENBRE
B AR EE ([ER
SR EAEEE]) BMEAOPT
B 8 P Y B B B 7S s
A - BFREFTER([EERE
FHER ) RAABREBUARE
BRRIRPIMBEERTE © %
EROFM B MR I ETHR
PrEs EmARRMEREE
R - REBERMNERS
FHERERER T -

BEetERBEEECRM
£ T 3R] BIBR B 75 3 5 2 R
RAERTA - YMAKEE A
SETEIM B R AR AR
FERM - MiFE2() IR EIRE
A% EERMEHE TR
HIRERESNERER
mMERESEAEEENS
A MERE Y N E A G R
BMKR AR -

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(@)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”), which collective term includes all
applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB”) and the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. Material accounting policies adopted by
the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and amendments
to IFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(d) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current accounting periods and reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 comprise the the Group
and the Group’s interests in associates and joint
ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements is the
historical cost basis except that the equity
investments (see Note 2(h)) are stated at their fair
value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of IFRSs that have significant effect on
the consolidated financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
Note 3.
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RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE202412 A1 B L E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2. EBEAEHEE (&)

(©)

P& PR % 5T B B B 75 ¥R 5 22 B
RAZRT A

TR & 58 i 4 3% 1 B B B
B EEANERT A

AEEBERAFEERER
LATR2024F1 A1 BREBH
AEEGHREERER - H
ER el EEe B MmN
YR B F5 R S HE BB AT AR -

BIR B R s e EREAH
165 (BTX) HERR

BReHENE IR ABNER
(BaTA) mE%
R
BReHEAE 1R HERON
(BAT%) FRBAR

REERETRE HEHERE
BB Rl i
ERSACHEN)

BRTAES  RAFERER
BIFR B 7% 5 E RS R] A
AEERAFERBEFE
M BERRRRBRK  HZ
SEHVBREAEBES
A BEATE -

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(©)

Application of new and amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied, for
the first time, the following amendments to IFRSs
issued by the IASB which are effective for the
Group’s financial year beginning on 1 January 2024

Amendments to IFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current
or Non-current
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of
the amendments to IFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2. EAEHEEE)
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(©)

Application of new and amendments to IFRSs
(continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to IAS
1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”); and
Amendments to IAS 1 - Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements on
determining if a liability is current or non-current,
in particular the determination over whether an
entity has the right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period. The amendments specify that an entity’s
right to defer settlement must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification is unaffected
by management’s intentions or expectations
about whether the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement. The amendments also clarify the
classification of liabilities that will or may be settled
by issuing an entity’s own equity instruments.

The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

Upon application of the amendments, the Group
has reassessed the terms and conditions of its loan
arrangements. The adoption of the amendments
has no material impact on the s classification of
the Group’s liabilities as at 1 January 2023, 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2024.
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S PSR R EE @0
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTinuen)

HE202412 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2. EXRSTBUER (&) 2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(d)  FEFFET MR B 7 3R &5 2 R (d)  Application of new and amendments to IFRSs

RAEET 2N (4&) (continued)
B 281 18 5 K 4 8 F7 5T B New and amendments to IFRSs issued but not yet
R B1 75 3R 25 ZE R RASET AR effective
HEZSAHY BHRETE Up to date of issue of these consolidated financial
BE BHEReHERESS statements, the IASB has issued a number of
BB % IE A WS new and amendments to IFRSs which are not yet
WMEEBREFTR (REZE effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
202412 A1 BIEFEH A which have not been adopted in these consolidated
£ BRARR&ZEE 0 financial statements.

BRMERP RN ©

ZEAER B AT AT g2 B R These include the following new and amendments
S BB AR B B 7 to IFRSs which may be relevant to the Group:
ERARIEFTA :

RUT B2 &HBN
SHBEN

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

BFR &t RSB 2158 (BRI AK) - R AI AL

Amendments to IAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability

B PR B T 3 5 Y R B O 5% S B BR B RS s 5 BRI 75% (IBFT &)
EHTASHERGEZEET

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial Instruments

BB B M S R @ SR (BRTA) » BIBR AT 5 3 &5 BRI & 7t 2R
ZEFRHE - FE115

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards, Annual Improvements to
IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

BB B Fs e 5 Y R B O 5% S B BR B RS R 5 E RIS 75% (IBFT &)
KBEERERNE SR

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity

BIFR BT 53R S BIE 185K - 1B MK < 25 R#E

IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

BIRR B B S R 195% - FELNH R E N B L AlA)#EE

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

BB B M i S 2R FE 1058 R ER @ 5 RIFE 285k (BT A)
REEZBABENRNE B NAZ MEEHERLFA

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture

2025%F1H1H
1 January 2025
20261 H1H
1 January 2026
202651 H1H
1 January 2026
20261 H1H
1 January 2026
202741 A1H
1 January 2027
20271 H1H8
1 January 2027

BREE

To be determined
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

Application of new and amendments to IFRSs
(continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these new
and amendments to IFRSs is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has
been concluded that the adoption of these new
and amendments to IFRSs is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(€)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group
has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the
Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition
of a financial liability. For each business combination
involving entities not under common control, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments
are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity
to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(€)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. The amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets and liabilities (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred directly to retained profits as
specified by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(m)(iii)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale.

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence, but not control
or joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the
Group or Company and other parties contractually
agree to share control of the arrangement and have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Associates and joint ventures (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
and joint ventures are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method unless it is classified as held for sale.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the investee’s identifiable net assets
over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost
of the investment includes purchase price, other
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
investment, and any direct investment into the
associate or joint venture that forms part of Group’s
equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and
any impairment loss relating to the investment
(see Notes 2(f) and 2(m)(iii)). At each reporting
date, the Group assesses whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment is impaired
Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the joint venture
(after applying the ECL model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see Note 2(m)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint
control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant influence or joint control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the sum of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non -
controlling interest in the acquiree and the
fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree; over

(if) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the
acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating
unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination and is tested annually for impairment
(see Note 2(m)(iii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the
periods, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or
loss on disposal.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)
for which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments,
see Note 35(d). These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
fair value reserve (non — recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit
or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as
other income in accordance with the policy set out
in Note 2(x)(v).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(i)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see Note 2(l)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. Investment property are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Note 2(m)). The investment
property is depreciated in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2(j). Rental income
from investment property are accounted for as
described in Note 2(x)(iv).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Note 2(m)

(il)):

- interests in leasehold land and buildings
where the Group is the registered owner of
the property interest;

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over
leasehold properties where the Group is not
the registered owner of the property interest;
and

S items of plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of
underlying plant and equipment (see Note

2(1)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see Note 2(z)).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

0]

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as

follows:

Buildings 10 — 45 years
Machinery and equipment 3 - 20 years
Office equipment 3 - 15 years
Motor vehicles and others 1 — 20 years
Leasehold improvement 2 — 20 years

Right-of-use assets Over the term of lease

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an
asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

No depreciation is provided in respect of
construction in progress until it is completed and
ready for its intended use.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Expenditure on development activities is
capitalised if the product or process is technically
and commercially feasible and the Group has
sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised includes
the costs of materials, direct labor, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable (see Note 2(z)). Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
(see Note 2(m)(iii)). Other development expenditure
is recognised as an expense in the period in which
it is incurred.

Other Intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is
finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(m)(iii)).
Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight — line
basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The
following intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised from the date they are available for use
and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

Patents and know-how 10 - 20 years
Royalty 10 years
Software and others 3 - 12 years
Customer relationship 7 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

()

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses

whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A

contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an

identified asset for a period of time in exchange

for consideration. Control is conveyed where the

customer has both the right to direct the use of the

identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.

(i)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for
the Group are primarily laptops and office
furniture. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on
a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see Notes 2(j) and 2(m)(iii)).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

() Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leased assets (continued)

(ii)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with Note
2(x)(iv).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,
the sub-leases are classified as a finance
lease or as an operating lease with reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-
term lease to which the Group applies the
exemption described in Note 2(l)(i), then
the Group classifies the sub-lease as an
operating lease.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

() Leased assets (continued)

(iv)

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group acts as a seller-lessee. The
Group applies the requirements of IFRS
15 to assess whether sale and leaseback
transaction constitutes a sale by the Group
as a seller-lessee.

For a transfer that does not satisfy the
requirements as a sale, the Group accounts
for the transfer proceeds as borrowings
within the scope of IFRS 9.

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements
as a sale, the Group as a seller-lessee
measures the right-of-use asset arising
from the leaseback at the proportion of the
previous carrying amount of the asset and
recognises any gain or loss that relates to
the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor
only. Right of use asset and lease liability
are subsequently measured in accordance
with the general requirements under IFRS
16 Leases. In measuring the lease liability,
the Group determines “lease payments” or
“revised lease payments” (including both
lease payments that are fixed or variable) in a
way that the Group would not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the

right of use assets retained by the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(1)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the
following items:

- financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and bill
receivables and deposits and other
receivables); and

- contract assets as defined in IFRS15
(see Note 2(0)).

Other financial assets measured at fair
value, including equity and debt securities
measured at FVPL and equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e., the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition
or an approximation thereof;
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(m)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate;

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about
past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses
that are expected to result from all
possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which
the ECL model applies.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade and bill receivables
and contract assets are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(m)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring
on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the
date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a
default event occurs when the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is
held). The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractually due
dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

(continued)

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either
an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(m)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(1)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in
debt securities that are measured at FVOCI
(recycling), for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognised in accordance
with Note 2(x)(vi) is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e., the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable
events:

S significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;

S significant changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.

FERE2024 Annual Report 2024 221



CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION A1 B [E 48 A% 7 A R A &

ST B MRMEE @

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE2024512A31 B L5 E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2. EAEHEEE)

m FFEBEREERE (&)

(i) TRITARSHNEE
ZIZEEE (&)
MR
e A B A E
IS ERMEEXA
#EERREAME (8
DREB) SHME o
—RmE - ARER
REBALBEEES
WA SRR ] E £ e 5
I m PAE & e M8
B

NEMBENEEMR
A8 [ W 7E (3] W B PR A
R AR ER DA

1:/%\—\ o

B

(i) BEHIBERZIE
EgER
MBEREERER
BAB BRI IRE
BITARGRENER
B BRI A (A2
RA) AR ERHE
REZA(HFEALD
BIRESENEH -

222 Annual Report 2024 FE#R%52024

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(m)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset lease receivable or contract asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to
make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for
a loss the holder incurs because a specified
debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued (continued)

Financial guarantees issued are initially
recognised at fair value, which is determined
by reference to fees charged in an arm’s
length transaction for similar services, when
such information is obtainable, or to interest
rate differentials, by comparing the actual
rates charged by lenders when the guarantee
is made available with the estimated rates
that lenders would have charged, had the
guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made.
Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group's policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount
initially recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the term
of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract
and recognises a provision when ECLs on
the financial guarantees are determined to be
higher than the carrying amount in respect
of the guarantees (i.e., the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated amortisation).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(m)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued (continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers
changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee.
A 12-month ECL is measured unless the
risk that the specified debtor will default has
increased significantly since the guarantee
is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is
measured. The same definition of default and
the same assessment of significant increase
in credit risk as described in Note 2(m)(i)

apply.

As the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the specified
debtor in accordance with the terms of the
instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments
to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that
it incurs less any amount that the Group
expects to receive from the holder of the
guarantee, the specified debtor or any other
party. The amount is then discounted using
the current risk-free rate adjusted for risks
specific to the cash flows.



SO MRMEE @

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE202412 A1 B L E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2. EBEAEHEE (&)

m FEBEREERE (&)

(iii)

H 1t IF 7t B) & ZE 7R
(=]

RRAREREHRHE
FB A EAINEB Y E
B AEENTEE
EEHRBAELRR
3k &2 Z Al T R ERE
BiE (EmE A AR
) NEBIFHE A B

LR

- UE BER
®iE o BEE
REEE (&
& 85 BR Ay
MERRIN)

-  EREE:

- BER

)

- ARA#HBR
SR B
NAE - BEA
ARkAERA
HIRE o

fid 77 £ X 2] B B8 BF
g RBFHEEMNA
WEEHE - s - o
REE&E A ER
MEBETVEE  BR<
BHREREFR -
FrEFTEAT KBS -

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case
of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets (other
than property carried at revalued
amounts);

- intangible assets;

- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition,
for goodwill and intangible assets that are
not yet available for use, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.
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reasonable and consistent basis, or to
the smallest group of cash-generating
units if otherwise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than
goodwill, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favorable
change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill
is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(n) Inventories and other contract costs

(i)

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale
in the ordinary course of business, in the
process of production for such sale or in the
form of materials or supplies to be consumed
in the production process or in the rendering
of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises all costs
of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised as
an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in
the number of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Inventories and other contract costs (continued)

(ii)

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract with
a customer or the costs to fulfil a contract
with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory (see Note 2(n)(i)), property, plant
and equipment (see Note 2(j)) or intangible
assets (see Note 2(k)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are those costs that the Group incurs to
obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had
not been obtained e.g., an incremental sales
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining
a contract are capitalised when incurred if
the costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised
if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods
or services in the future; and are expected
to be recovered. Costs that relate directly
to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations of
costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable
to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments
to sub-contractors). Other costs of fulfilling
a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(n)

Inventories and other contract costs (continued)
(ii) Other contract costs (continued)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset
exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to
receive in exchange for the goods or services
to which the asset relates, less (i) any
costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue
to which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is
set out in Note 2(x).

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see Note 2(x)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for expected credit losses
(ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in Note
2(m)(i) and are reclassified to receivables when the
right to the consideration has become unconditional
(see Note 2(p)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see Note 2(x)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see Note 2(p)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(0)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

For a single contract with the customer, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
Note 2(x)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration. A
right to receive consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset (see note 2(x)).

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain
a significant financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method and including an allowance for credit losses
(see note 2(M)(i)).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(@)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(m)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition,
trade and other payables are stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice
amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings and corporate bonds

Interest-bearing borrowings and corporate bonds
are measured initially at fair value less transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings and corporate bonds are
stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see Note 2(z)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in
which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present
values.

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

The Group’s net obligation in respect of
defined benefit retirement plans is calculated
separately for each plan by estimating the
amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their service in
the current and prior periods; that benefit
is discounted to determine the present
value and the fair value of any plan assets
is deducted. The calculation is performed
by a qualified actuary using the projected
unit credit method. When the calculation
results in a benefit to the Group, the
recognised asset is limited to the present
value of economic benefits available in the
form of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(t) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations
(continued)

Service cost and net interest expense
(income) on the net defined benefit liability
(asset) are recognised in profit or loss and
allocated to “administrative expenses”.
Current service cost is measured as the
increase in the present value of the defined
benefit obligation resulting from employee
service in the current period. When the
benefits of a plan are changed, or when a
plan is curtailed, the portion of the changed
benefit related to past service by employees,
or the gain or loss on curtailment, is
recognised as an expense in profit or loss
at the earlier of when the plan amendment
or curtailment occurs and when related
restructuring costs or termination benefits are
recognised. Net interest expense (income)
for the period is determined by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined
benefit obligation at the beginning of the
reporting period to the net defined benefit
liability (asset). The discount rate is the yield
at the end of the reporting period on high
quality corporate bonds that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the
Group’s obligations.

When the benefits of a plan are changed,
or when a plan is curtailed, current service
cost for the portion of the changed benefit
related to past service by employees, or the
gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised
as an expense in profit or loss at the earlier
of when the plan amendment or curtailment
occurs and when related restructuring costs
or termination benefits are recognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(t)

()

Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(i)

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations
(continued)

Remeasurements arising from defined
benefit retirement plans are recognised
in other comprehensive income and
reflected immediately in retained profits.
Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains
and losses, the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest
on the net defined benefit liability (asset))
and any change in the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net
interest on the net defined benefit liability
(asset)). Remeasurements recognised in
other comprehensive income will not be
reclassified to profit or loss.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax

and movements in deferred tax assets and

liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred

tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit

or loss except to the extent that they relate to

business combinations, items recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which

case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

()

Income tax (continued)

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred
tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as
the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

()

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purpose,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination) and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences,
and temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of
taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are stated at cost loss
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
in accordance with the accounting policy note 2(i),
the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it
becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it comes probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

()

Income tax (continued)

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies IAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities,
and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred
tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities,
if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and

liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(u) Income tax (continued)

different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

(v) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous

contracts

(1)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(V) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous

contracts (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where some or all of the expenditure
required to settle a provision is expected to
be reimbursed by another party, a separate
asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group
has a contract under which the unavoidable
costs of meeting the obligations under the
contract exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are
measured at the present value of the lower
of the expected cost of terminating the
contract and the net cost of continuing with
the contract.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(W)

Obligations for reclamation

The Group’s obligations for reclamation consist
of estimated expenditures for retirement of its
radioactive production facilities in accordance with
the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC. The
Group estimates its liabilities for reclamation based
on detailed calculations of the amount and timing
of the future expenditures to perform the required
work. Estimated expenditures have taken into
account of inflation, then discounted at a discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability such that the amount of provision reflects
the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The Group
records a corresponding asset associated with the
liability for reclamation of radioactive production
facilities, which is included in property, plant and
equipment. The obligation and corresponding asset
are recognised in the period in which the liability
is incurred. The asset is depreciated using the
straight-line method over the expected useful life
of radioactive production facilities and the liability
is accreted to the projected spending date. As
changes in estimates occur (such as changes
in estimated costs or changes in timing of the
performance of reclamation activities), the revisions
to the obligation and the corresponding asset are
remeasured at the appropriate discount rate and
any gain or loss on remeasurement is recognised in
profit or loss.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

x)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of goods, the rendering of
services or the use by others of the Group’s assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, or the
lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and
is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under
that contract includes the interest expense accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the
practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and
does not adjust the consideration for any effects of
a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

x)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the
products. If the products are a partial
fulfilment of a contract covering other goods
and/or services, then the amount of revenue
recognised is an appropriate proportion of
the total transaction price under the contract,
allocated between all the goods and services
promised under the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

(i) Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by
the Group as a construction contract when
the contract relates to work on real estate
assets under the control of the customer and
therefore the Group’s construction activities
create or enhance an asset under the
customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract
can be reasonably measured, revenue from
the contract is recognised progressively over
time using the cost-to-cost method, i.e.,
based on the proportion of the actual costs
incurred relative to the estimated total costs.

The likelihood of the Group earning
contractual bonuses for early completion
or suffering contractual penalties for late
completion are taken into account in making
these estimates, such that revenue is only
recognised to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Construction contracts (continued)

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract costs incurred
that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the
contract are estimated to exceed the
remaining amount of the consideration under
the contract, then a provision is recognised
in accordance with the policy set out in Note

2(v)(ii).

Rendering of services

Revenue from irradiation services and other
services rendered is recognised upon the
delivery or performance of the services.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
installments over the periods covered by
the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised
as income in the accounting period in which
they are earned.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue and other income (continued)

v)

(vi)

Dividends

- Dividend income from unlisted
investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment
is established.

- Dividend income from listed
investments is recognised when the
share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e., gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see Note 2(m)(i)).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

x)

Revenue and other income (continued)
(vi)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the
cost of an asset are initially recognised
as deferred income and are subsequently
recognised in profit or loss over the useful
life of the asset.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the company initially
recognizes such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

v)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into RMB at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceased when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or completed.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(aa) Related parties

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(if)

(ii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group.

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).



SO MRMEE @

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE202412 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2. EBEAEHEE (&)

(aa)

(bb)

B (&)

(viiy  (a)(i)FTEE B A
THERBES
AEEBNLE
nAEHL(jZnAE
BHEAR) E

EIREKE °

(vii) B F B - HE
B HET B E
BKE AR M
rEBSHAE
EMERER
HEEEHEE
ANE R -

R—-—ATHIIEKE
REGTHERERR
S0 A ERZA
THRREATHEN
KEKE o

okt
=

7RI

BB DA &/\Tﬁ@ﬂ%#&i‘%z
WOED
?mﬁi\%ﬂi’%l? WITE EE
BN BERRIFER - A
A7 55 [ B & SR T AR S b [
EENEERALFEERR -

BEREXREENMIERE
HUHBHRRTDEL  EZF
DEHEERFE EmR HE
BiEE AEREMEE
PRI LR 2 fé}?uu%
RERBHIEREERE
J& MR LLRIE B AR o fis 3F
{I/E'JUEXEI’JEL%E?M%/EH:

MBREBDZE - BRI ZA8
BRIR o

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(aa)

(bb)

Related parties (continued)

(viiy A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated
financial statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated in the consolidated financial
statements unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATED
UNCERTAINTY

Note 35(d) contains information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to fair value of financial
instruments. Critical accounting judgements and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(a) Classification of joint ventures

The directors of the Company assessed whether
these joint arrangements are joint operations or
joint ventures under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements.
After considering the rights and obligations of
parties to the joint arrangements with reference to
the structure, the legal form of the arrangements,
the contractual terms agreed by the parties in
the arrangements, and the relevant facts and
circumstances, the directors of the Company
concluded that all of the Group’s joint arrangements
should be classified as joint ventures under IFRS
11 as contractual terms agreed by the parties in
the arrangements stated that the relevant activities
of the joint ventures require unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control. Accordingly, _t&tFl
B2 5 [R /2 &) (Shanghai GMS Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd.)* (“Shanghai GMS”) and 1t RFEIEAEIFTEFEKE
A ABLEERER) (Beijing Tongfu Innovation
Industrial Investment Fund Partnership (Limited
Partnership))* (“Tongfu Fund”) are classified as joint
ventures of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATED
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

(continued)

(b)

Controls in subsidiaries

As stated in note 15, It RERRFEMEZHMBRA
Fl(Beijing Clae-riar Rediosotope Technique Co.,
Ltd.)*, EBRFRIIBESEFR A F)(Shanghai Yuanzi
Kexing)*, RINTHZEEHEDRERER QA
(Shenzhen Zhonghe Headway Bio-Sci & Tech Co.,
Ltd.)* and ZEEMBEERRFWMRAEAFR L F (Anhui
Young-Hearty Medical Appliance & Equipment Co.,
Ltd.)* are subsidiaries of the Group even through
the Group has less than 50% ownership interest.

The directors of the Company assessed the Group’s
control over those subsidiaries on the basis of its
voting power attributable to the Group and practical
ability to direct the relevant activities unilaterally, so
the Group has the power over those subsidiaries.

* The English translation of the name is for
identification only. The official name of the entity is
in Chinese.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATED
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimated uncertainty
(a) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment and investment
property are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account the estimated residual values, if any.
The Group reviews the estimated useful lives and
residual values, if any, of the property, plant and
equipment and investment property regularly in
order to determine the amount of depreciation
expense to be recorded during any reporting period.
The determination of useful lives and residual
values, if any, are based on the historical experience
with similar assets and taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The depreciation
expense for future periods is adjusted if there are
significant changes from previous estimates.

(b) Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax
losses and deductible temporary differences are
recognised and measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period. In determining the carrying amounts of
deferred assets, expected taxable profits are
estimated which involves a number of assumptions
relating to the operating environment of the Group
and require a significant level of judgment exercised
by the directors. Any change in such assumptions
and judgment would affect the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets to be recognised and hence the
net profit in future years.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATED
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimated uncertainty (continued)
(c) Obligation for reclamation

The estimation of the liabilities for reclamation and
disposal of the radioactive production facilities
involves the estimates of the amount and timing
of future expenditures as well as rate of inflation
and the discount rate used for reflecting current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability. The Group
considers the factors including future production
plan, useful life of relevant assets, and level of
radioactivity to determine the scope, amount and
timing of reclamation and disposal of the radioactive
production facilities to be performed. Determination
of the effect of these factors involves judgments
from the Group and the estimated liabilities may
turn out to be different from the actual expenditure
to be incurred. The discount rate used by the
Group may also be altered to reflect the changes
in the market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability, such as
change of the borrowing rate and inflation rate in
the market. As changes in estimates occur (such as
changes in estimated costs, or changes in timing
of the performance of reclamation activities), the
revisions to the obligation will be remeasured at the
appropriate discount rate and any gain or loss on
remeasurement is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATED
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimated uncertainty (continued)

(d) Impairment losses on trade and bill receivables
contract assets, deposits and other receivables and
long-term receivables

The impairment provisions for trade and bill
receivables, contract assets, deposits and other
receivables and long-term receivables are based
on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the number of days that an individual
receivable is outstanding as well as the Group’s
historical experience and forward-looking
information at the end of the reporting period.
Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment and
it may be necessary to make additional impairment
charge to the profit or loss. At 31 December 2024,
the carrying amounts of trade and bill receivables,
contract assets, deposits and other receivables
and long-term receivables are approximately
RMB4,922,128,000 (2023: RMB3,876,341,000),
RMB58,787,000 (2023: RMB19,862,000),
RMB294,677,000 (2023: RMB254,569,000)
and RMB51,148,000 (2023: RMB49,196,000)
respectively, net of accumulated loss allowance
for ECL of approximately RMB232,994,000
(2023: RMB204,656,000), RMB3,828,000
(2023: RMB1,465,000), RMB28,692,000 (2023:
RMB13,165,000) and nil (2023: nil) respectively.
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4. WaEkoBEE

(@)

4, REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

Wz (a) Revenue

AEEFENEZEZER The Group is principally engaged in research,

(ATFE 850 ) RET IR E m &Y development, manufacturing and sale of a broad

MR- HE RERES - range of nuclear medicines (formerly known as

M55t iR MR B R RE pharmaceuticals) and radioactive source products,

B BERLE - RHEE also design, manufacturing, construction and

BB ERS - KR - 8 installation of gamma ray irradiation facilities,

EEREMIAEHERERE provision of irradiation service for sterilisation

% (RIS R E R ) © purpose, technical services, sales of medical

devices and sale of nuclear medical equipment
(formerly known as radiation therapy equipment).

(i) Wz 53 #F (i) Disaggregation of revenue
ERPERKREEEE Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
EmREEFEZDF with customers by major products or service
m lines is as follows:

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR®TRT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEEMKEREER  Revenue from contracts
FE15REERZ with customers within
EEGRWE the scope of IFRS 15
EREEEZEMRZ  Disaggregated by major
DI products of service lines
— ZEmIEE — sales of nuclear medicines 4,167,606 4,017,476
— BETREREE — sales of radioactive
source products 632,822 532,567
— ZBEEEHE — sales of nuclear medical
equipment 912,477 706,124
— BERWIHE — sales of medical device 801,650 544,690
— ZBERAREIEHE - sales of nucleic acid
detection kit - 111,107
— IR ARTE — irradiation services 172,788 161,687
— KM ARH - technical services 552,522 349,390
—RESR KR — revenue from construction
contracts 67,706 35,826
— HAft — others 267,185 176,125
7,574,756 6,634,992
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(a) Revenue (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregation of revenue (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers by the timing of revenue
recognition is disclosed in Note 4(b).

The Group’s customer base is diversified and
there is no customer with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s
revenue in 2024 and 2023. Details of the
concentration of credit risk arising from the
Group’s customers are set out in Note 35(a).

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers
in existence at the reporting date.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated
amount of the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations
under the Group’s existing contracts is
approximately RMB31,550,000 (2023:
RMB19,862,000). This amount mainly
represents revenue expected to be
recognised in the future from construction
contracts entered into by the customers
with the Group. The Group will recognise
the expected revenue in future when or as
the work is completed, which is expected to
occur within the next 12 months.

The Group has applied the practical
expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15
to its sales contracts such that the above
information does not include information
about revenue that the Group will be
entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the sales
contracts that had an original expected
duration of one year or less.



SO MRMEE @

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE202412 A1 B L E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4. WERDBHE (&)

(@)

Wz (48)

(i) FHE A % # R 8 R
EAMGEEZERPE
HEFEMME - (F)

LM FRIBBIRE T BIE
AEERREAEHE
HESITUZEES
RIFT & 5P BRER 2
TT#ES  BRIENE
SHEBAARNEEGAET
BEmEHMmZERS
AR o

okt

ST

AEBERBTIEZHEBR(E
m K BRTS) HEAR R ) BRE IR
o AL R E R EHE A
SESSTHREEEH®HSE
BREFERROERN -
BT 25T E R 2 %
DER - WEKLE DS G

RIAT A 2855 -

W

. BEEm REREE
Bz BGR 2 Noa
BERARSIEEY - K
EWRARES MR
ABEMEMER -

. METREm® : HHEE
B R T % AR AT R E
an BT AR o

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(@)

Revenue (continued)

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers
in existence at the reporting date. (continued)

The above amount also does not include
any amounts of completion bonuses that
the Group may earn in the future by meeting
the conditions set out in the Group’s
construction contracts with customers,
unless at the reporting date it is highly
probable that the Group will satisfy the
conditions for earning those bonuses.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions,
which are mainly organised by business lines
(products and services). In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following five reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

° Nuclear medicines: manufacturing and
sale of a range of imaging diagnostic and
therapeutic radio pharmaceuticals imaging,
UBT diagnostic kits and test analyzers and
other products.

° Radioactive source products: sale of medical

and industrial radioactive source products
and technical services.
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i)

Irradiation: provision of irradiation services
to manufacturers of medical facilities,
pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and food in
the PRC for sterilization purposes, and also
design, manufacturing and installation of
gamma ray irradiation facilities to irradiation
service providers and technical services.

Nuclear medical equipment and related
services: sale of nuclear medical equipments
and provision of related maintenance
services.

Other businesses: provision of a full range
of services for the users, including services
such as trade services for nuclear technology
industry applications, medical product
applications, technical services and sales of
medical devices.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources among
segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the results attributable
to each reportable segment on the following
basis:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to
the reportable segments with reference to
revenue generated by those segments and
the expenses incurred by those segments.
The measure used for reporting segment
profit is gross profit. The Group’s other
income and expense items, and assets and
liabilities, are not measured under individual
segments. Accordingly, no information on
segment assets and liabilities are presented.
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4, WERDHBHE (F) 4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) IS (FE) (b)  Segment reporting (continued)
(i) SEEE  BERKE (i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
& (&) (continued)
B ZE2024F K 2023%F Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
12A31HBILEFE © 1% with customers by timing of revenue
WaERERH TP recognition, as well as information regarding
AERKEBDFUAR the Group’s reportable segments as
RETAEBREST provided to the Group’'s most senior
BEBREMH’SEER executive management for the purposes
REE o B RAGK of resource allocation and assessment of
SEEAE2HH BER segment performance for the years ended 31
I o December 2024 and 2023 is set out below.
HZ204E 1283 ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2024
REREER
KER  HARER BR RBRE  HtER szt
Radioactive Nuclear medical
Nuclear source equipment and Other
medicines  products Irradiation  related services  businesses Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETL ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BkE®A2  Disaggregated by timing
KEAR of revenue recognition
R Point in time 4,167,606 716082 172,788 912,476 1,096,566 7,065,518
hels Over time - - 12,270 310,485 186,483 509,238
SBEFEKE  Revenue from external
customers 4,167,606 716,082 185,058 1,222,961 1,283,049 7,574,756
AHENE  Inter-segment revenue 3,462 29,730 15,275 8,420 22,783 79,670
2R3 Reportable segment
revenue 4,171,068 745,812 200,333 1,231,381 1,305,832 7,654,426
T2RAPHE Reportable segment
(EA) profit (gross profit) 2019778 318962 101,774 23130 138,880 3,702,524
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4., WHERDHBHE (F) 4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) IS (E) (b)  Segment reporting (continued)
(i) DEEE  BELKE (i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
& (&) (continued)
BE020F12A% ALFR
Year ended 31 December 2023
GEEEER
vEn  BERER &R HERE  EnER @5t
Radioactive Nuclear medical
Nuclear source equipment and Other
medicines products  Irradiation  related services  businesses Total
ARETT  AREFT ARETR ARETT  AREFT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BBEBAZ  Disaggregated by timing
KRR of revenue recognition
ETRY Point in time 4,128,583 586,207 161,687 706,406 720,814 6,308,697
RER Over time - - 9,108 227,337 94,850 331,295
SBEERE  Revenue from external
customers 4,128,583 586,207 170,795 933,743 815,604 6,634,992
DEEUE  Inter-segment revenue 3,681 51,869 7,760 6,969 819 71,098
T2RAPUE Reportable segment
revenue 4,132,264 638,076 178,565 940,712 816,483 6,706,090
T2HAPHE  Reportable segment
(Z7) profit (gross profit) 2,892,901 276,405 91,433 167,287 84557 3,512,583
(i) 2D EFE(E (i) Reconciliations of reportable segment profit
F) .z #8R (gross profit)
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T R AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
A2 ELFE  Reportable segment profit (gross profit)
(EM) 3,702,524 3,512,583
5 2B A Elimination of inter-segment profit
(EH) K iH (gross profit) (19,692) (30,344)
BHFER Consolidated gross profit 3,682,832 3,482,239
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4. WERDBHE (&)

(b)  DEERE ()
(i) HOEE B

REEFEEHIR
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B - A EE SR
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EE) BRI HEE
RO e Bl RO 275 o

5. HlA - WEREE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i) Geographic information

All of the Group’s operations are carried
out and most of the Group’s customers
are located in the PRC. The Group’s non-
current assets, including property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, lease
prepayments and intangible assets are all
located or allocated to operations located in
the PRC.

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR® T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITFIBUA Bank interest income 29,617 30,973
BT (BsE) Government grants (note) 50,592 32,626
FEEMRERERERA Dividend income on unquoted equity
(KFzE19) investments (note 19) 4,470 5,593
KETHERS MBS Rental and related income from operating
leases 787 1,281
TRATR IEFR AR SR (FEE12(3))  Gain on early termination of a lease (note 12(i)) 160 =
BT REUA Technical services income 9,097 7,560
CINE b Net foreign exchange loss (9,438) (4,387)
HEWME - BEREED Net loss on disposal of property,
BB E plant and equipment (197) (135)
HE—REE AR BB Loss on disposal of an associate (note 16)
(BitEE16) (19,337) -
HE—KRWBAR 2 HE Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 34(a))
(Fi5E34(a)) - 158,435
BIEHE-—RMBABZMZE  Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary
(B=E34(0)) (note 34(b)) = 124
Hith Others 11,767 8,858
77,518 240,928
B 5k - Note:

HZE2024F 12 A31 HILFEMBFHE
FEERMRBRESAEZFHPL
AR%34,527,0007T (20234 : AR
26,202,0007T ) ° W ER 3% 55 #6 B B A4
Al {5t R B3k 18 o 82 T U 4 B
B 20k 5227 (o) AT e B E UL A B (T -

The government grants for the year ended 31 December 2024
mainly represented subsidies for support for research and
development in the technology and medical field of approximately
RMB34,527,000 (2023: RMB26,202,000). There are no conditions
and other contingencies attached to the receipts of those
subsidies.The remaining government grants are released from
deferred income in note 27(b).
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6. FRBAIFE

BB AT FE Ty & (GFA) AR

BIRRIER

(@ HBER

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(a) Finance costs

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITERFB Interests on bank loans 52,551 32,439
REEHFE Interests on corporate bonds 2,172 =
W EETIRRERED Less: interest expense capitalised into
FEHXZ construction progress (16,429) (9,606)
38,294 22,833
ALIR =B A E Interests on discounted bills 9 =
HEBENE Interests on lease liabilities 2,650 3,231
O U EEF BHEE - JFE  Interests accretion on reclamation
obligations, net 5,850 6,592
RN RN 28 Interests cost on defined benefit
LB (H5E29) retirement plans (Note 29) 1,218 1,316
RHIEMZIEFS/KA  Interests cost on long-term payables 402 2,170
48,423 36,142

BEKRADIEFENE2.82% (2023

F :3.57%) FLAEARIL -

(b) BT A

2.82% (2023: 3.57%) per annum.

The borrowing costs have been capitalised at

(b) Staff costs

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARET ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e  ITEAKHMEFR  Salaries, wages and other benefits 791,391 775,565

TFREEFURIRETEIMEF  Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans 93,714 90,994

BLE BB AR AR RET & Expenses recognised in respect of

RO defined benefit retirement plans 919 819
886,024 867,378
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6.

BRI AR (&)
(b) BIRAK(E)

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(b) Staff costs (continued)

R BE B A BT B A B A Employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in
EEESLEAM T THRNE the PRC are required to participate in a defined
BREENTEREIRMKE contribution retirement scheme administered and
gl o AREEFEHHEAR operated by the local municipal government. The
AL BB HL 5 T BT 3 T MY (R Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds
BTYAIEN —EBESLMA which are calculated on certain percentages of the
ZErEIMER - BEEMERINK average employee salary as agreed by the local

BRREES -

(c) HiiE g

municipal government to the scheme to fund the
retirement benefits of the employees.

(c) Other items

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e Depreciation
— U - BB RS — property, plant and equipment
(Mf3E12) (Note 12) 217,920 226,476
—EWE (MFE13) - investment properties (Note 13) 6,562 6,194
B Amortisation
—EmREE (ME14) — intangible assets (Note 14) (Note (i))
(M3E()) 20,397 20,895
BIERAREEE Impairment losses recognised
— B ENEIAR - trade and bill receivables
FEUE I (MFFE21 (Notes 21 & 35(a))
1235(a)) 29,541 67,099
— BREE (FiFE21 - contract assets (Notes 21 & 35(a))
.35(a)) 2,363 1,317
— e R EMBEWFIE - deposits and other receivables
(fizE22 X35(a)) (Notes 22 & 35(a)) 16,000 4,137
AN & Auditors’ remuneration
— BEZR% - audit services 1,950 1,950
— TR — non audit services 43 299
B UK & B3 N Increase in provisions for reclamation
obligations 13,994 1,353
BFEA (FsE20(b)) Cost of inventories (Note 20(b)) (Note (ii))

(B & (i)

3,687,920 2,960,107
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BR %A FH ()

HE R (&)

6.

(©)

GEX

(i)

(i

EmEEBHETABENK
N EERSEAX
KA THREASX R
ERLEEERERT
2 2EIRNABARE
2,307,0007T (20234 :
AR#1,496,0007T) *
AER#1,013,000 (2023
£ : AR¥502,000
Jt) ~ AR®4,797,000
7T (2023F : AR
5,330,0007T) * AR
#12,280,0007t (2023
£ AR¥13,567,000
7T) RAR®143,000
7T (2023%F : AR
158,0007T) ©

GERABIERE T
K EREHEMAX
BEORAHARE
454,128,000t (2023
£ . AR#400,818,000
L) BB ENEEA
XM EE6(b) B SR
S BAEEREENAER
TEA o

BHHERERPHERIE

6.

7.

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(©)

Other items (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i

Amortisation of intangible assets is included in
cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses,
research and development costs, administrative
expenses and capitalised to inventories and
construction in progress of approximately
RMB2,307,000 (2023: RMB1,496,000),
RMB1,013,000 (2023: RMB502,000),
RMB4,797,000 (2023: RMB5,330,000),
RMB12,280,000 (2023: RMB13,567,000) and
RMB143,000 (2023: RMB158,000) respectively.

Cost of inventories includes approximately
RMB454,128,000 (2023: RMB400,818,000)
relating to staff costs, depreciation and
amortisation expenses, which are also included in
the respective total amounts disclosed separately
above or in Note 6(b) for each of these types of
expenses.

INCOME TAX

(@)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents:

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BN EABE1E Current tax
F R Provision for the year 204,580 153,002
BEFERETR Under-provision in respect of prior years 27,789 13,825
232,369 166,827
ERET IE Deferred tax
ERMEENEER Origination and reversal of temporary
# 0 (F43E30(0)) differences (Note 30(b)) (66,682) (20,520)
165,687 146,307
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7.

Frig®i (&) 7. INCOME TAX (continued)
(b) ZERAMREFTENHRIERX (b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and

HETHAE R accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

2024 % 20234

2024 2023

ARET ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

B Tt AT A Profit before taxation 1,045,224 922,437
BEATREIZPEDAE  National tax on profit before taxation

HERAENRETHE at PRC statutory tax rate 261,306 230,609

AR IR BER 2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 6,267 15,599

PRI IEFE  Tax effect of non-taxable income (14,556) (41,786)

RERREROTHG Tax effect of unused tax losses and

B R TR ERER temporary differences not recognised

IR E 28,670 41,896
F—FEXRERELAFE Tax effect of unused tax losses and

B AR ARE ARG temporary differences not recognised

EEREREEEN in previous year but utilised in

HEpE current year (1,013) (20,035)

BAFERETNR Under-provision in respect of prior years 27,789 13,825

M ERE (M) Tax concessions (Note (ii)) (86,305) (49,785)

MEEHHHIELE Tax effect of changes in tax rate (1,535) 1,711

EEp AR 2 Tax effect of super deduction on

HERE research and development costs (54,936) (45,727)

ERRIERY Actual tax expense 165,687 146,307

Pt EE - Notes:

(i) RA T RERFBEKH (i) The Company and its subsidiaries established in
B8 A R EF E A the PRC are subject to PRC Corporate Income
1225% (20234 : 25%) Tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) for both years.

BB RGN P B TS
i o

(ii) TEBETHBARDE (ii) Certain subsidiaries of the Group are approved
ERSFEMEE - B High and New Technology Enterprises and subject
REREM (EEFER to a preferential PRC Corporate Income Tax rate
AJAER]) ZH15%MER of 15% during the approved period, subject to
PRI EMERBE - fulfillment of recognition criteria.
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8.

BRER

BEREABMNDIERAQR LB
BEZRITEENBHHOARE
406,645,0007T (20234F : AR
370,967,0007T) & 3@ A% H hn4E F
B 8319,874,900 % (20234 :
319,874,900 % & A% ) °

HE2024% &2023F12A31 81k
FE - AREWEAMEEEER
meEt SREFSRANEGRE
RBFMER o

EERESTHRAESEHMN

EEREEHHREBEEC(ATK
BIYE383(1)ET R AR (HBEEEF
AR RO E2H BT - TR
T~

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders
of the Company of approximately RMB406,645,000
(2023: RMB370,967,000) and the weighted average of
319,874,900 ordinary shares (2023: 319,874,900 ordinary
shares).

The Company did not have any potential dilutive shares in
existence during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023. Accordingly, diluted earnings per share is the same
as basic earnings per share.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant
to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

BENUF12ANALEE
Year ended 31 December 2024
ESREENE  RURENEA MR RAHEMHR szt
Retirement
Director's and  Allowances and  Discretionary scheme
supervisors' fees  benefits in kind bonuses  contributions Total
ARET T ARETR ARETT ARETTR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HiEE Executive directors
=y Ik Mr. Han Yongjiang

(EFTREE) (Chairman& chief executive officer)

(20248 A30REZ)  (appointed on 30 August 2024) - - - = =
REMEL Mr. Znang Jungi - 370 608 152 1,130
EERLE Mr. Fan Guomin

(2024511 A21BEM)  (resigned on 21 November 2024) - 335 1,333 143 1,811
B Mr. Xu Hongehao

(R2024%6A14BEE)  (resigned on 14 June 2024) - 121 764 50 935
pie=yid Mr. Wang Yao

(M2024F6F14PEZER  (appointed on 14 June 2024 and

202456 A29 B R passed away on 29 June 2024) - 61 1! 17 149
ERBNT Ms. Huo Yingying

(2024512 A30BEE(E)  (appointed on 30 December 2024) - 59 52 2% 135
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EERBESITHRAEFHFM

9.

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

(&) EMOLUMENTS (continued)
HZ204512 B ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2024
EZREZRE  RYREMEA MERL  RAHEER @it
Retirement
Director's and  Allowances and  Discretionary scheme
supervisors’ fees  benefits in kind bonuses  contributions Total
ARET T ARETT ARETT ARET T ARETT
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FirES Non-executive directors
it Ms. Liu Xiuhong - - - - =
REEns Mr. Chen Shoulei
(20046 A14BEHE)  (resigned on 14 June 2024) - - = - o
BERt Ms. Chang Jinyu - - - - =
TEREE Mr. Ding Jianmin = = - - o
RELLE Mr. Chen Zan
(202456 A14REE()  (appointed on 14 June 2024) - - - - -
BUFAEE Independent non-executive
directors
REEn4 Mr. Chen Jingshan 150 - - - 150
ER%E Mr. Lu Chuang 150 - - - 150
BEALE Mr. Tian Jiahe
(200457 R21AZM)  (passed away on 21 July 2024) 134 - - - 134
ERELE Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok 182 - - - 182
[y Mr. An Rui
(20048 A30REZE)  (appointed on 30 August 2024) 28 - - - 28
Ez Supervisors
iyt Mr. Liu Zhonglin - - - - -
BERLE Mr. Zhao Nanfel - - - - .
FETEE Mr. Zhang Guoping - - - - -
ZHERT Ms. Peng Qihui - 195 262 100 557
ift# s Mr. Ma Fuxin - 223 297 102 622
fazt Total 644 1,364 3,387 588 5,983
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9. ESEKEBESTHRAEHH o

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

(&) EMOLUMENTS (continued)
HE020F 1231 BIEFE
Year ended 31 December 2023
ESREENE  RLREMER MEEL  RAHEER @t
Retirement
Director'sand ~ Allowances and Discretionary scheme
supervisors' fees  benefits in kind bonuses contributions Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTR ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
#i7EE Executive directors
FEELE Mr. Zhang Juno
(ERRTIER) (Chairmand chief executive officer)
(12023%12 3228 EZ ) (appointed on 22 December 2029) - 152 140 62 354
ERRRE Mr. Fan Guomin
(R2023F12F22FEZ M)  (appointed on 22 December 2023) - 316 570 136 1,022
(ig:3ts Mr. Du Jin
(R023E12A22BE(E)  (resigned on 22 December 2023) = 338 623 143 1,104
et Mr. Wang Suohui
(2023 12B21 BEME)  (resigned on 21 December 2023) = 200 534 87 821
LB E Mr. Xu Hongchao - 349 533 149 1,031
FirES Non-executive directors
iat Ms. Liu Xiuhong = S = S 5
REELE Mr. Chen Shoulei = S = 5 5
FEART Ms. Chang Jinyu = - - . -
TER%A Mr. Ding Jianmin
(120236 F30REZE)  (appointed on 30 June 2023) = 5 = = 5
L E Mr. Dai Shuguan
(1202356 A30HEE)  (resigned on 30 June 2023) = S S = =
BUFHfES Independent non-executive
directors
HEREE Mr. Hui Wan Fai
(20236 A30REE)  (resigned on 30 June 2023) 9 5 E 5 95
Restt Mr. Chen Jingshan 150 - - - 150
ER%E Mr. Lu Chuang 150 - = = 150
BEREE Mr. Tian Jiahe 200 - - - 200
ARELE Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok
(120236 F30REZE)  (appointed on 30 June 2023) 68 = = = 68
Ez Supervisors
i ik Mr. Liu Zhonglin - = - i i
HERLE Mr. Zhao Nanfei - - : - i
FATEE Mr. Zhang Guoping - = - = =
FHERT Ms. Peng Qihui - 240 198 9% 536
ik Mr. Ma Fuxin - 232 28 100 550
a3t Total 663 1827 2,816 775 6,081
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10.

REHMAL

REZE2024F12A31AEFE * K
EEREGERFMALTERETE
(2023%F : &) RARTINESERE
BITBRAER  EBESBHMA L3k
ORI FER c R TR A (20234 -

10.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

During the years ended 31 December 2024, of the five
individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, nil
(20283: nil) of them were directors and the chief executive
of the Company whose emoluments are included in the
disclosures in note 9 above. The emoluments of the

1) AARMELT remaining five (2023: five) individuals were as follows:

2024 20234

2024 2023

AR¥T R ARBTFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HeREMME Salaries and other emoluments 4,357 6,209

RRET SR Retirement scheme contributions 543 342

BB TEAT Discretionary bonuses 5,952 2,797

st Total 10,852 9,348
SEEHEMATHEMERNT The emoluments of the individuals with the highest

emoluments are within the following band:

20245 20234

2024 2023

A A

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AR#1,000,00172 AR 1,500,0007c RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 - 1

AR#1,500,0010E ARE2,000,0007c RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 2 3

AR¥2,000,001 TEARK?2,500,0007c RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000 2 1

AR#2500,001 2 AR 3,000,0007c RMB2,500,001 to RMB3,000,000 1 -

#ar Total 5 5

HE20244%F & 2023F12 831 B 1k
FE AEEMEMAANESIA
SEFETRAERAEZESFTMH
AT X HER B2 1A R 3| 4 %
AREBHE R MARE B A SEE
HIERKEBHMBORME - WESEM

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the chief executive of the Company or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the individuals waived any emoluments for both

ATRZMEFEREEAHE -

AEERFESRARRTMRE
EEIBTEL -

years.
The discretionary bonus is determined by the Group having

regarded to the director’s performance and the prevailing
market conditions.
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BE2024512A31 B L5 E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

11. HZ2EWA 11. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
B@EHEMEEKA 2 S EBEK LD Tax effects relating to each component of other
2B E comprehensive income:

20245 2023%F

2024 2023
RAHE  FEES NRHEEE  WAEHE  WHERE NRTEEE
Before-tax Net-of-tax  Before-tax Net-of-tax
Amount  Tax credit Amount Amount  Tax credit Amount

ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARRTT ARETR
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

EFHHFETEEN  Remeasurement of net
%

BEFE defined benefit liability (14,645) = (14,645) (621) = (621)
RASREBAEM Equity investments at

2RBABRE FVOCI-net movement in fair

®E-DAEE  value reserve (non-recycling)

FEEsFE

(F#m) 12,209 (1,603) 10,606 (6,100) 915 (5,185)
Hib2EBA Other comprehensive income (2,436) (1,603) (4,039) (6,721) 915 (5,806)
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RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE202412 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

12.

W% - BERRE (&)

AEENYE BEREF 2L
RHRE -

MR2024F12A31H  A5EEH
RERBERKENEEEOAR
#88,829,0007T (20234 : AR
77,057,0007C) KIFTE ERER - A
BETAEENRITER - BT KR
H A R R BRI 7E24(a) ©

Wi

(i) HZE2024F12831BILFE -
AEBMHBRBHEESHDIRA
BIE BRRIEERERAEE
EMMEEE (DRNABARE
4,418,0007T (2023%F : T) &
AR#4,578,0007T (20234 :
T))  RARIERANKRELDH A
R#160,0007T (20234 : &)
REMHBERITERAXELE PIE

7
o °©

(ii) ZIEREERRE DOEREER

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

The Group’s property, plant and buildings are all allocated
in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has pledged
its ownership interests in plant and machinery with
carrying values of approximately RMB88,829,000 (2023:
RMB77,057,000) to secure bank loans granted to the
Group. Details of bank and other borrowings are set out in
note 24(a).

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
current lease contracts had been early terminated,
resulting in a derecognition of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of approximately RMB4,418,000 (2023: nil)
and RMB4,578,000 (2023: nil) respectively, the gain on
early termination of lease of approximately RMB160,000
(2023: nil) was recognised in the line item of administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(if) The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets

EMNERImFESTEOT : by class of underlying asset is as follows:
A2024 F R2023%F
12A31H 12 A31H
At 31 At 31
December 2024 December 2023
AR¥BT R AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREEWE - Property leased for own use,
RITEX AT - carried at depreciated cost:
- REEERAELIN — ownership interests in leasehold
HaEED - RIS land held for own use, with
M10E504F 2 remaining lease terms between
10 and 50 years 363,990 213,145
— g5 ~ buildings 75,410 44,480
— BB R EHA - equipment and others 10,989 14,333
450,389 271,958
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HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

W% - BB RRE (&)

12.

BsE : (&)

(i

(ii)

BEREFERBENRRE R
MREHRENRTEANFIE
20%F -

HE2024F12A318BIEHF
E FEFRAREEANARE
212,544,0007T (20234 : AR
#64,114,0007T) - Z&%BE
FRERBHZT (2023F : A
R#50,0007T) - BFHARE
55,131,0007C (20234 : AR
#19,276,0007T) ERFHEEA
HETHHEEEEROARE
157,413,0007T (20234 : AR
#44,788,0007T) °

RIEENERNEBAE RN
XIBEDIAT -

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

Notes: (continued)
(if) (continued)

The remaining lease periods of the existing leases on
buildings and plants and equipments and others range
from 3 to 20 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, additions to
right-of-use assets were approximately RMB212,544,000
(2023: RMB64,114,000). This amount included additions
of equipment of approximately nil (2023: RMB50,000),
buildings of approximately RMB55,131,000 (2023:
RMB19,276,000) and ownership interests in leasehold
land held for own use of approximately RMB157,413,000
(2023: RMB44,788,000).

(iii) The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥BT T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEEEERREHH Depreciation charge of right of use
FRAREENERS assets by class of underlying assets:
—REEEREE LA — ownership interests in leasehold
AR - R land held for own use, with
M10E504F 2 fH remaining lease terms
between 10 and 50 years 6,568 7,514
— ¥ - buildings 21,043 21,893
— B R EAM — equipment and others 2,084 2,527
29,695 31,934
HEBEF S (H:E6(a) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) 2,650 3,231
B AAE R AN Expense relating to short-term leases 19,823 21,155

HERSRLAR HEAEN
AL MEEEELENAR
bRl R0l = el o9 =
23(c) ~ MIzE28 R FTFES5(b) ©
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Details of total cash outflow for leases, the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities and the future cash outflows
arising from leases are set out in Note 23(c), Note 28 and
Note 35(b), respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTinueD)

HE202412 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BEWE 13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

AR¥T T

RMB’000

R Cost
202341 A1H At 1 January 2023 69,665
NE Additions 2,643
R2023F 12 431 H 202451 81H At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 72,308
EAYE  BELRE Transfer from property, plant and equipment 12,175
R2024F12 A31 H At 31 December 2024 84,483
At TERRE Accumulated depreciation and impairment
7R2023F1 A1 H At 1 January 2023 20,061
FARME Provided for the year 6,194
R2023F12 831 H X 202441 81H At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 26,255
FAEME Provided for the year 6,562
EEYE  BEER Transfer from property, plant and equipment 2,100
R2024F12 A31 H At 31 December 2024 34,917
BREE : Carrying amount:
R2024F12 A31H At 31 December 2024 49,566
2023%F12 A31H At 31 December 2023 46,053

REBEREMENR2024F12 A31H
MAREEY A AR 103,634,000
oL (20234 : AR®101,021,000
T0) o A BEE TR Ik AR 5 @ N 4
BB EEMIL R RELE
EARARELHMEEETE - &
B2ZR U E R RO ELUY
EHBIEMEEE °

HERNTR E—FERERELE
WE - REFTHENRABER -
MENEEARERRAERER

P I E A B BOER T 5 F A
REMFTENE -

et HREHR
BF RIHARE20FE40F
(AEREE A%E)

R2023%12A31H  AEEDEM
FREIEH AR 5,857,0007T (2024
F:T)NREYE  UEHEE TR
SEMRTER - BITREMER
BB E R I FE24(a) ©

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at
31 December 2024 was approximately RMB103,634,000
(2023: RMB101,021,000). The fair value has been arrived
at based on valuations carried out by China Alliance
Appraisal Co., Ltd., an independent valuer not connected
with the Group. The valuation was determined by reference
to recent market prices for similar properties in the similar
locations and conditions.

There has been no change from the valuation technique
used in the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the
properties, the highest and best use of the properties is
their current use.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Over the term of the lease
Over the shorter term of the lease
or 20-40 years

Leasehold land
Buildings

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has pledged
investment properties with carrying values of approximately
RMB5,857,000 (2024 nil) to secure bank loans granted to
the Group. Details of bank and other borrowings are set
out in Note 24(a).
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HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
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14. BREEE 14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
57K
EEEM HREE BARHEA EFBR Foh
Patents
and Software Customer
know-how Royalty and others relationship Total
AR®Tn AR¥Tn AR¥ETr ARETR AR¥ETx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
A Cost:
R202BF1AIH At1January2023 161464 9480 53660 23800 247,904
NE Additions 57,948 - 17,019 - 74,967
FRKE-RMBAF Additions through acquisition
AE (HI5E33(a) of a subsidiary (note 33(a)) 4,700 = = 3,000 7,700
HEMBELA Disposal of subsidiaries
(P 34(a) }234(b)) (notes 34(a) and 34(b)) (10,000) - (4,344) - (14,344)
R2023F12 A31H R At 31 December 2023 and
2024F1A1R 1January2024 24112 9480 | 66,335 26,300 316,227
RE Additions 125,472 = 3,317 = 128,789
#isH Write-off - - (86) - (86)
W2024%12A318 At 31December 2024 [ 339,584 9480 | 69,566 26,300 444,930
B BERHESS Accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses:
R2023F1 A1H At 1 January 2023 (30,563) (6,886) (27,979) (21,600) (87,028)
FATH Charge for the year (9,359) (798) (9,187) (1,709) (21,053)
HERBAR Disposal of subsidiaries
(PHE34(a) }2.34(b)) (notes 34(a) and 34(b)) 641 = 3,330 = 3,971
12023512 A31A K At 31 December 2023 and
2024F1A1H 1Januay2024 (39,281) (1.684)  (33:836)  (23,309)  (104,110)
FRTH Charge for the year (9,977) (798) (9,420 (345) (20,540)
s Write-off - - 83 = 83
R2024%12A318 At31December2024 (49,258) (8482) (43173  (23,654)  (124,567)
REEE Net book value:
202412 A31H At 31 December 2024 (290,326) 998 26,393 2,646 320,363
R2023%F12A31H At 31 December 2023 174,831 1,796 32,499 2,991 212,117

BHFAXETAAMIERRNHEK
ZNI I

The amortisation charges are included in “cost of sales” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

MR2024F12A318 ' X5EBEE
HEEmMENARK21,011,0007T
(20234 : AR¥870,0007T) K4
FHEE WERETAREEMNRT
BER - ROREMEBEROFBHR
HizE24(a) °

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has pledged intangible
assets with carrying values of approximately RMB21,011,000
(2023: RMB870,000) to secure bank loans granted to the Group.
Details of bank and other borrowings are set out in Note 24(a).
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RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE202412 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

14. BREEE (&) 14.

AEEFEERT B IR EREGE
REBENELER - 2SS EXE
AEREEEMENAFHIM KA
EmReREEA  2ERERE
TBAKAFHEEERE  HERK
SEFBMZEEENBELBRIH
BERSELABNNEMETHA
EMEFAE - FTAMIIAE18.34%
(20234 : 18.30%) AT AT R R ER
HEAREELBUMNETRR

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The recoverable amounts of the relevant intangible assets
were determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period. These cash flow projections adopted annual sales
growth rates, which are based on the Group’s historical
experience with these operations and adjusted for other
factors that are specific to each cash-generating unit. The
discount rates of 18.34% (2023: 18.30%) used are pre-
taxed and reflect specific risks relating to the respective
cash generating units.

15. RHBARZKRE 15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ET ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
JE LR G - K ANE Unlisted shares, at cost 1,245,398 1,206,354
ETR - EBAKAE Listed shares, at cost 606,085 606,085
1,815,483 1,812,439

AT B EEHTIN2024 4 220234
12ABMBEEFEAGEEE &
EXABENEEZMBARFS -

The following list contains only the particulars of principal
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group.

ARMERRR ARBELRTR
Voting power
The Group’s attributable
effective interest to the Group
BRRAR
ARER EMALBH BAARE  2024F  2003%F  04F  00F FEEEED
Issued and
Place of fully paid-up
Name of the company establishment  capital RMB 2024 2023 2024 2023 Principal activities
HERFREZZARRNA (W) R(V) G Rt e
Shanghai Yuanzi Kexing (Note (i) and (iv)) The PRC 84,320,000  48.64%  48.64% 70% 70%  Sale of radioactive
medicine
AT SR IH AR (HED R ) i ARGRHEERAE
Shenzhen Zhonghe Headway Bio-Sci & Tech The PRC 200,000,000  48.00%  48.00% 54.1% 541%  Production and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) and (iv)) of a broad range of
nuclear medicines
RFaRBAERAR (W) Ri) hEl BiER
HTA Co., Ltd. (Note (i) and (i) The PRC 161,784,136 69.49%  69.49%  69.49%  6949%  Application of nuclear
technology
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HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

15. RMIB AR ZRE (&) 15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ARMERRER ARBELRTR
Voting power
The Group’s attributable
effective interest to the Group
BRRAR
ARER AL REARY 2045 0%  204F  02F IERHED
Issued and
Place of fully paid-up
Name of the company establishment  capital RMB 2024 2023 2024 2023 Principal activities
ERERRREHARERLA (HENRN) o8 BRVERE U
Anhui Young-Hearty Medical Appliance & The PRC 7,750,000 ~ 48.00%  48.00% 100% 100%  Medical
Equipment Co., Ltd. (Note (i) and (i) diagnostic equipment
manufacturing
mAn R RREROERAR (M) Rii) hEl HRIER
Chengdu Gaotong Isotope Co., Ltd. (Note (i) and i) The PRC 70083407  93.15%  93.15%  93.15%  93.15%  Application of nuclear
technology
hHRRE (bR GRIEAR A (M) hE HAiER
CGNNC Tongxing (Beiiing) Nuclear Technology The PRC 30,000,000 51% 51% 51% 51%  Application of nuclear
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) technology
hRRRH (RE) BEMBARAR (i) ket KBERBEERKE
CGNNG Accuray (Tianjin) Medical Technology The PRC 193,700,990 51% 51% 51% 51%  Production and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) of nuclear medical
equipment
Pt Notes:

(i

(ii)

(iv)

ZEERNERZBAFT X -
EERZRERERSE -

REEHTEMNBLARABER
REAPRENE DGR - AR
SEERENEESHAMED -
$%l%%iﬁ%$ﬁ%ﬁ&%
REVZAZOR - AHEENEB
EHZERRBARILIARTAN
BHZEREEOR -

ZEN B AR RED K2
MAERRE - EMHELRAE
HEKZHBREEAA

MRS DR IER A R B AL
Bl WAREEHZEHE R
RBEEBY BB RE -
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(i

(ii)

(iv)

The official names of all these entities are in Chinese. The
English translation of these entities are for identification
only.

The Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with these companies and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over these
companies based on the contractual terms agreed by the
parties in the subsidiaries’ memorandum of association
which stated that the Group has right to direct the relevant
activities unilaterally.

These subsidiaries represent companies limited by shares
established in the PRC. Other subsidiaries are companies
with limited liability established in the PRC.

The Group has more than half of the voting power over
these subsidiaries since the holding companies of the
subsidiaries are controlled by the Group.
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BE202412 A1 B L E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

15. RHERARZRE (&) 15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

TREIRNEBMER ERFFZERE The following table lists out the information relating to

= ([FEfER R ) MMB R RIZAE subsidiaries of the Group which have material non-

BER - UTHBERBERETM controlling interests (“NCI”). The summarised financial

NEIFEEHAT SR

information presented below represents the amounts
before any intercompany elimination.

REFaSRROERAR HTA Co., Ltd.

2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥TT AR%®ETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
IR ERFTIE B DL NCI percentage 30.51% 30.51%
MENEE Current assets 756,829 715,717
EREEE Non-current assets 2,277,868 2,022,202
mEaE Current liabilities (614,692) (374,728)
EmeatE Non-current liabilities (192,325) (317,992)
BEFE Net assets 2,227,680 2,045,199
TR R BRI E Carrying amount of NCI 679,665 623,990
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARETRT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e Revenue 844,793 852,672
FRFE Profit for the year 284,525 248,894

FAEMZE (FAX) KA Other comprehensive (expense)
income for the year (13,151) 300

FREEBRABEE Total comprehensive income for
the year 271,374 249,194

DEEIFERERS ZFR Total comprehensive income for
ZHEWALRE the year allocated to NCI 82,796 76,029
AT F IR a2 AR B Dividend paid to NCI 23,496 22,854
LETHMBHESRE Cash flows from operating activities 151,608 77,824
KEGEFARESRE Cash flows used in investing activities (55,744) (141,084)
BEEBFIABRESRE Cash flows used in financing activities (130,756) (35,160)
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15. RMBARZKRE (&) 15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
FY TR EENRHEERAF] Shenzhen Zhonghe Headway Bio-Sci & Tech Co., Ltd.
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARETT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
IR ERFTIE B DL NCI percentage 52.00% 52.00%
MENEE Current assets 3,121,314 3,052,687
IERBNEE Non-current assets 669,148 619,744
mENBE Current liabilities (1,772,064) (1,822,361)
EmeEatE Non-current liabilities (5,938) (7,252)
BEFE Net assets 2,012,460 1,842,818
FEFERR A SR BRI A Carrying amount of NCI 1,046,479 958,265
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARETRT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e Revenue 2,280,383 2,185,068
FRFEEE2EWRALEE  Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 483,107 498,127
DI E IR 2 FF W Profit and total comprehensive income
FEREEIRABE for the year allocated to NCI 251,216 261,160
IR IR S 2 B, Dividend paid to NCI 163,002 107,711
KEEHFAERERE Cash flows from operating activities 120,119 462,208
"EEBRE (FTA) Cash flows from (used in) investing activities
REeEnE 63,479 (18,716)
BERBFFRAESRE Cash flows used in financing activities (313,980) (234,677)
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BE202412 A1 B L E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

15. AMBARIZRE (&) 15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ZHENBESWMRERRA A Anhui Young-Hearty Medical Appliance & Equipment
Co., Ltd
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR B D L NCI percentage 52.00% 52.00%
mEVEE Current assets 294,029 278,186
EMEBEE Non-current assets 34,104 34,222
mENBE Current liabilities (57,335) (59,800)
BEFE Net assets 270,798 252,608
IR ERIREE Carrying amount of NCI 140,815 131,356
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
& Revenue 116,960 184,348
FRMBEREEB AL Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 18,190 69,425
DEREFIEBRERZFA Profit and total comprehensive income
FERE2EIRA BT for the year allocated to NCI 9,459 36,287
A T IR AR a2 RS Dividend paid to NCI - 36,869
KEEHFAERERE Cash flows from operating activities 23,929 56,154
KEEZHABERERE Cash flows from investing activities 47,500 8,338
MEEBRARERE Cash flows used in financing activities - (70,995)
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HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

16.

REtE AT 2w 16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR%T T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RERERN Bl B RE R AR Costs of interests in associates 101,655 94,105
DRUIEE EE R HAL Share of post-acquisition results and
ZHERA - HREUW other comprehensive income, net of
) dividends received (8,240) 25,494
93,415 119,599

HE2024512A31HILEE -
HENRIMBEZEMOAARE
9,500,000t (2023%F : AR
6,800,0007T) - B EME & A 7K
R EL A AR2,259,0007T °

HE2024F 12 A31HLEFE » &&E
EEEHENR15%ME (REE
B ARKA19,337,0000T)  EHERE
518 AR #19,337,0007T °

AEEREABERT 2 M3 i
RAEAR A SR B REAR) it
BT :

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the addition
of interest in an associate amounted to approximately
RMB9,500,000 (2023: RMB6,800,000). Dividend received
from other associates amounted to approximately
RMB2,259,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
disposed of a 15% interest in an associate with a carrying
amount of RMB19,337,000, resulting in a loss on disposal
of RMB19,337,000.

Details of the Group’s interest in the material associates,
which is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

AAER AMELLE  ERORERRA AREERER IEERER
Place of Issued and fully Group’s effective
Name of the company establishment  paid-up capital interest Principal activities
0245 2003%
2024 2023
Bl BERRERERAR H ARH2,300,0007 RUEREARE RiE 8 AR
Guangzhou Zhongshan Medicine Technology Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB2,300,000 20.54% 20.54%  Provision of health consultation
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RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE2024F12 A1 BIEFE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

16.

REZE QT 2 () 16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
ARER AMEIEE  BRORARRA AEBERER IEERED
Place of Issued and fully Group’s effective
Name of the company establishment  paid-up capital interest Principal activities
0245 2035
2024 2023

THEREEERAR Gilei AR25,000,0007 F-RBRAANER

Jiangsu Gaotong Equipment Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB25,000,000 40.92% 40.92%  Business of class lll medical
device

FERRBERBARLA b AR28,800,0007T RIS R

Shanghai Vista Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Lid." The PRC R\MB28,800,000 40.00% 40.00%  Provision of technical service
and consultation

BREERERRREERAT # ARE255,0007 BRSNS

Nanjing Ciji Medical Technology Service Co., Ltd" The PRC RMB255,000 33.64% 33.64%  Sales of medical devices

TREEEEREARAT G AR4,900,0007 AERREER

GNNC Nuclide Medical Investment Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB4,900,000 49.00% 49.00%  Assets and investment
management

AMmHN B REREEAT ke AREE17,500,0007 ERSHNEE

Shenzhen Relicare Medical Co., Ltd. * The PRC RMB17,500,000 35.00% 35.00%  Sales of medical devices

hEEARRRARLA ke AR6,800,0007 BB TRRENEE FERHE

Zhongtong Abang High Tech Co., Ltd. * The PRC RMB6,300,000 34.00% 34.00%  Production, research and
development and sale of
low energy electron beam
equipments

HRLEREARAA H AR9,500,0007 Mok R E REBERN

Gansu Hongye Nuclear Technology Co., Ltd.* EERRR

The PRC RMB9,500,000 10% - Production and research of

radioisotopes and related
products

The English translation of the name is for identification
only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese.
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16. REENTzfEm (&) 16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
REBBEBFEERBE R AIMNER Aggregate information of associates of the Group that are
BH not individually material:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AT BREPERIEEX Aggregate carrying amount of
B N A2 IREIERRE individually immaterial associates in
the consolidated financial statements 93,415 119,599
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEDEZSH S AFIEE  Aggregate amounts of the Group’s
WEENTIt ph share of those associates’ loss and
total comprehensive expense (14,088) (14,303)
17. REEQRAINER 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REERRIRERK A Costs of interests in joint ventures 416,064 434,292
DGR S - Share of post-acquisition results,
BB W R net of dividends received 61,389 69,222
477,453 503,514
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17.

REELQBNER (&)

ERARERARRT S (T
BRI & OIS R ABR) 03¢
BT

17.

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

INTERESTS
(continued)

IN JOINT VENTURES

Details of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures,
which is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

DNRIEH A AL 4 B FEEEREE FEEKITH
Group’s
Place of effective
Name of the company establishment interest  Principal activities
2024 F [ 20235
2024 & 2023
FEMMBEER AR Gal= HERHEEDHE
Shanghai GMS Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.” The PRC 49%  Production and
sales of bio-
pharmaceuticals
TRAEEFEFREEGEREE [ BRI E AR
(BRA%) ([FAEZEL]) The PRC 45% (2023: 44%) The application

Beijing Tongfu Innovation Industrial
Investment Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (“Tongfu Fund”)*

areas of nuclear
technology
Investments

AEENABERAMEBESERE
PRI IMRARR - VAR IRB LB
MAEMGR  HREHERRARZE
BEHRNETIEL—BRAE

The Group’s joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method in the consolidated financial statements
as in accordance with the contractual terms of the
arrangements that the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

* The English translation of the name is for identification
only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese.
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HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

17. REELTNER (&)

REZE2024F 12831 HIEFE -
AEESREER AEERES
BREEESORRLAIKE R
BEAXAHNABARY18,228,0007T
(20234 : AR¥15,205,0007T) °

ERCHBRRZAMNEZERELA
B UWHAEHMBEREAZE@RE
ERHIRZ A E QR Z M E R
SRTEAT

EEBMMBEARAE

17.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was a
capital refund by Tongfu Fund. The capital refund received
by the Group amounting to approximately RMB18,228,000
(2023: RMB15,205,000) in proportion to the respective
shareholding in Tongfu Fund.

Accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying

amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed below:

Shanghai GMS Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
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2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥FT ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENEE Current assets 205,276 157,202
EMBNEE Non-current assets 30,487 30,379
MEAE Current liabilities (144,019) (86,381)
EmEBE Non-current liabilities (611) (1,338)
BEFE Net assets 91,133 99,862
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ko] Gross amounts
& Revenue 262,131 267,647
AMEREERALLRE Profit and total comprehensive income 41,037 46,295
R B YA Dividend income 24,384 40,471
HEAREEMNEREIR Reconciled to the Group’s interest
BEFEER Gross amounts of net assets 91,133 99,862
REEER s The Group's effective interest 49% 49%
REBOEEEFE The Group’s share of net assets 44,655 48,932
A BEmERREE Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements 44,655 48,932
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTinuen)

BE202412 A1 B L E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

17. REERARWER (F) 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)
TREARAFEEREESER D Beijing Tongfu Innovation Industrial Investment
* (BREE) FundPartnership (Limited Partnership)
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARETT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
MEVEE Current assets 1,007,165 1,067,457
BERE Net assets 1,007,165 1,067,457
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBT T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R Gross amounts
g Revenue 26,673 38,250
MEREEIRALRE Profit and total comprehensive income 9,476 29,820
A B A Dividend income 4,802 10,085
HEAKENWERHE Reconciled to the Group’s interest
BEFEER Gross amounts of net assets 1,007,165 1,067,457
REBER#EZ The Group’s effective interest 45% 44%
AEEDEEEFE The Group’s share of net assets 454,030 469,681
A mERERAEAE Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements 432,798 454,582
18. B8 18. GOODWILL
AR¥T T
RMB’000
24 Cost
#R2023%F1/81H At 1 January 2023 48,349
U BB BT B8 A R E A (MI5E33(a)(i))  Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 33(a)(i) 50,762
20234 K 2024F12 A31H At 31 December 2023 and 2024 99,111
WA Impairment:
R20234F K 2024F1 A1 8 & At 1 January, 31 December
I2ABBL 2023and2024 . a7sey)
BRMEIE : Carrying amount:
PR20234F K 2024412 A31H At 31 December 2023 and 2024 81,526
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HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

18. & (&) 18. GOODWILL (continued)
FMESRIRBTINEBREE D Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units
HE oM ARERIRESEASBN identified according to operation and operating segment
as follows:

2024 % 2023%F

2024 2023

ARETR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

% B Nuclear medicines 25,206 25,206

&R 1,084 1,084

B R AR AR TS

HAb ()

Nuclear medical equipments and
related services 4,474 4,474
Others (Note)

50,762 50,762

81,526 81,5626

ReELBUNAEKRSBERIEE

REEEIERE - 2578 AE
REREEEHENTFHYBRE
ENREREEN - ZERERE
BRARMFHEERE  HERAK
SEERZTEENBELRIF
BERCELABUNEMTERR
MERE - FFABEXRRTAIAR
ENERRE S EE BN ERR -

HE20245 K% 2023F12 A31H1E
FE VEERRBRSCELSBMENG

BERERE -

BT - Efhis TEMEBBOA -
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The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units
were determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period.These cash flow projections adopted annual sales
growth rates, which are based on the Group’s historical
experience with these operations and adjusted for other
factors that are specific to each cash-generating unit. The
discount rates used are pre-taxed and reflect specific risks
relating to the respective cash generating units.

No impairment loss of goodwill attributable to the cash-
generating units is recognised during the years ended 31

December 2024 and 2023.

Note: Others represented the inspection and testing services.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

18. BHE (&)

18. GOODWILL (continued)

20234
2023

2024 %
2024

B
BEAFHNFHERRE

BEAFMNFHEERE

B3

BERELFHNFHEERE

BEAFHNFHEERE

REIR X

BB R B R AR RS

BEEAFHNFHEERE

RBT SN Y E R EX

BRI X

it
BETFHNFHEREE

BEAFHNFHEERE

BEIR

Nuclear medicines

Annual sales growth rate for the first
five-year period

Annual sales growth rate beyond
five-year period

Discount rate

Irradiation

Annual sales growth rate for the first
five-year period

Annual sales growth rate beyond
five-year period

Discount rate

Nuclear medical equipments and
related services

Annual sales growth rate for the first
five-year period

Annual sales growth rate beyond
five-year period

Discount rate

Others

Annual sales growth rate for the first
five-year period

Annual sales growth rate beyond
five-year period

Discount rate

5.39%-12.07% 0%-19.4%

0% 0%
12.45% 12.9%
0%-6% 1%-5%

0% 0%
10.77% 10.77%

5%-25% 5%-15%

0% 0%

13.83% 13.20%
3%-15% 5%-10%

0% 0%

12.99% 10.56%
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BE2024512A31 B L5 E
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19.

20.

FLmRERE 19. UNQUOTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEERBEMEZEBARAR Equity securities designated at
EEARNEZRSE (FT#EE) FVOCI (non-recycling)
— FE LR E — Unquoted equity investments 162,545 156,394
PsE - Note:

FLEMBRERERTERREBEEARA
A(THRZEELRA]  HEIBERE
FERB(ThREBRAR ] RitREEE
MEEABLE (BRER) ([RAAKRE
BREE])NBRD Z=KARAHRF
ZEE BB -

RNEBMBEIELMBREREETEBE
2R AEARBE (TNAEE) A
B EAZBREREHREAEN - A&EE
WA ZBEE QR RPZI AN
BoRl# A ARE3,189,0007T (2023
F£:ARMK4,793,000T) RARK
1,281,0007T (20234 : AR#800,000
JT) e

The unquoted equity investments are shares in CNNC Financial
Leasing Co., Ltd. (“CNNC Financial Leasing Company”), CNNC
Finance Co., Ltd. (*CNNC Finance Company”) and Tongchuang
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Tongchuang
Investment Partnership”), three related parties under CNNC.

The Group designated its unquoted equity investments at FVOCI
(non-recycling), as the investments are held for strategic purposes.
The Group received dividends of approximately RMB3,189,000
(2023: RMB4,793,000) and RMB1,281,000 (2023: RMB800,000)
from CNNC Financial Leasing Company and CNNC Finance
Company, respectively.

FE 20. INVENTORIES
(@ FE#E: (@  Inventories comprise:
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARBTRE AR®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R Raw materials 263,838 239,394
TR M Work in progress 151,550 96,665
BURY mh Finished goods 383,272 466,254
Eb Others 20,165 14,019
818,825 816,332
W FEMOR Less: write-down of inventories (31,640) (2,167)
787,185 814,165
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7E (%)

20.

21.

(b)

BRAMAXZAFTTAEHESR
RNFESHEIFAOT :

20. INVENTORIES (continued)

(b) The analyses of the amounts of inventories
recognised as expenses and included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss are as

follows:
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EETEZEREAE Carrying amount of inventories sold 3,204,319 2,557,729
FEMR Write-down of inventories 29,473 1,560

3,233,792 2,659,289

EZRBAREREBERRREUR
BHEE

(@)

21. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES AND

CONTRACT ASSETS

B RWHRIERERERE (@  Trade and bill receivables
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e = Bill receivables 105,453 111,870

JEW T HZ M E 5 EGIE Trade receivables due from

— hiZEEET AN — Related parties under CNNC 67,432 62,626
NS /N — associates and joint ventures 23,676 19,872
—FH=F — third parties 4,958,561 3,886,629

o BREEBRNEREE

5,155,122 4,080,997
Less: loss allowance for expected
credit loss (232,994) (204,656)

4,922,128 3,876,341

R2024F 128310 * RAE
FPEXHMBE SR FKIBRE
#H A AR¥S5,155,122,0007T
(2023F 1283180 : AR¥
4,080,997,0007T) °

As at 31 December 2024, the gross amount of trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
amounted to approximately RMB5,155,122,000 (31
December 2023: RMB4,080,997,000).
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HE2024F12 A1 BILEE
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21. ESFREWRERERESEUR 21.
EHNEE (&)
@ EBEEWZERERZE (E)
BRE T

HREBERERNE HEK
REAMEREBEENRERA

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

(@)

Trade and bill receivables (continued)
Aging analysis

The aging analyses of trade and bill receivables,
based on the invoice dates and net of loss

HAFTIEBRER D AT AR T - allowance, are as follows:
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
1E R Within 1 year 4,164,294 3,335,766
1E2%F 1 to 2 years 589,784 389,000
2&E3F 2 to 3 years 122,553 115,870
3FEM L Over 3 years 45,497 35,705
4,922,128 3,876,341

AEERZERHNEERLEE
B BEZRWEEREK
REARBANFHANEE
R R L ARERER

BERAKENEERRRE
FEBAEENEERRS
#— B BENHIES5(a) °
RE R & MEAE[RER
MREARRIL EAL A ES -

MR2024F12A31H - HHAR
#£30,243,0007T (20234 :
AR#15,550,0007T) K FEUR
EERAABEFAEMS
EBA  THREWRERA
KWEHEHREREIALE
REMEBRAFTE - B
EBRAABERE_ERRA
REBEE  BEAAEEE
PHER - FRERKERFH#E
MM TAMNER A AEX
8L 3R 78 HA R 2R 3R € 7% 2 R 5T

st
H o
ZAr
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The Group granted credit term on a case by case
basis and trade and bills receivables are required
to be settled in accordance with credit terms
as stipulated in the contract and invoice due to
issuance.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and
credit risk arising from trade debtors are set out
in Note 35(a). There has been no change in the
estimation techniques or significant assumptions
made during the current reporting period.

As at 31 December 2024, bill receivables
amounting to approximately RMB30,243,000 (2023:
RMB15,550,000) was measured at FVOCI because
the bill receivables are held within a business model
whose objective of both collect contractual cash
flows or to sell. The fair value of bill receivables was
at a level 2 fair value measurement which has been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.
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21. BSEWREREWKEELR 21. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES AND

EHNEE (&) CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)
(@ EBFEWFERERERE (&) (@)  Trade and bill receivables (continued)
R T (48) Aging analysis (continued)
B E2024F K2023F 12 A During the years ended 31 December 2024 and

B1RALEFE  TEE-ER
HE_BHANBEERZ
MEER  TEFAFE-E
LERFEZBREL -

2023, there was no transfer between level 1 and
level 2 fair value hierarchy or transfer into or out of
level 3.

(b)) BHEE (b)  Contract assets
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARETT ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
DB RE : Analysed as current:
BEAOEKRES Retention receivables of construction
(FfsEa) contracts (note a) 295 19,624
BEANZAREZE 2  Unbilled revenue of construction
ek (FizEDb) contracts (note b) 62,320 1,703
62,615 21,327
B BEEEBEN Less: loss allowance for expected
Eia R credit loss (3,828) (1,465)
58,787 19,862

M2023F1A1H - ARIBE
AR BE27,359,0007T °

GEE

(a)

SFARNBEZ BRKIRE
SEAKERTENHTE
WHREZ #EF - REZ
EERNAGEPREH
HE—EHRNEREE
ERTREBRTAEE -
i 73 AR BAHE A DS AR IR
B CBERARER AL
B P E He iR 5 TR A RIS
HERHMERZHEER
BH) AHEESHER
EH S RIFIE - EUIR
Ee2 8B BEREE
TRTETER-EMF -

As at 1 January 2023, contract assets amounted to
approximately RMB27,359,000.

Notes:

(@)

Retention receivables included in contract
assets represent the Group’s right to receive
consideration for work performed because the
rights are conditional on the satisfaction of the
service quality by the customers over a certain
period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract
assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is
typically at the expiry date of the period for the
provision of assurance by the Group on the service
quality of the construction work performed by the
Group. The due dates for retention receivables are
usually one to two years after the completion of
construction work.
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21. ESRWHREREVREZEEUR
BHEE (&)

(b) BHNEE (&)

BaE : (&)

(b) FARMBEZRERE
ZWatE AR R BT A
B ARERERZ TR
REZHERN - REZHEE
BNAFEPHAKER
TRERETRRTMER
FAMEE BB IZAR
EFRA - 1 AEHER
ARG B (2R A5
EETECATEREET
BERESEFPRA) &4
AECEBREE HRIK
g -

AWEERADEENIIE - B
B 5 7k 4 E T A IE 3 BB 1
NERESARE -

21. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

(b) Contract assets (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(o)

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets
represents the Group’s right to receive
consideration for work completed but not yet
billed because the rights are conditional upon the
satisfaction by the customers on the construction
work completed by the Group and the work is
pending for the certification by the customers.
The contract assets are transferred to the trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional,
which is typically at the time the Group obtains the
certification of the completed construction work
from the customers.

Contract assets are included in current assets as

the Group expects to realise these assets within its

normal operating cycle.

2024 F K 20234 12 A 31 The recovery or settlement for contract assets
B aHEERESDIER pursuant to the terms of contracts as at 31
Bl E s &EE T ¢ December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FEPA Within one year 52,342 10,791
—F M F Over one year 10,273 10,536
62,615 21,327
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22, WMNNE- - RERHEMERIR 22

PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

i} RECEIVABLES
(a) e R EMEWFIE (a) Deposits and other receivables:
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥TR ARBF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FAT & E#R Advance to
— &R - CNNC 307 4
— Rz EE T B ~ related parties under CNNC 1,168 2,645
— REBRIHB AR — a former subsidiary of the Group 537 5,007
bio&in Deposits
—PREEETEE S — related parties under CNNC 2,126 2,195
-%=5 — third parties 29,707 46,711
BTHN Staff advance 629 2,122
HAth Others 71,881 50,518
FEY AR B Dividends receivables
— REERIMHB AR - a former subsidiary of the Group 36,981 36,981
—HBENE] - AEAF - associates, joint ventures and
PARe 3E TR IR & unquoted equity investments 18,749 2,607
162,085 148,790
W BEEEEENEE Less: Loss allowance for expected
B credit loss (28,692) (13,165)
REHERATTEN SR Financial assets measured at amortised
BE cost 133,393 135,625
ARG T ER Deductible input value-added tax 161,284 118,944
294,677 254,569
Bt Notes:
0] FTEIRS R H A EYRIA 0] All of the deposits and other receivables are
TE AR — G U [e] ok 2R expected to be recovered or recognised as
REX - expenses within one year.

(ii) EeXEEHS KRS RR (ii)
RS o

Deposits mainly represent rental deposits and
deposits for bidding.
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22, FEfNFE- - BRERHEMEWE 22. PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

1H (&) RECEIVABLES (continued)
(b)  FEFFERFK : (b)  Prepayment:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARETT AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEUNTEFRETED Prepayments for purchase of
TEfTRIR inventories from
— R EEE T — related parties under CNNC 8,211 1,310
—$£=k — third parties 197,960 336,598

206,171 337,908

23. |ITRFRASUKHEMIEE 23. CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND AND OTHER

REER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(@ WITRFERSEHE: (@)  Cash at bank and on hand comprised:
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITHEE Cash at bank 401,828 407,365
RAZHEAFRE Cash at CNNC Finance Company 2,247,526 2,484,259
2,649,354 2,891,624
Bl : Representing:
HeMReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 2,451,153 2,376,459
REEBER=@EAZ Time deposits with original maturity
TEHATE R over three months 175,159 496,591
PR B M1 3 (B E) Restricted deposits (Note) 23,042 18,574

2,649,354 2,891,624
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BITRFERSURHMRE

23.

e~ =}
AILE

(@)

&8 (|)

RORFERESEE : (8)

ReRBSEEYMREETH
TR REHBRITER - A
WMRAEENE RS
B OHEHETHEFEFNENT
0.01%%E1.485% (20234 :
0.01%%=1.52%) 5t 8. °

REPBBE=@EAZ EH7T
ARSI TF RS BT 5
FEHMENT1.36%E1.95%
(20234 : 1.56% = 1.65%)
}0.1%%1.8% (20234 :
0.2%%3.025%) 5t 8. °

GEE

RHMEFREREEREERT

T
A

23. CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(@)

Cash at bank and on hand comprised: (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents include demand
deposits and short-term bank deposits for the
purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash
commitment, which carry interest at market rates
which range from 0.01% to 1.485% (2023: 0.01%
to 1.52%) per annum

Time deposits with original maturity over three
months and restricted deposits, which carry interest
at market rates which range from 1.36% to 1.95%
(2028: 1.56% to 1.65%) and 0.1% to 1.8% (2023:
0.2% to 3.025%) per annum respectively.

Note:

Restricted deposits mainly represent deposits for
guarantee of letters of credit.
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23. SBTRFERSURHMERE 23.
REER (&)

CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b) METEEENEBEHIR (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities
TREFNANEEREFEEFT The table below details changes in the Group’s
EXBEZEY  METD liabilities arising from financing activities. Liabilities
EXZABEREEEREERN arising from financing activities are liabilities for
FRRREREHREEE which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
AR ERERTHELAR classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
BEHEACTReRENA statement as cash flows from financing activities.
WEIE -
AL
HARMRE JEfi58
ERFENER  BAER  MERNE  0AEE  AEEE h
Loans Interest
included payable
in other included in
long-term Bank other ~ Corporate Lease
payables loans payable bonds liabilities Total
AE%Tn AR®Tn ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
R2024E1A1H At 1 January 2024 38,251 1,643,321 - - 52,201 1,733,773
BEREER Changes from financing cash flows:
%ﬁimfﬁh‘%%xzw%?k Proceeds from new bank loans 16,259 1,003,221 - - - 1,019,480
EARREEZMERE  Procesds from issuing of corporate
bonds - - - 499,241 - 499,241
BREARAMER Repayment of bank and other loans - (654451) - - - (654,451)
BREERE Borrowing costs paid (25,600 (54,443 - - - (80,043)
BREEASNELDR  Capital element of lease rentals paid - - - - (24,008 (24,003
EREERSHFEHN  Interest element of lease rentals paid - - - - (2,650) (2,650)
HERSTEEDNAE  Total changes from financing
cash flows 4(9,341)_ 294,327 _________ S 4 _9?,?41 (26,653) 757,574
EhEE Other changes:
FRETIFAEMEME Increase in lease liabilties from
HEBR entering into new leases during
the year - - - - 55,131 55,131
RERLAS Early termination of a lease - - - - (4578) (4,578)
BHZRER Transfer to reserve (22,314) - - - - (22,314)
FIBRAX Interest expenses 402 52,551 2,12 46 2,650 51,775
LB Total other changes o (a112) 52,551 2,126 46 53,203 86,014
R2024%12 4318 At 31 December 2024 6,988 1,990,199 2,126 499,287 78,751 2,577,361
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23. SBTRFERSURHMERESE  23.

CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND AND OTHER

REER (&) CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
b)) METBELENEEHE (b)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
(4&) activities (continued)
HAEGHEBAR
ApEATEN  HARRRE
ERHE  ENFBMER  BOEN  HERE )
Interest payables  Loans included
included in in other
accruals and long-term Lease
other payables payables  Bank loans liabilities Total
ARETTR ARETR  ARETT AREBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R20s 515, oo M ey 208 2800 .. 88775 88709 0fo 45305
HERENER Changes from financing cash flows:
%ﬁ%ﬁh‘ﬁﬂﬁﬁ’% Proceeds from new bank loans = 9073 899897 - 900870
EEBTRAMER Repayment of bank and other loans S (12,667) (74,220) = (86,887)
EREERA Borrowing costs paid 2.870) 5 (25,491) = (28,361)
ENREREMELSH Capital element of lease rentals paid 5 5 5 (28,585) (28,585
EREERSMRIEHN Interest element of lease rentals paid S S S (3,231) (3,231)
BERGNEZBMAE Total changes from financing
e casiows B0 (2694 800186 (31816 762806
89 Other changes:
ERETHREMmE M Increase in lease liabilties from
HEER entering into new leases during
the year - - - 11,576 11,576
HE-FMBLF Disposal of a subsidiary - - (15,016) (10,941) (25,957)
BRIELE-RMBAR Deemed disposal of a subsidiary = = (2.997) = 2,997)
YE-FHBAR Acquisition of a subsidiary - 5 5,000 = 5,000
HERX Interest expenses - 2,170 32,439 3,281 37,840
Rlekgig® Tooerchenges S 20 1948 3868 28462
R2023E12A31H At 31 December 2023 - 38,251 1,643,321 52,201 1,733,773
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23. SBTRFERSURHMERE 23.
;ﬁ%ﬁﬁ(nﬁ

CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c) HERESR (c) Total cash outflow for leases
HRASH A ABLTRERNS Amounts included in the cash flow statement for
WA TTRIE ¢ leases comprise the following:
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR®T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REERESREN Within operating cash flows
(EHEER%) (short-term lease expenses) 19,823 21,155
RRERESRENRN Within financing cash flows 26,653 31,816
46,476 52,971
ZESEPSKRATIAR : These amounts relate to the following:
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR®T R ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
=Kk Lease rentals paid 46,476 52,971
24. HRITER 24. BANK LOANS
(a) RHIRITEREE - (@  The long-term bank loans comprised:
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ET R ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITER Bank loan
— B (EE) - secured (Note) 34,789 34,372
— EIER - unsecured 1,450,149 1,418,057
1,484,938 1,452,429
A REBRTES E’]m@J*B Less: current portion of long-term bank loans (435,464) (5,418)
EHRITEZMIERBE;S  Non-current portion of long term bank loans 1,049,474 1,447,011

b

R2024F12HA31H » KEH
fEﬂE AN EREYE  BE

B REVMEUARERE
ENEDZESNOAEARKE
82,408,0007T (20234 : AR¥E
63,713,0007T) * = (20234 :
AR#5 857,0007T) R AR
14,670,0007T (20234 : AR
870,0007T) °
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Note:

At 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying value of
the secured property, plant and equipment, investment
property and intangible assets for the Group’s bank loans
is approximately RMB82,408,000 (2023: RMB63,713,000),
nil (2023: RMB5,857,000) and RMB14,670,000 (2023:
RMB870,000), respectively.
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24. SRITEXN (&) 24. BANK LOANS (continued)
(b) EHRITERERE: (b)  The short-term bank loans comprised:
20245 20234
2024 2023
ARETR ARETFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITER Bank loan
— B (M) - secured (Note) 10,010 13,012
— 4R — unsecured 495,251 177,880
T 505,261 190,892
s REISRITERE Add: current portion of long-term
RENER D bank loans 435,464 5,418
940,725 196,310
BisE - Note:
HZE2024F12A31H » A&E As of 31 December 2024, the Group had the short-
HENEIHERD BIAYE KK term loans which are secured by property and plant and
E# ANRY6,421,0007T (2023 intangible assets of approximately RMB6,421,000 (2023:
F: ANR#¥13,344,0007) & RMB13,344,000) and RMB6,341,000 (2023: nil).
M AENARYG,341,0007T
(20234 : F) fEiEH#H -
() ZEEEZENIRBBITERUN (c)  The non-current bank loans are repayable as
T follows:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARET ARBET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FRERMER After 1 year but within 2 years 102,560 173,189
MEZREBERAFTR After 2 years but within 5 years 339,210 827,970
HiERF Over 5 years 607,704 445,852

1,049,474 1,447,011
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24. HITER(EK) 24. BANK LOANS (continued)
(d AEEEBZRNERFZE (FE (d)  The ranges of effective interest rates (which are
RETHRZ) SEEWT - also equal to contracted interest rates) on the

Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEFREFH  Fixed-rate borrowings 307,356 1,133,559
FEIF KB Variable-rate borrowings 1,682,843 509,762
1,990,199 1,643,321
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
BERFHE Effective interest rate: (per annum)
B EFEEF  Fixed-rate borrowings 2.2%%4.9% 24%Z4.4%
2.2% to 4.9% 2.4% to 4.4%
FEIF KGR Variable-rate borrowings* 2.4% % 4.385% 2.7%%E4.985%
2.4% to 4.385% 2.7% to 4.985%
* ZEZRBEBFEPEAR * These borrowings bear floating rate on benchmark
RIT(THRBARRIT]) interest rates quoted by People’s Bank of China
IR EENEFTE (“PBOC")
(e) EREH (e)  Loan covenants
M2024F12 4318 - X&EH As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings
MEREAXRENRBITE are not subject to the fulfilment of covenants.
SURTHRRR o
25. RTFEF 25. CORPORATE BONDS
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ TR ARBTFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
NABEITRARMES Public issuance of corporate bonds 499,287 =
MR2024F 108  AEEBET—X & In October 2024, the Group issued a 3-year corporate
% 5 AR #500,000,0007T B FEF|& bonds of RMB500,000,000 with an interest rate of 2.25%
B2 25% M = FHARIES - per annum.
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26. EZEMNFIE 26. TRADE PAYABLES

2024 F 20234

2024 2023

ARETR ARETFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FERTAT &5 & 5 e 5/IE Trade payables due to

— RAZE B E TR A - related parties under CNNC 43,974 44,384

—HE N NEERT — associates and joint ventures 4,920 5,879

F=7 — third parties 742,587 576,405

791,481 626,668

(a) BRER 0 AT (a) Aging analysis
RERERR  ENBERH As of the end of the reporting period, the aging
FTYERNE B ENMNRIBERR S analyses of trade payables, based on the invoice
WranT : dates, are as follows:

2024 20234

2024 2023

ARETR ARETFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

1F AR Within 1 year 597,314 573,437

15225 1 to 2 years 170,032 37,684

2E3F 2 to 3 years 15,281 2,803

3FL L over 3 years 8,854 12,744

791,481 626,668

FMEESEMNREBRET All of the trade payables are usually for settlement

FREEXANE KR EE within one year or are repayable on demand.

\55’1>
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27. EHERARHEMENRKE -E 27. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES,

EWAREMRIESFE DEFERRED INCOME AND OTHER LONG-
TERM PAYABLES
(@) EFFEARIEMELRIE (@)  Accruals and other payables
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
¥EmEE (M) Deposits from promoters (note (i) 455,522 586,473
JEASHHEE 3 7 0A (B RE(i))  Payables to promoters (note (i) 1,676,550 1,693,751
FERT B THEREA A Payables for staff related costs 210,648 176,698
FERTAR S Dividends payables 20,631 19,402
RNEEHENFE Interest payable on corporate bond 2,125 =
HiubfEET B A RIER Other accruals and payables: (note (iii))
RIE - (ML)
—hiz&EH - CNNC 2,844 2,515
— PR EE N - related parties under CNNC 52,691 69,913
— BE R A — associates 4,967 =
—$=5 — third parties 235,048 180,067
R AFTE 2SR Total financial liabilities measured at
BERTE amortised cost 2,661,026 2,728,819
H iR IE Other taxes payables 126,674 83,718
HRBE (V) Contract liabilities (note (iv))
— R EE T — related parties under CNNC 63,947 47,070
—F=h — third parties 245,844 396,313

3,097,491 3,255,920

BifsE - Notes:

(i) FAERIEE RN EESR (i) The balances represent deposits from promoters
TMES - EBRER for ordering goods which will be repaid to
HEEE DEWGIBEER promoters after the trade receivables have
THER  ZFEeRE been settled by customers. These deposits
TR B REETEER are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed
By o repayment terms.

(ii) P2 AERRTE FE ST B P AR TS (ii) The balances represent service fee and
BRAT - commission payables to promoters.

(iii) FrE e B R R Lt FE A (iii) All of the accruals and other payables are
HIBEHRER —FREE expected to be settled within one year or are
AR EREEE - repayable on demand.
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27.

EEtEAREMENRIE - E
fE WA R H b & BB Y RO
(&)

27. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES,
DEFERRED INCOME AND OTHER LONG-
TERM PAYABLES (continued)

(@)

FEst & AR EEAF0R ()
GERNE-)

(@)

Accruals and other payables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv) BHAEEES - (iv) Movements in contract liabilities:
2024F 20234
2024 2023
ARBTR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
®1A1R At 1 January 443,383 484,303
HENBREDFAEGL Decrease in contract liabilities as a
BENBRABHENEE result of Recognising revenue
L during the year that was included
in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (347,559) (439,318)
EEEERARFEHAY  Increase in contract liabilities as
A& m a result of receipt in advance of
transferring goods 213,967 398,398
W12A31H At 31 December 309,791 443,383

AREENZRRHERETR
Em Mg aERE B
= 1p 5% B A F P AR IR
T o ZERERBEMHRGE

HEHENABEREP
S BT IR EE fn MRS R
BB BT SRR

The Group receives deposits from customers when
they sign the sale and purchase agreements for
sales of radioactive source products and radiation
therapy equipments. The deposits and advance
payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised until the customers obtain control of

the radioactive source products and radiation

therapy equipments.

WA (b) Deferred income
AR¥T R
RMB’000
R2023F1 A1 H At 1 January 2023 60,001
FRAE Additions during the year 6,202
A= Credited to profit or loss (6,424)
R2023F12 A31H At 31 December 2023 59,779
FARE Additions during the year 79,608
FFAER Credited to profit or loss (16,065)
R2024F12 A31H At 31 December 2024 123,322
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EErEAREMENRIE - E
fE WA R H e & BB Y RO

27.

(&)

(b)

EIEWA ()

REBE2024F K 2023F12
RAB1ALLEE - "EEAF
B B /& & R4 A B AT 4 ER
AREXRFWEDE  BFE
BEOEE o BT WAR
BRERSHEDEENEE
WAERFHAE RFH &
AIEH R AR ©

Hitb RN TR

HitRHAEMRIBERENT
FZER - FRERTRERE
Wb ([RFaER]) -
B gl MR P EE
RIEEBR R HNEFET
EMBEEEMEY - ;FAH
tRAENREBHARKE
4,018,0007T (20234 : A
R#5,999,00070) A& &E
PR EAE4.66% (2023
1 4.93%) o
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27.

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES,
DEFERRED INCOME AND OTHER LONG-
TERM PAYABLES (continued)

(b)

Deferred income (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC received
subsidies from the government of the PRC for
construction or acquisitions of property, plant and
equipment. Deferred income is credited to profit
or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the
useful lives of the assets related to the government
subsidies received.

Other long-term payables

Other long-term payables represent the grants for
research and development projects in the medical
industry which are due to CNNC, China Institute
of Atomic Energy (“CIAE”), China Institute for
Radiation Protection and China Baoyuan Investment
Company Limited. Included in the other long-term
payable of approximately RMB4,018,000 (2023:
RMB5,999,000) is a sale and leaseback with a
discount rate of 4.66% (2023: 4.93%).
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28.

HEAE LEASE LIABILITIES
R2024F 128310 » BEENHEE At 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable
BEWmT as follows:
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARBET T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEMAN O Withintyear 26,023 20,879
—FIEERRFER After 1 year but within 2 years 20,946 16,851
MEBREBERAEFEA After 2 years but within 5 years 28,269 12,092
HFALE After 5 years 3,513 2,379
e 52,728 31,322
78,751 52,201

MR2024F12 318 » MMEFHIE
SEFRNELHAEL12% (2023 F
4.74%) o

HE2024F 12831 BILFE -
AEERBEEEFIT LS HHME
EHa TERTEABEARE
55,131,0007T °

As at 31 December 2024, the weighted average
incremental borrowing rate is approximately 4.12% (2023:

4.74%).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into a number of new lease agreements in respect
of renting buildings and recognised lease liability of

RMB55,131,000.
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29.

ES

(@)

RIKER

EFRARIKTTE

BEFRFIMERNRKE M
BEEETEIN  NEBIAIR
KR - ZHERABRE
FTEERTERESRMH ;E%E
BREF ([ZEHE)) -

2024412 A 31 aazﬁgu\;@
EXEEEBEM26% (2023
F 1 26%) c ZErEITYAASE
BEERBEVHASEEEES

RiIEZaTE - AERERA
ER/HEEERZREE
MARKEEEZZREN - B
E 5 AN & K TR KR
BEEH -

ERERARKREEN2024F
12H31 BRBBEMETD
HEEEEEERK A CRID
BRATIERDRNAIHNAEE
% 8 I (American Academy
of Actuaries®yfk 8 ) IR TE
BN ERARE

EATS‘JrE‘JAZlK;%@EEEE%QD?FU
&E?J—l« /~A—r i:—: El

’ué*o
PR

BRAZTEIMERRENT -

) AHMBERARNE
REOSTWT -

29.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(@)

Defined benefit retirement plans

In addition to the government-mandated basic
pension and medical program, the Group provides
defined retirement benefits to civil retirees, current
retirees and certain eligible active employees (the
“Plan”), which covers 26% (2023: 26%) of the
Group’s employees as at 31 December 2024. The
Plan is administered by the Group and funded by
the working capital of the Group.

Under the Plan, the qualified retirees and/or
employees are entitled to fixed supplemental post
— retirement pension benefits, fixed death benefits
and supplemental post-retirement medical benefits.

The independent actuarial valuations of the defined
benefit retirement obligation at 31 December 2024
were prepared by qualified staff of Towers Watson
Management Consulting (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.,
Beijing Branch, who are members of the American
Academy of Actuaries, using the projected unit
credit method.

The Plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks, such
as interest rate risk and longevity risk.

Information about the Plan disclosed below:

(i) The amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

2024 F 20234

2024 2023

AR%T AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ETRE Present value of obligations 55,125 44,007
e &S D EE A portion of the above liability is expected

RiBiBE— E&%%ﬁ °
R Bz FRIBEEK
R+ =18 A B FRIE
DEHBTIEE - K
SEBHR AR+ =
BARETFZMNHE
BEEMEARETRE
HEARE2,724,000
JC (20234 : AR
2,728,0007T) °
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to be settled after more than one year.
However, it is not practicable to segregate
this amount from the amounts payable in
the next twelve months. The Group expects
the amount of approximately RMB2,724,000
(2023: RMB2,728,000) of the defined benefit
retirement obligation to be paid in the next
twelve months.
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29. EEEKRER (&) 29. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(continued)
(@) TEREBFEMETE (E) (@)  Defined benefit retirement plans (continued)
(ii) EfEEAMRARELER (ii) Movements in the present value of the
BEHHNOT : defined benefit retirement obligation were as
follows:
20245 2023%F
2024 2023
ARBTRT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
m1A1A At 1 January 46,735 57,082
EHEE Remeasurements:
— UBREEY - actuarial losses arising from
s E EE changes in financial
assumptions 14,645 621
ZEFTEIEER Benefits paid by the plans (1,951) (2,701)
E BAR A AR Current service cost 919 819
2 HE MK Effect of change of participants
FEH e and payment rates (8,717) 1,244
FEREZ Interest expenses 1,218 1,316
HE—RKHMBAA Disposal of a subsidiary = (11,596)
®12H831H At 31 December 57,849 46,735
o —F R EE Less: due within one year (2,724) (2,728)
—F &2 Due after one year 55,125 44,007
DHEERNREES The effect of change of participants and
W B RS payment rates is the change in the present
RENREEAEED value of the defined benefit obligation
RAE R K& FE AR resulting from changes of number of
MNBREEBMNEME employee covered by the Plan and increasing
REZBE - the benefits that are payable after retirement.
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29. EERNKEF (&) 29. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(continued)
(@) TEREBFEMETE (E) (@)  Defined benefit retirement plans (continued)
iy AHBmIXALREH (i)~ Amounts recognised in the consolidated
BEmkEME2mEmEA statement of profit or loss and the
RABRHNSRELT - consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are as follows:
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%®ETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
PR 7% A AN Service cost 919 819
TFrRBAAEFEEN  Net interest on net defined benefit
M EFRE liability 1,218 1,316
RIBZSFER AL ESE  Total amounts recognised in
profit or loss 2,137 2,135
REMEMERAERAE Total amounts recognised in
B other comprehensive income
_CREER ~Actuariallosses 14645 621
TERERE N KA 4B 58 Total defined benefit costs 16,782 2,756
PRARTE S BBz ER A The costs are recognised in the following line

TIEE PR items in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss:
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARET R AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
M%ER Finance costs 1,218 1,316
TR Administrative expenses 919 819
2,137 2,135
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29. RERERNKEFN (F)

(@ EEEFMRMATE (E)

vy EERERRZ(CANE

29. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(continued)

(a) Defined benefit retirement plans (continued)

(iv) Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed
as weighted averages) are as follows:

FHEERT)WOT
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRI & Discount rates 2.00% 2.75%
REMEFEE Future salary increases 6.00% 6.00%
THEBFRAE Annual turnover rates of active
employees 5.00% 5.00%
W Ro e Bl E 5 1E The below analyses show how the defined

MNECBREZRE
PR R B 1% m an{a] 1%

benefit obligation would have increased
(decreased) as a result of 1% change in the
significant actuarial assumptions:

mOR)
1%
Increase by 1%
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ALIR & Discount rates (9,881) (8,531)
RIRMEEE Future salary increases 5,005 3,758
ERREEFERAE Annual turnover rates of active
employees (3,011) (2,249)
WA 1%
Decrease by 1%
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRI & Discount rates 13,365 11,214
RERMEFEE Future salary increases (3,954) (2,946)
B8 FmkE Annual turnover rates of active
employees 3,381 2,499
i GRS T T E R The above sensitivity analyses is based on

HHEE - HSEIRE
BRRE/RR2EHHE
BAME

the assumption that changes in actuarial
assumptions are not correlated and therefore
it does not take into account the correlations
between the actuarial assumptions.
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BERAKERN (&)

29.

(b)

ERMFORETE

RIBE T BEREEMOAR
ARBIREMBARZER
BNHEEENTEHIR
RIEFIGHE] - AEBERK
FEFIRENEREERE
RKmBELREZRBETEIEL
TR BUZRFERALRE
BERFEL16% LK MZ
EHEIER - ZEEROE
ERAREELERRAKI L
AMRRE Bl FRIZP B
BTEKFEON—EBD LA
A HEESLARKER -

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(continued)

(b)

Defined contribution retirement plan

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC, the Company and its subsidiaries participate
in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
managed by government organisations. The Group
makes contributions to basic pension insurance
plans based on the applicable benchmarks and
rates stipulated by the government authorities,
whereby these entities are required to contribute
to the schemes at a rate of 16% of the employees’
basic salaries. Employees of these entities are
entitled to retirement benefits, calculated based
on a percentage of the average salaries level in
the PRC, from the above-mentioned retirement
schemes at their normal retirement.

30. SHHBMBRRARANFAER 30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) BB R AR EIER (a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of

HiE - financial position represents:

20244 20234

2024 2023

AR®T R ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

®1A1H At 1 January 67,532 95,729

FEEE Provision for the year 232,369 166,827

ETErEH Income tax paid (224,324) (194,878)

HBRHEE—KMEAT  Reduction through disposal of a
B (Ki7E34(a)) subsidiary (Note 34(a)) = (146)
M12A31H At 31 December 75,577 67,532
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30, St BRRERTANEERBR 30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
(&) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b) ORZEEREESER A s (b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

FIEBI S 3R Fl e 2 B IEBY The :Olll-O\g-Il:-g is tr;te ana!ysi of ;fh.e cdle:cerrej 'iax
BAE(BE) (LWETEL asset (liabilities), after set off certain deferred tax

BB AEM A — RS T assets against deferred tax liabilities of the same
Zi%ﬁ%}félﬁ_j%%?é) Zﬁ%ﬁﬂa taxable entity, for financial reporting purposes:
T :
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARBTRT ARETET
RMB’000 RMB’000
RIEFIRE E Deferred tax assets 284,922 220,431
REHIEBE Deferred tax liabilities (7,625) (8,876)
M12A31H At 31 December 277,297 211,555
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EHUMBRRRANFER

30.

31.

(&)

()

Bk

RERIELERIREE

RMEHKR  REEBBELHA
R#525,525,0007T (2023
F: AR 422,095,000
TT)RAREAHIEEETR
REHRRFAE - 2B
EEBAE (2023F : AR
624,0007T) ERELEFIEE
E o BRARFBEROTA
TR - MABRBRTARE
525,525,0007T (20234 :
AR#421,471,0007T) #
RIELHIEEE - MAKRE
RUEEBERBEHARE
525,525,0007T (20234 : A
R#421,471,0007T) » R
2034 RIEIA] -

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

()

Deferred tax assets and not recognised

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
has unused tax losses of approximately
RMB525,525,000 (2023: RMB422,095,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately nil (2023: RMB624,000) of such
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining RMB525,525,000 (2023:
RMB421,471,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses of approximately
RMB525,525,000 (2023: RMB421,471,000) that will
expire before 2034.

PROVISIONS

BiEEHReE (@  The balance of provisions comprised:
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B E FE (KiaE(o)) Reclamation obligations (Note (b)) 245,884 226,340
R BEREE Less: current provision (92,084) (86,612)
IEMBNER Non-current portion 153,800 139,728
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31. & (&) 31. PROVISIONS (continued)
(b) FEKWEEELENEBENSE (b)  The movements of the provision for reclamation
BiERaT obligations are as follows:
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARETRT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
H1A1H At 1 January 226,340 225,124
{HETRC A 1S A0 Increase in estimated cost 13,994 1,353
g4 Utilisation (300) (5,140)
FERHIE—KMHEALF  Reduction through disposal of
> (KizE34(a)) a subsidiary (Note 34(a)) - (1,589)
FERHE Interest expenses 5,850 6,592
»m12A31H At 31 December 245,884 226,340

Y EERERESEREM
A BOE R AEFT R ST &
ERERENMAX - HER
wBIHREBEEEENRENMG
RERETE - NARKREM[ - 4
FARAN G REREE X
SIMAEERENDYEE A
8 E B iR AR B
B NBEHER - AEHE
B AR A ETERFEL
P06 B R AT B W R AR 1
A% -

REEWFR

EHREEFRBETERRER
EE-ZXMBLAREPER
FREMEBHER (1R F8E
Bt 1) 8T 37 &3 5 15 o FE W SR
F RS R B E AR D B
WA -
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The obligations for reclamation consist of estimated
expenditures for retirement of its radioactive
production facilities in accordance with the relevant
rules and regulations in the PRC. The provision is
therefore determined based on management’s best
estimates. The estimate of the associated costs
may be subject to change in the near term when
the reclamation on the disposal of the radioactive
production facilities becomes apparent in future
periods. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group reassessed the estimated costs and
adjusted the accrued reclamation obligations, where
necessary.

Long-term receivables

Long-term receivable mainly represents present
value of a part of reclamation obligations which is
due from China Institute of Atomic Energy (“CIAE”)
according to the commitment agreement between a
subsidiary of the Group and CIAE.
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32. BRAX - HERRKRE 32. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS
(a) FEZAMIBDE (@  Movements in components of equity
REBEHERSHEKE S The reconciliation between the opening and closing
My EBAREHRERINE balances of each component of the Group’s
HEREHR RFVERF consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
R EFFE A2 B3 Bl #E 25 42 B statement of changes in equity. Details of the
BB EFFERINOT ¢ changes in the Company’s individual components
of equity between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:
MEERE
& ErRf  tEiEEE  (FURR) HhEkE  REEN  EREE
Fair value
PRC reserve
Share Capital statutory (non- Other Retained Total
capital reserve reserve recycling) reserve profits equity
ARRTR ARRTR AEETT AEETT AEETR  ARETR  AREFR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
(Waksae)  (Warsade))  (Wssard)i)  (Wssaldgi)  (Af3Es2(d)(iv))
(Note 32(c) ~ (Note 32(d)i))  (Note 32(a)(ii)  (Note 32(a)(ii))  (Note 32(d)(iv)
RNBE1A1BHES  Balance at 1 January 2023 319875 2,039,808 165,94 54,913 2,667 176,051 2,949,759
NNEREET: Changes in equity for 2023;
ERRE(EL)RN  Total comprehensive (expense)

] income for the year = = = (5,189) = 27,246 222,061
JE-FHELE Acquistion of a subsidary s (2,380) = = s - (2,586)
hE-FHEAT Disposl of a subsidary - - (465) - = (4,186) (4,651)
BEREEELES  Appropriation of maintenance

and production funds - - - - 1,157 (1,157) -
PHEERLEES  Utlisation of mantenance and

production funds - - - - (1,265) 1265 -
BchE Agpropriation o resenves - - 4457 - - (4.457) -
T8 (Wi Dividends (Note 32(0) = = = = = (140969) (140,969)
HN2BE12A31AR  Balance at 31 December 2023

WAEARIANESR  and 1 January 2024 319875 2081222 159,987 19728 2550 234090 3023614

AUEREEE: Changes in equity for 2024;
EnRENALE Total comprefensive income

for the year - - - 5324 - 124,806 130,130
BEREEELES  Appropriation of maintenance

and production funds - - - - 2,000 2,000 -
DRUENLEES Utlisation of maintenance and

production funds - - - - (2,508) 2,508 -
R (M) Dividends (Note 32(o) - - - - - (128319 (128312
202412531 BA5 % Balance at 31 December 2024 319,875 2,281,222 159,087 55,052 2,051 26,095 3,030,432
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32. BAX - #HERRKRE (&) 32. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)
(b) RE (b) Dividends
(i) FEREEZEMNE (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of
NEERRERE the Company attributable to the year
2024F 2023%F
2024 2023
ARBTT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MEEREEZAE  Final dividend proposed after the
I8 BT E R end of the reporting period of
AR¥30.9% RMB30.9 cents per ordinary
(20234 : HRE L@ share (2023: RMB31.31 cents
& AR#31.315) per ordinary share) 98,841 100,153
FhEAEACRIE 2P E  Interim dividend proposed after
1R BT E B R the end of the interim period,
AREET 245 of RMB7.24 cents per ordinary
(20234 : &) share (2023: nil) 23,159 =
WMEBREEZRNR The final dividend proposed after the end of
AR B & B R the reporting period has not been recognised
RERBEE - as a liability at the end of the reporting
period.

(i) FNEHERZTE (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders
JEEF B BT F of the Company attributable to the previous
EBEZRNARNE]Em financial year, approved and paid during the
&S year

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRERE KR T MBR Final dividend in respect of the
BEMBFEENARE  previous financial year, approved
R EZRARE and paid during the year, of
31.315 (20234 - RMB31.31cents per share
FRARE44.079) (2023: RMB44.07 cents per share) 100,153 140,969
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32. RAE - #HEERKRE (&) 32. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)
(b) BE (&) (b)  Dividends (continued)
(i)  FEANEHERZTE (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders
JE 57 /8 1 K Ah B B of the Company attributable to the current
ZIE AR LN Al AR interim period, approved and paid during the
BB year
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
AR®T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREHERSTSER  Interim dividend in respect of the
2R B EARE 9 R current interim period, approved
REF/RARE and paid during the year, of
7.24% (2023F : T)  RMB7.24 cents per share (2023: nil) 23,159 -
(ORI %N (c)  Share capital
RAEE ARETTT
No. of .shares
TR’
’000 RMB’000
BRITEER Ordinary shares issued
R B e B IS EA AR At the beginning of the financial period and
the end of the financial period 319,875 319,875
(d) BEMEREZ (d) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) =N (i) Capital reserve
BARGEEEEG)RK Capital reserve represents (i) the proceeds
7 31718 AN 2 A UK ER in excess of the par value upon shares
7 8 T E & FT 1S 3K issuance received by the Company; and
T8 K (ii) B 2L R (i) the amount of carrying amount of the
BETEBEHERE net assets of certain subsidiaries acquired
THERARMNFEEE in excess of the consideration paid by the
BEEEBEANEEHA Group, as a result of business combination
NRERTE - under common control.
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32. RAE - #HERKRE (&) 32. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d fEEMEERAZE(E) (d)  Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) o BLE E A (i) PRC statutory reserve
BEPEEEEREK In accordance with the relevant PRC laws
FERARKARNE and regulations and the Company’s articles

AR - KR FIEAEB
HigBPBHEEt =R
KA 8 F R E
2 10% 88 # = Fh BK
TRE ExfEE
BaMEARBS0% o
BREREZEGHEAR
) 1 25 AR 3R 4 Ik Al
1T ZfEBATARK
HETEBRIEME
® ATA DR O5E R
) o

of association, the Company is required to
transfer 10% of its net profit as determined
in accordance with accounting rules and
regulations of the PRC to the statutory PRC
reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distributions to equity
shareholders. This reserve can be utilised in
setting off accumulated losses or increase
capital and is non-distributable other than in
liquidation.

(i)  AAAEEREE (T (i) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)
[a)
DABERE T The fair value reserve (non-recycling)
) B ER RS EARFT comprises the cumulative net change in the
FIRIE R B amE fair value of equity investments designated at
HRFIRIETIL AN FVOCI under IFRS 9 that are held at the end
BEEFTAHEMEEK of the reporting period (see Note 2(h)).
AZBREEREZRAR
EERFFEE (R
F2(h)) °

(iv)  HuvfEE (iv)  Other reserve
EmEHEERIEEE Other reserve represents specific reserve
LiEEESNETH for production and maintenance funds.

o REBEMERESEDE
B AEEEREE
REEESREBE
HEk A 2 B E A &
EITERE - gERE

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations,
the Group is required to transfer production
and maintenance funds at fixed rates of
relevant production outputs or revenue.
The maintenance and production funds

EESARBEESE could be utilised when expenses or capital
ERTEHEBEER expenditures on production maintenance and
R sk & AN 5 2B T A safety measures are incurred. The amount of
EBH - EEMGEESE production and maintenance funds utilised
B AMNSEGR would be transferred from the specific
HERBEREERE reserve back to retained profits.

B -
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32. RAE - EERKRE (&)

(€)

i

EXER
SEEREANETEZEBR
%hﬁﬁlﬁﬁhwéﬁ
EBHREBRESN - KM
L8408 iR R B fr K e (B
EmARE RBEBAEED
(RESRE  BERRR
5 2R 1B ) f A E b 7 25 48 B
FRIEF S o

%WWMWHW%

AEBEEGTE s REE
BARREE - LRATBESIBE
=K AR R B S R @ 3
HEREE AR AT IR
BERRE BT FE
AR AR AR O B B B
BARRBEHAE -

AEERBERABFERE
AL REFHEARRE - 5h
Hms  KABEHFER
ErREBER(BREFEE
F o ARESFEEERE) M
ERFEERE - KHEE
R B B H) P B A BB
WERETEZEBE

SHARE CAPITAL,

RESERVES AND

DIVIDENDS (continued)

(€)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and
by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments for the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For
this purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as total
debt (which includes interest-bearing borrowings,
corporate bonds and lease liabilities) plus unaccrued
proposed dividends. Adjusted capital comprises
all components of equity less unaccrued proposed
dividends.
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32. RAE - EERKRE (&)

(€)

EXEE (&)

R2024F - A& B A B RS
(B2023FURWEES)) 5
EHEARFEBEALE
B EREAKTF - B#IFK
BXfFTREORESE - B
TR mMBRREREER -
EETNEBRESILESR
ERADE -

R2024F % 2023412 A 31
A SRABEEERL XD
™

SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(€)

Capital management (continued)

During 2024, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from 2023, was to maintain the adjusted
net debt-to-capital ratio at the lower level. In order
to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The adjusted debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December
2024 and 2023 is as follows:

N2024 F MR20234

12A31H 12A31H
At At
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
B 5 ARET ARET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
mENEaE Current liabilities:

FHEfER Interest-bearing borrowings 24(b) 940,725 196,310
HERE Lease liabilities 28 26,023 20,879
966,748 217,189

EREEE Non-current liabilities:
FHEMER Interest-bearing borrowings 24(a) 1,049,474 1,447,011
NEESE Corporate bonds 25 499,287 =
HEEE Lease liabilities 28 52,728 31,322
1,601,489 1,478,333
B85 Total debt 2,568,237 1,695,522
hn: BERE Add: proposed dividends 32(b) 98,841 100,153
4B FHE TS Adjusted net debt 2,667,078 1,795,675
WS AEEE Total equity 7,744,595 7,139,328
W BERE Less: proposed dividends 32(b) 98,841 100,153
FCEREL S WIN Adjusted capital 7,645,754 7,039,175
RARGEEENL R Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio 35% 26%

ARAREWMBRAEGIE
SNERHEINE) B AN ZRFTHR
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33. KWENMBLF

(@) MNEZE2023F128318LE
EWE—XHEAE

WHEALZRERITEGR
RN E]51% AR HE

M2023F 98 + AEELL
AR#98,798,000 T8I IR
cREMBLAKNEARE
ERAIRERAR (AR
RE])S1%MER - AXRE
BEXTEREHFERBERRR
Al Z2EERBRRA &
2FHEER - RBIRT -

ARRENWE B 2 &5l
BENABBZECHERAE

33. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@)

Acquisition of a subsidiary during the year ended
31 December 2023

Acquisition of 51% equity interest in Xi’an Zhanshi
Testing& Engineering Co., Ltd.

In September 2023, the Group acquired 51%
interest in FAZEE A TIZBRAF] Xi'an Zhanshi
Testing& Engineering Co., Ltd.* (“Xi'an Zhanshi”)
from an independent party at a cash consideration
of approximately RMB98,798,000. Xi’an Zhanshi
was principally engaged in special equipment
inspection and testing, safety production inspection
and testing; safety evaluation business, surveying
and mapping services.

The recognised fair values of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of Xi’an Zhanshi as at the date of

(LR acquisition were set out as follows:
ARREE
Xi’an Zhanshi
ARBT R
RMB’000
W - BB R Property, plant and equipment 16,017
mEE Intangible assets 7,700
558 Inventories 782
5 W IE & R R R Trade and bill receivables 94,582
FEMFUE - 2 REMEWRIE Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 4,732
IRITRFERS Cash at bank and on hand 27,547
B S EN I8 Trade payables (24,449)
FEET B A R H M BRI Accruals and other payables (26,494)
RIERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (1,228)
BITEK Bank loans (5,000)
BARBEYIEMATHEEE  Total identifiable net assets at fair value
FEERR 94,189
R IEERR Less: non-controlling interests (46,153)
48,036
AR Satisfied by:
ReRE Cash consideration 98,798
kS Goodwill 50,762

English name is for identification purpose only.
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33. WEBEHEAT (&) 33. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

(@) HEZE2023F12831HILF (@  Acquisition of a subsidiary during the year ended
EWRE—RHMBAR (&) 31 December 2023 (continued)
WHEmLZEERTEGR Acquisition of 51% equity interest in Xi’an Zhanshi
NAIS1% B AR HE (4) Testing& Engineering Co., Ltd. (continued)
WERZRE RS ML FE Net cash outflow on acquisition of Xi’an Zhanshi

AR®T T
RMB’000
BENRENRE Cash consideration paid 98,798
W ESHIES RIREEEY Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired
#R%E (27,547)
71,251
BREUR ALRREARN Since the acquisition, Xi’an Zhanshi contributed
EEHZE2023F12 A31H1E approximately RMB59,023,000 to the Group’s
FENFERATBROAR revenue and approximately RM11,931,000 to the
#59,028,000 7T & B4R A F) consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December
HEBAAR®11,931,000 2023.
ik
BREZEBEHRFVE Had the business combination taken place at the
£ REEEZE2023F beginning of the year, the revenue of the Group
12A31HLEFENHEA and the profit of the Group for the year ended 31
EFBESANABEHARE December 2023 would had been approximately
6,704,657,0007C R A9 AR #E RMB6,704,657,000 and approximately
782,314,0007T ° RMB782,314,000, respectively.
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HE—RHEAF

34.

(@)

MREZE2023F12A31 B ILF
EHE-—FRHBELT

REE2023F12H31H1E
FE AEBEHAEEB
FHZBEREERRRAA
VR EEZERE  AD
EANBREeRENARE
260,116,000 EEEIL R
T EYREMAFTFAERA
AI([IEAFT]) REME R A
(BARAFMEEZENRBLR
7)) HY 2B AE o 4k 77 PTLARD
NEEMERNEEMHEE -

34.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

(@)

Disposal of a subsidiary during the year ended 31
December 2023

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group entered into an equity transfer agreement
with CNNC Health Investment Co., Ltd., a related
party of the Group, for the disposal of entire equity
interest in Beijing North Institute of Biotechnology
Co., Ltd. (“BNIBT”) and its subsidiaries, a direct
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, at a cash
consideration of approximately RMB260,116,000.
BNIBT was previously engaged into production and
sale of bio-pharmaceuticals.

2URE Consideration received:
AR®T T
RMB’000
BUIR SR ELEE Total cash consideration received 260,116

RERFENEERBED

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control

DT was lost:
#2023%11H23H
At
23 November 2023
AR®ETR
RMB’000
ME - BB REE Property, plant and equipment 91,714
BYEE Intangible assets 1,014
ERFEEE Deferred tax assets 12,307
rE Inventories 13,731
BIORNFIERERER Trade and bill receivables 169,039
BENFRE - Ze R EMEKFIE  Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 21,092
RITRFHERS () Cash at bank and on hand (note) 41,685
RITER Bank loans (15,016)
B HEARE Trade payables (51,489)
[ETB R REMERTIE Accruals and other payables (157,289)
FER TSR Income tax payable (146)
HEAE Lease liabilities (10,941)
B Provisions (1,589)
ERENRAEE Defined benefit retirement obligation (11,596)
BEHIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (249)
BHEEESE Net assets disposed of 102,267
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34. HE—XHEBLR (&) 34. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)
(@) HREZE2023F12A31HILF (a) Disposal of a subsidiary during the year ended 31
EHE—XKEAR (&) December 2023 (continued)
HEAE A TR ES - Gain on disposal of the BNIBT:
AR¥T R
RMB’000
BURE Consideration received 260,116
BHEEEFE Net assets disposed of (102,267)
AR Non-controlling interests 586
s s (FEAEAUA) Gain on disposal (included in other income) 158,435
Mizr: RAMETROARE Note: Restricted deposits of approximately
8,512,000 T AR1T K& RMBS8,512,000 was included in cash at bank and
FERE - on hand.
HEEEMBSRATFE - Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
AR®T T
RMB’000
ReaRE Cash consideration 260,116
B BERERSRASEEY Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of (33,173)
226,943
() N ZE0023E12 A31 HILE (b) Deemed disposal of a subsidiary during the year
EHEEHE—RHEAT ended 31 December 2023
REZ2023E12 A31 B L& During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
B BRETEEZE T Group lost control of Shenzhen Relicare Medical
BiRE o A= E kYR Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Relicare”) because the
RN EEREEREED unanimous action agreement will no longer be
A (EINEEF ) B4 4 o executed. Shenzhen Relicare was previously
S 1| B8 ) 46 B4 35 5B B AR, engaged into production and sale of medical
FMiEERMEENNE - apparatus and instruments.
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HE—XHEAT (&)

34.

(b)

REZ2023F12831H1E
FERELEE—ZRMEL T
(#&)

RYImFMHEERBBER
AEBREHTBARRERSP
FIEE - TR R I B B A A 2R
Eﬁ%% E ARSI AHE

DA o BRI F A 35% 1R
BREREEGEERZAN
@ﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁm%ﬁ=m
TN F B IR B R E A F

mﬁﬁomw%WMﬁ%E
H (2023412 A27H) W&
EFENT

34. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

(b) Deemed disposal of a subsidiary during the year

ended 31 December 2023 (continued)

The assets and liabilities of Shenzhen Relicare were

deconsolidated from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position and the interest in

Shenzhen Relicare had been accounted for as an

associate using equity method. The fair value of the

35% retained interest in Shenzhen Relicare at the

date on which the control was lost is regarded as
the cost on initial recognition of the investment in
Shenzhen Relicare as an associate. The net assets

of Shenzhen Relicare at the date of disposal (27

December 2023) were as follows:

AR® T
RMB’000

RE DR AEE

Fair value of interest retained

9,006

REEVENEENRABD
DT

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control

was lost:

A2023F12H27H

At

27 December 2023

AR%T R

RMB’000

WE - BB K& Property, plant and equipment 3,524

mAE Intangible assets 9,359

B IAE E Deferred tax assets 14

TE Inventories 7,145

ZSRWHIELEWKZEE  Trade and bill receivables 276
FEMFUE e RHME  Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Wosoa 1,795

WITRFERS Cash at bank and on hand 1,769

RITEN Bank loans (2,997)

B 5 e /1A Trade payables (1,251)

JEtERA R EMEMNZIE  Accruals and other payables (4,258)

BHEEEFE Net assets disposed of 15,376

FEHRE2024
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HE-—XHEAT (&)

34.

(b)

REZE2023F12A31 81k
FERELEE—ZRMELT

(&)

BB &R A A YAt

34. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

(b) Deemed disposal of a subsidiary during the year
ended 31 December 2023 (continued)

Gain on deemed disposal of the Shenzhen Relicare:

AR®T
RMB’000
EHEEETE Net assets disposed of (15,376)
REBEENAAEE Fair value of retained interest 9,006
AR Non-controlling interests 6,494
RIELE = Gain on deemed disposal 124

HEEARRSRLFE - Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
AR¥T T
RMB’000

RERENRIIHFNIE SR Cash and cash equivalents of Shenzhen

REEEY Relicare deemed disposal of 1,769

BIENEZE2024512A31H
I FEEELEAEEHEN
BRTHE-—RHBLAAZ
R

MN2024%12 5308 » K&
EgHE2EMNBARERE
TEETS —RIWIEHAE
E2EHMBENMNEBEARAR - &
BEYFERERRLSARE
7,703,0007C & A A B #E # A%
REMEANREFELGNARE
7,703,0007T ° NFREFIEIL
BARKIERENBR TRIE
HE—ZRMNBARESNE
& .

(c) Deemed disposal of interest in a subsidiary
without loss of control during the year ended 31
December 2024

On 30 December 2024, the Group transferred its
wholly owned subsidiary, B &%, to the Group's
another subsidiary which not wholly owned by the
Group. This resulted in a decrease in non-controlling
interest of RMB7,703,000 and an increase in capital
reserve attribute to equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB7,703,000. The effect of deemed
disposal of interest in a subsidiary without loss of
control is as follows:

ARET T
RMB’000

BRIELENRENIREE Carrying amount of the interest deemed
disposal of 7,703

B IR AR R E Consideration received from non-controlling

interests —

B E AR EERNER Difference recognised in capital reserve
within equity 7,703
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35. MBEREERESBMTAANR 35

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

EE VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SR T BER Categories of financial instruments
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
SREE Financial assets
HHEK A ENEREE Financial assets at amortised cost 7,725,780 6,937,236
BARBESFAEMEEW AR  Financial asset at FVTOCI:
TREE :
U= Bills receivables 30,243 15,550
IELTRERE Unquoted equity investments 162,545 156,394
7,918,568 7,109,180
EA =N Financial liabilities
REHEKATTENERARE Financial liabilities at amortised cost 6,000,017 5,066,546

TREREEBRERBER

AEENTEZSRTABEESRE
WHRBBREWRER  ReREME
WHRE - REEKKIE - L™
BERE RORFERE B
FEN R - Bt ER R E M BN K
NEEFEEME

B RITER
HARE I 5R0R -

RAKENHEXBKBRETEEE
B R#$ES  MERE®ERR -

AEEMHEENZERARRARE
ASE IR % R B 1 BR R A A% R B

ERBRNEMFRIAT

Financial risk management objectives and policies

term payables.

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
bills receivables, deposits and other receivables, long-
term receivables, unquoted equity investments, cash at
banks and on hand, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, bank loans,

corporate bonds and other long-

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency

risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.
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35. MBEREERSBMTIARIR
EE (&)

(@)

—\-4—\:
l=|/\

EERREAEENR S
FHTEBITHENEABH
AEBEBENMBEEDR
R AEEMEERAREE
HESEKFIER AEH
ﬁhmméﬁ%&ﬁéﬁﬁ
MAREREENEER
ﬁ@’lﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ
HEIRITR SRR - Bt
AEBRREERBERE -
$§l%mﬂﬁ@ﬂ%6ﬁ
CREENEERR
@Eﬁ%$@ﬁﬁﬁﬁl%
ERGEHFATBITEMAM
EERNEAEIS -

B SENTARBHEE

AEECHEFEEEEK
B RBEERE FEBEBX
BB EFPHARRIBIUE
B - ZEFABETRE
FERIFRANRKNBEESL

EHIHX SN » XEE
EFHMARBHMURERK
EREMKERR -BHE
Wk B % A 8 (SR A RE
REH BT BB -
BE - ARETEREFK
B o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(@)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents and bill
receivables is limited because the counterparties
are banks and financial institutions with sound
credit standing, for which the Group considers to
have low credit risk. The Group has a policy to
limit the amount of credit exposure to any financial
institution and management does not expect any
material loss arising from non-performance by these
counterparties.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group has established a credit management
policy under which individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Trade receivables
are due from the invoice date (or date of revenue
recognition, if earlier). Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.
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35. MBEREERESBMTIARIR
EE (&)

(@)

=ERE (&)
ESRUFEREHWEE (B)

AEBAEHBNEERRE
EXEREFRFBINELEY
2 MmMIERPKEMTITE
FERCEE Bt 58
BB EREFRENETER
AEERENEFEEEAKN
E BB E £ - NIk
K BFEBGIBBTENI%
(20237 : 2%) & 9% (2023
F:6%) D RIEKRAEE
MBEABEEFRAKREF -

AEERBENRZHEHRE
EBBEzeE (RARERER
AEBL)FEEZREWFIR
REWBEZERERE - A
REAKENELEEERE
BRYEBERTRAEP DA
ERRAGZREEZR
HAREENREF R ZRIL
BE-—FSROENBEDH
Rz EIR R -

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 3% (2023: 2%) and 9% (2023: 6%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers,
respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using
a provision matrix. As the Group's historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.
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35. BIEREKBEERSMIAEZAR 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
EE (&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(@ FEERK(E) (@)  Credit risk (continued)
B I IEWGKIAR A EE (&) Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
TRYR2024F12 A31 AA The following table provides information about the
SEEBENEERRRERES Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
EWREZFEREEBED receivables as at 31 December 2024:
BR
2024
2024
FEHEEE IREEASE EERE
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% AR¥T T AR®ETF T
% RMB’000 RMB’000
1F R With 1 year 0.6% 4,188,176 (23,882)
122FR 1 -2 years 5% 618,669 (28,885)
DZEJER 2 - 3 years 20% 153,306 (30,753)
3F AL More than 3 years 77% 194,971 (149,474)
5,155,122 (232,994)
2023%F
2023
TERR T IR FRE{EREE E BB E
Expected  Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% ARBTT ARETT
% RMB’000 RMB’000
1FR With 1 year 0.8% 3,361,476 (25,710)
1226 R 1 -2 years 6% 414,479 (25,479)
2E3FR 2 - 3 years 19% 142,914 (27,044)
34 F More than 3 years 78% 162,128 (126,423)
4,080,997 (204,656)
BEBEEOENR  RENEE The expected loss rates for contract assets aged
W Bl sk AEEFE - BRI — within one year and over one year based on the
FARBBR-—FHNENEE recovery or settlement for contract assets pursuant
MEHEEXS R R2.01% to the terms of contracts are 2.01% (2023: 0.93%)
(20234 : 0.93%) }27.02% and 27.02% (2023: 12.95%) respectively.

(20234 : 12.95%) °
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 3 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the year over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect

BEREBERZSHBERNOT of trade receivables during the year is as follows:
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
®1A1H At 1 January 204,656 185,376
FRME SRR Amounts written off during the year (1,203) (1,796)
FRNERRRERBRE Impairment losses recognised during
the year 29,541 67,099
FREE—KMEBAFT  Written off through disposal of a
i 2 subsidiary - (46,023)
W12 HA31H At 31 December 232,994 204,656

FRAHRAERBOERE
BEZBERNT :

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect

of contract assets during the year is as follows:

20245 20234

2024 2023

ARFRT AR%®TT

RMB’000 RMB’000

wN1A1H At 1 January 1,465 148
FRERRREEE Impairment losses recognised during

the year 2,363 1,317

M®12H31H At 31 December 3,828 1,465
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)
Deposits and other receivables

The directors of the Company make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.

The 12m ECL on deposits and other receivables is
considered as insignificant for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 as the counterparties
involved are considered with limited credit risk and
the ECL involved is not material.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
of deposits and other receivables during the year is
as follows:

2024 % 20234

2024 2023

AR¥TR ARBTE

RMB’000 RMB’000

R1A1H At 1 January 13,165 10,397
FRERAREEE Impairment losses recognised during

the year 16,000 4137

FAMHSE Amounts written off during the year (473) =

FREE—KMEBAT  Written off through disposal of a
i 25 subsidiary - (1,369)
®12H31H At 31 December 28,692 13,165
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)
Cash at bank and on hand

Credit risk on cash at bank and on hand is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks
with good credit ratings assigned by international
credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL
for cash at bank and on hand by reference to
information relating to probability of default and
loss given default of the respective credit rating
grades published by external credit rating agencies.
The 12m ECL on cash at bank and on hand is
considered to be insignificant.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval by
the parent company’s board when the borrowings
exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.
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EE (&)

by REBELERR (E)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period of
the Group’s financial liabilities and lease liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of each reporting period) and the

FRTR: earliest dates the Group can be required to pay:
R20245124318
At 31 December 2024
REXSIER 1EUL2ENR 2EULSENR  5ENL it HEf
More than ~ More than
Ondemand  1yearbut  2years but
or within less than lessthan  More than Carrying
1 year 2 years 5years 5 years Total amount
ARETT  ARMTR ARETR AR%TR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
HERE (fi28) Lease liabilties (Note 28) 28,511 22,507 30,513 3,588 85,200 78,751
QAR (fiE25) Corporate bonds (Note 25) 11,250 11,250 511,250 - 533,750 499,287
RAEH (34) Bank loans (Note 24) 994,752 132,974 422,144 694,836 2244706 1,990,199
ZHEMFE (Hi26)  Trade payables (Note 26) 791,481 - - - 791,481 791,481
EERREMENZE  Acoruals and other payables
(Fzto7) (Note 27) 2,661,026 - - - 2661026 2,661,026
A REEMFE Other long-term payables - 56,143 2,064 - 58,207 58,024
@it Total 4,487,020 222,964 965,971 698,424 6,374,319 6,078,768
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35. BIEREKBREERSMIAEZAR 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

EE (&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
(b)) REBEZRR (E) (b)  Liquidity risk (continued)
2023128318
At 31 December 2023
BEXSIER 1EN 2NN 2FNESER  5EUE ) FERE

More than More than

On demand Tyearbut 2 years but
or within less than less than More than Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETRT  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

HERE (fi:28) Lease liabilties (Note 28) 22,928 17,649 12,860 2,783 56,220 52,201
RTER (i3o4) Bank loans (Note 24) 245,373 197,317 925,403 501,700 1869793 1,643,321
ZSEMTE(NE6)  Trade payables (Note 26) 626,668 - - - 626,668 626,668
EATERREMENZE  Accruals and other payables

(Hzk27) (Note 27) 2,728,819 - - - 278819 2728819
AR EERFE Other long-term payables - 63,992 4218 - 68,210 67,738
E2H) Total 3,623,788 278,958 942,481 504483 5349710 5,118,747
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

()

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily

through bank deposits denominated in foreign

currency. i.e., a currency other than the functional

currency of the operations to which the transactions

relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are

primarily Hong Kong dollars and United States

dollars. The Group manages this risk as follows:

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting period
to currency risk arising from recognised
assets denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown
in Hong Kong dollars and United States
dollars, translated using the spot rates at
the year end date. Differences resulting from
the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency are excluded.

SRS
Exposure to foreign
currencies

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AR®ETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
He MEEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 8,039 7,642
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35. MBEKREEREMIAAR 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

EE (&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
(c) KRk (E) (¢)  Currency risk (continued)
(i) HBES (i) Sensitivity analysis
TRINTEBEAMEH The following table indicates the
R EHRFD instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
MR HmEHRRE after tax and retained profits that would arise
SEEREARRS if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
ey A =l has significant exposure at the end of the
&) NEBERTEAR reporting period had changed at that date,
B AR B B AT s assuming all other risk variables remained
WE RN EE) o constant.
2024 2023F
2024 2023

BBEFIER BREEFER

Ex REFE B RE M

R/ (THR)  L#/(TE) E#/(TR) E#H/(TH)

Increase/ Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) Increase/ (decrease)

(decrease) in profit (decrease) in profit

in foreign  after tax and in foreign  after tax and

exchange retained exchange retained

rates profits rates profits

ARETR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BT HK Dollars 10% 601 10% 166

(10%) (601) (10%) (166)

eI US Dollars 10% 190 10% 14

(10%) (190) (10%) (14)

BT Euro 10% 14 10% -

(10%) (14) (10%) -

ERZNZAOMER
DASEEERZE
TR FE R R FE
PR BN R & 2 B
(REBZEEK
B) UHEBEHK
BITEXBRE/AR
% AHENNZA -

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of
the instantaneous effects on each of the
Group entities’ profit after tax and retained
profits measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(c) Currency risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had
been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of the reporting period, including inter-
company receivables within the Group which
are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currencies of the borrower.
The analysis excludes differences that would
result from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2023.

(d) Fair values measurement

(i)

Financial assets measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured
at the end of each reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in
IFRS 13 Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value
measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e., unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date.
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(d) Fair values measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value
(continued)
o Level 2 valuations: Fair value

measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.,
observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available.

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value
measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

The Group has a finance manager performing
valuations for the trading securities and
unquoted equity investments. The manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer
and the audit committee. A valuation
report with analysis of changes in fair value
measurement is prepared by the manager at
each interim and annual reporting date and is
reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. Discussion of the valuation process
and results with the chief financial officer and
the audit committee is held twice a year, to
coincide with the reporting dates.
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35. BIEREKBEERSMIAEZAR 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
EE (&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(d 2AnEE=(E) (d)  Fair values measurement (continued)
(i) HEASEBEEGTEND (i) Financial assets measured at fair value
BEE (&) (continued)
R2024 5
12A3181 R2024F12 3181
AAEE AREEHESE
Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2024 categorised into
31 December F—E FZE F=E
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

ARBTR  AR®TR  AR®TR  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

EEWAREE  Recurring fair value

HE measurement
EREE Bill receivables 30,243 - 30,243 -
EEmRERE Unquoted equity
investments 162,545 - - 162,545
192,788 - 30,243 162,545
12023 F
124318/ P2023F12 A31BH)
BRfEE AhBEEHESE
Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2023 categorised into
31 December £ EE E-E
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

ARBETL  ARETT  ARETT  ARBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

mEHAAEE Recurring fair value

HE measurement
TES Bill receivables 15,550 - 15,550 -
ELEMRERE Unquoted equity
investments 156,394 - = 156,394
171,944 - 15,550 156,394
2024 F K 20234 - In 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers
F—EBREZE2MHE between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
MEER . THEYE into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is
AB=ZEXEE=FE to recognise transfers between levels of fair
B ANEEZHEE value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
RRALEBEESRE period in which they occur.
BT E BT SRS

RN BB R o
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35. HXRBEERESMIAAR 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
EE (&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(d) AREEFE (8) (d) Fair values measurement (continued)

(i) BEARBEGTEND (i) Financial assets measured at fair value
BEE (&) (continued)
EWEE QR EER The fair value of bill receivables was at a level
F_EHRRAALEBER 2 fair value measurement which has been
2 AERAEFEMU calculated by discounting the expected future
R - EREAR KT cash flows using rates currently available for
HARPHNTENE instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
Al A A & & Af 3R 78 B remaining maturities.

ARKRERERFTE o

ERAE=-—EBAAEE Information about Level 3 fair value
AECZER measurements

RERE ERTABREARIE IEFHH

Significant

Valuation unobservable Weighted

techniques inputs average
FImEmTE T35 Al LB 7] Ribe =S 1.07%21.32

(20234 : 1.07%E1.23)
Unlisted equity Market comparable 1.07 to 1.32
instruments companies Price-to-book ratio (2023: 1.07 to 1.23)

FETMEZIANA The fair value of unlisted equity instruments
AREBEFEATLERE is determined using the price to book ratio
MARMMFERE of comparable listed companies adjusted
o WHTIFERMEDY for price-to-book ratio. The fair value
HE - AREBEE measurement is positively correlated to the
BT FEKEL « ® price-to-book ratio. As at 31 December
2024%12A31H ' & 2024, it is estimated that with all other
FHRT A H At B BURFS variables held constant, a decrease/increase
g mERRL S in price-to-book ratio ability by 5% (2023:
#IN5% (20234 5%) would have decreased/increased the
5%)  AEEHMEP Group’s other comprehensive income by
AR L 10 approximately RMB17,990,000 (2023:
#ANER¥17,990,000 RMB17,830,000).

gL (20234 : AR
17,830,0007T) ©
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35. MBERBREERESBMTAAR 35

EE (&)

)

i}

(dy 2AREEFE(

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(d) Fair values measurement (continued)

(i) HEASLEEIGTENE (i) Financial assets measured at fair value
& E (&) (continued)
ZEF-—EBAAEHE The movements during the period in
FFEEHRRB RS the balance of these Level 3 fair value
T - measurements are as follow:
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
I E TR AN Unlisted equity securities
m1A1A At 1 January 156,394 162,494
FARAREMEEIWA  Net unrealised gains or losses
REAR IR W recognised in other comprehensive
BB income during the year 12,209 (6,100)
FALE Disposal during the year (6,058) =
W12 H31H At 31 December 162,545 156,394

EFFEAEERB
EB B B MM 3F &
TRAZEBHF AR
10,606,0007T (2023
F: AR%5,185,000
7T) (Bi1g) EE M
WEABETEMS
ERATFHRAAEE
(T ) P
ReoREBEZERE
BHk REMEZE
WARENSREERE
EREREEF -
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Any gain or loss arising from the
remeasurement of the Group’s unlisted
equity securities held for strategic purposes
with amount of RMB10,606,000 (2023:
RMB5,185,000) (net of tax) are recognised in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) in other
comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the
equity securities, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is transferred
directly to retained earnings.



RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

S PSR R EE @0
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTinuen)

BE202412 A1 B L E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

35. BIEREKBREERSMIAEZAR 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
EE (&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(d AREMEFE(E) (d)  Fair values measurement (continued)
(i) N XN (i) Fair values of financial liabilities carried at
EZEMEEZAL cost and amortised cost
EE
INCJE T NI & The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
KAFEZSRITE instruments carried at cost or amortised cost
MEEESEESER are not materially different from their values
2023F 12 A31B & as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
202412 A31HMK 2024 except for the following financial
NRABETESE KE instruments, for which their carrying amounts
E BRUTe@IA and fair value are disclosed below:
INEEZREEEA
AEEINTIFEE) -
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
RHEE AREE REE NIEE
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
ARET T AR®ET T AREFIT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RITEXR Bank loans 1,990,199 2,086,241 1,643,321 1,689,855
BITERNAREE The fair value of bank loans is estimated as
AR RIR €07 %?ﬁi being the present value of future cash flows,
HUerm T AENER discounted at current market interest rates
% F) K BRI A IR @ 1E for similar financial instruments.
ﬁ o
R AMFIET The interest rates used are as follows:
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
IRITER Bank loans 2.82% 3.57%
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BMEBRBRITER - AR
EHRRFBHNEEROR
TERZBASREN AR -

AEBEE R BT REZEEE
KEBHNEREAS KM
EEEFERER - AWM > B
FA AEEEEBRBE
A == 4 H DA S b ) 2R B
BRMBE -

(i) FlE R

TREJNNAKEEAE
A 3 YR & ) R A

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(cont

(e)

inued)
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily
from bank loans. Bank loans raised at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of
fixed and variable rate liabilities in order to manage
its interest rate risks. During the year, however,
management of the Group did not consider it is
necessary to use interest rate swaps to hedge their
exposure to interest.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s liabilities at the end of

W e the reporting period.
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HEEEF5E Net fixed rate liabilities:
NRESH (KIFE25) Corporate bonds (Note 25) 499,287 =
HEaE (WH:F28) Lease liabilities (Note 28) 78,751 52,201
IRITER (5E24) Bank loans (Note 24) 307,356 1,133,559
H R HA R BUIR Other long-term payables
(KF5E27(c)) (Note 27(c)) 4,018 5,999
e, 889,412 1,191,759
SRR KRG EFE Net floating rate liabilities:
SRITE (M7E24) ~ Bankloans (Note24) 1,682,843 509,762
BEFRHER Total net liabilities 2,572,255 1,701,521
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35. HXRBEERESMIAAR 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
EE (&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e) F=E b () (e) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) HBES (i) Sensitivity analysis

R2024%F12A318 - At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a
FENRITERUFRE general increase/decrease of 100 basis point
KIEABEBLEA T in interest rates of net floating bank loans,
FE1001E &S, - MmEM with all other variables held constant, the
FIEEBHRF[FILE - Group’s profit after tax would have decrease/
REERKRBREN B increase by approximately RMB14,304,000
WA MBI ARE (2023: RMB4,333,000). Other components
14,304,0007T (2023 of consolidated equity would not be affected
#F : AR®4,333,000 by the general increase/decrease in interest
TC) o Bt RN EAL rates.

O T EZEIF KR

BEF TROPE -

Lt gRE ST IE The sensitivity analysis above has been
RERBHNEE R RE determined assuming that the change in
RS E RAE interest rates had occurred at the end of
FHEEANRWmE the reporting period and had been applied
HAREFEMIETE to the exposure to interest rate risk for non-
& @b T A A = & B ki derivative financial instruments in existence
AmMERE - HAKE at the end of the reporting period. The
bR AE (RIREBF impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and
) kG S EAMED retained profits) and other components
DREEE BEF of consolidated equity is estimated as an
BT FIREB I annualized impact on interest expense or
ABFLTE - income of such a change in interest rates.

B & 5T 89 £ F- 3k T B& The estimated 100 basis points increase
100 A E B IR E B ERT or decrease represents management’s
HHERBRNEZET assessment of a reasonable change in
—2FPBMRRAEKB interest rates over the period until the next
HRTEAM A Al gL & 12 annual statement of financial position date.
HE) o 2023FHDNMT The analysis is performed on the same basis
RE —EAEEST o for 2023.
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36. &iE 36. COMMITMENTS
BEAREIE Capital commitments
K12 31 B RN BRI B HERR Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December not
NERAERT : provided for in the financial statement were as follows:
20245 2023 %
2024 2023
ARETR ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REIES) Contracted for
- WEWE  BEN&EE - Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 435,226 449,583
- WEEREE — Acquisition of intangible assets 3,252 =
438,478 449,583
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37. EXBEEBERS

(@)

EEBL RS

AEERTREBBET KA
SERFZ—"#n  BEF
REBRPZEEETOHE
BMAOBAEARS K -

REEXEGBREPMETH
EBRXHWT

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transaction with related parties

The Group is part of a large group of companies
under CNNC and has significant transactions and
relationships with CNNC and related parties under
CNNC.

The principal transactions which were carried out in
the ordinary course of business are as follows:

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®TR AR%®ETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MBS HEEm Sale of goods to
hiZEE CNNC - 212
FiZEEET @S Related parties under CNNC 96,410 84,260
BENRIREE QT Associates and joint ventures 18,469 26,044
M 5% T RERSE Service provided to
PizEE CNNC 313 181
PRz EE TR Related parties under CNNGC 12,749 16,642
BENRREERF Associates and joint ventures 206 =
ET?'JRH%TEE& Purchase of goods from
FRAZ S B E T R B Related parties under CNNC 78,685 36,805
BERNRIREER Associates and joint ventures 15,266 18,059
BTyEHEEME BMEN  Purchase of property, plant and
B equipment from
P EEET @S Related parties under CNNC 7,799 7,083
B 5IE T IR AR Service provided by
hiZEHE CNNC 391 146
FRiZEEE T @S Related parties under CNNC 360,969 441,361
BENRIREE QT Associates and joint ventures 10,473 12,920
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EXBBRAIXRS (#)

37.

(@)

HEBLNRS (&)

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(a) Transaction with related parties (continued)

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®ET AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BTN STHE Leases from
FiZEEET @S Related parties under CNNC
— IREEIRR B SR E 2 RIZ 165, - right-of-use assets recognised
RERNERNERAEEE during the year under IFRS16 - 2,456
—MHERR - lease payments 39,257 34,218
MEBEEHES Funding on researching and
development project
FREE CNNC 13,617 27,472
PRz EE TR Related parties under CNNC 2,833 408
B Interest expenses
PiZEE CNNC 98 861
FiZEEET @S Related parties under CNNC 3,608 3,054
P B AR ERANER Granting of loans from CNNC
Finance Company
AR AR B TR T B Related parties under CNNC 240,760 60,298
RTINS FHRNFRFRE Net deposits placed with
AR AR B TR T B Related parties under CNNGC 2,247,526 2,484,259
FEUA Interest income
AR AR B R T B Related parties under CNNC 27,183 27,195
M 5 EFIRARE Dividend paid to
FREE CNNC - 47,013
Pz EE TR Related parties under CNNC 222,396 163,767
B TAI&E 5 WREAR & Dividend received from
Pz EE TR Related parties under CNNGC 4,470 5,593
RIINZEHTNEREE Capital investment in
HENFIREE AT Associates and joint ventures 9,500 15,806
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37. EXBEBAEXRS (&)

(b)

ERRE I 5 AR BR

W M AEENEHZ
HBEHVRKE21 - 22 -
2326 27%31(c) °

TEHMKFEEEEN
2

rEERBEEER  £EHT
B 5T LA 1% 25 {8 AR B R A
R EEEE S EEER K
EHNER (KB EEE

BDAIENKERBRTL
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=

=

/

ot

%

o

H20185F#  AEEEEA
ERNRZBEIEETRNE
CEm FRKREE - -BE
MR REXEETIZERS -
BEERR HEREHEER
MRBTIRAEER —RER
BIETHES BEAKHE
MEBUASEEZEZESR
BB A T B BT &REES
FEENFELBEMER
ITEBTE - AEBETH®
PR 75 B E am il T2 TE (B BUSR

BEZEFEBRRLIFBURR
RHZHFRESBREEREM
EoREBEZEZZBEREZ
BE BEERR - ZEXRH
WHBREBTABRENEKXR
MRS o

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b)

Balances with related parties

Details of the outstanding balance with related
parties are set out in Notes 21, 22, 23, 26, 27 and
31(c).

Transaction with other government-related entities
in the PRC

The Group is a state-owned entity and operates in
an economic regime currently dominated by entities
directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC
government and numerous government authorities
and agencies (collectively referred to as “State-
Owned Entities”).

Since 2018, the Group had transactions with State-
Owned Entities including, but not limited to, sales
of goods, deposits and borrowings, purchase of
materials and receiving construction work services.
The directors consider that the transactions with
these State-Owned Entities are activities in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business and that
the dealings of the Group have not been significantly
or unduly affected by the fact that the Group and
these State-Owned Entities are ultimately controlled
or owned by the PRC government. The Group has
also established pricing policies for services and
products, and such pricing policies do not depend
on whether or not the counterparties are State-
Owned Entities. Having due regard to the substance
of the relationship, the directors are of the opinion
that none of these transactions are material related
party transactions that require separate disclosure.
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37. EXBEBAIXRS (&)

d) FEEEREASHH

TREHEEBABEETARE
ARBEEELHEEE
BEMEGRANEEESHNE
NEZEAL  BREARTA
MESE -

TZEREBASEH (BEM
FIMBEXN TARRIES
BRI B BT 5E 10 P 4R B8 2 A
FTETHRSFHMESOKER)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(d)

Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel are those persons
holding positions with authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities
of the Group, directly or indirectly, including the
Company’s directors.

Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in Note 9, and certain of the highest
paid employees as disclosed in Note 10, is as

IO - follows:
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FekEMmie Salaries and other emoluments 3,479 3,456
BRIRETEIH R Retirement scheme contributions 1,165 1,277
B IFIEAL Discretionary bonuses 7,865 4,768
12,509 9,501
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38. ANQFHMBARREK

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

20244 2023%F
12H31H 12H31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
B 5T ARETR ARBTT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
EMEBEE Non-current assets
Yz - BEKEE Property, plant and equipment 49,451 29,608
"EME Investment property 53 57
BIVEE Intangible assets 15,434 11,662
RHB AR ZIRE Investments in subsidiaries 1,851,483 1,812,439
REEERNF 2R Interests in associates 32,913 68,426
REERAAINEZR Interests in joint ventures 477,453 503,514
ELETTRERE Unquoted equity investments 162,545 156,282
RIEFHIBE E Deferred tax assets 16,539 9,973
HEM3EmeEE Other non-current assets = 7,239
2,605,871 2,599,200
MENVEE Current assets
FE Inventories 127,675 161,238
Bl IE R EWEE  Trade and bill receivables 605,654 434,446
FERTFIE - e REM  Prepayments, deposits and
FEM TR IA other receivables 327,294 241,907
i NGRS Amounts due from subsidiaries (a) 128,258 341,119
RITRFERE Cash at bank and on hand 509,018 436,486
1,697,899 1,615,196
U JN=Ni Current liabilities
IRITER Bank loans 426,018 =
B S REMNRIA Trade payables 49,886 34,616
JEEtE A R E A FIE  Accruals and other payables 260,728 293,739
HER®E Lease liabilities 4,038 2,620
740,670 330,975
MEEEFE Net current assets 957,229 1,284,221
BEERRDAR Total assets less current liabilities 3,563,100 3,883,421

FERE2024 Annual Report 2024 353



CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION A1 B [E 48 A% 7 A R A &

ST B MRMEE @

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE2024512A31 B L5 E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

38. ANQFMBARREK ()

38.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

39.

20244 20234
128318 12 A31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BisE ARET T AREFIT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
EMBEE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans = 827,064
RNElEH Corporate bonds 499,287 =
HEAE Lease liabilities 6,159 6,172
ERBEARKAE Defined benefit retirement obligation 26,220 25,969
H REAEN IR Other long-term payables 1,002 602
532,668 859,807
BEFE Net assets 3,030,432 3,023,614
BEARN Capital and reserves
& A Share capital 319,875 319,875
et Reserves 32(a) 2,710,557 2,703,739
AR Total equity 3,030,432 3,023,614
MIeE - Note:
(a) EUWHIBRRIRBEAEIRE - & (a) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,

BRAENEREEE -

HESRERLQT

REBZE2023F 12 A31 8 IEF
B AZEEHEFAENARRQ A
106,676,903 A& ik (495 A 7
BEITRABEERI3.35%) &= HBE
EERTHFHEHER -FHEREARN
AREZRZEEE - BHRlA
PREEBEEZELEESEONBER
7] o BEiESTRK (2023F 128268 )
% PREBERKARQAEEER
NE > MPZEBEDARAFN K

IR A T] °
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39.

interest-free and repayable on demand.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, CNNC
gratuitously transferred all of the 106,676,903 domestic
shares in the Company held by it, representing
approximately 33.35% of the Company’s total issued
share capital, to China Baoyuan. Both of the China
Baoyuan and the Company were under the control of and
were, respectively, subsidiaries directly and indirectly held
by CNNC. Upon completion of the transfer (26 December
2023), the China Baoyuan had became the immediate
holding company of the Company, while CNNC would
remain the Company’s ultimate holding company.
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

RERESERHDBR AT CHINA ISOTOPE & RADIATION CORPORATION

Bzt 2024 2023 20225 20215 20204
Note 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
FEWA Results revenue 4 7,574,756 6,634,992  6,153549 5,152,760 4,274,183
e EEEHE Profit from operations 1,086,382 941,598 913,963 779,077 614,775
YHBR Finance costs 6 (48,423) (36,142) (35,336) 36,691 (34,977)
PEBEDAFERA Share of profits less losses of
HEARER associates (14,088) (14,303) 8,618 6,962 (12,028)
PERBERRFE Share of profits of joint ventures 21,353 31,284 33,548 53,698 28,393
BRI Profit before taxation 6 1,045,224 922,437 920,793 803,046 596,163
i Income tax 7 165,687 146307 (165,556)  (129,641)  (120,640)
ERFE Profit for the year 879,537 776,130 755,237 673,405 475,523
TR - Attributable to:
NGl 2 Equity shareholders of
the Company 406,645 370,967 392,275 336,119 213,582
FRRER Non-controlling interests 472,892 405,163 362,962 337,286 261,941
ERFE Profit for the year 879,537 776,130 755,237 673,405 475,523
BERBE Assets and liabilities
nE - BERZ Property, plant and equipment 12 4328121 3601,172 2,939,823 2563279 2,210,150
REME Investment property 13 49,566 46,053 49,604 19,670 20,768
EFEE Intangiole assets 14 320,363 212,117 160,876 156,496 148,363
HE Goodwil 18 81,526 81,526 30,764 44,036 43,875
R LA R Interests in associates 16 93,415 119,599 118,096 52,500 65,263
RABRRMER Interests in joint ventures 17 477,453 503,514 512,867 594,252 552,748
REEYFE Long-term receivables 51,148 49,196 38,997 37,176 35,440
FEEmRELRE Unguoted equity investments 19 162,545 156,394 162,494 150,410 137,014
HtERBEE Other non-current assets = 7,239 9,899 35,255 =
BEEREEE Deferred tax assets 30 284,922 290,431 292,460 215,124 200,556
TBEETE Net current assets 3,894,021 3940548  3512,430 2,642,124 2,998,946
BEERTYEE Total assets less current liabilities 9,743,080 8937789  7,758310 6,510,322 6,413,123
EEREaE Deferred tax liabilities 30 (7,625) (8,876) (19,040) (18,237) (14,186)
At ERBAR Other non-current liabilities (1,991,760)  (1,789,585)  (1,120,662)  (458,045)  (893,327)
FEE NET ASSETS 7,744,595 7139328 6,609,608 6,034,040 5505610
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fizE 20245 2023 20225 20215 20204

Note 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
EXRfGE Capital and reserves
frs Share capital 32 319,875 319,875 319,875 319,875 319,875
3 Reserves 32 4685426 4373445 4148784  3862,117 3,571,323
RARERRREEEREE  Total equity attributable to
equity shareholders
of the Company 5005301 4693320 4468659 4,181,992 3,891,198
SRS Non-controlling interests 2,739,294 2446008 2,140,949 1,852,048 1,614,412
ERAR TOTAL EQUITY 7,744,595 7,139,328 6,609,608 6,034,040 5505610
BRAR Earnings per share
EXREE Basic and diluted (RMB)
(AE®T) 1.27 1.16 1.23 1.05 0.67
hEFERENTE Notes to the five year summary

1 AEBEMBE - XHGEENHEBEEE 1
ke EREERARKETERFE12%R
E o BAMEERABEAZERME
BRIRFRELETME - RERBRKRETE
AE125% (IBRTA) B - AEBE D RS
AEEEMESaEE@E ZMAETN
MEERB R EEZE BT HERE
EHBEEERELEHIBEERE AEEE
HR2022F1 A1 A2 B BAEMHEE
RGEPEAMETHR  ZBBET
2023FEHREPBHPAE -

2 AR2023F X HEEH THEBKE G - 2
2021 F E2022FMHFE TIAES - 1E
LLE RS - ZEIEEE2023FEHREF
BWAE -
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The Group previously applied IAS 12 requirements to the relevant
assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Upon application of the amendments to
IAS 12, the Group has assessed the relevant deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with the right-of-use assets and the lease
liabilities separately. The Group has applied the new accounting
policy retrospectively to leasing transactions that occurred on or
after 1 January 2022, which has been retrospectively adjusted in
the 2023 annual report.

As a result of the business combination under common control in
2023, figures for the years from 2021 to 2022 have been restated
for comparison purposes, which has been retrospectively adjusted
in the 2023 annual report.
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